
 
Becky Shaw 

Chief Executive 

 
If calling please ask for: 
 

Natalie Jones-Punch on 033 022 25098 
Email: natalie.jones-punch@westsussex.gov.uk 
 

www.westsussex.gov.uk 
 

 
County Hall  
Chichester 

West Sussex 
PO19 1RQ 

Switchboard  
Tel no (01243) 777100 

 

 

7 March 2022 
 

Cabinet 
 
A meeting of the Cabinet will be held at 10.30 am on Tuesday, 15 March 2022 

at County Hall, Chichester, PO19 1RQ. 
 

 
Becky Shaw 
Chief Executive 

 
Note: In response to the continuing public health measures, there will be limited 

public access to the meeting. Admission is by ticket only, bookable in advance via: 
democratic.services@westsussex.gov.uk). 

 
The meeting will be available to watch live via the Internet at this 

address: 

 
http://www.westsussex.public-i.tv/core/portal/home. 

 
 Agenda 

 

10.30 am 1.   Declarations of Interest  
 

  Members and officers must declare any pecuniary or personal 
interest in any business on the agenda. They should also make 
declarations at any stage such an interest becomes apparent 

during the meeting. Consideration should be given to leaving 
the meeting if the nature of the interest warrants it. If in doubt 

please contact Democratic Services before the meeting. 
 

10.35 am 2.   Minutes (Pages 5 - 10) 
 

  Cabinet Members are asked to agree the minutes of the 

meeting held on 1 February 2022 (cream paper). 
 

10.40 am 3.   Urgent Matters  
 

  Items not on the agenda which the Chairman of the meeting is 

of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency by 
reason of special circumstances. 
 

10.45 am 4.   Performance and Resources Report - Quarter 3 2021/22 
(CAB16_21/22) (Pages 11 - 126) 
 

  Report by the Chief Executive and Director of Finance and 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

mailto:democratic.services@westsussex.gov.uk
http://www.westsussex.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


Support Services.  

 
Each of the Scrutiny Committee Chairman will be invited to 
speak for up to three minutes to provide the views of their 

Committee on respective parts of the Quarter 3 Performance 
and Resources Report.  

 
Each of the main Minority Group Leaders will be invited to 
speak for up to three minutes on the Quarter 3 Performance 

and Resources Report.  
 

The Cabinet will then discuss the report prior to taking any 
decision.  
 

11.15 am 5.   National Highways Consultation A27 Arundel Bypass: 
Approval of WSCC consultation response (CAB17_21/22) 

(Pages 127 - 186) 
 

  Report by the Assistant Director of Highways and Transport.  

 
The Chairman of the Communities, Highways and Environment 

Scrutiny Committee will be invited to speak for up to three 
minutes to provide the views of their Committee on the National 

Highways A27 Arundel Bypass WSCC consultation response.  
 
Each of the main Minority Group Leaders will be invited to 

speak for up to three minutes on the National Highways A27 
Arundel Bypass WSCC consultation response.  

 
The Cabinet will then discuss the report and proposals prior to 
taking any decision.  

 
11.45 am 6.   West Sussex Fire and Rescue Service Community Risk 

Management Plan 2022-2026 (CAB18_21/22) (Pages 187 
- 250) 
 

  Report by the Chief Fire Officer.  
 

The Chairman of the Fire and Rescue Service Scrutiny 
Committee will be invited to speak for up to three minutes on 
the West Sussex Fire and Rescue Service Community Risk 

Management Plan 2022-26.  
 

Each of the main Minority Group Leaders will be invited to 
speak for up to three minutes on the West Sussex Fire and 
Rescue Service Community Risk Management Plan 2022-26. 

 
The Cabinet will then discuss the report prior to taking any 

decision.  
 

12.15 pm 7.   Strategic Options for Processing of Separate Food Waste 

and Other Waste Disposal Services (CAB19_21/22) 

(Pages 251 - 268) 
 

Page 2



  Report by the Assistant Director of Environment and Public 

Protection.  
 
The Chairman of the Communities, Highways and Environment 

Committee will be invited to speak for up to three minutes to 
provide the views of the Committee on the strategic options for 

processing of separate food waste and other waste disposals 
services.  
 

Each of the main Minority Group Leaders will be invited to 
speak for up to three minutes on the strategic options for 

processing of separate food waste and other waste disposals 
services. 
 

The Cabinet will then discuss the report and proposals prior to 
taking any decision.  

 
12.45 pm 8.   Emerging Issues  

 

  Cabinet Members are invited to provide any verbal updates on 
current significant issues for their respective portfolios which 

may benefit from discussion. 
 

12.55 pm 9.   Date of Next Meeting  
 

  The next meeting of the Cabinet will be held on 12 April 2022. 

 
 

 
 
To all members of the Cabinet 

 
 

 
Webcasting 

 

Please note: this meeting is being filmed for live and subsequent broadcast via the 
County Council’s website on the internet. The images and sound recording may be 

used for training purposes by the Council. 
 
Generally the public gallery is not filmed. However, by entering the meeting room and 

using the public seating area you are consenting to being filmed and to the possible 
use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting and/or training purposes. 

 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet 
 

1 February 2022 – At a meeting of the Cabinet held at 10.30 am at County Hall, 
Chichester, PO19 1RQ. 
 

Present: Cllr Marshall (Chairman) 

 
Cllr Crow, Cllr J Dennis, Cllr Hunt, Cllr A Jupp, Cllr N Jupp, Cllr Lanzer, 
Cllr Russell, Cllr Urquhart and Cllr Waight 

 
Also in attendance: Cllr Baxter, Cllr Boram, Cllr Britton, Cllr Lord, Cllr Montyn, 

Cllr Wall and Cllr Hillier 
 
 

37.    Declarations of Interest  
 

37.1 No declarations of interest were made.  
 

38.    Minutes  

 
38.1 Resolved – that the minutes of the meeting held on 3 

December be approved as a correct record and that they be signed 
by the Chairman.  

 

39.    Council Plan and Budget 2022/23 (CAB13_21/22)  
 

39.1 Cabinet considered a report by the Director of Finance and 
Support Services. Cllr Hunt, Cabinet Member for Finance and 

Property explained the key considerations in setting a balanced 
budget for 2022/23 in line with the priorities in the Council Plan with 
no additional savings required. Cllr Hunt acknowledged the crucial 

financial support from the Government in respect of the pandemic 
and highlighted the future challenges over the medium to long 

term. The budget proposes to increase the council tax rate by 
1.99% and the adults’ social care precept by 1%. 
 

39.2 Chairmen from each of the Scrutiny Committees welcomed 
and supported the budget and thanked Cabinet and officers for its 

preparation and production. Financial strengths were noted, as were 
the challenges and risks ahead. The need to continue to lobby the 
Government to help meet the needs of residents was highlighted as 

was the importance of longer-term planning. They asked that future 
savings proposals and budget plans be brought to their respective 

committees and for member briefings as early as possible.  
 

39.3 Cllr Kirsty Lord, Leader of the Liberal Democrat Group 

recognised the delivery of a balanced budget and noted that the 
assumptions were transparent and detailed. Cllr Lord felt there 

should be a greater focus on delivering for residents and the impact 
upon them of a council tax increase. Cllr Lord noted the significant 
costs expected in adult social care and that support from MPs and 

the Government is required. Cllr Caroline Baxter, Leader of the 
Labour Group was pleased to see a balanced budget for 2022/23 

without the need for significant savings. She suggested that the 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



council take a more holistic approach to delivering better outcomes 

for residents which recognised the increase in living costs.  
 

39.1 The following points were made by Cabinet Members in 

discussion:  
 

 Cllr Steve Waight, Cabinet Member for Support Services and 
Economic Development felt the budget enabled the delivery 
of the council plan for residents. He highlighted work in the 

areas of insourcing services, the people framework, economic 
development and partnership working. He commended the 

budget with an exciting year ahead to bring improvements 
for businesses, residents and staff.  

 Cllr Bob Lanzer, Cabinet Member for Public Health and 

Wellbeing recognised the support from central government 
which had helped the budget. He welcomed the increase in 

the Improved Better Care Fund which would help to integrate 
health and social care. Cllr Lanzer said the budget was 
directed at supporting the council plan and meeting the needs 

of residents, with an increase in revenue spending despite the 
big challenges. The increase of £100m in the Capital 

Programme was prudent and affordable. Cllr Lanzer hoped 
the profile of Public Health and Wellbeing would continue to 
rise even after the recovery from the pandemic.  

 Cllr Amanda Jupp, Cabinet Member for Adults Services 
highlighted that 95% of the Adult Services budget related to 

the cost of funding care needs of residents. The proposed 
increase of 1% for the adult social care element of council tax 

would generate approximately £5m which would put the 
service in a more sustainable funding position. Savings would 
still need to be made through care assessment reviews and 

by looking carefully at resource allocation.  
 Cllr Duncan Crow, Cabinet Member for Community Support, 

Fire and Rescue advised that, in view of the recent and 
anticipated challenges, the council had done well to reach a 
sustainable budget. He advised work in the Communities 

portfolio had aligned with the priority outcomes in the council 
plan by keeping residents safe. Libraries provide a huge 

range of services and the community hub continues to help 
many residents, alongside the successful test and trace 
partnership. Additional investments in the Fire and Rescue 

service would help the implementation of the new Community 
Risk Management Plan.  

 Cllr Nigel Jupp, Cabinet Member for Learning and Skills was 
pleased to hear the Children and Young People’s Services 
Scrutiny Committee’s support for mental health services in 

schools. He highlighted the increase in net expenditure of 
£6.3m in the Learning and Skills portfolio. Cllr Jupp also set 

out the specific government grants for Learning and Skills. He 
highlighted additional spend in the capital programme for 
meeting the needs of children with special educational needs, 

including new facilities and special support centres.  
 Cllr Jacquie Russell, Cabinet Member for Children and Young 

People felt the budget was comprehensive, delivered the 

Page 6

Agenda Item 2



council plan priorities, met the needs of residents and tackled 

the effects of climate change. Cllr Russell highlighted the 
continuing investment for in-house residential services to 
reduce the reliance on fostering agencies and for children’s 

emotional health and wellbeing. There were challenges with 
placement costs, however the new family safeguarding model 

and early help restructure sought to keep families together 
ultimately reducing these pressures.  

 Cllr Joy Dennis, Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport 

commended the council plan and budget. She highlighted the 
demanding issue of road maintenance and the significant 

capital spend which would address this.  
 Cllr Deborah Urquhart, Cabinet Member for Environment and 

Climate Change congratulated the Cabinet Member for 

Finance and Property and the Director of Finance and Support 
Services on producing a balanced budget which did not make 

cuts to frontline services. She outlined the spend in each 
portfolio area underpinned by a £10m investment in climate 
change. She advised of the rollout of electric vehicle charge 

points, plans to decarbonise council buildings, and the 
production of renewable energy from solar farms. Cllr 

Urquhart agreed that longer term funding settlements from 
the Government were important to plan for the future.  

 

39.5 The Leader thanked Cabinet and the Executive Leadership 
Team for their effort in producing a balanced budget. He outlined 

that resources were targeted towards protecting residents and 
businesses across the spectrum, whilst responding to the pandemic 

and continuing improvement work in Children’s and Fire services. 
He recognised that the budget had more capacity to address issues 
in the Highways portfolio and to invest in frontline services with no 

new savings is highly commendable. The commitment to deliver 
change to protect the environment through mitigating the effects of 

climate change is evident. 
 

39.6 Cllr Hunt thanked all for their support and staff for their hard 

work. Despite pressures, Cllr Hunt was confident the plan and 
budget demonstrated a relentless focus on the four priority 

outcomes, all underpinned by tackling climate change and 
supporting residents.  

 

39.7 Resolved - that Cabinet endorses the County Council Budget 
for 2022/23, as set out in Appendix A and Annex 1, the Capital 

Strategy set out in Annex 2(a) and the Treasury Management 
Statement set out in Annex 2(b), for approval by County Council on 
18 February 2022. 

 
40.    Adult Social Care Strategy (2022-2025) (CAB14_21/22)  

 
40.1 Cabinet considered a report by the Executive Director Adults 

and Health. The report was introduced by Cllr Amanda Jupp, 

Cabinet Member for Adults’ Services who outlined that work had 
been underway since September 2021 to bring together the longer-

term vision and strategy of the service. The strategy had been co-

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



designed with customers, staff, carers and partners to understand 

better what people needed and how to meet their expectations. The 
strategy is an articulation of the voices of people who access care 
and those who are carers, placing them at the centre of how the 

service plans its priorities. The strategy is structured by social 
connections within communities, empowerment, choice, control and 

flexibility, information and advice. The Cabinet Member looked 
forward to working with the Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny 
Committee who would be involved in monitoring progress.  

 
40.2 Keith Hinkley, Executive Director of Adults and Health advised 

that the strategy would give a platform to undertake work in 
2022/23 on how services would be reshaped. There are significant 
challenges ahead including workforce, social care reform and 

meeting the needs of an ageing community. The strategy provides a 
framework consistent with the council’s priorities.  

 
40.3 Cllr Garry Wall, Chairman of the Health and Adult Social Care 

Scrutiny Committee welcomed the report and strategy as outlined. 

He felt it demonstrated a longsightedness and that the role of the 
Committee would be in supporting the development and 

implementation and in measuring its success. Cllr Wall welcomed 
the sentiments of empowerment, support for home living, 
connectivity, signposting of services and the important role of 

carers. The strategy recognised and should therefore deliver the 
needs of the community.  

 
40.4 Cllr Caroline Baxter, Leader of the Labour group thanked 

those involved, including residents, in the production of the strategy 
and welcomed the emphasis on co-design. Cllr Baxter supported the 
aspirations of the strategy but had concerns about how successes 

would be measured and what the key targets were. Cllr Baxter saw 
the strategy as an opportunity to demonstrate how the council 

responded and addressed the challenging future for Adult Social 
Care in light of national policy developments.  
 

40.5 The following points were made by Cabinet Members in 
discussion: 

 
 Cllr Nigel Jupp, Cabinet Member for Learning and Skills 

commended the report and strategy. As an important topic 

and area of expenditure for the council, he felt it important 
that policies were refreshed as things move forward.  

 Cllr Urquhart, Cabinet Member for Environment and Climate 
Change supported the strategy and the beginning of the 
journey and that policy, delivery plans and measures would 

be developed in due course. 
 Cllr Steve Waight, Cabinet Member for Support Services and 

Economic Development highlighted the impressive amount of 
consultation and collaboration. He added that detail and Key 
Performance Indicators would develop in the future.  

 
40.6 The Leader advised the council plan set the tone and 

direction for the future and with significant changes to social care, 

Page 8

Agenda Item 2



there was a lot of work to do to understand the council’s role within 

that. He added that input from providers was vital, as was 
engagement across the sector. The strategy had the flexibility to 
respond to changing needs.  

 
40.7 Cllr Jupp advised of the progress made with relationships with 

partners and providers and felt this is in a strong place. Equally, 
care providers had been grateful for the dialogue and 
communication and she believes the Integrated Care System would 

see partners working together more positively. Although there are 
challenges and unknowns ahead, the strategy would be built upon 

and make a difference now and into the future.  
 

40.8 Resolved – that Cabinet approves the strategy ‘The life you 

want to lead – Adult Social Care in West Sussex’. 
 

41.    Appointments to Outside Bodies (CAB15_21/22)  
 

41.1 Cabinet considered a report by the Director of Law and 

Assurance.  
 

41.2 Resolved - that Cabinet approve the appointment of Cllr 
Donna Johnson to fill the vacancy on the Chichester Harbour 
Conservancy for the remainder of the Council term (May 2025).  

 
42.    Date of Next Meeting  

 
42.1 The next meeting of the Cabinet will be held on 15 March 

2022. 
 

The meeting ended at 12.30 pm 

 
 

 
 
 

 
Chairman 

Page 9

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



  

   
Key decision: Yes 

Unrestricted 
Ref: CAB16 21/22 

 

Report to Cabinet 

March 2022 

Performance and Resources Report – Q3 2021/22 

Report by the Chief Executive and Director of Finance and Support 
Services 

Electoral division(s): All  
 

Summary 

The Performance and Resources Report (PRR) provides an overview of performance 
across the County Council for the third quarter of 2021/22. The report in Annex B 
brings together information on performance, finance, workforce and risk 

management, all of which are reported on an outturn forecast basis and describes 
how the County Council is delivering the four priorities and overarching theme set out 

in Our Council Plan.    

During the quarter, the County Council has continued to respond to the Covid-19 
pandemic and the spread of the new Omicron variant.  Working with partners, the 

Council has provided support to the vaccination programme and to vulnerable people 
within the community through the Community Hub and other front-line services.   

Inflation has continued to rise during the third quarter, impacting the cost of goods 
and services.  Economists believe the increase in inflation is due to various factors 

including the general economic recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic and the sharp 
increase in global energy prices.    

The latest performance targets measured against Our Council Plan is currently 

reporting 54% ‘Green’, 21% ‘Amber’, 23% ‘Red’ and 2% with ‘No RAG Status’ as 
unable to assess current status.   

The forecast outturn position for 2021/22, as at the end of December, is currently 

projecting a £0.559m overspend, a reduction of £0.827m when compared to 
September.   

Recommendations  

1) Cabinet are requested to consider the Q3 Performance and Resources Report 

including:   

 The continuing impact of the Covid-19 emergency situation on the 
Council’s performance and financial resilience. 

 Consideration of the 2021/22 Our Council Plan- performance indicators, 

risk register summary and workforce key performance indicators.  

 Review the effectiveness of measures taken to manage the Council’s 
financial position and any non-delivery of identified savings.  

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



2) Consider any specific areas for action following Scrutiny Committee feedback. 

 

Proposal 

1 Background and context 

 The attached Performance and Resources Report (PRR) provides an overview of 

performance across West Sussex County Council during the third quarter of 
2021/22; bringing together information on performance, finance, workforce and 

risk management, all of which are reported on an outturn forecast basis. 

 The County Council is focused on delivering the four priorities as set out in Our 
Council Plan: keeping people safe from vulnerable situations, a sustainable 
and prosperous economy, helping people and communities fulfil their potential 

and making the best use of resources, all underpinned by tackling climate 
change.   

 In the third quarter, the measures reported: 

 54% (29 measures) as ‘Green’ 

 21% (11 measures) as ‘Amber’ 
 23% (12 measures) as ‘Red’ 

 2% (1 measure) is reported as having no RAG status. 
 

 The forecast outturn position for 2021/22 is currently projecting a £0.559m 

overspend.  This overall position assumes that costs related to the Covid-19 
pandemic will be fully funded from grants and partner contributions.  This 

position also excludes the use of the £6.4m general contingency and £1.975m 
of pay inflation contingency budget which are held separately. 

 Key financial risks arising across services include: 

 Uncertainty in demand for services in adults and children, 

 The mix between internal and external placements for children, 
 The rising numbers of children requiring home to school transport, 
 The rising numbers of children requiring high needs education, 

 The non-delivery and delays of savings. 
 

1.7 The pressure on the Dedicated Schools Grant continues to be of concern with 
a projected overspend of £7.2m forecast in 2021/22.  The total DSG deficit is 
predicted to increase to £25.0m by the end of the financial year. 

1.8 The impact of increasing costs within the capital programme continues to be 
monitored on a project-by-project basis.   The availability of materials and 
labour remains a significant risk for our capital programme and our project 

teams are working closely with contractors to anticipate problems before they 
arise.  

 In relation to corporate risks, there are three risks with a severity above the 

tolerance threshold: 

 Cyber-security, 
 Failure of social care provisions, 
 Unregistered care homes – children and young people will not be cared 

for in settings that best meet their needs. 
 

 Of the 12 workforce key performance indicators with a RAG status indicator: 

Page 12

Agenda Item 4



 9 are rated ‘Green’ and are on track, 

 2 are rated ‘Amber’ and are at risk, 
 1 is rated ’Red’ and is at significant risk. 

 

2 Proposal details 

2.1 It is proposed that Cabinet review the Performance and Resources Report and 
consider the current performance activity. 

 

3 Other options considered (and reasons for not proposing) 

3.1 Not applicable. 

 
4 Consultation, engagement and advice 

4.1 The Executive Leadership Team and Cabinet Members have considered the 

Performance and Resources Report and the updates to the Key Performance 
Indicators. 

4.2 All scrutiny committees review their specific sections of the Performance and 

Resources Report quarterly, with the Performance and Finance Scrutiny 
Committee having an overview of the whole document.  Committees can make 
recommendations to the relevant Cabinet Member and/or refer issues to other 

scrutiny committees as appropriate.   

 
5 Finance 

5.1 The financial impact is set out in the Performance and Resources Report. 

 

6 Risk implications and mitigations 

6.1 The corporate risk register is included within the Performance and Resources 
Report, reflecting the key risks facing the council and the planned action to 

mitigate the risks where possible. 

 

7 Policy alignment and compliance 

7.1 Reporting on the council’s performance and activities through the Performance 

and Resources Report to Cabinet is part of the governance of the council, 
ensuring transparency in its reporting arrangements and enabling scrutiny by 
members and the public.  

  

Becky Shaw   Katharine Eberhart 

Chief Executive   Director of Finance and Support Service 
 

Contact Officer: Rebecca Taylor, Financial Planning Manager, 0330 222 6878,  

rebecca.taylor@westsussex.gov.uk 
 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



Appendices 

Annex A – How to Read the Performance and Resources Report 

Annex B – Performance and Resources Report – Q3 2021/22 

Background papers 

None 

Page 14

Agenda Item 4



   

  

How to Read the Performance and Resources Report 
 
The Performance and Resources Report is separated into three sections: 

 
a. Summary Report – This is an overall summary of the County Council’s performance 

for the latest quarter, including: 
 

• Performance highlights of the County Council’s priorities, 
 

• Overview of the revenue and capital financial outlook across the 
organisation, 
 

• Key corporate risks with a severity graded above the set tolerance level, 
 

• The latest workforce overview.   
 

b. Sections by Portfolio (Sections 1-10) – There is a separate section for each 
Portfolio: 

 
• Section 1 – Adults Services  
• Section 2 – Children’s and Young People 
• Section 3 – Learning and Skills 
• Section 4 – Community Support, Fire and Rescue 
• Section 5 – Environment and Climate Change 
• Section 6 – Finance and Property 
• Section 7 – Highways and Transport 
• Section 8 – Leader 
• Section 9 – Public Health and Wellbeing 
• Section 10 – Support Services and Economic Development 

 
Each Portfolio covers the following aspects in detail which enables the Section to be 
viewed as a stand-alone report: 
 

• Updates of the performance KPIs agreed in Our Council Plan and the action taking 
place, including Climate Change  performance measures. 

 
The KPI measures compare the last three periods - this may be quarterly, annually 
or other time periods (depending on how regularly data is released); however, each 
measure will explain the reporting period. 

 
The arrows on the KPI measures represent the direction of travel compared to the 
previous quarter: 

o A green upward arrow shows that performance is improving,  
o A red downward arrow shows performance is worsening, and, 
o An amber horizontal arrow shows no change to performance. 

 
• Overview of the revenue financial position, risks and issues and savings update. 
 
• Overview of the capital financial position and latest capital performance. 

 
• Details of the corporate risks which have a direct impact on the specific Portfolio.   
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4
Annex A



   

  

 
c. Supporting Appendices – Other documents within the report include: 

 
• Appendix 1 – Revenue Budget Monitor and Reserves  
• Appendix 2 – Covid-19 Summary 
• Appendix 3 – Service Transformation 
• Appendix 4 – Capital Monitor 
• Appendix 5 – Corporate Risk Register Summary 
• Appendix 6 – Workforce 

 

Scrutiny Committee Documents 
 
The relevant appendices will be made available to Scrutiny Committees prior to 
being considered by Public Cabinet.  The complete reporting pack, including the 
Cabinet Cover Report, will be considered by the Performance and Finance Scrutiny 
Committee. 
 
A detailed matrix of the Performance and Resources Report’s sections and 
appendices by Scrutiny Committee responsibility is shown below.  The areas in dark 
green indicate the Scrutiny Committees areas of responsibility and the areas in 
light green denote areas of the report which should be included in the Committee 
papers for context and consideration where appropriate.  
 
PRR Matrix – Documents for Scrutiny Committees 

 

Page 16

Agenda Item 4
Annex A



   

 
 

Performance and Resources Report – December 2021 (Quarter 3) 
 

The County Council’s business performance, financial performance (revenue and 
capital), savings delivery, workforce and risk are monitored through the Quarterly 

Business Performance Report produced each quarter for consideration by senior 
officers, Cabinet and all members including Scrutiny Committee members.  

 

Introduction 
 

1. This report provides an overview of the performance across West Sussex County 

Council for the third quarter of 2021/2022 (October - December).  It brings 
together information on performance, finance, workforce and risk management, all 

of which are reported on an outturn forecast basis and describes how the County 
Council is delivering the four priorities set out in Our Council Plan.   
 

National Context 

 
2. The County Council is focused on delivering the four priorities as set out in Our 

Council Plan: keeping people safe from vulnerable situations, a sustainable and 
prosperous economy, helping people and communities fulfil their potential and 

making the best use of resources, all underpinned by tackling climate change.   
 

3. During the quarter, the Government re-introduced Covid-19 restrictions following 
the spread of a new Omicron variant.  A booster vaccination was announced with 

the Government offering this third Covid-19 vaccine to all adults by the 31st 
December.  During this time, the County Council has continued to provide support 
to the vaccination programme and to the community by working with local partners 

and providing support and help to vulnerable people through the Community Hub 
and other front-line services.   
 

4. On the 27th October, the Chancellor of the Exchequer presented the Autumn Budget 

and three-year Spending Review covering 2022/23 – 2024/25.  The Provisional 
Local Government Finance Settlement, published on 16th December, provided 
confirmation and detail of the key announcements outlined in the Spending Review.  

However, only a one-year settlement was announced so funding in the medium 
term remains uncertain. 

 
5. In December, the Adult Social Care White Paper was published which sets out a 10-

year vision for the sector and provided information on funding proposal that will be 
implemented over the next three years. 

 

6. The Environment Act, which acts as the UK’s new framework for environmental 
protection, became law on the 9th November.    

 

Performance Summary - Our Council Plan  
 

7. This section reports the latest performance position against Our Council Plan 
measures.  Table 1 displays the performance by priority with details of each 

measure reported in each respective Portfolio Section. 
  

Page 17

Agenda Item 4
Annex B



   

 
 

Table 1 – Performance by Portfolio/ Priority 

 

 

8. The current quarter three position shows how the 53 measures are performing: 
  

 54% (29 of 53) – meeting target or on track to meet the target (Green) 

 21% (11 of 53) – close to meeting their target (Amber) 
 23% (12 of 53) – not meeting their target (Red) 

 2% (1 of 53) – unable to assess current status 
 
This compares to the year-end forecasted position: 

 
 59% (31 of 53) – meeting target or on track to meet the target (Green) 

 30% (16 of 53) – close to meeting their target (Amber) 
 11% (6 of 53) – not meeting their target (Red) 
 

 

  

Page 18

Agenda Item 4
Annex B



   

 
 

Performance Summary by Priority  
 

Keeping People Safe from Vulnerable Situations 

 
9. The new Omicron variant of Covid-19 emerged in quarter three, exacerbating the 

usual pressures of the winter months and the increasing market challenges, this 
required some re-orientation of activity, particularly in Adult Social Care. 

 
10. However, we have continued to work in partnership with health partners, 

developing a joint winter plan to facilitate the timely discharge of 2,224 patients 

from hospital over the quarter; and we remain on track to reduce admissions to 
residential and nursing homes for working age adults and older people, enabling 

more people to live independently for longer and thereby reducing need for long 
term services.  

 

11. Work was also progressed over the autumn with service users, carers, staff, 
voluntary sector groups and providers to help shape a new Adult Social Care 

Strategy to guide the future development of our adult social care services up to 
2025. 

 

12. Improvements and planned service changes within Early Help and Children’s Social 
Care are progressing well and this is evident in the improving performance of some 

of the KPIs, for example children looked after with three or more placements, 
improving the stability of placements is the result of embedding good practices.  
The Commissioner delivered his latest review to Department for Education (DfE) 

Ministers in December, and we expect a response in the coming months. 
 

13. In December, inflation reached its highest level in decades, with particular 
pressures in fuel costs.  The West Sussex Fuel Poverty Fund supported services to 

vulnerable people this winter and grants have been given to Age UK Meal Delivery 
Service and Family Support Work. 
 

A Sustainable and Prosperous Economy 

 

14. The economy continued to recover, with key milestones including the end of the 
furlough scheme, although the emergence of Omicron adversely impacted many 
businesses – particularly in hospitality and food – in the run up to Christmas. 

 
15. The Track, a new shared and collaborative employment workspace for creative and 

digital businesses in Bognor Regis had its official opening in October, an important 
step in the Council’s work to support enterprises to start and grow. So far this year 
over 1,200 enterprises have accessed unique packages of business support, 

encouraging successful start-ups and helping established businesses to revive, 
innovate and grow. 

 
16. The A24 Robin Hood roundabout major work improvement scheme was completed, 

as was public consultation on the review of the statutory West Sussex Transport 

Plan which will set out how the Council will, with strategic partners, address key 
challenges in the transport network to 2036. 

 
17. All planning applications within the Sussex North Water Supply Zone (which covers 

all of Horsham District, and parts of Crawley Borough, Chichester District, and Arun 

District) now have to demonstrate that they do not increase pressure on water 
resources i.e., that they are ‘water neutral’. Planning officers are working with the 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4
Annex B



   

 
 

other authorities, Southern Water, Natural England, and Environment Agency to 

identify solutions for water neutrality. Officers will continue to update internal 
services (such as facilities, estates, economic development, education, capital 

projects, sustainability) on water neutrality matters and implications for corporate 
schemes. 

 

Helping People and Communities Fulfil Their Potential 
 

18. Full Ofsted inspections for schools resumed in September 2021. As at the end of 

December 2021 the percentage of schools rated good or outstanding is at their 
highest levels in recent history and on track to meet our targets. Key Stage 4 

results have also been published and we have met our targets although results are 
not directly comparable to previous years, due to the different method of 
assessment. Key Stage 2 results were also assessed differently this year and will 

not be available. 
 

19. The impacts of the pandemic continue to be felt, for example adults with learning 
disability in paid employment remains below target because employment 

opportunities have been limited, and the number of adult services reviews carried 
out in 12 months where performance has deteriorated due to Covid-19, the 
pressures of hospital discharge flows and need to divert available resources. 
 

20. The Community Hub has completed outreach work or supported over 62,000 

residents, including the clinically extremely vulnerable. The Hub continues to work 
jointly as part of the Local Tracing Partnership supporting the National Test and 
Trace Programme and also supporting residents with Covid-19 related needs 

through the Household Support Fund. 
 

21. The Resettlement Team, who work with partners to resettle refugees under the 
Vulnerable Persons Resettlement Scheme (VPRS) have successfully secured more 

suitable properties from both the private and social sectors, exceeding their target. 
Work has also commenced on supporting the Hong Kong British Nationals Overseas 
(HKBNO) that have started to arrive in West Sussex. 

 

Making the Best Use of Resources 

 

22. We have significantly reduced the operational estate during this quarter, primarily 
due to the closure of a number of Children and Family Centres and Youth Centres 
as a result of the Early Help Service redesign. Work is underway at the site of West 

Sussex Fire and Rescue Service’s brand-new Horsham Fire Station and Training 
Centre.  

 
23. A new Occupational Health contract started in October to provide suitable support 

for WSCC and schools staff, and our numbers of apprentices continues to rise, 

reaching 93 by the end of December. 
 

Responding to the Challenges Posed by Climate Change 

 

24. Supporting our climate change agenda, carbon emissions are also on track to meet 
our targets, down 18% compared to the 2019/20 baseline. Although colder months 
have led to a return of heat demand as the primary emission source, warmer than 

average external temperatures have supported reduced demand compared to 
previous years. Business travel emissions have increased 23% compared to 

Page 20

Agenda Item 4
Annex B



   

 
 

2020/21, though remain much reduced compared to the pre-Covid 2019/20 

baseline. We have also secured £326,189 government funding to analyse which of 
our buildings could switch to clean, low carbon heating systems and support action 

on climate change. Heat decarbonisation plans will be produced for hub sites, such 
as Parkside in Horsham and the Worthing Community Hub, and a range of other 

locations.   
 

Finance Summary  
 

National Overview  
 

25. As market experts predicted, inflation has continued to rise during the last quarter 
due to a number of factors including the general economic recovery from the Covid-

19 pandemic and the sharp global increase in energy prices.  The latest figures 
from the Office for National Statistics (ONS) on the Consumer Price Index (CPI) and 
Retail Price Index (RPI) are shown in Table 2 below. 

 

Table 2 – Inflation Table CPI and RPI 
 

Inflation  
April 
2021 

May 
2021 

June 
2021 

July 
2021 

Aug 
2021 

Sept 
2021 

Oct 
2021 

Nov 
2021 

Dec 
2021 

Consumer Price 
Index (CPI) 

1.5% 2.1% 2.5% 2.0% 3.2% 3.1% 4.2% 5.1% 5.4% 

Retail Price 
Index (RPI) 

2.9% 3.3% 3.9% 3.8% 4.8% 4.9% 6.0% 7.1% 7.5% 

 

26. The Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) sets its monetary policy to 
meet a 2% inflation target.  In its meeting on the 15th December 2021, the MPC 
decided to increase the Bank of England’s base rate by 0.15%, to 0.25%.  A further 

increase of 0.25% was announced on the 3rd February 2022 with an aim to help 
slow inflation.  In addition, the Bank of England have also revised its inflation 

prediction saying it expects inflation to ‘reach about 6% by spring 2022’ and 
‘expects the rate of inflation to fall quite quickly from the second half of 2022, as 
the effect of temporary factors end’. 

 
27. There remains significant uncertainty around funding from 2023/24 onwards with 

the review of the funding methodology due to commence in early 2022.  The Fair 
Funding Review and changes to the business rates retention scheme, originally 
planned to be implemented from April 2020, has been postponed for a number of 

years and has, therefore, delayed the impact on local authorities’ funding 
assumptions.  The Government are now committed to implementing the changes 

and it is expected that there will be further indications of the impacts by the 
summer 2022. 
 

County Council Financial Overview  

 
28. During the third quarter, the County Council has continued to respond to the 

changing nature of the pandemic following the immense pace and spread of the 
Omicron variant.  The on-going impact on demand and the cost of council services 
remains a concern, with the cost of care continuing to increase at higher rates than 

budgeted, and the projected costs of delivering the capital programme continuing 

Page 21

Agenda Item 4
Annex B



   

 
 

to increase.   These uncertainties, coupled with the volatile short-term economic 

outlook, continue to make forecasting the year end outturn position difficult.  
Ongoing economic implications on services have been factored into the council’s 

medium-term financial strategy and budget setting process for 2022/23, although 
some uncertainty remains with regards to the continuing impact of the pandemic. 

 
29. The forecast outturn position for 2021/22, as at the end of December, is currently 

projecting a £0.559m overspend, a reduction of £0.827m when compared to 

September.  This overall position assumes that in-year costs related to the Covid-
19 pandemic will be fully funded from grants and partner contributions received.  

Also, this position excludes the use of the £6.4m general contingency and £1.975m 
of pay inflation contingency (1% pay provision), which is held separately.   
 

Projected Outturn Summary  
 

30. Table 3 details the projected revenue outturn position by Portfolio. 
 

Table 3 – Projected Outturn and Variation by Portfolio 

 
 
 

31. The individual portfolio sections within the report explain the key movements. The 
main risks from across the portfolios include: 

 
 Uncertainty in demand for services in adults and children, 

 

 Continued increases in the cost of older people care packages,  
 

 The mix between internal and external placements for children, 
 

 The rising numbers of children requiring home to school transport, 
 

 The rising numbers of children requiring high needs education, 
 

 The non-delivery and delays of savings. 

 

Page 22

Agenda Item 4
Annex B



   

 
 

32. The Adults Services Portfolio continues to be under significant pressure, largely due 

to the cost of care for Older People continuing to increase and the imbalance of 
supply and demand in the care sector.  The cost of care packages have grown by 

5.7% this financial year, which represents real terms pressure of almost 4% when 
discounted for the inflationary uplift of 1.75% agreed by the County Council for 

2021/22.  With fewer residential providers accepting new placements at the County 
Council’s usual maximum rates, there is a significant financial risk in the short to 
medium term which will need to be addressed.  Currently, the in-year overspend is 

expected to be mitigated by one-off opportunities including the use of Covid-19 
grants, Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) and the Adults and Health Pressures and 

Recovery Reserve.  Further details are reported in Section 1 – Adult Services 
Portfolio. 
 

33. The pressure on the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) continues to be of concern, 
with a projected overspending of £7.2m currently forecast in 2021/22.  It should be 

noted that this overspending projection is after allowing for a £7.0m transfer from 
the DSG Reserve which was agreed by Schools Forum.  The total DSG deficit is 
therefore predicted to increase to £25.0m in 2021/22.  Further details are reported 

in Section 3 – Learning and Skills Portfolio. 
 

Contingency Budgets  

 

34. There is still no official resolution to the National Joint Council (NJC) pay award for 

2021/22; although the result of a ballot by Unison members suggests that there 
will be no further action and the final pay offer of 1.75% put forward by the 
National Employers for Local Government in July 2021 will be accepted.   

 
35. A pay contingency budget was initially created to fund a potential 1% pay award in 

2021/22.  To fund the proposed 1.75% NJC pay award, it is estimated that an 
additional £1.6m will be required from the £6.4m General Contingency budget in 
addition to the £1.975m remaining within the Pay Contingency budget.  Table 4 

demonstrates the potential impact.     
 

Table 4 – Contingency Budget – Impact of Potential Pay Inflation 
 

Contingency Budgets 

in 2021/22 

Remaining 
2021/22 

Contingency 
Budget 

Potential 
Contingency 

Commitment -

Relocation to 
Durrington 

Bridge House 

Estimated 
1.75% Pay 

Award for Staff 

Groups Awaiting 
Pay Award 
Agreement 

Contingency 
Budget 

Remaining 

Pay Contingency £1.975m £0.000m (£1.975m) 

 

£- 

General Contingency £6.400m (£0.700m) (£1.600m) 

 

£4.100m 

Total £8.375m (£0.700m) (£3.575m) 

 

£4.100m 

Homeworking/ Change in Service Delivery  

 

36. Throughout the year, the Covid-19 pandemic has impacted the way the County 
Council delivers its services to its customers and how it operates internally.  Many 

services have had to adapt to different ways of working to enable the business to 
continue in an efficient and effective manner. 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 4
Annex B



   

 
 

37. As per Government guidelines, the County Council has asked its employees to work 

from home where possible to reduce the risk of infections in the workplace.  
Homeworking has also provided some financial benefits which are detailed and 

included in the portfolio financial year end projection; however, these in-year 
savings identified are also collated in Table 5.   

 

Table 5 – Projected In-Year Underspending from Homeworking/ Change in 
Service Delivery 
 

Type of Spend / Area 
Projected 

Underspending 
Comments 

Staff Travel and Vehicle Mileage (£0.405m) 
In-year saving from a reduction in staff travel 
(including social care).  

Utilities (£0.300m) 

Reduction in utility expenditure due to 

reduced occupancy in the majority of county 
buildings. 

Facilities Management (£0.160m) 
Reduction in shredding and refuse, 
consumables at area hubs and security costs.  

Members Travel, Expenses, 
Training and Refreshments 

(£0.070m) 
Saving due to remove working and on-line 
meetings. 

Total Projected Underspending (£0.935m) 
 

 

38. With the new Worthing Hub project currently underway with staff transferring from 

Centenary House to Durrington Bridge House, it had been envisaged that the one-
off saving from homeworking would directly offset the cost of this project; however 
due to the portfolio budgets only just breaking-even overall, the funding cannot be 

released at this time.   
 

39. It is estimated that the Worthing Hub project will require £0.7m to fund the fitting-
out of the new premises and removal costs; therefore, a £0.7m commitment for 
this project is currently reported against the General Contingency budget, as 

described in Table 4 and Appendix 1.  
 

 

Savings Update 
 

40. The 2021/22 savings target across all portfolios is £18.5m.  Of this amount, 
£9.2m (50%) is currently judged as on track and has either been delivered as 
originally envisaged or the saving has been achieved via a different mechanism, 

£1.4m (8%) is judged as amber where further work is required to ensure the 
saving can be achieved and £7.9m (43%) is judged as red with no expectation of 

delivery in this year.  Red savings are reflected in the forecast outturn position.  
Table 6 summarises the savings position.  Details of each saving and its delivery is 
included in the separate portfolio sections. 

 

  

Page 24

Agenda Item 4
Annex B



   

 
 

Table 6 – 2021/22 Savings by Portfolio 
 

 
 

 
 

 
41. In addition, there remains £3.1m of savings from 2020/21 which had not been 

delivered permanently by the start of the financial year.  The majority of these 
savings plans were adversely affected by the pandemic.  Of the £3.1m savings 

currently outstanding, £1.2m (39%) are judged as ‘green’ and on track, £0.3m 
(10%) are judged as ‘amber’ where further work is required to ensure the saving 
can be achieved and £1.6m (52%) are judged as ‘red’ with no expectation of 

delivery.  The red savings are reflected in the forecast outturn position.   Table 7 
summaries the in-year savings position.  Details of each saving and its delivery is 

included in the separate portfolio sections. 
 
Table 7 – Savings Brought Forward from Previous Year by Portfolio 
 

  

 
 

Covid-19 Grants and Income Summary 
 

42. The cost of the Covid-19 pandemic to the County Council has been monitored 
separately from the portfolio budgets agreed by County Council in February 2021.  

It is expected that all the costs of the pandemic incurred in 2021/22 will be funded 
from government grants or from other income received from partners.  A detailed 
list of the Covid-19 grants received and estimates of further grants are listed in 

Appendix 2.      

Page 25

Agenda Item 4
Annex B



   

 
 

 

43. Currently, of all the grant and contributions available, there is £9.9m of non-
ringfenced grant which is currently unallocated in 2021/22, however, it is clear that 

the impact of the pandemic will continue into the 2022/23 financial year which will 
cause significant financial risk to the County Council.  On-going supply and demand 

pressures within Adult Social Care are of particular concern as the pandemic 
continues to affect the social care market provision and rising cost of care.  Further 
details are reported in Appendix 2.   

 

Capital Programme Summary 
 

44. The impact of increasing costs within the capital programme continues to be 
monitored on a project-by-project basis.  The availability of materials and labour 
remains a key risk for our capital programme and our project teams are continuing 

to work closely with contractors to anticipate problems before they arise.  Any 
increase in budgets will need to be met through reprioritising existing approved 

pipeline projects.   The capital programme has been reviewed as part of the budget 
setting process for 2022/23 to ensure budgets are robust and the projects included 
will help to meet the Council’s ambitions.  

 
45. The capital programme; as approved by County Council in February 2021, agreed a 

programme totalling £101.6m for 2021/22.  £5.8m of this expenditure, originally 
profiled to spend in 2020/21, was slipped into 2021/22, revising the capital 

programme to £107.4m.  Since this time, profiled spend has increased overall by 
£9.5m, to give a current full year projected spend for 2021/22 of £116.9m.  Graph 
1 demonstrates movements from the revised capital programme to the current 

forecast.  
 

Graph 1 – Capital Programme 

 

   Key: 
Capital Programme – The revised planned expenditure for 2021/22 as at 1st April 2021.  
Slippage – Funding which was planned to be spent in 2021/22 but has since been reprofiled into future years. 

Underspending – Unused funding following the completion of projects. 
Overspending - Projects that require further funding over and above the original approved budget. 
Additional Budget – Additional external funding that has entered the capital programme for the first time. 
Acceleration – Agreed funding which has been brought forward from future years.  
Current Forecast – Latest 2021/22 financial year capital programme forecast. 

 

46. The Capital Programme Budget Monitor, as at the end of December 2021, is 
included in Appendix 4.  

 
 

Page 26

Agenda Item 4
Annex B



   

 
 

Corporate Risks  
 

47. The council’s risks are reviewed regularly to ensure risks are understood and 
appropriate mitigation takes place.  Risks are scored considering the likelihood and 
impact.   

 
48. During the quarter, the Corporate Risk Register has been updated with a number of 

changes including the introduction of two new risks, as described in Table 8 below. 
 

Table 8 – Changes to the Corporate Risk Register When Compared to 

Previous Quarter Report 
 

Risk 
Number 

Risk Action Reason 
Current 

Score 

CR69 

If the council fail to make the necessary 
improvements to progress from the previous 

‘inadequate’ rating, there is a risk that 
children’s services will fail to deliver an 
acceptable provision to the community. 

Risk severity 
reduced. 

Due to outcome of 

recent Ofsted 
monitoring visit. 

15 

CR71 

As part of the 'new normal' WSCC staff 

will be expected to continue to work 
from home (current exceptions being areas 
of critical business that cannot function in 
this way and staff unable to work in a safe 
environment at home).  

Risk closed. 

Trigger/cause 
(instructed to work 
from home) is no 
longer relevant, and 
any controls are 

embedded in Business 
as usual. 

N/A 

CR72 

The Government have stipulated that 
children in care under the age of 16 will not 

be allowed to be accommodated in 
unregulated placements. This has 
strengthened existing regulations that 

stipulate that all children and young people 
who require residential care must be placed 
within registered children's homes. Due to a 
local and nationwide shortage of registered 
provision there is a risk that these children 
and young people will not be cared for 

in settings that best meet their needs, 
which could lead to safeguarding concerns 
and enforcement action against the providers 
of unregistered homes and local authorities. 

New risk. 

From 9th September 

2021, children in care 
under 16 are not 
allowed to be 
accommodated in 
unregulated 
placements. 

16 

CR73 

If there is a failure to adequately 
prioritise, finance and resource our 
efforts to deliver on WSCC Climate 

Change commitments (e.g., 2030 Carbon 
Neutrality), there is a risk that there will be 
insufficient capacity and capability to 
complete the necessary actions within the 
required timeframes.  This will lead to 
prolonged variations in weather and adverse 
impacts on WSCC service provision.    

New risk. 

 

12 

 

  

Page 27

Agenda Item 4
Annex B



   

 
 

49. There are three corporate risks with severity above the tolerance threshold: 

 
 CR39a – Cyber-security. 

 CR58 – Failure of social care provisions. 
 CR72 – Unregistered care homes – children and young people will not be 

cared for in settings that best meet their needs.  
 

50. The latest Corporate Risk Register can be found in Appendix 5. 

 

Workforce  
  

51. The Workforce Key Performance Indicators, detailed in Appendix 6, shows that of 
the 12 KPIs with a RAG status indicator, nine are green, two are amber and one is 
red.   

 
52. The amber measures relate to an increase in sickness recorded on the rolling 12-

month average calendar days lost to sickness and a reduction in the completion 
rate of staff inductions.  The red measure relates to the employee disclosure rate 
for equality.  The target for this measure is 30%, however the current level is 17%.  

 

Sections and Appendices 

 
Section 1: Adults Services Portfolio 

Section 2: Children and Young People Portfolio 
Section 3: Learning and Skills Portfolio 

Section 4: Community Support, Fire and Rescue Portfolio 
Section 5: Environment and Climate Change Portfolio 
Section 6: Finance and Property Portfolio 

Section 7: Highways and Transport Portfolio 
Section 8: Leader (including Economy) Portfolio 

Section 9: Public Health and Wellbeing Portfolio 
Section 10:  Support Services and Economic Development Portfolio 
 

Appendix 1:  Revenue Budget Monitor and Reserves 
Appendix 2:  Covid-19 Summary 

Appendix 3:  Service Transformation 
Appendix 4:  Capital Monitor 
Appendix 5:  Corporate Risk Register Summary 

Appendix 6:  Workforce 
 

Page 28

Agenda Item 4
Annex B



   

  

Adults Services Portfolio – Summary 
 

Performance Summary  
 

1. The Portfolio has a number of performance highlights to report this quarter: 
 

 Work has been underway since September 2021 to build a longer-term vision 
and strategy for adult social care, co-designed with staff, customers, carers 
and partners. The creation of the strategy will understand better what has 

changed for people since the start of the pandemic and what they want from 
their lives, so the care and support provided can be shaped to meet the needs 

and expectations of the people the County Council supports.  It will also allow 
the County Council to reflect on what is most important to people and look to 
commission, deliver or enable services to be delivered in a way that meets 

people's expectations and support the commitment to person-centred care, 
with the voices of customers and carers at the heart of their own care and 

support as set out in the recently published White Paper. The first phase of co-
design activity was completed following a two-month process of nine 
workshops, 17 focus groups and a survey that has yielded almost 1,000 

responses.  The draft strategy has been shared with everyone who has been 
involved in its creation before being finalised and will be considered for 

approval by Cabinet in February 2022. 
 

 The County Council has continued to work in partnership with health partners, 

developing a joint winter plan, including additional measures due to the 
spread of the Omicron variant, to facilitate the timely discharge of 2,224 

patients from hospital over the quarter.  The importance of managing the flow 
of patients through hospital settings has been essential with the continued 
impact of Covid-19 on hospital admissions.  

 
 The Joint Carer Strategy 2021-2026 was endorsed by the Health and 

Wellbeing Board and provides a clear direction of travel for carer identification 
and support in West Sussex.  The strategy was developed with carer 

engagement of all ages as well as wider stakeholders and aims to ensure carer 
recognition, provide targeted support, advance equality of access, contingency 
planning for young carers, limit financial hardship and reduce carer isolation.  

 
 Work has continued through the Learning Disability Partnership Board, to raise 

Learning Disability Awareness. Partner organisations, including the NHS, 
Voluntary Sector and District and Boroughs have been assessing health 
inequalities with the focus on life expectancy, reasonable adjustments to make 

sure people can access services and digital inclusion. A specific set of targets 
are being set, identifying the actions required to achieve results, which the 

Health and Wellbeing Board will monitor over the next year.  
 
 The County Council continues to remain on track to reduce admissions to 

residential and nursing homes for working age adults and older people, in line 
with our corporate priority to maximise independence in a personal and 

meaningful way through early intervention and prevention approaches, 
enabling more people to live independently for longer and thereby reducing 
need for long term services. The current trajectory continues to indicate a 

Page 29

Agenda Item 4
Section 1



   

  

reduction from 2020/21 admissions and puts West Sussex in line with regional 
local authority peers. 

 

Our Council Performance Measures 

    

Website link to Our Council Performance Measures here. 

Page 30

Agenda Item 4
Section 1

https://performance.westsussex.gov.uk/stories/s/Adults-Services/i3d4-rfqv


   

  

Finance Summary  
 

Portfolio In Year Pressures and Mitigations 
 

Pressures (£m) Mitigations and Underspending (£m) 

Year end 
budget 

variation 
(£m) 

Covid-19 pandemic forecast expenditure 
(Covid-19 position is reported in Appendix 2) 

£2.227m 
Covid-19 Grant – Assumed funding from 
Covid-19 grants and contributions (Covid-19 
position is reported in Appendix 2) 

(£2.227m) 

 

Older People – delays in delivering 2021/22 
savings due to increased care costs and 
demand  

£4.361m 

Covid-19 Grant – Allocation of Contained 
Management Outbreak Fund (COMF) 
towards eligible costs within Older People 
and Learning Disability cohorts 

(£8.482m)  

Delays in delivering 2021/22 savings from the 
closure of Marjorie Cobby House and Shaw day 
care services. Delayed until April 2022.  

£0.890m 
Covid-19 Grant – Use of Omicron Support 
Fund and the Workforce Recruitment and 
Retention Fund to manage market pressures 

(£1.825m)  

Older People – continued rising cost of care 
packages and reduction in additional income 
assumption following backdated assessments 

£6.862m 

Use of external funding sources including 
Winter Pressures Grant and Improved Better 
Care Fund (iBCF) to manage market 
pressures 

(£1.675m)  

Learning Disabilities– delays in delivery of 
savings 2020/21 & 2021/22 

£2.827m 
Underspending from the closure of in-house 
services during the pandemic 

(£0.631m)  

Learning Disabilities – expenditure relating to 
residence dispute adjudication outcome 
against the County Council (including 
backdated costs). 

£1.800m 
Various underspending across a mix of 
services 

(£0.400m)  

Learning Disabilities –changes in care packages 
for a small number of customers with complex 
care needs 

£0.673m 
Further funding from Covid-19 grants, the 
Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF) and Adults 
and Health Pressures and Recovery Reserve 

(£4.400m)  

Adults Services Portfolio - Total £19.640m  (£19.640m) £0.000m 

 
 

Significant Financial Issues and Risks Arising 
 

Key Financial 
Issues and 

Risks Arising 
Narrative Cost Driver Q1 Q2 Q3 Action 

Trajec
tory 

1 

Older 
People’s 
Care 
Budget 

Key cost driver 
data influencing 
the trajectory of 
the Older 
People’s care 
budget 

No. of older people 
with a care package 

4,681  4,694 4670  

Customer numbers 
remain close to pre-
Covid levels.  This 
represents less of a 
budget risk than care 
costs.  These are 
being driven by 
market-related 
factors, especially 
shortages of care 
workers.  At the end 
of quarter three, the 
real terms rate of 
price increase is 
3.95%, if the 1.75% 
inflationary uplift 
agreed for 2021/22 is 
excluded. 

 

% increase in the 
average gross weekly 
cost of a care package 
for older people 

3.0%  4.5%  5.7%  

% increase in the 
average net weekly cost 
of a care package for 
older people 

2.8%  4.1% 5.8% 

 
 

Page 31

Agenda Item 4
Section 1



   

  

Financial Narrative on the Portfolio’s Position  
 

1. The Adults Services Portfolio is projecting a balanced budget at this time; 

however, the underlying overspending risk reported in September has 
increased from £10.3m to £12.9m.  The main source of that pressure 
continue to relate to the cost of older people and customers with learning 

disabilities. 
 

2. Older People - Demand.  Outwardly demand remains steady.  Customer 
numbers reduced by around 20 during the third quarter, which, in an 

historical context, is unusual for this time of year.  At approximately 4,700, 
the total is now around 100 fewer than pre-pandemic levels.  However, that 
position masks the increasing challenge that the County Council is facing in 

obtaining care.  For a whole series of reasons, which include the needs of 
hospital discharge, workforce shortages, rising inflation and care homes that 

are closed to new admissions because of Covid-19, there is an imbalance of 
demand and supply in the market.  This is manifesting itself in growing 
waiting lists and so there may be a spike in numbers at a future date if any 

unmet demand cannot otherwise be managed. 
 

3. Older People – Cost of Care.  The same factors which are limiting supply 
are also resulting in the cost of care rising sharply.  The average cost of a 
care package, which now stands at approximately £505 per week, has grown 

by around £6 per week during the third quarter.   This takes the increase for 
the year to date to 5.7% – the comparative figure in September was 4.5% - 

which represents real terms pressure of almost 4% when discounted for the 
inflationary uplift of 1.75% agreed by the County Council for 2021/22.  
 

4. Amongst other things, that statistic indicates that fewer residential providers 
are accepting new placements at the County Council’s usual maximum 

rates.  Over 60% of those admissions are now being made at an agreed rate 
and it is becoming increasingly common for providers to be seeking payment 
of over £1,000 per week for fairly standard provision.  At the same time the 

fragilities within the domiciliary care market are causing short term 
residential placements to be used to hold customers until suitable care can 

be sourced to enable them to return home.  In other circumstances, without 
the pressure the County Council is facing to ensure hospital beds become 
free as soon as people are medically fit to be discharged, much of this 

spending would not be seen as value for money.   However, it is being 
incurred as the cost of a pandemic and has added £3.5m to projected care 

expenditure in 2021/22 since October. Fortunately, the conditions attached 
to the recently announced Workforce Recruitment and Retention Fund and 
Omicron Support Fund allow £1.8m of that expenditure to be charged 

against those allocations.  When combined with uncommitted resources 
within the Winter Pressures Grant and the market fragility allocation in the 

Improved Better Care Fund this enables that £3.5m to be managed without 
detriment to the outturn position.     

 
5. Income from Customer Contributions to Care.  Due to financial 

assessments relating to the policy change that the County Council agreed in 

respect of the Minimum Income Guarantee (MIG), estimates have needed to 
be included in previous forecasts about the additional revenue that ultimately 

would be generated.  Unfortunately, the increase in income that has followed 
has been lower than projected.  In part this is because the proportion of 

Page 32

Agenda Item 4
Section 1



   

  

customers contributing towards a non-residential package was expected to 
return to its pre-pandemic level of circa 75% but has remained consistently 
below 70%.   

 
6. In addition, the County Council has recently made a decision not to uplift 

non-residential contributions in 2021/22 for existing customers to avoid the 
possibility of any further increases in this financial year for those people who 

have been impacted by the changes to the MIG).  The combination of those 
factors means that the additional income will be £1.5m less than 
estimated.  Despite this, income will still be in-line with the budget and the 

loss is of a contribution which would have helped mitigate overspending 
pressure.  

 
7. Learning Disabilities. – For the County Council’s share of the pooled 

budget, the projected overspend on Learning Disabilities has risen by £1.5m 

from £3.8m to £5.3m.  Over half of that increase (£0.8m) relates to two 
customers where responsibility for residence has been disputed.  In both 

cases, adjudications have recently been made against the County 
Council.  Such decisions are backdated (one to 2014, the other to 2016) and 
so will result in payment of historic arrears as well as on-going care 

costs.  This takes the number of such cases that the County Council has lost 
in the last six months to four.  Between them, they account for £1.8m of the 

total Learning Disabilities overspend, though as circa £1.4m is bound up in 
the arrears this will be one-off in 2021/22 rather than spending that will 
recur.  The remaining £0.7m is a consequence of changes in package costs 

for a small number of customers with particularly complex care needs. 
 

8. Summary Position.  Between the Older People’s budget and Learning 
Disabilities, the aggregate increase in pressure is £3m.  After allowing for 
£0.4m of underspending across a mix of other budgets across the service, 

the overspend estimate becomes £12.9m.  Given the extent to which the 
causes are attributable to Covid-19, £8.5m of this is chargeable against the 

County Council’s Covid-19 Contained Management Outbreak Fund (COMF) 
grant allocation.  This leaves a balance of £4.4m, which will be covered from 
either the Improved Better Care Fund (iBCF), further Covid-19 grant funding 

or the Adults and Health Pressures and Recovery Reserve of £4.7m that was 
created at the end of 2020/21 to meet Covid-19 recovery expenditure.  

Those options enable the overall forecast for the Adults budget to be a 
balanced outturn. 
 

9. Nevertheless, this commentary has underlined the turbulence that the 
service is currently facing, most of which is driven by external factors outside 

of immediate control.  Without the availability of substantial additional 
Government grant funding, the outcome would have been significant 

overspending.  Consequently, the outlook for 2022/23 and beyond is 
critically dependent upon the extent to which stability returns to the 
market.  Unless that happens, it is highly likely that price competition for 

care will continue, leaving the budget exposed to all of the risks that this will 
carry.  This is especially relevant for next year as large swathes of planned 

savings are planned are predicated on actions that will aim to make the cost 
of care more sustainable. 

Page 33

Agenda Item 4
Section 1



   

  

Cost Driver Information  

  

This graph shows the 
income received from 

customers as a 
percentage of the gross 
package cost of care for 
the older people cohort.   
 

This graph shows the 
number of older people 
receiving funded social 
care and the type of care 

package.   
 
Overall, the number of 
care packages has risen 
since the start of the year 
and is back to pre-
pandemic levels. 

This graph shows the 
average gross weekly cost 
of older people since April 
2018. 
 
The average cost of a 
package is currently 

running 5.7% higher than 
at the end of March which 
represents real terms 
pressure of almost 4% 

when discounted for the 
inflationary uplift of 

1.75% agreed by the 
County Council for 
2021/22. 

 

 

Page 34

Agenda Item 4
Section 1



   

  

 

Savings Delivery Update  
 

10. The portfolio has a number of 2021/22 savings and one saving outstanding 

from the 2021/22 financial year.  Details of these savings are included in the 
table below: 

 

Saving Activity 
2020/21 
Savings 

£000 
December 2021 Narrative 2022/23 

Lifelong Services (Learning 
Disabilities) 

1,900 

800 G  G 

1,100 R Covid19 

Plans being reviewed as part of service budget 
preparation for 2022/23.  The same level of 
saving will be pursued but through a different set 
of initiatives. 

A 

 
 

This graph shows the 

overall occupancy of Shaw 
Home placements. 
 
The County Council is 
charged on a block basis, 
so is paying for 590 beds 
per month.   

 
Total average occupancy 
rate in 2021/22 to date is 
81%. 
 

 

This graph shows the net 
weekly cost of learning 
disability care packages 

since January 2020.  
 

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 4
Section 1



   

  

Saving Activity 
2021/22 
Savings 

£000 
December 2021 Narrative 2022/23 

Review of in-house residential 
services (Older People). 

640 640 R 

A decision to close Marjorie Cobby House was 
made by Cabinet in November.  This will result in 
the saving being delivered in full in 2022/23.  The 
shortfall in 2021/22 is substantially mitigated 
from savings that have arisen whilst in-house day 
services have been closed during the pandemic. 

G 

Review of Shaw day services 
(Older People). 

250 250 R 
A decision to close Shaw day services was made 
by Cabinet in November.  This will enable the 
saving to be delivered in full in 2022/23.   

G 

Absorption of demand growth for 
adult social care from older people 
through demand management 
(Older People). 

4,361 4,361 R Covid19 

This is a saving which was planned to be 
delivered from the benefit of actions previously 
taken, e.g., the Home First contract.  Due to the 
constant turnover in the older people's customer 
group, it can only be measured in context of the 
overall budget position for that group.  The 
impact of Covid-19 and market-related factors 
mean that the older people's budget will 
overspend significantly in 2021/22, so the saving 
cannot be evidenced as having been met.  Plans 
have been laid as part of budget preparation for 
2022/23 to avoid this becoming a recurring 
pressure. 

A 

Non-residential customers to 
remain at home with reduced 
package (Older People). 

890 

200 G 
Savings to date from the additional capacity 
available in the Reablement contract. 

G 

690 A 

The increase in capacity is at a lower level than 
the County Council had sought.  In addition, the 
actual level of delivery is currently below 
planned due to provider staff shortages.  When 
the decision was made in February 2021 to 
invest additionally in the contract, funding was 
earmarked from the Improved Better Care Fund 
to mitigate the risk of under-performance in its 
first year, so this will not result in overspending. 
 

G 

Increase supply and use of shared 
lives carers (Learning Disabilities). 

448 448 R Covid19 

Recruitment and training of additional shared 
lives carers is taking place.  Although this should 
allow some new placements to be made before 
31st March, the part-year impact will mean 
limited financial benefit at most in 2021/22. 

G 

Supported Living - transfer of 
customers from residential 
provision (Learning Disabilities). 

1,059 1,059 R Covid19 

Plans have been revised as part of budget 
preparation for 2022/23.  The same level of 
saving will be pursued but through a different set 
of initiatives. 

A 

Increase number of customers 
supported by live-in care (Learning 
Disabilities). 

106 106 R Covid19 

Plans have been revised as part of budget 
preparation for 2022/23.  The same level of 
saving will be pursued but through a different set 
of initiatives. 

A 

Reduce use of single person 
services for customers where 
shared services may be suitable 
(Learning Disabilities). 

114 114 R Covid19 

Plans have been revised as part of budget 
preparation for 2022/23.  The same level of 
saving will be pursued but through a different set 
of initiatives. 

A 

Review of Agency Staffing 108 108 B  B 

 

 
 

 

Page 36

Agenda Item 4
Section 1



   

  

Capital Programme 
 

Performance Summary - Capital  
 

11. There are eight schemes within this portfolio; five of the schemes in delivery 
are rated green, indicating that the schemes are progressing as planned and 
three schemes are rated amber indicating that there is an issue, but that it 

can be dealt with by the project manager or project delivery team. An 
update on progress of schemes which are not rated green are detailed in the 

table below. 
 

Scheme 
RAG Status 

at 31st 
December 

Reason 
Latest RAG 

Status 
Updated Position 

Adults In-House Day Services 
Part B - Laurels  

AMBER 
Works have been completed, but 

close out works remain in progress. 
GREEN Scheme in retention.   

Adults In-House Day Services 
Part B – The Rowans 

AMBER 
Works have been completed, but 

close out works remain in progress. 
GREEN Scheme in retention.   

Adults In-House Day Services 
Part B - Glebelands 

AMBER 
Works have been completed, but 

close out works remain in progress. 
GREEN Scheme in retention.   

 
 

Finance Summary - Capital  
 

12. The capital programme; as approved by County Council in February 2021, 
agreed a programme totalling £2.039m for 2021/22.  £3.095m of 

expenditure, originally profiled to spend in 2020/21, was slipped into 
2021/22, revising the capital programme to £5.134m.   

 

13. Since this time, the profiled spend has remained the same resulting in a 
current year end projection for 2021/22 of £5.134m. 

 

 
Key: 
Capital Programme – The revised planned expenditure for 2021/22 as at 1st April 2021.  
Slippage – Funding which was planned to be spent in 2021/22 but has since been reprofiled into future years. 
Underspending – Unused funding following the completion of projects. 
Overspending - Projects that require further funding over and above the original approved budget. 
Additional Budget – Additional external funding that has entered the capital programme for the first time. 
Acceleration – Agreed funding which has been brought forward from future years. 
Current Forecast – Latest 2021/22 financial year capital programme forecast. 

Page 37

Agenda Item 4
Section 1



   

  

14. The largest project included in the capital programme expenditure plan is:  
 

 Choices for the Future Programme – in-house social care provision. 

 
15. The latest Capital Programme Budget Monitor is reported in Appendix 4. 

 
 

Risk  
 

16. The following table summarises the risks on the corporate risk register that 
would have a direct impact on the portfolio.  Risks to other portfolios are 

specified within the respective appendices to this report.  
 

Risk 

No. 
Risk Description 

Previous 

Quarter Score Current Score 

CR58 

The care market is experiencing an 

unprecedented period of fragility, particularly due 

to staff shortages and increasing demand. This 
has been further exacerbated by Covid-19, 
including the mandatory requirement for care 
staff to have a vaccination; however, this also 
extends to WSCC staff requiring access to these 
facilities (i.e., Social Workers, OT), and 

contractors. If the current and future 
commercial/economic viability of providers is not 
identified and supported, there is a risk of failure 
of social care provision which will result in 
funded and self-funded residents of West Sussex 
left without suitable care. 

25 25 

 
17. Further details on all risks can be found in Appendix 5 - Corporate Risk 

Register Summary. 
 

 

Page 38

Agenda Item 4
Section 1



   

Children and Young People Portfolio – Summary 
 

Performance Summary  
 
1. The Portfolio has a number of performance highlights to report this quarter: 

 
 The planned service changes within Early Help and Children’s Social Care 

have been progressed and are now moving into the implementation phase. 
The new Early Help service provision went live in January 2022. The first 

phase of the Family Safeguarding model of children’s social work will also 
be implemented as planned in February 2022. 

 

 In preparation for these service changes, we have seen a review and 
improvement in the threshold management within the serve resulting in a 

reduction and stabilising of demand in terms of child protection and 
children in care plans.  

 
 Workforce development activity has been implemented - including the new 

social work offer and de-layering of management and the overall staffing 

picture for statutory social care remains positive. This has resulted in levels 
of service remaining strong and largely unaffected by Covid absences 

during Q3.   
 
 The improved quality assurance and performance frameworks have 

resulted in improved compliance and quality assurance evidence as part of 
our ongoing commitment to practice improvement.  

 
 We have maintained progress and planning for improving our Fostering 

Service. Phase two of the planned improvements are on track 

implementation in early 2022.  
 

 The review of the commissioning management and governance has now 
been completed and the new management arrangement to align the 
service with the new Children and Young People and Learning structure 

have taken place.  
 

 Further progress has been made on the integration of electronic recording 
systems which is a major programme of activity for 2022/23. The 
procurement process to award a contract to a partner for implementation 

is being completed to plan. The contract will be awarded by early February 
2022 with work starting in April 2022.  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Page 39

Agenda Item 4
Section 2



   

Our Council Performance Measures 
  

 

Website link to Our Council Performance Measures here. 
 

 

Finance Summary  
 

Portfolio in Year Pressures and Mitigations 
 

Pressures (£m) Mitigations and Underspending (£m) 

Year end 
budget 

variation 
(£m) 

Covid-19 pandemic forecast expenditure/ 
allocations to third parties.  (Covid-19 position 
is reported in Appendix 2) 

£0.146m 
Assumed funding from Covid-19 grant 
(Covid-19 position is reported in Appendix 2) 

(£0.146m) 
 

Placement costs for mainstream children £2.085m 
Anticipated cost avoidance once in-house 
disability & non-disability residential homes 
reopen 

(£0.390m) 
 

Placement costs for children with disabilities £1.330m In-house residential staffing underspend (£1.070m) 
 

Spend on vulnerable children and families 
under S17 Children’s Act 1989 Children In Need 

£2.500m 
Additional grant income in relation to 
unaccompanied asylum-seeking children 

(£0.550m) 
 

2020/21 & 2021/22 savings at significant risk  £0.256m Social Care staffing underspend (£1.065m) 
 

  Children first Improvement Fund underspend (£0.100m) 
 

  Early Help staffing underspend (£1.010m) 
 

  
Reduction in Intentionally Homeless 
casework  

(£1.106m) 
 

  
In year underspending from homeworking/ 
change in service delivery due to pandemic 
restrictions  

(£0.260m) 
 

  Other minor variations  (£0.120m) 
 

Children and Young People Portfolio - Total £6.317m  (£5.817m) £0.500m 

Page 40

Agenda Item 4
Section 2

https://performance.westsussex.gov.uk/stories/s/Children-Young-People/mpjb-zbhs
https://performance.westsussex.gov.uk/stories/s/Children-Young-People/mpjb-zbhs


   

Key Financial Issues and Risks Arising 
 

Key Financial 
Issues and 

Risks Arising 
Narrative Cost Driver Baseline Q1 Q2 Q3 Action 

Traject
ory 

1 

Placement 
Mix of 

Children 
We Care 

For (CWCF) 

Despite the 
overall number of 
Children We Care 
For being lower 
than forecast, 
there are more 
children than 
budgeted for in 
more costly 
externally 
provided 
placements than 
those provided 
internally which 
cost less.   
 
This is leading to a 
pressure on the 
placement 
budgets.  Baseline 
shows the % upon 
which the budget 
was set. 
 

% mainstream 
children in 
external 
residential 
placements 

10.4% 12.4%  10.3%  12.9%  
Despite improvements in 
the purchasing mix of 
placements for Children 
We Care For during Q2, 
this has not been 
sustained during Q3.  
Whilst overall numbers of 
CWCF have reduced, the 
proportion placed in 
external residential 
placements has increased 
leading to pressure on the 
budget.  In addition, the 
re-opened internal 
residential homes have not 
been populated as quickly 
as expected, meaning the 
cost avoidance expected 
has not materialised. 

 

% mainstream 
children in 
external foster 
care 
placements 

25.5% 28.6%  28.1%  28.6%  

% mainstream 
children in 
internal foster 
care 
placements 

30.3% 28.3%  28.1% 28.5%

 
 

Financial Narrative on the Portfolio’s Position   
 
2. The budget position as at the end of December continues to project a £0.5m 

overspend, however there have been a number of movements within individual 

budget areas.  The main movements are described below: 
 

 Mainstream placement costs.  The overspend on these budgets has 
increased by £1.3m since September.  The main issue is that although 
overall numbers of Children We Care For (CWCF) have been reducing, 

the number placed in external residential (one of the most expensive 
placement types) has increased by 14 between the end of September 

2021 and the end of December 2021.  In addition, two children who are 
currently placed in a Secure Unit have had their placements extended by 
Court beyond the previously profiled end date at a cost of £0.016m per 

week which is adding £0.2m to the year end projection.  The majority of 
the reduction in CWCF numbers have either come from placements 

where there is nil cost to the Council (- eight placed with parents); or 
from less costly placement types such as kinship (-25).    

In addition to this, delays in registration by the regulator (Ofsted) has 

meant that increasing the occupancy of the newly reopened mainstream 
children’s homes (Blue Cove and Breakwater) has been slower than 
previously estimated, leading to a reduction in the amount of cost 

avoidance expected.  A further £0.310m of cost avoidance is still 
expected to be achieved in this financial year based on six vacant 

placements; however, there is a risk that this will not be achieved and 
the overspend will increase further still. 

 
 Children with disabilities placement costs.  The projected overspend 

has increased by £0.190m since September. Pressure remains as a result 
of a small number of young people with high needs or in a period of 

Page 41

Agenda Item 4
Section 2



   

crisis.  The pressure is exacerbated by the fact that the opening of 
Brightstar (an in-house residential home for Children with Disabilities) 

was delayed due to regulatory issues and this has resulted in the home 
not being populated as quickly as anticipated, leading to the cost 

avoidance generation being delayed.   
 
£0.080m of cost avoidance is still expected to be achieved from the 

remaining two vacant placements – however this is dependent on 
children being placed at Brightstar in line with the projection.  If this fails 

to be the case, then there is potential for further overspending within the 
external placement’s budgets before the end of the year. Senior 
managers are monitoring this situation closely. 

 
 Friends and family fostering allowances legal compliance.  A 

review of the policy relating to kinship care payments has now been 
completed, resulting in a new policy being drafted for implementation in 
2022/23. This means that there is no financial impact for this financial 

year, resulting in the £0.500m pressure being removed from the 
projection. 

 
 Spend on vulnerable children and families under Section 17 

Children Act 1989 Children in Need.  A team within Children’s 

Services tasked to look into this issue have completed the discovery 
phase of work.  This has identified that the majority of expenditure has 

actually been in relation to non-placement costs for Children We Care 
For.  However, this expenditure is also not budgeted for so the overspend 
remains.  Despite work being undertaken to reduce the spend, the 

projection has increased by £0.150m this quarter, primarily due to 
increased spending within the disabilities teams. 

 
 Saving at significant risk.  There has been no change to the savings 

performance since September.  The £0.256m of savings which remain 

undeliverable have been removed for the proposed budget for 2022/23. 
 

 Cost avoidance from in-house residential reopening.  Due to the 
regulatory delays in placing children in the reopened homes, the level of 

cost avoidance which was previously anticipated has not transpired.  The 
remaining cost avoidance for 2021/22 is estimated to be £0.390m, 
however this is at risk if placements are not made as per the profiled 

dates.  It should be noted that this cost avoidance will only mitigate the 
overspend projected on external placement budgets if children who are 

currently accommodated in external placements move into in-house 
homes, or if external placements are not repopulated when children 
leave them.   

 
 In-house residential staffing underspend.  Due to the regulatory 

delays in reopening the homes, recruitment to the new operating model 
for the residential service has not happened as quickly as initially 
forecast which has resulted in a reduction in the projected staffing costs. 

 
 Additional income in relation to unaccompanied asylum-seeking 

children (UASC).  The current forecast includes £0.550m more grant 
income than budgeted for, a small reduction of £0.050m when compared 
to September.  The additional income projected is partly due to the 

actual income for 2020/21 being £0.3m more than accounted for in that 
year, as well as increases in the rate of grant received from the Home 

Page 42

Agenda Item 4
Section 2



   

Office for over-18-year old’s (from £240 per week to £270 per week) 
announced in July 2021. 

 
 Social care staffing.  The level of underspending on social care staffing 

has increased by £0.350m since September.  The vacancy gap at the 
beginning of April 2021 was 2.6%, whereas at the end of September this 
had increased to 5.5%.  This figure has increased further still to stand at 

7.2% at the end of December 2021, reflecting difficulties in filling 
vacancies with agency staff in particular.  This is both a regional and 

national challenge, and work continues to develop and refine recruitment 
and retention strategies to fill all vacancies with employed staff in the 
longer term. 

 
 Children First Improvement Fund underspend.  The Improvement 

Fund is now expected to underspend by £0.1m due to permanent 
apprentice posts not being filled until the summer. 

 

 Early Help.  The new Early Help service was implemented on 1st January 
2022 and now that staffing restructures have been implemented, a more 

accurate projection can be forecast.  Given the number of posts in the 
old structure which have remained vacant for some time, as well as some 
posts in the new structure which have not yet been filled, and in addition 

some supporting families grant which will not be spent before year end, 
the outlook for the Early Help budget is for underspending of just over 

£1m; a £0.760m increase in the underspending declared in September.   
 
 Intentionally Homeless.  The intentionally homeless budget is 

projected to underspend by just over £1.1m, an increase in the expected 
underspend of £0.256m since September.  The projection is now based 

on the average expenditure and income for the year to date and 
projected forward for the remainder of the year.  
  

 In-year underspending from homeworking/ change in service 
delivery due to pandemic restrictions.  As a result of the Covid-19 

restrictions in place during 2021/22, an estimated £0.260m of 
underspend has been realised following a reduction in staff milage, home 

working and changes to working arrangements.   
 

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 4
Section 2



   

Cost Drivers Information 
 

 
 

This graph shows the total 
number of Children We Care 
For Placements since April 
2018. 

 
At the end of December 
2021, Children We Care For 
numbers were 51 less than 
in the last week of March 
2021 and now stand at 841.  
This compares with 929 at 

the same point last financial 
year. 
 

This graph shows the total 
number of Children We Care 
For placements by: 
 
 mainstream placements  
 asylum seeking children 

and,  

 children with learning 
disabilities.  

This graph shows the 
number of Children We Care 
For placements compared to 
the budgeted expectation. 

 
The graph depicts that 
growth in numbers has not 
transpired as expected, 
however the shift in 
placement mix has led to the 
projected overspend begin 

currently reported. 

 

Page 44

Agenda Item 4
Section 2



   

 

 

Savings Delivery Update 
 
3. The portfolio has a number of 2021/22 savings included within the budget and 

one saving outstanding from the 2020/21 financial year.  Details of these 
savings are included in the table below: 

 

Saving Activity 
2020/21 
Savings 

£000 
December 2021 Narrative 2022/23 

Lease of vacant properties to 
reduce intentionally homeless 
costs 
 
 
 
 
 
 

150 

44 G 

£0.044m is the full year effect of one family who 
were accommodated under this scheme in 
2020/21, plus the estimated in year saving from 
one further family moving from bed and 
breakfast accommodation into the second 
property.   
 
The roll out of the project was delayed due to 
the pandemic.  Since this time, Homes England 
have advised that they will no longer be making 
grants to the Empty Homes Programme. Without 
the capital funding, the scheme is not financially 
viable for YMCA – Downslink or for WSCC.  This 
£0.056m pressure has been addressed during 
the 2022/23 budget creation process. 

G 

56 R N/A 

 
 

This graph shows the 

internal and external 

placement mix.   
 
The number internal 
placements continues to 
decrease, despite previous 
forecasts that the position 

would improve.  This is as a 
result of delays in 
repopulating in-house 
residential provision as 
described in the main body 
of the report. 

This table shows a ‘snapshot’ 
of the number of Mainstream 
Children We Care For (CWCF) 
and the placements types at 
the end of each quarter 
compared with the number 
and placement types upon 
which the budget was set. 
 
At the end of December, while 
there were 120 CWCF fewer 
than budgeted, the cost of the 

average mix of placements 
leads to a pressure of £1.8m – 
primarily because there have 
been 10 more external agency 
residential placements on 
average than budgeted for 
during the year to date. 

Page 45

Agenda Item 4
Section 2



   

 

Saving Activity 
2021/22 
Savings 

£000 
December 2021 Narrative 2022/23 

National House Project 250 250 G 
Savings are profiled to be delivered in Q4 and 
the Local House project is currently on track. 

G 

Increase in Council's top slice of 
Early Years DSG to compensate for 
lost Central DSG grant funding 
used for wider benefit of children 
and young people 

225 225 B  B 

In-house residential programme – 
reduced independent placement 
costs 

200 200 G 

Remaining cost avoidance arising from new 
operating model, after re-investment in the 
residential service.  Saving is dependent on the 
re-opened homes achieving the average 
occupancy levels for the types of children and 
their associated costs as identified in the original 
modelling.  Delays in re-opening Breakwater 
(formerly Seaside) and Blue Cove (formerly May 
House) mean that the permanent delivery of this 
saving will not now be possible until 2022/23.  
The saving can be mitigated in year however, 
through underspending within the residential 
staffing budget given the delayed timescale for 
reopening. 

G 

Reduce the number of solo 
placements and retainers 

100 100 B 

This saving has been achieved and is expected to 
continue to deliver further savings in year, which 
will provide in-year mitigation for other savings 
lines which otherwise would be rated as red or 
amber. 

B 

Improved commissioning for 
children’s social care service - 16+ 
step down 

1,800 

450 B 

This saving has already been achieved.  This 
initiative is expected to continue to deliver 
further savings in year and hence is providing 
some mitigation for other commissioning savings 
which are currently rated as red or amber. 

B 

Improved commissioning for 
children’s social care service - 16+ 
recommissioning 

100 G  G 

Improved commissioning for 
children’s social care service - 
improved joint commissioning 

400 G 

Achievement of this saving is dependent on an 
increased number of children with disability 
receiving Continuing Health Care contributions 
towards the cost of their services.  Q2 recharges 
have now been agreed and do indicate an 
improvement in the position, however it is still 
highly unlikely that this saving will be delivered 
in full in 2021/22.  It can however be mitigated 
for this year only through other commissioning 
initiatives which are over-performing.  This 
saving will remain an amber pressure in the 
2022/23 budget until such time as clarity can be 
brought about its achievability, in discussion with 
Health Partners. 

A 

Improved commissioning for 
children’s social care service - 
reducing existing placement costs 

650 G 

This initiative is now on track to deliver a revised 
sum of £0.650m this financial year, with the 
remaining £0.050m having been moved to the 
16+ step down savings line - more accurately 
reflecting how the savings are being delivered. 

G 

Page 46

Agenda Item 4
Section 2



   

Saving Activity 
2021/22 
Savings 

£000 
December 2021 Narrative 2022/23 

Improved commissioning for 
children’s social care service - U16 
step down to fostering 

200 G 

This initiative is now on track to deliver a revised 
sum of £0.650m this financial year, with the 
remaining £0.050m having been moved to the 
16+ step down savings line - more accurately 
reflecting how the savings are being delivered. 

G 

Early help restructure (year 2 
savings) 

550 

450 G 

The decision to proceed with the Early Help 
redesign has been taken.  The increase in the 
number of delivery points means that the cost of 
the new service will be £0.200m more than 
previously modelled, leading to a shortfall in 
savings.  £0.100m of that shortfall is expected to 
be seen in 2021/22, with the remaining shortfall 
in 2022/23.  This pressure has been addressed 
during the 2022/23 budget creation process. 

G 

100 R N/A 

Lease of vacant properties to 
reduce intentionally homeless 
costs 

100 100 R 

Year two savings relating to a project to lease 
vacant WSCC properties to YMCA to enable 
accommodation for intentionally homeless 
families.  However, the withdrawal of available 
grant funding by Homes England means that the 
project is no longer viable, and savings will not 
be delivered.  This pressure has been addressed 
during the 2022/23 budget creation process. 

N/A 

Increased grant funding towards 
support for unaccompanied 
asylum-seeking children 

450 450 B  B 

Review of agency staff 231 231 G  G 

 

 
 

Capital Programme 
 

Performance Summary - Capital  

 
4. There are eight schemes within this portfolio; three of the schemes in delivery 

are rated green, indicating that the schemes are progressing as planned.  Five 
of the schemes are rated as amber, indicating that there is an issue, but that it 
can be dealt with by the project manager or project delivery team.  An update 

on the progress of the schemes not rated green are detailed in the table below: 

Scheme 
RAG Status 

at 31st 
December 

Reason 
Latest RAG 

Status 
Updated Position 

Children’s In-House 
Phase 1 – Brightstar 
(formerly Cissbury 

Lodge) 

AMBER 
Project completion has taken 

longer than planned. 
AMBER 

Practical completion 
achieved. Aftercare process 

in place.  Expected to 
complete by March 2022.   

Children’s In-House 
Phase 1 – May House 

AMBER Practical completion achieved. AMBER 
Cost and quality issues 

being reviewed. 

Children’s In-House 
Phase 2 – High Trees and 

40 Teasel Close 
AMBER 

Planned decant to 
Maidenbower whilst works are 

being undertaken no longer 
possible. 

AMBER 
Viability now underway on 
alternative accommodation 

for decant. 

Page 47

Agenda Item 4
Section 2



   

Scheme 
RAG Status 

at 31st 
December 

Reason 
Latest RAG 

Status 
Updated Position 

Children’s In-House 
Phase 2 – 18 Teasel 
Close Design Stage 

AMBER 

Planned decant to 
Maidenbower whilst works are 

being undertaken no longer 
possible. 

AMBER 
Viability now underway on 
alternative accommodation 

for decant. 

Children’s In-House 
Phase 2 – Orchard 

House 
AMBER 

Delay in planning decision 
approval and RIBA Stage 4   

AMBER 
Remains Amber due to 

Maidenbower dependency.  

 

Finance Summary - Capital  
 
5. The capital programme; as approved by County Council in February 2021, 

agreed a programme totalling £1.0m for 2021/22.  £0.417m of expenditure, 

originally profiled to spend in 2020/21, was slipped into 2021/22, revising the 
capital programme to £1.417m.    
 

6. Since this time, the profiled spend has increased overall by £0.457m, to give a 
current year end projection for 2021/22 of £1.874m.  All of this increase relates 

to project overspending.  
 

 
Key: 
Capital Programme – The revised planned expenditure for 2021/22 as at 1st April 2021.  
Slippage – Funding which was planned to be spent in 2021/22 but has since been reprofiled into future years. 
Underspending – Unused funding following the completion of projects. 
Overspending - Projects that require further funding over and above the original approved budget. 

Additional Budget – Additional external funding that has entered the capital programme for the first time. 
Acceleration – Agreed funding which has been brought forward from future years. 
Current Forecast – Latest 2021/22 financial year capital programme forecast. 

 
 

7. Details of movements of the financial profiling within the capital programme 

between October and December are as follows: 

  

Page 48

Agenda Item 4
Section 2



   

 
 Overspending: £0.457m.  Movement since Q2 report: £0.457m. 

 
o High Trees - £0.349m – Approval has been granted for a further 

£1.698m towards the refurbishment of High Trees Children’s Home, 
creating a total budget of £1.799m for these works.  This is funded 
by corporate resources with £0.349m to be spent in the current 

financial year and the remainder in 2022/23. 
 

o Teasel Close - £0.108m - Approval has been given for a further 
£0.976m towards the refurbishment of 18 Teasel Close Children’s 
Home, creating a total budget of £1.081m for these works.  This is 

funded by corporate resources with £0.108m to be spent in the 
current financial year and the remainder in 2022/23. 

 
8. The latest Capital Programme Budget Monitor is reported in Appendix 4. 

 

Risk  
 
9. The following table summarises the risks on the corporate risk register that 

would have a direct impact on the portfolio. Risks to other portfolios are 
specified within the respective appendices to this report.  
 

Risk 

No. 
Risk Description 

Previous 

Quarter Score Current Score 

CR61 

A ‘serious incident’ occurs resulting in the 
death or serious injury of a child where the 

Council is found to have failed in their duty to 

safeguard, prevent or protect the child from 
harm. 

15 15 

CR69 

If the council fail to make the necessary 
improvements to progress from the previous 
‘inadequate’ rating, there is a risk that 
children’s services will fail to deliver an 
acceptable provision to the community. 

20 15   

CR72 

The government have stipulated that from 9th 
September 2021, children in care under 16 will 
not be allowed to be accommodated in 
unregulated placements.  This has strengthened 
existing regulations that stipulate that all 

children and young people who require 
residential care must be placed within 
registered children's homes. Due to a local and 

nationwide shortage of registered provision 
there is a risk that these children and young 
people will not be cared for in settings that 
best meet their needs, which could lead to 

safeguarding concerns and enforcement action 
against the providers of unregistered homes 
and local authorities. 

16 16 

 
10. Further details on all risks can be found in Appendix 5 - Corporate Risk 

Register Summary. 

Page 49

Agenda Item 4
Section 2



This page is intentionally left blank



  
  
  

  

Learning and Skills Portfolio - Summary 
 

Performance Summary  
 
1. The Portfolio has a number of performance highlights to report this quarter: 

 
 Full graded Ofsted inspections for schools resumed in September 2021. As 

at the end of December 2021 the percentage of schools rated good or 
outstanding and the percentage of pupils in schools rated good or 

outstanding by Ofsted are at their highest levels in recent history and on 
target to meet the current Our Council Plan targets. 

 

 The combined proportion of young people not in education, employment and 
training (NEET) or whose status is Not Known, at the end of December 2021, 

is provisionally to be at its lowest level for a number of years and is on target 
to achieve the Our Council Plan target for the current year. 

 
 Personal Education Plans (PEP), a statutory document that is required for 

all Children we care for from the age of 2 until the age they cease to be 
cared for (until they turn 18 and are classed as an adult) is at an all-time 

high with 97% completed in the Autumn Term 2021.    
 

Our Council Performance Measures  

  
 

Page 51

Agenda Item 4
Section 3



  
  
  

  

 
Website link to Our Council Performance Measures here. 
 

Finance Summary  
 

Portfolio In Year Pressures and Mitigations 
 
 

Pressures (£m) Mitigations and Underspending (£m) 

Year end 
budget 

variation 
(£m) 

Covid-19 pandemic forecast expenditure/ 
allocations to third parties (Covid-19 position is 
reported in Appendix 2) 

£1.916m 
Assumed funding from Covid-19 grant 
(Covid-19 position is reported in Appendix 2) 

(£1.916m) 
 

Home to School Transport costs; predominantly 
Special Educational Needs 

£2.249m 
Staffing vacancies within the School 
Effectiveness Service 

(£0.186m)  

2020/21 and 2021/22 trading services income 
saving at significant risk 

£0.175m 
Staffing vacancies and projected 
underspending on equipment within school 
catering service  

(£0.092m)  

  
Staffing vacancies within Inclusion and 
School Crossing Patrol Service 

(£0.159m)  

  
In year underspending from homeworking/ 
change in service delivery due to pandemic 
restrictions  

(£0.040m)  

  Other minor variations (£0.090m)  

Learning and Skills Portfolio - Total £4.340m  (£2.483m) £1.857m 

 
  

Page 52

Agenda Item 4
Section 3

https://performance.westsussex.gov.uk/stories/s/Learning-and-Skills/bnk2-wgrx
https://performance.westsussex.gov.uk/stories/s/Learning-and-Skills/bnk2-wgrx


  
  
  

  

Significant Financial Issues and Risks Arising 
 

Key Financial 
Issues and Risks 

Arising 
Narrative Cost Driver 

Baseline 
(March 
2020) 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Action 
Traje
ctory 

1 

Destination 
mix of pupils 

with an 
Education, 
Health and 
Care Plan 

(EHCP) 
receiving 
transport 

Approximately 
one third of our 
children with an 

Education, Health 
and Care Plan 

(EHCP) also 
receive 

transportation to 
their school. 

No of pupils 
with EHCP 
transported to 
a mainstream 
school / SSC  

207 
(11.3%) 

224 
(10.0%) 

200 
(10.0%) 

207 
(10.0%) 

The number of 
complex cases 
continues to 

increase and current 
special school 

places have now 
reached full capacity 
leading to increased 

places in 
independent sector. 

Increasing the 
number of children 
being educated in 
the independent 
sector and away 

from their 
communities also 

increases the costs 
of transport. 

 

No of pupils 
with EHCP 
transported to 
a special school  

1,240 
(67.8%) 

1,265 
(64.7%)  1,299 

(65.0%)  
1,334 

(64.6%)  

No of pupils 
with EHCP 
transported to 
independent 
placements  

381 
(20.8%) 

468 
(23.9%) 

500 
(25.0%) 

525 
(25.4%)

Total no of 
pupils with 
EHCP 
transported  

1,828 
(100%) 

1,957 
(100%)  1,999 

(100%) 

2,066 
(100%) 

 
2 

Transport 
type mix of 

pupils with an 
Education, 
Health and 
Care Plan 

(EHCP) 
receiving 
transport 

Approximately 
one quarter of 
our children with 
an Education, 
Health and Care 
Plan (EHCP) who 
receive transport 
are transported 
on the County 
Council fleet. 
However, the 
majority are 
transported in an 
external taxi or 
minibus. This is an 
expensive option, 
however, and as a 
result a parental 
mileage rate has 
been introduced 
to encourage 
parents to 
transport their 
own child to and 
from school 
instead. 

No of pupils 
with EHCP 
transported in 
an external 
taxi/minibus   

1,331 
(72.8%) 

1,394 
(71.2%)  1,340 

(67.0%)  
1,393 

(67.4%)  

The decision to have 
an internal fleet is a 
long-term strategic 
one.  It means that 
in areas with fewer 
suppliers or where 
prices are 
unsustainably high 
the Council can 
moderate the 
impact on our 
spending and 
overall costs.  
Whilst there are 
over 100 minibus 
routes, recent 
insourcing has 
focused on 
expensive accessible 
vehicle routes 
and/or where the 
biggest cost 
reductions can be 
made. 
 

 

No of pupils 
with EHCP 
transported on 
County Council 
fleet 

443 
(24.2%) 

462 
(23.6%)  551 

(27.6%)  
559 

(27.1%)  

No of pupils 
with EHCP 
transported by 
parents 

54 
(2.9%) 

101 
(5.2%) 

108 
(5.4%) 

114 
(5.5%) 

Total no of 
pupils with 
EHCP 
transported  

1,828 
(100%) 

1,957 
(100%) 

1,999 
(100%)

2,066 
(100%) 

 
3 

Daily 
transport cost 
of pupils with 
an Education, 

Health and 
Care Plan 

(EHCP) 
receiving 
external 

transport 

The daily cost of 
SEND external taxi 

and escort 
provision has 

been increasing 
annually by 

approximately 
10% over the last 
couple of years. 

This is mostly due 
to increased 

demand (numbers 
of pupils with an 
EHCP requiring 
transport), but 

also due to 
additional 
inflation 

pressures such 
minimum living 

wage. 

Current daily 
cost of SEND 
external taxi 
provision across 
all provision 

Average 
2020/21 

 
£52.1k 

£56.0k  £56.0k  £52.4k  

Accessible 
minibuses (including 
escort) can easily 
cost £220 per day 
with a few up to 
£300. To date 27 
routes have been 
insourced saving 
£220k per annum.  
Some work has 
remained externally 
supplied when 
providers have 
lowered their prices 
close to the internal 
cost.  
Further routes are 
being reviewed but 
many of these may 
remain cost 
effective via 
external suppliers. 

 

Current daily 
cost of SEND 
external escort 
provision across 
all provision 

Average 
2020/21 

 
£10.6k 

£11.3k £11.3k  £10.9k  

Page 53

Agenda Item 4
Section 3



  
  
  

  

Significant Financial Issues and Risks Arising- Dedicated Schools 
Grant  
 

Key Financial 
Issues and Risks 

Arising 
Narrative Cost Driver 

Baseline 
(March 
2021) 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Action 
Traje
ctory 

4 

Placement 
mix of pupils 

with an 
Education, 
Health and 
Care Plan 

(EHCP) 

Our High Needs 
expenditure is 

largely driven by 
the number of 
pupils with an 
Education and 

Health Care Plan 
(EHCP). The 

2021/22 budget 
has been set 
based on a 

further 500 pupils 
this year. 

Although overall 
growth so far this 
year is in line with 

this, a greater 
proportion of 

these children are 
being placed in 

more costly 
placements within 
the independent 

sector. 

No of pupils 
with EHCP in 
mainstream 
school 

1,949 
(31.9%) 

1,997 
(32.0%)  1,845 

(29.0%)  
1,921 

(30.1%)  

2.4 Even though the 
actual increase in 
overall EHCP 
numbers this year is 
broadly in line with 
what was forecast 
when the budget 
was set, the actual 
mix of placements is 
very different. 
The higher level of 
high cost increased 
placements in the 
independent sector 
is largely due to lack 
of capacity in 
WSCC’s settings – 
although an 
additional 84 new 
places were made 
available in our 
special schools from 
September 2022. 

 

No of pupils 
with EHCP in 
special school / 
SSC 

2,166 
(35.4%) 

2,183 
(35.0%) 

2,288 
(36.0%)  

2,284 
(35.7%)  

No of pupils 
with EHCP in 
independent 
placements 

615 
(10.0%) 

647 
(10.4%) 

669 
(10.5%)  

688 
(10.8%)  

No of pupils 
with EHCP in 
post school 
placements 

1,127 
(18.4%) 

1,102 
(17.6%) 

1,309 
(20.6%)  

1,226 
(19.1%)  

No of pupils 
with EHCP in 
other 
placement type 

254 
(4.2%) 

314 
(5.0%) 

246 
(3.9%)  

272 
(4.3%)  

Total no of 
pupils with 
EHCP 

6,111 
(100%) 

6,243 
(100%) 

6,357 
(100%)  

6,391 
(100%) 

 

5 

Placement 
mix of pupils 

with an 
Education, 
Health and 
Care Plan 

(EHCP) 

The 2021/22 
budget has been 

set on the basis of 
a further 500 
pupils with an 
EHCP this year. 

Although overall 
growth so far this 
year is in line with 

this, a greater 
proportion of 

these children are 
being placed in 

more costly 
placements within 
the independent 

sector. 

Increase in no 
of pupils with 
EHCP in 
mainstream 
school 

159 
 

48 
(2.5%)  -104 

(-5.3%)  
-28 

(-1.4%)  

The higher level of 
increased 
placements in the 
independent sector 
is largely due to lack 
of capacity in 
WSCC’s settings. 
Our special schools 
are currently at 98% 
capacity, but this 
rate has dropped 
slightly over the last 
quarter following 
the addition of 84 
new places being 
made available from 
September 2021. 
However, in the 
medium term, the 
number of 
independent sector 
placements is 
expected to rise at a 

faster rate. 

 

Increase in no 
of pupils with 
EHCP in special 
school / SSC 

177 
 

17 
(0.8%) 

122 
(5.6%)  

118 
(5.4%)  

Increase in no 
of pupils with 
EHCP in 
independent 
placements 

51 
 

32 
(5.2%) 

54 
(8.8%)  

73 
(11.7%)  

Increase in no 
of pupils with 
EHCP in post 
school 
placements 

91 
 

-25 
(-2.2%) 

182 
(16.1%)  

99 
(8.8%)  

Increase in no 
of pupils with 
EHCP in other 
placement type 

22 
60  

(23.6%) 
-8 

(-3.1%)  
18 

(7%)  

Total increase 
in no of pupils 
with EHCP 

500 
 

132 
(2.2%) 

246 
(4.0%)  

280 
(4.5%)  

6 

Cost of pupils 
with an 
Education, 
Health and 
Care Plan 
(EHCP) in an 
Independent 
and Non-
maintained 
Special 
School 

The 2021/22 
budget has been 
set on the basis of 
the average 
Independent and 
Non-maintained 
sector placement 
cost being £46k 
per week. 

Average annual 
cost 

£46k £48k  £48.5k  £48k  

Average 
independent sector 
costs increased by 
£2k per annum at 
the beginning of the 
year but have 
stabilised since. 
These costs are 
expected to escalate 
again in the new 
financial year. 

 

 

Page 54

Agenda Item 4
Section 3



  
  
  

  

Financial Narrative on the Portfolio’s Position  
 
2. The Learning and Skills Portfolio is projecting a £1.857m overspend, a 

reduction of £0.044m when compared to September.      

 
 Home to school transport.  The service overspending of £2.2m is due 

to growing complexities, demand and costs which have continued to 

increase.  An additional £0.8m was added to the base budget for 
2021/22, together with a saving of £0.5m to be achieved through 

increasing the internal fleet and greater taxi competition.  The former 
internal fleet saving (£0.3m) is on track and will be mostly delivered 
when the new academic year starts but the latter saving (£0.2m) is 

currently reported at significant risk; a proportion of this saving is 
expected to come through due to some keener pricing but overall 

confidence on the full amount being achieved is low. 
 

 School trading income.  This income has been significantly affected by 

the Covid-19 pandemic over the last 12 months, and therefore, the 
2020/21 saving of £0.025m and 2021/22 saving of £0.150m are not 

expected to be achieved.   
 

 Staffing vacancies and other underspends within the service. 
Vacancies within the School Effectiveness, Inclusion Service and School 
Crossing Patrol teams and other underspending opportunities have 

assisted to reduce the overall overspending position by £0.627m. 
 

 Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG).  Pressure continues on the DSG 
budget with a projected overspending of £7.213m currently predicted in 
2021/22. This is after allowing for a £7.0m transfer from DSG reserves 

which was agreed by Schools Forum when the 2021/22 budget was set. 
The DSG deficit is therefore set to increase from £10.388m to £24.958m 

this year. 

 

Cost Driver Information 
 

3. The Education and Health Care Plan assesses the needs of a child in the context 

of the Education budget, it is a major cost driver in relation to the Local 
Authority funded Home to School Transport budget and the DSG funded High 
Needs block. 

 
4. One of the main reasons for the increasing level of EHCPs has been the 

extension of support to young people up to the age of 25. Statements 
previously lapsed at age 19, however since 2015 when the system was 

reformed, West Sussex, along with all other local authorities, has been 
supporting a new cohort of young people aged 19-25 for which they have 
received no additional funding. Fortunately, the educational needs of the 

majority of these additional pupils are met from within the funding that the 
colleges receive directly from government. 

Page 55

Agenda Item 4
Section 3



  
  
  

  

  

Savings Delivery Update  
 
5. The portfolio has a number of 2021/22 savings included within the budget and 

one saving outstanding from the 2020/21 financial year.  Details of these 
savings are included in the table below: 

 
 

Saving Activity 
2020/21 
Savings 

£000 
December 2021 Narrative 2022/23 

Improve School Trading Offer 150 

25 R 
School trading income has been affected by the 
pandemic and therefore income has not been 
generated to meet the new budgeted target. 

G 

100 G  

 
  

So far this year numbers 

have continued to rise – 
increasing by a further 280 

as at the end of December 
2021. 
 
Currently the County Council 
has over 400 EHC needs 
assessments in process and 

at least 50% of these are 
expected to result in an 
EHCP.  
 
We are therefore expecting 
overall EHCP numbers to 
continue rising sharply. 

 

Although total EHCP 
numbers have gone up by 
4.6% so far this year, this 
pattern has not been seen 

across the board. 
 
The number of pupils in 
Independent and Non-
maintained Sector (INMS) 
settings, in particular has 
continued to rise at a much 

higher rate (11.9%). 
 

 

-100

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Net Total of New EHCPs
Net new
statements/EHCP's
cum 17/18
Net new
statements/EHCP's
cum 18/19
Net new
statements/EHCP's
cum 19/20
Net new
statements/EHCP's
cum 20/21
Net new
statements/EHCP's
cum 21/22

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Net Change in Independent and Non-Maintained 
Placements

Net Chg Cum INMS
placements 17/18

Net Chg Cum INMS
placements 18/19

Net Chg Cum INMS
placements 19/20

Net Chg Cum INMS
placements 20/21

Net Chg Cum INMS
placements 21/22

Page 56

Agenda Item 4
Section 3



  
  
  

  

 
 

Saving Activity 
2021/22 
Savings 

£000 
December 2021 Narrative 2022/23 

Home to school transport – 
increased internal fleet 

300 300 G 

Phase 1 savings of £0.120m have been delivered 
because of action taken in 2020-21. The phase 2 
savings of £0.180m are due to be delivered 
during the new academic year. 

G 

Home to school transport – 
greater taxi competition 

200 200 A 
A proportion of this saving is expected to come 
through due to some keener pricing but overall 
confidence on the full £0.2m is low. 

A 

Improve school trading offer (year 
2 savings) 

150 150 R 
School trading income has been affected by the 
pandemic and therefore income has not been 
generated to meet the new budgeted target. 

A 

Charge Inclusion and 
Disadvantaged Pupils Programme 
to School Effectiveness 

127 127 B  B 

Review of Agency Staffing 4 4 B  B 

 
 

Capital Programme 
 

Performance Summary - Capital  
 
6. There are 44 schemes within the portfolio; 29 of the schemes in delivery are 

rated green, indicating that the schemes are progressing as planned, nine of 

the schemes are rated at amber, indicating that there is an issue, but that it 
can be dealt with by the project manager or project delivery team, four 
schemes are rated as red, indicating that there are significant issues requiring 

corrective action and two schemes are being managed by schools directly.  
 

7. An update on the progress of the schemes rated red and amber are detailed in 
the table below. 

 
 

Scheme 
RAG Status 

at 31st 
December 

Reason 
Latest RAG 

Status 
Updated Position 

Burgess Hill Northern 
Arc Secondary School 

RED 
Planning request to relocate 

building has put project 
completion date at risk. 

RED 
Project completion date now 
forecast as November 2024. 

Edward Bryant Special 
Support Centre 

AMBER 
Cost estimate higher than 

expected following feasibility 
study. 

AMBER Options being considered. 

Maidenbower Infants - 
Special Support Centre 

AMBER 
Additional scope requires 

additional funding. 
AMBER 

Service to submit Change 
Request. 

Page 57

Agenda Item 4
Section 3



  
  
  

  

Scheme 
RAG Status 

at 31st 
December 

Reason 
Latest RAG 

Status 
Updated Position 

Midhurst Rother 
College 

AMBER RIBA stage 2 cost increase. AMBER 

Key Decision being sought 
for additional funding for 
improved changing room 

provision. 

Nyewood CoE School AMBER 
Project completed - Small 
overspend to be rectified 

AMBER Change request in progress 

Palatine SEN Primary 
School (Design) 

RED 
80% of tenders received are not 

able to meet the required August 
completion date. 

RED 
Tender evaluations and 
budget currently under 

review. 

Parklands Primary  RED Defects. RED 
Defect management to 

continue until August 2022. 

QEII Silver Jubilee 
School 

RED 

Contractor issued contract 
variation to alter tender price.  

Subsequently they have confirmed 
that they can honour original price 

with alternative products. 

RED 

A review of the alternative 
products offered is currently 
underway to ensure they are 

acceptable. 

S106 Infrastructure 
Budget Programme 

AMBER 
Estimated programme costs 

exceed available S106 funding.   
AMBER 

Value engineering review is 
underway. 

S106 Forest School 
AWP 

AMBER 
Estimated programme costs 

exceed available S106 funding.   
AMBER 

Value engineering review is 
underway. 

S106 Lindfield Primary 
- Design Stage 

AMBER 

Options shared with the school.  
Schools preferred option is more 

complex which may increase 
project timescales and costs. 

AMBER 
Options are being 

considered. 

S106 Slinfold - Design 
Stage 

AMBER 
September 2022 delivery at risk 

due to delays with the school 
bringing forward requirements. 

AMBER 
Key Decision to proceed – 

29th December 2021.  

Safeguarding 
Programme 

AMBER 
Final account indicates overspend, 

mainly due to work at 
Sheddingdean Primary School 

AMBER Change Request in progress.  

 

Finance Summary - Capital  
 

8. The capital programme; as approved by County Council in February 2021, 
agreed a programme totalling £19.506m for 2021/22.  £3.182m of 
expenditure, originally profiled to spend in 2020/21, was slipped into 2021/22, 

revising the capital programme to £22.688m.   
 

9. Since this time, the profiled spend has increased overall by £3.954m, to give a 
current year end projection for 2021/22 of £26.642m.  Of this increase, 
£3.501m relates to projects where funding has been accelerated from future 

years, £3.247m relates to additional funding; specifically, £2.149m of 
government grants, £0.798m of Section 106 allocations and £0.300m of school 

contributions, -£2.384m relates to slippage, and -£0.410m relates to 
underspending on schemes where funding will be returned to enable future 

projects.  

Page 58

Agenda Item 4
Section 3



  
  
  

  

 
Key: 
Capital Programme – The revised planned expenditure for 2021/22 as at 1st April 2021.  
Slippage – Funding which was planned to be spent in 2021/22 but has since been reprofiled into future years. 
Underspending – Unused funding following the completion of projects. 
Overspending - Projects that require further funding over and above the original approved budget. 
Additional Budget – Additional external funding that has entered the capital programme for the first time. 

Acceleration – Agreed funding which has been brought forward from future years. 
Current Forecast – Latest 2021/22 financial year capital programme forecast. 

 
 

10. Details of movements of the financial profiling within the capital programme 

between October and December are as follows: 
 

 Slippage: -£2.384m.  Movement since Q2 report: -£2.384m. 
 

o Queen Elizabeth II: -£1.420m.  This project has reprofiled £1.420m 

into future years due to delays in procurement and financial 
uncertainties around costs and contract. 

 
o Palatine Primary: -£0.700m.  This project has reprofiled £0.700m 

into future years due to delays in procurement and award of contract. 

 
o The Angmering School: -£0.124m.  This element of the budget has 

been reprofiled into 2022/23 whilst a decision is made if further works 
are required on the lift in the new school block.  If the works are not 
required, the budget will be returned to the Basic Need line allocation 

to fund further projects. 

 
o Felpham Community College: -£0.020m – This project is now in 

practical completion stage.  Funding has been held back whilst final 

accounts are agreed. 

 
o Southwater Primary:  -£0.120m.  This project is now in practical 

completion stage.  Funding has been held back whilst final accounts 
are agreed.   

 
 

Page 59

Agenda Item 4
Section 3



  
  
  

  

 Underspending: -£0.410m.  Movement since Q2 report: -£0.410m. 

 
o Bourne Community College: -£0.144m.  Project has been 

completed under budget therefore the remaining funding has been 

returned to the Basic Need allocation to fund further projects. 
 

o Crawley Down College: -£0.086m.  Project has been completed 

under budget therefore the remaining funding has been returned to 
the Basic Need allocation to fund further projects. 

 

o Ifield Community College Special Support Centre: -£0.180m.   

This project has been put on hold whilst the service reviews the 
provision in the area. The funding has been returned to the SEND 
allocation within the capital programme and a new business case will 

be submitted if the project is required. 
  

 Additional Budget: £3.247m.  Movement since Q2 report: £0.053m. 
 

o Slinfold Primary:  £0.053m.  £1.0m of S106 contributions has been 

approved to fund the replacement of life expired modular classrooms 
with permanent classrooms to ensure continued provision of 60 

places.  £0.053m is estimated to be spent in 2021/22 and the 
remainder in 2022/23. 

 
 Acceleration: £3.501m.  Movement since Q2 report: £2.308m. 

 

o Community Schools Capital Maintenance:  £1.945m.  This block 
allocation has progressed quicker than first anticipated with more 

projects being delivered and completed, therefore funding has been 
accelerated to continue further much needed works. 
 

o Nyewood Primary:  £0.030m.  Project is now completed with a 
small acceleration of £0.030m required in funding to pay final 

invoices. 
 

o Felpham Community College Special Support Centre: £0.100m.  

A further £1.224m has been approved to complete the new 12 place 
Special Support Centre at Felpham Community College, with £0.100m 

profiled to be spent in 2021/22 and the remainder in 2022/23. 

 
o Holy Trinity Primary:  £0.040m.  Remediation works have been 

approved, totalling £0.310m.  £0.040m is estimated to be spent in 
2021/22 and the remainder in 2022/23. 

 
o West Park Special Support Centre:  £0.093m.  A further £0.935m 

has been approved to deliver the redesignation and increase in places 
to the Special Support Centre at West Park Primary School in 
Worthing.  £0.093m is estimated to be spent in 2021/22 and the 

remainder in 2022/23. 
 

o St Margaret’s Special Support Centre:  £0.100m.  A further 
£0.777m has been approved to deliver the new 12 place Special 
Support Centre at St Margaret’s CE (Aided) Primary School in 

Page 60

Agenda Item 4
Section 3



  
  
  

  

Angmering.   £0.100m is estimated to be spent in 2021/22 and the 

remainder in 2022/23. 
 

11. The latest Capital Programme Budget Monitor is reported in Appendix 4. 

 

Risk  
 
12. There are no corporate risks assigned to this portfolio.  Risks allocated to other 

portfolios are specified within the respective appendices of this report.  Further 

detail on all risks can be found in Appendix 5 - Corporate Risk Register 
Summary. 

 
 

Page 61

Agenda Item 4
Section 3



This page is intentionally left blank



   

  

Community Support, Fire and Rescue Portfolio - Summary 
 

Performance Summary  
 
1. The Portfolio has a number of performance highlights to report this quarter: 

 
Fire and Rescue Service 
 

 The tri-service Joint Fire Control project with Surrey and East Sussex Fire and 
Rescue went live on the 17th November.  The new arrangement provides a 

shared control centre based in Surrey where teams align mobilising services to 
enhance capability, efficiency and resilience for the Service.  This new 

arrangement will assist with performance by focussing on movement of 
resources and call handling times which will improve our appliance attendance 
times for critical fires and special services.  

 
 We are refocussing on close call activity after every fire to ensure that the 

immediate neighbourhood receives fire safety advice.  This has resulted in a 
notable increase in Safe and Well Visit referrals and visits completed.  Work is 
also underway to create partnerships with GP surgeries in locations where 

these fires occur to further increase local referrals of the most vulnerable.  
 

 Accidental and deliberate fires remain very low, demonstrating the continued 
benefit of our fire prevention activity to ensure that the most vulnerable are 
kept safe from fire. 

 
 We have adapted our protection ways of working to focus on desktop and 

remote fire safety audits to overcome the remaining challenges of access due 
to Covid.  This is proving beneficial for the premises who receive the same 
advice and guidance but have less disruption to their business.  We are also 

seeing a notable increase in the number of audits that we can deliver using 
this approach. 

 
Communities  
 

 Following wide ranging consultation, and in partnership with East Sussex 
County Council and Brighton and Hove City Council, West Sussex has 

published its Domestic Abuse Safe Accommodation Strategy setting it out its 
commitments to provide further support for our communities. 
 

 The backlog of births needing to be registered continues to reduce with 
approximately 120 babies over six weeks (down from 180 end of Q2).  We 

have re-opened further outstations with Shoreham, Midhurst, Bognor and 
Storrington all now open (by appointment as resource allows). 
 

 Libraries have been acting as collection points for lateral flow device kits for 

residents, as part of a pan-Sussex operation to utilise library front doors as 
easy access points for residents.  This last quarter has seen demand for kits 
grow significantly, with weekly numbers of kits handed out by library staff 

increasing over 350%.  A total of almost 21,000 kits were distributed by our 
libraries this quarter; by December we were exhausting each delivery on a 

daily basis. 

Page 63

Agenda Item 4
Section 4



   

  

 The Refugee Resettlement Team has continued to work towards 
accommodating families under the Afghan Relocation and Assistance Policy 
Scheme (ARAP) and Afghan Citizens Relocation Scheme (ACRS). During the 

quarter the Team has been successful in securing more suitable properties 
from both the private and social sectors, which far exceeds the original plan of 

8-10 properties for the financial year 2021/22.  Work has also commenced on 
supporting the Hong Kong British Nationals Overseas (HKBNO) that have 

started to arrive in West Sussex. 
 

 The Community Hub works closely with Public Health and provides the Local 

Tracing Partnership service (LTP) for East and West Sussex, for residents that 
have tested positive for Covid-19.  26,580 cases were passed to the LTP team 

in the three months of October to December 2021. 
 

 1,204,692 people visited our corporate website where they gained information 

or transacted with the Council.  Customer Experience, Capita OSD Team have 
been working with all services to make all documents and web content 

accessible and SOCITM Silktide UK Councils index now rates the West Sussex 
County Council website as ‘Great’ for accessibility. 
 

 More than 200 packets of illegal cigarettes were recently seized from a shop in 
Worthing.  The illicit haul was part of an operation led by West Sussex Trading 

Standards officers targeting rogue retailers.  Trading Standards Officers 
visited three shops in Worthing supported by Sussex Police following a tip-off 
claiming they were selling illegal tobacco.  A total of 205 packets of illegal 

cigarettes and 63 packets of tobacco were found at one of the shops.  Work to 
protect the vulnerable also led to a rogue trader receiving a three-year prison 

sentence.   
 

Our Council Performance Measures 

 
 

Page 64

Agenda Item 4
Section 4

https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/news/3-year-prison-sentence-for-rogue-trader-who-conned-west-sussex-pensioners/
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/news/3-year-prison-sentence-for-rogue-trader-who-conned-west-sussex-pensioners/


   

  

 

Website link to Our Council Performance Measures here. 
 
 

Finance Summary  
 

Portfolio In Year Pressures and Mitigations 
 
 

Pressures (£m) Mitigations and Underspending (£m) 

Year end 
budget 

variation 
(£m) 

Covid-19 pandemic forecast expenditure/ 
allocations to third parties (Covid-19 position is 
reported in Appendix 2) 

£11.666m 
Assumed funding from Covid-19 grant 
(Covid-19 position is reported in Appendix 2) 

(£11.666m) 
 

Fire – Additional costs within the Electronic 
Services Group and other related pressures 
including the Dynamic Cover Tool 

£0.350m 
Communities – Increased demand for 
registrar’s services   

(£0.200m)  

Fire - Increased pressure from supply of 
enhanced tactical PPE firefighter uniforms  

£0.100m 
Communities - Staffing vacancies within 
Trading Standards and Communities teams 

(£0.259m)  

Fire - Increase in overtime within the Fire 
Response Service 

£0.150m 
Communities - In year underspending from 
homeworking/ change in service delivery due 
to pandemic restrictions 

(£0.065m)  

Communities – Additional cost following work 
undertaken on long inquests  

£0.152m    

Communities – Increase in mortuary contract   £0.075m    

Community Support, Fire & Rescue Portfolio - 
Total 

£12.493m  (£12.190m) £0.303m 

Page 65

Agenda Item 4
Section 4

https://performance.westsussex.gov.uk/stories/s/Community-Support-Fire-and-Rescue/c5a3-ud7z
https://performance.westsussex.gov.uk/stories/s/Community-Support-Fire-and-Rescue/c5a3-ud7z


   

  

Significant Financial Issues and Risks Arising 
 
2. There are no significant issues to raise within this section. 

 

 

 

Financial Narrative on the Portfolio’s Position  
 
3. The Community Support, Fire and Rescue Portfolio is currently projecting a 

£0.303m overspend, a reduction of £0.159m when compared to September.   
4. Within the Fire and Rescue Service, there has been a £0.1m increase in 

overspend projected relating to an increase in overtime costs in response to 
emergencies and other one-off minor variations.  
 

5. Within Communities, the Registrars Service have experienced an increase in 
the number of ceremonies they have delivered following the easing of Covid-19 

restrictions.  This rise in volume has increased the expected income by a 
further £0.1m when compared to the September projection.  

 

6. Underspending on staffing and vacancy management has led to a further 
£0.094m reduction in the projection this month.  In addition, savings from 

homeworking and changes in service delivery due to pandemic restrictions has 
also generated an estimated £0.065m following a reduction in staff mileage, 
home working and changes to working arrangements.   

 

 

Savings Delivery Update  
 

7. The portfolio has a number of 2021/22 savings included within the budget and 
one saving outstanding from the 2020/21 financial year.  Details of these 
savings are included in the table below: 

 

Saving Activity 
2020/21 
Savings 

£000 
December 2021 Narrative 2022/23 

Communities - Increased income 
from Registrars Services 

150 150 G 
Although achieving income assumption 
currently, post-pandemic sustainability of saving 
still to be determined. 

G 

 

Saving Activity 
2021/22 
Savings 

£000 
December 2021 Narrative 2022/23 

Development of adapted Library 
Service offer in conjunction with 
Parish Councils 

70 70 G 
Discussions with Parish Councils are continuing 
to deliver this saving on a long-term basis; 
however, in year mitigations have been found. 

A 

Increased income from copy 
certificates for Registrars’ Services 

150 150 G  G 

Removal of Community Initiative 
Fund (CIF) 

140 140 B  B 

Review of Partnerships & 
Communities Team 

70 70 B  B 

Review of agency staff 8 8 B  B 

 

 

Page 66

Agenda Item 4
Section 4



   

  

Capital Programme 
 

Performance Summary - Capital  
 
8. There are five schemes within the portfolio and all five schemes in delivery are 

rated green, indicating that the schemes are progressing as planned.   
 

 

Finance Summary - Capital 

 
9. The capital programme; as approved by County Council in February 2021, agreed 

a programme totalling £3.645m for 2021/22.  £0.071m of expenditure, originally 

profiled to spend in 2020/21, was slipped into 2021/22, revising the capital 
programme to £3.716m.   

 
10. Since this time, profiled spend has increased overall by £1.014m, to give a 

current year end projection for 2021/22 of £4.730m.  Of this decrease -£0.950m 

relates to slippage, -£0.048m relates to underspending within current projects 

and £2.012m relates to projects where funding has been accelerated from future 

years.   

 

Key: 
Capital Programme – The revised planned expenditure for 2021/22 as at 1st April 2021.  
Slippage – Funding which was planned to be spent in 2021/22 but has since been reprofiled into future years. 
Underspending – Unused funding following the completion of projects. 
Overspending - Projects that require further funding over and above the original approved budget. 
Additional Budget – Additional external funding that has entered the capital programme for the first time. 
Acceleration – Agreed funding which has been brought forward from future years. 
Current Forecast – Latest 2021/22 financial year capital programme forecast. 

 

11. Details of movements of the financial profiling within the capital programme 
between October and December are as follows: 
 

 
 

Page 67

Agenda Item 4
Section 4



   

  

 Acceleration: £2.012m.  Movement since Q2 report: £1.645m 
 

o Live Training Centre and Horsham Fire Station:  £1.645m.  

Works on the new fire station are progressing at pace therefore 
funding has been accelerated to meet the new profiled expenditure in 

2021/22.  
 

12. The latest Capital Programme Budget Monitor is reported in Appendix 4. 
 
 

Risk  
 
13. The following table summarises the risks on the corporate risk register that 

would have a direct impact on the portfolio.  Risks to other portfolios are 
specified within the respective appendices to this report.  
 

Risk 

No. 
Risk Description 

Previous Quarter 

Score 
Current Score 

CR60 

There is a risk of failing to deliver the 

HMICFRS improvement plan, leading to an 
adverse effect on service delivery; which may 
result in failing any subsequent inspection. 

15 15 

 

14. Further details on all risks can be found in Appendix 5 - Corporate Risk 
Register Summary.  

Page 68

Agenda Item 4
Section 4



   

Environment and Climate Change Portfolio - Summary 
 

Performance Summary  
 

1. The Portfolio has a number of performance highlights to report this quarter: 

 
 West Sussex County Council responded as a statutory consultee to the formal 

consultations on the extension to the Rampion Offshore Wind Farm and the 

Gatwick Northern Runway Project (NRP), both nationally significant 
infrastructure projects that are being taken forward under the statutory 

Development Consent Order process.  Responding to the consultations within 
the tight externally-imposed timeframes involved extensive partnership working 
internally and externally, in particular with the nine other Gatwick authorities on 

the NRP. 
 

Energy Services 
 

 More households than ever have registered to take part in the latest round of 
our Solar Together Sussex scheme. The scheme is co-ordinated on behalf of all 
Sussex local authorities by the County Council’s Energy Services Team.  

Residents can get high quality, competitively priced solar panels and battery 
storage systems to help reduce energy costs and carbon emissions. Of the 

7,361 residents that received quotations during October 2021, more than 1,700 
moved on to the full survey stage. This is a 63% increase in take up compared 
to 12 months ago and may reflect concerns about increases in energy costs.   

 
 The West Sussex Fuel Poverty Fund supporting services to vulnerable people in 

the county this winter. Our Energy Services officers liaise with the Fuel Poverty 
Coordinator for West Sussex to identify areas that require intervention. These 
are then evaluated, and a proposal is forwarded to the Cabinet Member for the 

Environment and Climate Change to approve. 
 

The Age UK Meal Delivery Service in West Sussex will receive an initial £4,800 
to support vulnerable clients who find cooking a struggle. This will enable more 
of the charity’s most vulnerable clients to have access to hot meals, daily 

contact and some financial relief.  A further £4,500 will go to Family Support 
Work, a local charity that supports children and families through difficult times 

in their lives. The sum will match funds raised each year by the charity through 
a Winter Fuel Allowance donation campaign. 

 

In previous years the Fuel Poverty Fund, which is generated through projects 
such as Solar Together Sussex run by the WSCC Energy Services team, has 

supported the provision of emergency fuel vouchers through Citizen’s Advice 
and emergency Christmas pre-payment meter top ups. 

 

 The increase in wholesale energy costs had a positive impact on the financial 
returns from the County Council’s Solar farms in Q3 2021 compared to the 

same period in 2020.   
 
The £380,000 revenue generated by Tangmere and Westhampnett solar farms 

during October and December 2021 was almost four times the previous year’s 
figure due to the higher price paid for the clean energy.  In turn, this additional 

Page 69

Agenda Item 4
Section 5



   

revenue has allowed the County Council to offset the higher price it pays for the 
energy it uses in delivering services to residents. 
 

In addition to this positive financial performance during the reporting period, 
the solar farms remain on track to deliver their projected long term clean 

energy targets according to recent reporting from the County Council’s Energy 
Services Team.  Figures analysed for the 2020/21 financial year show that the 

18,000 solar panels at Tangmere solar farm generated more than 5,235 MWh of 
clean electricity for the grid. This is 6% more than forecast. 
 

Westhampnett solar farm, which is larger than Tangmere with 26,000 solar 
panels, produced more than 7,285 MWh. This in line with modelling carried out 

before the solar farm was built in 2018 
 

Waste 

 
 Consultation on the pilot Recycling Centre booking system.  Between the 10th 

November and 21st December 2021, a public consultation was carried out in 
West Sussex and received 7,374 responses in which 62% strongly 

agreed/agreed that the booking system should be maintained at the six sites. 
 

 Working jointly with our contractor Biffa, a market to recycle hard plastics has 

been identified which has led to an additional waste stream.  Some Household 
Waste Recycling Sites now have a recycling area for hard plastics such as 

children’s toys, garden furniture and buckets. 
 

Our Council Performance Measures  
 

 

 

Website link to Our Council Performance Measures here. 

 

 

 

 

Page 70

Agenda Item 4
Section 5

https://performance.westsussex.gov.uk/stories/s/Environment-and-Climate-Change/twdu-e357
https://performance.westsussex.gov.uk/stories/s/Environment-and-Climate-Change/twdu-e357


   

 

Finance Summary  
 

Portfolio In Year Pressures and Mitigations 
 

Pressures (£m) Mitigations and Underspending (£m) 

Year end 
budget 

variation 
(£m) 

Covid-19 pandemic forecast expenditure/ 
allocations to third parties (Covid-19 position is 
reported in Appendix 2) 

£0.345m 
Assumed funding from Covid-19 grant 
(Covid-19 position is reported in Appendix 2) 

(£0.345m) 
 

Projected unit price increase on energy tariffs, 
affecting corporate buildings 

£0.450m Increase in recyclate income (£1.800m)  

Net increase waste tonnages  £0.300m 
Estimated additional Solar and Battery Farm 
income due to an increase in unit prices 

(£0.850m)  

  
In year underspending from homeworking/ 
underspend on corporate utility usage – 
(reduced usage within Corporate buildings) 

(£0.300m)  

  Increase in planning income (£0.100m)  

  Other minor variations (£0.065m)  

Environment & Climate Change Portfolio - 
Total 

£1.095m  (£3.460m) (£2.365m) 

 

Significant Financial Issues and Risks Arising 
 

2. There are no significant issues to raise within this section. 

 
 

Financial Narrative on the Portfolio’s Position  
 

3. The Environment and Climate Change Portfolio is projecting a £2.365m 
underspend, an increase in the underspending position of £0.565m when 

compared to September.   
 

4. Waste volumes at Household Waste Recycling Sites are around 4% below the 

budgeted tonnage levels so far this year, with waste collected at the kerbside 
being sorted at our Material Recycling Facility (MRF) increasing by around 6,000 

tonnes.  This change is thought to be due to the Covid-19 restrictions which have 
been in place this year, which includes the effects of continued working from 
home arrangements.  However, waste disposal tonnage volumes as at November 

are around 5% above budget.  The net effect of these elements has resulted in a 
£0.5m increase in expenditure; updating the waste tonnage projection from a 

£0.2m underspend reported in September, to a £0.3m overspend.  
 

5. Recycling income rates have continued to increase during the third quarter, 
although it should be noted that this market is volatile in nature and is impacted 
by global events and uncertainties.  Due to the continued increase in the value of 

recyclable materials, a further £0.5m of income is now forecast, increasing the 
income expectation to £1.8m. 

 
6. The value of energy sales from our Solar and Battery Storage Farms has been 

increasing steadily since the latter part of 2020/21 and has seen sharp upward 

Page 71

Agenda Item 4
Section 5



   

movement during the last quarter.  At this stage of the year, we are forecasting 
additional income of £0.850m, an increase of £0.450m since the Q2 report.  The 
unit rates for February and March 2022 are not yet known and generation for the 

rest of the year is an estimate, so this figure could still fluctuate.  It is important 
to note that, corporately, any gain in income from the solar projects will be 

partially offset by the increased cost in corporate utilities arising from the higher 
unit rate. 

 

7. Income generation within Planning Services is now projected to exceed budgeted 
assumptions by £0.1m this financial year. 

 

 

Cost Driver Information   

 

 

 

 

Waste is transferred to the 

Mechanical Biological 

Treatment Centre (MBT) 

with a small proportion 

directly sent to landfill, as 

the waste is not suitable 

for treatment through the 

MBT. 

 

This graph demonstrates 

tonnes sent to the 

Warnham Mechanical 

Biological Treatment site 

for each month compared 

to the forecast profile.  

 

This graph shows 

tonnages received at the 
Household Waste 
Recycling Sites (HWRS) 
and Transfer Stations.  
  

The tonnages received to 
date shows a total 
reduction of around 4% 
versus expected for the 
year to date. 

Page 72

Agenda Item 4
Section 5



   

 

 

Savings Delivery Update  
 

8. The portfolio has a number of 2021/22 savings included within the budget.  
Details of these savings are included in the table below: 

 

Saving Activity 
2021/22 
Savings 

£000 
December 2021 Narrative 2022/23 

Review Countryside Fees and 
Charges 

20 20 G  G 

Community support for the mobile 
Household Waste Recycling Sites 
(HWRS) 

50 50 G  B 

Restructure of Waste Prevention 
budgets 

128 128 B  B 

Restructure of Electricity Budget 190 190 B  B 

Development of battery storage 
site 

100 100 G 

The pandemic has led to some timing delays on 
the Halewick Lane project.  This specific project 
is now expected to be completed in May 
2022.  Additional solar income during 2021/22 
has enabled this saving to be delivered this year. 

G 

Charge for monitoring travel plans 50 50 G 

New charge unlikely to deliver additional income 
until 2022/23 due to timescales associated with 
developer agreements.  Shortfall is currently 
mitigated through over-achievement of other 
planning income within the budget. 

G 

Review of agency staff 2 2 B  B 

 

 

        

This graph shows the 

Refuse Derived Fuel (RDF) 

production compared to 

the estimated levels.   

 

RDF levels are overall 

around 18% above 

expectation. 

Page 73

Agenda Item 4
Section 5



   

Capital Programme 
 

Performance Summary - Capital  
 

9. There are 11 schemes within this portfolio; ten of the schemes in delivery are 
rated green, indicating that the schemes are progressing as planned, and one is 
rated amber indicating that there is an issue but that it could be dealt with by 

the project manager or project delivery team.  An update on the progress of the 
scheme not rated green is detailed in the table below. 
 

Scheme 

RAG Status 

at 31st 

December 

Reason 
Latest RAG 

Status 
Updated Position 

Schools Solar PV 

Installation 
AMBER 

Rectification of quality issues caused 

by one installer has caused some 

disruption to the programme. 

AMBER 
Remedial works in hand and 

compensation being sought.  

 

Finance Summary - Capital 
 

10. The capital programme; as approved by County Council in February 2021, 

agreed a programme totalling £4.613m for 2021/22.  £0.685m of expenditure, 
originally profiled to spend in 2020/21, was slipped into 2021/22, revising the 
capital programme to £5.298m.   

 
11. Since this time, the profiled spend has decreased overall by £0.535m, to give a 

current year end projection for 2021/22 of £4.763m.  Of this decrease -£0.735m 
relates to slippage, -£0.249m relates to underspending within current projects, 
£0.300m relates to a change in portfolio responsibility and £0.149m relates to 

additional funding; specifically, £0.1m additional government grant, £0.030m of 
school contributions and £0.019m from the Salix Recycling Fund.   

Key: 
Capital Programme – The revised planned expenditure for 2021/22 as at 1st April 2021.  
Slippage – Funding which was planned to be spent in 2021/22 but has since been reprofiled into future years. 
Underspending – Unused funding following the completion of projects. 
Overspending - Projects that require further funding over and above the original approved budget. 
Additional Budget – Additional external funding that has entered the capital programme for the first time. 
Acceleration – Agreed funding which has been brought forward from future years. 
Current Forecast – Latest 2021/22 financial year capital programme forecast. 

Page 74

Agenda Item 4
Section 5



   

12. Details of the movements of the financial profiling within the capital programme 
between October and December are as follows: 
 

 Additional Budget: £0.149m.  Movement since Q2 report: £0.049m. 
 

o Carbon Reduction: £0.049m.  A project has been approved for a LED 
lighting upgrade project at Petworth Primary School.  The school is 

contributing £0.030m towards the project, with the Salix Recycling Fund 
funding the remaining £0.019m.  The project is expected to complete in 
2021/22. 

 
 Underspending: -£0.249m.  Movement since Q2 report: -£0.243m. 

 
o Fairbridge Waste Transfer Site – Japanese Knotweed: -£0.241m.  

Works to clear the site were different to the originally envisaged 

scheme, which has led the budget being reduced. The funding has been 
returned to the Capital Improvements budget within the capital 

programme.  
 

o Bird Protection (YES):  -£0.002m.  This project has now completed 

with a small underspend that will be returned to the Your Energy 
Sussex budget within the capital programme to help fund future 

projects. 
 

13. The latest Capital Programme Budget Monitor is reported in Appendix 4. 

 
 

Risk  
 

14. The following table summarises the risks on the corporate risk register that 
would have a direct impact on the portfolio. Risks to other portfolios are specified 
within the respective appendices to this report.   

 

Risk 

No. 
Risk Description 

Previous 

Quarter Score 
Current 

Score 

CR73 

If there is a failure to adequately prioritise, 
finance and resource our efforts to deliver on 
WSCC Climate Change commitments (e.g., 
2030 Carbon Neutrality), there is a risk that 
there will be insufficient capacity and 
capability to complete the necessary 

actions within the required timeframes.  
This will lead to prolonged variations in 
weather and adverse impacts on WSCC service 
provision. 

NEW 12 

 

 
15. Further detail on all risks can be found in Appendix 5 - Corporate Risk Register 

Summary. 

 

Page 75

Agenda Item 4
Section 5



This page is intentionally left blank



  

  

Finance and Property Portfolio - Summary 
 

Performance Summary  
 
1. The Portfolio has the following performance highlight to report this quarter: 

 

 On the 4th November 2021, the West Sussex County Council and West 
Sussex Pension Fund financial statements were awarded an unqualified 

audit opinion by external auditors Ernst and Young LLP.  Both sets of 
financial statements “gave a true and fair view of the financial position of 
expenditure and income and had been prepared properly in accordance 

with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in 
the United Kingdom”. 

 

 38 Children and Family Centres and Youth Centres were closed and 

handed back to the Estates team in the last quarter.  Most of the 
properties have been secured pending resolution on the future of the 

properties.   A range of solutions based on the outcome of the options 
appraisals are being progressed; including handing back to leaseholders, 
disposal and leasing to third parties. A number of the Children and 

Family Centres have returned to full library use and some are being 
repurposed for alternative WSCC use.  Negotiations continue with the 

NHS to allow continued operation of the Healthy Child programme in 10 
of the properties.  Three properties have been identified as suitable for 
Community Asset Transfer. This programme of work has been resource 

intensive.   
 

 Work has commenced on two high profile capital projects, Horsham 
Enterprise Park and Woodlands Meed College.  Both remain on budget 

and within programme. 
 
 

Our Council Performance Measures  
 

 
 

Page 77

Agenda Item 4
Section 6



  

  

 
 
Website link to Our Council Performance Measures here. 

 
 

Finance Summary  
 

Portfolio In Year Pressures and Mitigations 
 
 

Pressures (£m) Mitigations and Underspending (£m) 

Year end 
budget 

variation 
(£m) 

Covid-19 pandemic forecast expenditure/ 
allocations to third parties (Covid-19 position is 
reported in Appendix 2) 

£0.842m 
Assumed funding from Covid-19 grant 
(Covid-19 position is reported in Appendix 2) 

(£0.842m) 
 

2020/21 procurement saving at significant risk £0.150m 
In year underspending from homeworking/ 
change in service delivery due to pandemic 
restrictions 

(£0.160m)  

Implementation costs of the delayed 
replacement of the Atrium property IT system  

£0.100m    

Other minor variations £0.140m    

Finance and Property Portfolio - Total £1.232m  (£1.002m) £0.230m 

 
 

Significant Financial Issues and Risks Arising 
 
2. There are no significant issues to raise within this section. 
 

 

Financial Narrative on the Portfolio’s Position  
 
3. The Finance and Property Portfolio is projecting a £0.230m overspend, an 

increase of £0.130m when compared to September.   

 
4. A saving relating to income generation within procurement has been delayed.  It 

had been hoped that this saving could be fully mitigated in year from proactive 
work undertaken in faster payment rebates, however current data suggests only 
part of the saving will be realised, leaving a shortfall of £0.150m.   

 

Page 78

Agenda Item 4
Section 6

https://performance.westsussex.gov.uk/stories/s/Finance-and-Property/xrsr-ghxg
https://performance.westsussex.gov.uk/stories/s/Finance-and-Property/xrsr-ghxg


  

  

5. As a result of the Covid-19 restrictions in place during 2021/22, an estimated 
£0.160m of underspending relating to homeworking and changes in service 
delivery is projected following a reduction in the use of shredding, refuse and 

consumables within area hubs and security requirements.   
 

Savings Delivery Update  
 
6. The portfolio has a number of 2021/22 savings included within the budget and 

two saving outstanding from the 2020/21 financial year.  Details of these 
savings are included in the table below: 

 

Saving Activity 
2020/21 
Savings 

£000 
December 2021 Narrative 2022/23 

Amazon business accounts  200 150 G 
Saving to be met by via an alternative method.   
The full £0.3m saving is expected to be delivered 
through the Oxygen Early Payment Scheme, 
however due to timing delays, only £0.150m is 
realistically achievable in 2021/22 by this 
method. 

G 

Charging for frameworks  100 150 R 

 

Saving Activity 
2021/22 
Savings 

£000 
December 2021 Narrative 2022/23 

Asset & Estates holding of staffing 
changes 

96 96 G 
£0.030m is permanent and £0.066m is 
temporary for 2021/22 only. 

B 

Reduction in business rates 
payable on corporate estate 

100 100 G  B 

Facilities Management - 
associated services 

40 40 G  B 

Review of agency staff 7 7 B  B 

                 

 
 
 
 

Capital Programme 
 

Performance Summary - Capital  
 
7. There are 12 schemes within the portfolio; nine of the schemes in delivery are 

rated green, indicating that the schemes are progressing as planned and three 

are rated amber, indicating that there is an issue but that it could be dealt with 
by the project manager or project delivery team.  An update on the progress of 
the schemes not rated green are detailed in the table below. 

 
 

 

 

Page 79

Agenda Item 4
Section 6



  

  

Scheme 
RAG Status 

at 31st 
December 

Reason 
Latest RAG 

Status 
Updated Position 

Carbon Reduction AMBER 
Defects with Parkside 

Combined Heat and Power 
Unit. 

AMBER 
Revised remedial programme 

received from contractor. 
Expected resolution - April 2022. 

Broadbridge Heath AMBER 
Delays to planning because of 

Water Neutrality. 
AMBER 

Stage Three report has been 
issued and is under review. 

Horsham Enterprise Park AMBER 
Delays in planning due to Water 

Neutrality. 
AMBER  

 
 

Finance Summary - Capital  
 
8. The capital programme; as approved by County Council in February 2021, 

agreed a programme totalling £8.837m for 2021/22.  £2.171m of expenditure, 
originally profiled to spend in 2021/22, was accelerated into 2020/21, revising 
the capital programme to £6.666m.   

 
9. Since this time, profiled spend has increased overall by £0.805m, to give a 

current year end projection for 2021/22 of £7.471m.  Of this increase,              
-£0.106m relates to slippage, £0.305m relates to accelerated projects where 

funding has been brought forward from future years and £0.606m relates to 
additional funding; specifically, £0.542m of Covid-19 government grant and 
£0.064m of Capital Improvement funding.  Details of these additions to the 

programme are reported below. 
 

Key: 

Capital Programme – The revised planned expenditure for 2021/22 as at 1st April 2021.  
Slippage – Funding which was planned to be spent in 2021/22 but has since been reprofiled into future years. 
Underspending – Unused funding following the completion of projects. 
Overspending - Projects that require further funding over and above the original approved budget. 
Additional Budget – Additional external funding that has entered the capital programme for the first time. 
Acceleration – Agreed funding which has been brought forward from future years. 
Current Forecast – Latest 2021/22 financial year capital programme forecast. 

 

Page 80

Agenda Item 4
Section 6



  

  

10. Details of movements of the financial profiling within the capital programme 
between October and December are as follows: 
 

 Additional Budget: £0.606m.  Movement since Q2 report: £0.064m 
 

o Hop Oast: £0.057m.  Additional funding from the Capital 
Improvement Fund of £0.057m has been approved to provide lighting, 

security and vehicle maintenance areas inside the Hop Oast 
compound. 
 

o Burrscroft: £0.003m.  Additional funding from the Capital 
Improvement Fund of £0.003m has been approved to cover the final 

retention costs of this project.  
 

o Willow Park Departure: £0.004m.  Additional funding from the 

Capital Improvement Fund of £0.004m has been approved to cover 
the final invoices.   

 
 

 Acceleration: £0.305m.  Movement since Q2 report: £0.154m 

 
o Willow Park Departure: £0.104m.  This project has completed 

earlier than anticipated therefore the funding of £0.104m has been 
accelerated for final payment.  
 

o Targeted Minor Asset Improvement Plan (CLOG):  £0.050m.  
Projects are progressing well in this block allocation; therefore 

£0.050m has been accelerated to fund further projects in 2021/22. 
 
11. The latest Capital Programme Budget Monitor is reported in Appendix 4. 

 
 

Risk  
 
12. The following table summarises the risks on the corporate risk register that 

would have a direct impact on the portfolio.  Risks to other portfolios are 
specified within the respective appendices to this report.  

 

Risk No. Risk Description 
Previous 

Quarter Score Current Score 

CR22 

The financial sustainability of council services 
is at risk due to uncertain funding from central 
government and/or failure to make the required 
decisions to ensure the budget is balanced. This 
has been compounded further with the Covid-19 
crisis, and the recent Ofsted and HMICFRS reports.  

12 12 

 
13. Further details on all risks can be found in Appendix 5 - Corporate Risk 

Register Summary. 

Page 81

Agenda Item 4
Section 6



This page is intentionally left blank



   

  

Highways and Transport Portfolio - Summary 
 

Performance Summary  
 
1. The Portfolio has a number of performance highlights to report this quarter: 

 
 The Works Delivery Programme is 61% complete with 320 (£39.8m) of 528 

projects delivered.  For the Carriageways and Footways element, 86% of the 
resurfacing is complete with remaining work due in March.  Surface Dressing 
and Carriageway Micro Asphalt has been completed and patching is two-thirds 

through its programme.  Footways Reconstruction is completed, Footway 
Small works are 80% completed and Footway Micro Asphalt is 50% complete 

with remaining works underway. 
 

 The A24 Robin Hood Roundabout major work improvement scheme is 
complete.  Works involved significantly increasing capacity, signalising the 
junction and reducing congestion.  

 
 The public consultation on the review of the statutory West Sussex Transport 

Plan (WSTP) has now concluded and consultation responses have been 
reviewed which resulted in changes to the draft plan.  The WSTP is the County 

Council’s main policy on transport and sets out how the authority, working 
with its strategic partners, intends to address key challenges by improving, 
maintaining, and managing the transport network in the period to 2036. 

 

Our Council Performance Measures 

  
 Website link to Our Council Performance Measures here.  

Page 83

Agenda Item 4
Section 7

https://performance.westsussex.gov.uk/stories/s/7wjg-2qkb


   

  

Finance Summary  
 

Portfolio In Year Pressures and Mitigations 
 
 

Pressures (£m) Mitigations and Underspending (£m) 

Year end 
budget 

variation 
(£m) 

Covid-19 pandemic forecast expenditure/ 
allocations to third parties (Covid-19 position is 
reported in Appendix 2) 

£1.414m 
Assumed funding from Covid-19 grant 
(Covid-19 position is reported in Appendix 2) 

(£1.414m) 
 

Pressure within Highways Maintenance  £0.560m 

Reduction in reimbursement payments to 
bus operators in line with service mileage 
reductions implemented during the 
pandemic  

(£0.800m)  

Other minor variations £0.040m 
Additional income generation from street 
works charges and road safety/ local 
transport improvements 

(£0.400m)  

  
Delays in felling works for Ash Dieback 
Scheme 

(£0.300m)  

  
Street Lighting PFI - low winter electricity 
prices   

(£0.040m)  

  
In year underspending from homeworking/ 
change in service delivery due to pandemic 
restrictions 

(£0.040m)  

Highways & Transport Portfolio - Total £2.014m  (£2.994m) (£0.980m) 

 

Significant Financial Issues and Risks Arising 
 
2. There are no significant issues to raise within this section. 
 

 

Financial Narrative on the Portfolio’s Position  
 
3. The Highways and Transport Portfolio is currently projecting a £0.980m 

underspend, which is an increase in underspending of £0.790m when compared 

to September.  
 

4. Of the total projected underspending, £0.800m relates to the English National 

Concessionary Travel Scheme, where payments to operators continue to be 
adjusted for reduced service mileages.  Previous estimated underspending of 

£0.450m assumed mileages would return to normal levels in the second half of 
the year, however, it is now expected that reductions will continue for the 
whole of 2021/22.  Final mileages will not be known until reconciliations have 

been completed in early 2022/23; the additional £0.350m projected 
underspending reported represents a reasonable estimate of the impact based 

upon the information available at this point. 
 

5. The Street Lighting PFI budget is projected to underspend by £0.040m, 

representing a cost increase of £0.260m compared to the £0.300m projected 
underspending previously reported.  This follows confirmation of the winter 

electricity prices secured through the LASER contract, which have increased by 
23% compared to last year.  The sharp increase takes 2021/22 average prices 
back up to broadly the levels projected before the pandemic, however, the 

future outlook remains uncertain with potential for ongoing upward pressure. 

Page 84

Agenda Item 4
Section 7



   

  

 
6. Income generation across the portfolio is now projected to exceed budgeted 

assumptions by £0.400m this year.  This includes street works charges to utility 

and telecommunication providers (£0.300m) and income from road safety and 
local transport improvements (£0.100m).  

 
7. An underspending of £0.300m is now projected on the Ash Dieback budget this 

year due to difficulties securing the necessary road space to complete the 
planned felling.  In particular, the diversion route required following the closure 
of the A285 near Seaford College has prevented a significant amount of felling 

work being completed this financial year. 
 

 

Savings Delivery Update  
 

8. The portfolio has a number of 2021/22 savings included within the budget and 
one saving outstanding from the 2020/21 financial year.  Details of these 
savings are included in the table below: 

 

Saving Activity 
2020/21 
Savings 

£000 
December 2021 Narrative 2022/23 

On street parking 300 300 A Covid19 
Covid related pay and display income loss 
continued at a reduced level during the first half 
of the 2021/22 financial year. 

G 

 

Saving Activity 
2021/22 
Savings 

£000 
December 2021 Narrative 2022/23 

Review highway and transport 
fees and charges 

200 200 G  B 

Use of one-off funding to support 
highways and transport priorities 

500 500 B One year saving in 2021/22 only. N/A 

Reduced level of demand for 
concessionary bus travel scheme 

400 400 B  B 

Review the management of graffiti 
removal 

50 50 B  B 

On street parking 76 76 A 

Uptake of parking permits in newly extended 
controlled parking zones is currently below the 
expected level, due to a combination of 
behavioural change and the impact of home 
working.  To be monitored through Q4 as 
restrictions are lifted. 

A 

Redesign processes for the 
delivery of highways schemes 

50 50 B  B 

Review of agency staff 21 21 B  B 

 

 
 
 

Page 85

Agenda Item 4
Section 7



   

  

Capital Programme 
 

Performance Summary - Capital  
 
9. There are 21 schemes within the portfolio.  18 of the schemes in delivery are 

rated green, indicating that the schemes are progressing as planned.  Three are 
rated as amber, indicating that there is an issue but that it can be dealt with by 
the project manager or project delivery team.  An update on the progress of 

the schemes not rated green are detailed in the table below. 
 

Scheme 
RAG Status at 
31st December 

Reason 
Latest RAG 

Status  
Updated Position 

A29 AMBER 

Potential increase in costs due to 
land dedication and access 

issues alongside a high Target 
Price return. 

AMBER 
Options are being 

considered. 

A284 AMBER 
High Target Price return 

received. 
AMBER 

Options are being 
considered. 

LED Streetlight 
Conversion 

AMBER 
Contract renegotiation and Deed 

of Variation subject to formal 
approval. 

AMBER 

A draft Deed of 
Variation has been 

reviewed by all parties 
with the principal 

agreed.  Awaiting final 
sign-off. 

 
 

Finance Summary - Capital  
 
10. The capital programme; as approved by County Council in February 2021, 

agreed a programme totalling £54.659m for 2021/22.  £0.601m of 
expenditure, originally profiled to spend in 2020/21, was slipped into 2021/22, 
revising the capital programme to £55.260m.   

 
11. Since this time, profiled spend has increased overall by £2.113m, to give a 

current year end projection for 2021/22 of £57.373m.  Of this increase,             
-£7.489m relates to slippage, £6.799m relates to projects where funding has 
been accelerated from future years, -£0.300m relates to a change in portfolio 

responsibility and £3.103m relates to additional funding; specifically, additional 
government grant and other external funding.   

 
 

Page 86

Agenda Item 4
Section 7



   

  

Key: 

Capital Programme – The revised planned expenditure for 2021/22 as at 1st April 2021.  
Slippage – Funding which was planned to be spent in 2021/22 but has since been reprofiled into future years. 
Underspending – Unused funding following the completion of projects. 
Overspending - Projects that require further funding over and above the original approved budget. 

Additional Budget – Additional external funding that has entered the capital programme for the first time. 
Acceleration – Agreed funding which has been brought forward from future years. 
Current Forecast – Latest 2021/22 financial year capital programme forecast. 

 

 

12. Details of movements of the financial profiling within the capital programme 

between October and December are as follows:  
 

 Slippage: -£7.489m.  Movement since Q2 report: -£2.950m. 
 

o Active Travel Fund: -£1.650m.  This programme of works has been 

reprofiled into future years after extensive engagement, consultation 
and scheme development work being undertaken.  The tender process 

is now commencing; however, the scheme construction will be 
undertaken during 2022/23. 

 
o Street Lighting LED: -£1.300m.  Deed of Variation continues to be 

delayed and whilst this is expected to be completed soon, the roll out 

of works are not likely to commence until April 2022 at the earliest, 
therefore £1.300m has been reprofiled into future years. 

 
 

 Acceleration: £6.799m.  Movement since Q2 report: £4.500m 

 
o A2300: £1.500m.  Construction works have progressed quicker than 

anticipated and are now expected to complete in this financial year, 
therefore budget has been accelerated to reflect this.  Risks still 
remain around Covid-19, weather and construction materials so an 

allocation £0.672m remains in 2022/23 to allow for potential delays.  
 

Page 87

Agenda Item 4
Section 7



   

  

o Annual Works Programme: £3.000m.  Works in this block 
allocation have progressed quicker than anticipated, therefore funding 
has been accelerated to meet the new profiled expenditure.  

 
13. The latest Capital Programme Budget Monitor is reported in Appendix 4. 

 
 

Risk  
 
14. There are no corporate risks assigned to this portfolio.  Risks allocated to other 

portfolios are specified within the respective appendices of this report.  Further 
detail on all risks can be found in Appendix 5 - Corporate Risk Register 

Summary. 

 

Page 88

Agenda Item 4
Section 7



   

  

Leader Portfolio (including Economy) - Summary 

 

Performance Summary  
 

1. The Portfolio has the following performance highlight to report this quarter: 
 

 All six growth deals remain in place with our District and Borough Council 

partners.  In the last quarter, we have continued to assess all six deals 
against our economic recovery plans with our growth deal stakeholders 

and have progressed refresh conversations where appropriate.  The 
refreshing of the deals will be underpinned by the following key outputs, 

sustaining and increasing jobs, freeing up land for development creating 
new homes and employments space as well as supporting the council’s 
climate change and economic recovery strategies. 

 

 

Our Council Performance Measures  
 

 
 
 

Finance Summary  
 

Portfolio In Year Pressures and Mitigations 
 

Pressures (£m) Mitigations and Underspending (£m) 

Year end 
budget 

variation 
(£m) 

  Minor variations (£0.050m)  

Leader Portfolio - Total £0.000m  (£0.050m) (£0.050m) 

Page 89

Agenda Item 4
Section 8



   

  

Significant Financial Issues and Risks Arising 
 
2. There are no significant issues to raise within this section. 

 
 

Financial Narrative on the Portfolio’s Position  
 
3. The Leader Portfolio is currently projecting a £0.050m underspend. 

 

 

Savings Delivery Update  
 

4. The portfolio has the following 2021/22 savings included within the budget.  
Details of these savings are included in the table below: 
 

Saving Activity 
2021/22 
Savings 

£000 
December 2021 Narrative 2022/23 

Review of Economy project 
budgets 

100 100 G  B 

Review of agency staff 1 1 B  B 

 

 
 
 

Capital Programme 
 
5. Following a review of the Capital Programme, a number of Economy projects 

have been re-assigned to the Leader Portfolio from the Support Services and 

Economic Development Portfolio.  
 
 

Performance Summary  
 

6. There are 11 schemes within the portfolio and all 11 schemes in delivery are 

rated green, indicating that the schemes are progressing as planned.  
 

 

Finance Summary – Capital 
 

7. The capital programme; as approved by County Council in February 2021, 
agreed a programme totalling £2.184m for 2021/22.  £2.659m of expenditure, 
originally profiled to spend in 2020/21, was slipped into 2021/22, revising the 

capital programme to £4.843m.  
 

Page 90

Agenda Item 4
Section 8



   

  

8. Since this time, the profiled spend has increased overall by £1.796m, to give a 
current year end projection for 2021/22 of £6.639m.  Of this increase, 
£2.090m relates to projects where funding has been accelerated from future 

years and -£0.294m relates to in-year slippage.  

Key: 
Capital Programme – The revised planned expenditure for 2021/22 as at 1st April 2021.  
Slippage – Funding which was planned to be spent in 2021/22 but has since been reprofiled into future years. 
Underspending – Unused funding following the completion of projects. 
Overspending - Projects that require further funding over and above the original approved budget. 
Additional Budget – Additional external funding that has entered the capital programme for the first time. 
Acceleration – Agreed funding which has been brought forward from future years. 
Current Forecast – Latest 2021/22 financial year capital programme forecast. 

 
 

9. Details of movements of the financial profiling within the capital programme 
between October and December are as follows: 
 

 Slippage: -£0.294m.  Movement since Q2 report: -£0.294m. 
 

o Manor Royal Highway Improvements: -£0.294m.  Profiling has 
been reviewed by the project team against the project milestones with 
£0.294m being reprofiled into future years. 

 
 Acceleration: £2.090m.  Movement since Q2 report: £2.090m. 

 
o Eastern Gateway: £2.000m.  Project is progressing much quicker 

than initially anticipated as the previous spending profile allowed for 
uncertainties around the Covid-19 pandemic.  Funding has been 
accelerated accordingly. 

 
o Railway Approach: £0.090m.  £0.284m has been approved to 

develop preliminary design and cover costs associated with the 
Railway Approach project. £0.090m is profiled to be spent in 2021/22 
with the remainder in 2022/23. 

 

Page 91

Agenda Item 4
Section 8



   

  

Risk  
 
10. The following table summarises the risks on the corporate risk register that 

would have a direct impact on the portfolio. Risks to other portfolios are 

specified within the respective appendices to this report.  
 

Risk 

No. 
Risk Description 

Previous 

Quarter Score 
Current 

Score 

CR68 

The government have placed restrictions and 
imposed requirements on Local Authorities to 
support in the management of the Covid-19 

pandemic. If local (county or district) 
responsibilities are prolonged or additional 
measures imposed, there is a risk services 

will fail to deliver existing work plans due 
to staff responding to the impact of the 
pandemic, or staff shortages due to sickness. 

15 15 

CR70 

There is an increasing demand placed on 
the senior officers due to the ongoing threat 
of Covid-19 and additional burdens due to 
devolved responsibilities. This may lead to a 
continued lack of capacity to deal with 

strategic/organisational issues, leading to 
poor decision making. 

12 12 

CR7 

There are governance systems which inhibit 
effective performance and a culture of non-
compliance and also a lack of standardisation 
in some systems and processes. Skills and 

knowledge of systems inadequate and 
excessive effort required for sound decisions 
and outcomes. 

8 8 

CR65 

The review of corporate leadership, 
governance and culture recommended in 
the Children’s Commissioner’s report is not 

fully undertaken or effectively implemented 
leading to a lack of necessary improvement 
and further service failures or external 
intervention. 

6 6 

 

11. Further details on all risks can be found in Appendix 5 - Corporate Risk 

Register Summary. 

Page 92

Agenda Item 4
Section 8



  
  

  

Public Health and Wellbeing Portfolio - Summary 
 

Performance Summary  
 
1. The Portfolio has a number of performance highlights to report this quarter: 

 

 Health Protection, surveillance and prevention. As part of the 
ongoing local authority public health Covid-19 response, the County 

Council’s Public Health team continue to work closely with colleagues 
across the organisation, schools, Sussex Health and Care Partnership 
(SHCP), and with local communities to implement public health 

prevention measures to reduce the risk of catching Covid-19, spreading it 
further, minimising severe illness, and saving lives; this was further 

increased in response to the challenges presented by the emergence of 
the Omicron Variant of Concern (VoC). These measures include daily 
monitoring of data, enabling appropriate mitigation measures to be 

implemented at the earliest opportunity, county-wide communications, 
promotion of testing and as part of outbreak response, the deployment of 

a Mobile Testing Unit (MTU) if required, providing support and guidance 
to schools, communicating regularly with headteachers to update them 
on national guidance, which we encourage them to follow, and working 

closely with local NHS partners to tackle inequalities, including access to 
vaccination, to increase uptake across the local population. 

 
 Stoptober. Throughout October, the organisations in the Smoke Free 

West Sussex partnership (led by the County Council) supported the 10th 

anniversary Stoptober campaign - an annual Public Health England stop 
smoking challenge, encouraging and supporting smokers to make a quit 

attempt during October. The evaluation of local activity around Stoptober 
has been completed and the full report will be shared with key partners 
in March. A key finding to date was excellent reach to over 191,000 

residents and communities. 
 

 To support Alcohol Awareness Week which took place in November, 
Council staff in Public Health and Communications developed a 
communications campaign to encourage people to consider their 

relationship with alcohol and take the DrinkCoach alcohol test. This 
enables people to identify how risky their drinking is, receive tailored 

online feedback and take steps to reduce this risk through a range of 
measures including accessing free online sessions with a specialist 

DrinkCoach. A large increase in visits to the DrinkCoach website, 
completion of alcohol tests, and visits to the dedicated alcohol awareness 
week webpage at West Sussex Wellbeing was reported during this 

period. 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 93

Agenda Item 4
Section 9



  
  

  

Our Council Performance Measures  
 

 
  

 
 
 

Page 94

Agenda Item 4
Section 9



  
  

  

Finance Summary  
 

Portfolio In Year Pressures and Mitigations 
 

Pressures (£m) Mitigations and Underspending (£m) 

Year end 
budget 

variation 
(£m) 

Covid-19 pandemic forecast expenditure 
(Covid-19 position is reported in Appendix 2) 

£16.153m 
Assumed funding from Covid-19 grant 
(Covid-19 position is reported in Appendix 2) 

(£16.153m) 
 

Public Health and Wellbeing Portfolio - Total £16.153m  (£16.153m) £0.000m 

 
 

Significant Financial Issues and Risks Arising 
 
2. There are no significant issues to raise within this section. 
 
 

Financial Narrative on the Portfolio’s Position  
 
3. The Public Health and Wellbeing Portfolio is continuing to project a balanced 

budget due to the expectation that any underspending within the ring-fenced 

Public Health Grant will be carried forward into 2022/23.   
 

4. The budget continues to see fluctuations due to the impact of the Covid-19 
pandemic.  This is resulting in some underspending in areas of the service 

where expenditure is based on activity, such as NHS Health Check Programme 
and sexual health.  It is recognised that reduced services may impact on some 
local population health outcomes, however on the whole, affected services are 

returning, enabling greater access for residents.    
 

5. Whilst the outturn will depend on the level of service delivered in those areas 
which are demand-led, it is not unreasonable to expect underspending in the 
region of £2m.  As ring-fenced funding, this will transfer into 2022/23 where it 

will add to the underspending of £1.2m brought forward from 2020/21.  In line 
with grant requirements, any underspend utilised will be spent on public 

health; enabling the local authority to discharge its statutory public health 
functions. 

 

6. Within the portfolio, £16.2m of Contained Outbreak Management and Test and 
Trace expenditure is projected to be spent during 2021/22.  These costs will be 

fully funded from ring-fenced Covid-19 grants which have been allocated by 
Government for these specific purposes.  

 

 

Savings Delivery Update  
 

7. The portfolio has no named savings target for 2021/22, however it should be 
noted that there is a direct link to the Support Services and Economic 

Development saving – Use of Public Health Grant (PHG).  This comes about 
because £1.2m of opportunity was available within the Public Health budget, 
partly from uncommitted PHG and partly from cost reductions secured in 

Page 95

Agenda Item 4
Section 9



  
  

  

spending areas like the Help at Home Contract.  That has allowed £1.2m of 
corporate overhead costs that support delivery of Public Health activities to be 
recharged against the PHG, so enabling delivery of the saving within the 

Support Services and Economic Development Portfolio. This £1.2m saving is 
reported as ‘blue’, since all of the actions necessary to achieve it have been 

completed’. 
 
 
 

Capital Programme 
 
8. There are currently no capital projects for the Public Health and Wellbeing 

Portfolio.  
 

Risk  
 
9. There are no corporate risks assigned to this portfolio. Risks allocated to other 

portfolios are specified within the respective appendices of this report.  Further 

detail on all risks can be found in Appendix 5 - Corporate Risk Register 
Summary. 
 

Page 96

Agenda Item 4
Section 9



  

   

  

Support Services and Economic Development Portfolio - 
Summary 
 

Performance Summary  
 

1. The Portfolio has a number of performance highlights to report this quarter: 
 
Digital Infrastructure 

 
 Securing broadband coverage in more rural communities, which tend not to 

attract commercial investment, is a priority.  The county continues to perform 
strongly at a national level by utilising the government’s Gigabit Voucher 

Scheme to target communities with public funding based on demand for 
broadband services.  In addition, West Sussex has run a successful ‘top up’ 
scheme to enable communities to claim extra value for their vouchers and has 

projects in the pipeline that will leverage an additional £6m of funding from 
the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) into the county, 

meaning an extra 13,000 premises will benefit from gigabit-capable 
connectivity sooner than if left to the commercial market to invest. 

 

 West Sussex was announced as ‘lot 1’ in phase two of central government’s 
national procurement programme, Project Gigabit.  Working with the 

Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) and suppliers within 
the county, we have gathered information about commercial investment plans 
over the next three years.  We carried out an Open Market Review and are 

about to embark on a ‘public review’ which is the next step in the process to 
identifying the intervention area eligible for public funding of gigabit-capable 

digital infrastructure.  DCMS plans to begin procurement for a supplier in West 
Sussex in May this year. 
 

 Virgin Media O2 began building new network in the Steyning area as part of its 
pilot project to trial national Gigabit Broadband Vouchers.  The pilot also 

represents a significant commercial investment by Virgin Media O2 in 
providing its services to an additional 4,000 premise. 
 

 The team was successful in enabling a ‘dig once’ approach in the installation of 
fibre and ducting during two projects at Eastern Gateway, Crawley working 

with CBC and supplier, CityFibre. 
 

Information Technology 

 
 In order to ensure ongoing resilience of operations and enable traffic growth, IT 

Services successfully replaced core network hardware (including switches and 
firewalls).  
 

Human Resources and Organisational Development 
 

 The team successfully transitioned and implemented the new Occupational 
Health contract for WSCC and schools which commenced on the 1st October 

2021.  

Page 97

Agenda Item 4
Section 10



  

   

  

 The number of new West Sussex County Council apprentices in 2021/22 has 
continued to increase.  In September there were 78 new apprentices, however 
as at the end of December, this has risen to 93.  The annual target set for the 

number of apprentices is 113.   
 

 The organisations bi-annual ‘Pulse Survey’ took place in November. The survey 
generated a response rate of 35% with 1,692 employees taking part. This was 

a decrease in participation from the last survey in April 2021 which had a 
record response rate of 2,208. Overall, the survey reported 77% positive 
responses (the percentage of response which were ‘strongly agree’ or ‘agree’), 

compared to 78% in April 2021. Details have been shared with all 
departments and work continues upon any areas of concern. 
 

 

Our Council Performance Measures  
 
Please note - the performance measures relating Economy are reported under the Leader 

(including Economy) Portfolio in Section 8. 
 

 
Website link to Our Council Performance Measures here. 

Page 98

Agenda Item 4
Section 10

https://performance.westsussex.gov.uk/stories/s/Support-Services-and-Economic-Development/euxx-wdud


  

   

  

Finance Summary  
 

Portfolio In Year Pressures and Mitigations 
 

Pressures (£m) Mitigations and Underspending (£m) 

Year end 
budget 

variation 

(£m) 
Covid-19 pandemic forecast expenditure/ 
allocations to third parties (Covid-19 position is 
reported in Appendix 2) 

£0.342m 
Assumed funding from Covid-19 grant 
(Covid-19 position is reported in Appendix 2) 

(£0.342m) 
 

2021/22 Savings at significant risk – reduction 
in legal costs, HR redesign, review of mileage, 
allowances and apprenticeship levy and a small 
element on communications redesign 

£0.632m 

In year underspending from homeworking/ 
change in service delivery – Member’s travel, 
expenses, refreshments and training during 
the pandemic restrictions 

(£0.070m)  

  
Underspending on the County Council 
elections in May 2021 

(£0.100m)  

Support Services and Economic Development 
Portfolio - Total 

£0.974m  (£0.512m) £0.462m 

 
 

Significant Financial Issues and Risks Arising 
 
2. There are no significant issues to raise within this section. 

 
 

Financial Narrative on the Portfolio’s Position  
 
3. The Support Services and Economic Development Portfolio is currently projecting 

a £0.462m overspend, an increase of £0.049m when compared to September. 

 
4. A saving target of £0.2m had been set in 2021/22 in relation to the reduction in 

legal costs required for child protection cases.  This saving is now judged to be 

at significant risk due to the need to employ agency legal staff to clear the backlog 
of childcare cases in the courts, and to address the increasing workload within 

Legal Services.  This saving is expected to be achieved in 2022/23 as the service 
reviews its current structure to reduce the reliance on locums and external 
resources.    

 
5. As a result of the Covid-19 pandemic restrictions in place during 2021/22, an 

estimated £0.070m of savings is projected following a reduction in Member’s 
travel, expenses and training this year.  

 

6. As the final expense claims are received following the County Council elections in 
May 2021, it is expected that the County Council Election budget will underspend 

by £0.1m this year.   
 
 

Savings Delivery Update  
 

7. The Portfolio has a number of 2021/22 savings included within the budget.  
Details of these savings are included in the table below. 

 

Page 99

Agenda Item 4
Section 10



  

   

  

Saving Activity 
2021/22 
Savings 

£000 
December 2021 Narrative 2022/23 

IT service redesign 500 500 G  G 

Review of Democratic Support 108 108 G   

Reduction in professional fees to 
support One Public Estate (OPE) 
delivery 

50 50 B One year saving in 2021/22 only. N/A 

Digital Infrastructure - 1 FTE 
Vacancy Freeze 

45 45 G One year saving in 2021/22 only. N/A 

Reshaping communications offer 200 

42 R 

A small element of the initial savings target is 
currently unachievable. This pressure has been 
addressed during the 2022/23 budget creation 
process. 

N/A 

158 B  B 

Reduction in corporate stationary 
requirements 

100 100 G  G 

Licencing savings following re-
procurement of ERP Solution 

400 400 A 

Due to uncertainties in the implementation date 
of the Oracle system, it is unlikely that this saving 
will be achieved as originally envisaged in 
2021/22.  To offset this, a one-off opportunity to 
reduce IT expenditure in year is expected to 
mitigate this pressure. 

A 

Closure of Martlets Public Café 0 0 B The Martlets café has now been closed. B 

Reduction in legal costs required 
for child protection cases 

200 200 R 

External counsel fees have been used to clear 
the backlog of childcare cases in the courts 
created by the Covid-19 pandemic, which has 
made this saving undeliverable in this financial 
year. 

A 

HR service redesign 300 

290 R 

Given the imminent appointment of a 
permanent HR Director, it was not appropriate 
to undertake this restructure during the year. 
Saving planned to be delivered in 2023/24. 

N/A 

10 B Saving delivered on corporate contract. B 

Public Health – use of 
uncommitted Public Health 
Grant/other changes within 
existing contracts 

1,210 1,210 B  B 

Review of mileage, allowances and 
apprenticeship levy 

118 

18 B  B 

100 R 

The pandemic continues to impact our ability to 
achieve this saving in year.  Work is on-going to 
recruit apprentices to enable this saving to be 
realised in 2022/23. 

A 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 100

Agenda Item 4
Section 10



  

   

  

Capital Programme 
 
8. Following a review of the Capital Programme, a number if Economy projects 

have been reassigned to the Leader Portfolio from the Support Services and 

Economic Development Portfolio.   
 

Performance Summary  
 
9. There are three schemes within the portfolio.  One of the schemes in delivery is 

rated green, indicating that the project is progressing as planned.  Two of the 
schemes are funded from Pooled Business Rates and are reported directly to 

the West Sussex Council’s Chief Executives’ and Leaders Board. 
 

Finance Summary  

 
10. The capital programme; as approved by County Council in February 2021, 

agreed a programme totalling £5.174m for 2021/22.  £2.760m of expenditure, 

originally profiled to spend in 2021/22, was accelerated into 2020/21, revising 
the capital programme to £2.414m.   

 
11. Since this time, the profiled spend has decreased overall by £0.158m, to give a 

current year end projection for 2021/22 of £2.256m. Of this increase, -£0.189m 

relates to slippage, -£0.253m relates to underspending within current projects 
and £0.284m relates to projects where funding has been accelerated from 

future years.  

Key: 
Capital Programme – The revised planned expenditure for 2021/22 as at 1st April 2021.  
Slippage – Funding which was planned to be spent in 2021/22 but has since been reprofiled into future years. 
Underspending – Unused funding following the completion of projects. 
Overspending - Projects that require further funding over and above the original approved budget. 
Additional Budget – Additional external funding that has entered the capital programme for the first time. 
Acceleration – Agreed funding which has been brought forward from future years. 
Current Forecast – Latest 2021/22 financial year capital programme forecast. 

 

Page 101

Agenda Item 4
Section 10



  

   

  

12. Details of movements of the financial profiling within the capital programme 
between October and December are as follows:  
 

 Slippage: -£0.189m.  Movement since Q2 report: -£0.189m. 
 

o District and Borough Councils Gigabit Projects: -£0.189m.  
CityFibre need to reach 90% of connections before payment is due.  

The latest estimate is that this threshold will not be met until late 
2022, therefore this funding has been reprofiled into future years. 

 

 
13. The latest Capital Programme Budget Monitor is reported in Appendix 4.  

 
 

Risk  
 
14. The following table summarises the risks on the corporate risk register that 

would have a direct impact on the Portfolio. Risks to other portfolios are 
specified within the respective appendices to this report.  

 

Risk 

No. 
Risk Description 

Previous 

Quarter Score 
Current 

Score 

CR11 

There is a risk that the Council will not be seen as an 
attractive place to work by current and potential 
employees.  This will result in problems recruiting and 
retaining staff in key skills areas. 

12 12 

CR39a 

As a result of failing to maintain and ensure the correct 

use of our security systems and protocols, there is a 
risk of a successful cyber-attack directly from external 
threats; or indirectly as a consequence of staff 
accessing unsafe links from external sources and 

unauthorised/insecure website browsing.  This will lead 
to significant service disruption and possible data loss. 

25 25 

CR39b 

Data protection responsibilities. The Council is a 
Data Controller and has obligations and responsibilities 
arising from that role.  Council needs resources, skills, 
knowledge, systems and procedures to ensure 
obligations are met. 

9 9 

CR50 

WSCC are responsible for ensuring the health and 
safety at work of its staff and residents.  There is a risk 
that if there is a lack of Health and Safety 

awareness and accountability by directorates to 
capture and communicate in accordance with Council 

governance arrangements, it will lead to a serious 
health and safety incident occurring. 

9 9 

 

15. Further details on all risks can be found in Appendix 5 - Corporate Risk Register 

Summary. 

Page 102

Agenda Item 4
Section 10



Revenue Budget Monitor to the end of December 2021

Approved 
budget

Latest budget 
for year

Net income
to date

Projected 
outturn 

variation

Sources of Finance £000 £000 £000 £000

Precept -509,476 -509,476 -382,107 0

Business Rates Retention Scheme -79,257 -86,606 -50,068 0

Collection Fund Deficits 6,667 20,171 5,072 0

Covid-19 Expenditure Pressures Grant -15,618 -15,618 -15,618 0

Covid-19 Income Loss Compensation 0 0 -103 0

Local Council Tax Support Grant -6,628 -6,632 -6,632 0

Local Tax Income Guarantee - Business Rates 0 195 65 0

Local Tax Income Guarantee - Council Tax 0 0 571 0

New Homes Bonus Grant -2,352 -2,358 -1,768 0

Social Care Support Grant -18,169 -18,169 -15,293 0

Total Financing -624,833 -618,493 -465,881 0 

Approved 
budget 1

Latest budget 
for year

Net spending 
to date

Projected 
outturn 

variation

Analysis of Expenditure £000 £000 £000 £000

Portfolio Budgets

Adults Services 209,543 209,063 126,487 0

Children and Young People 130,808 131,793 97,327 500

Community Support, Fire and Rescue 40,724 41,488 29,192 303

Environment and Climate Change 60,813 59,866 40,564 -2,365

Finance and Property 23,624 22,506 19,404 230

Highways and Transport 36,577 36,506 24,228 -980

Leader 2,590 2,569 1,931 -50

Learning and Skills 22,735 23,475 16,433 1,857

Public Health and Wellbeing 0 0 2,227 0

Support Services and Economic Development 40,332 40,353 34,994 462

Sub-total 567,746 567,619 392,787 -43

Non-Portfolio Budgets

Capital Financing - Repayment (MRP) 11,086 12,070 12,373 507

Capital Financing - Interest 17,848 19,198 14,531 95

Revenue Contribution to Capital - Business Rates Pilot 1,900 1,900 0 0

Revenue Contribution to Capital - Other 532 4,182 0 0

Investment Income -2,970 -2,670 -1,601 0

Care Leavers Council Tax Support 25 0 0 0

General Contingency 6,400 6,400 0 0

Pay Contingency 2,200 1,975 0 0

Transfers to/(from) Reserves - Business Rates Pilot -1,900 -4,212 -4,212 0

Transfers to/(from) Reserves - Other 21,966 12,031 12,031 0

Sub-total 57,087 50,874 33,122 602

Total Net Expenditure 624,833 618,493 425,909 559 

Total Forecast Variation - overspending 559 

Memo: Contingency £000

Original Budget (General & Pay Consolidated) 8,600
September PRR Decision: Funding allocation for the Fire & Rescue Service pay award -225
Available Contingency 8,375

Potential Commitments

Centenery House/ Durrington Bridge House -700
Assumed 1.75% NJC Pay Award -3,575
Available Contingency 4,100

1 Approved portfolio budgets have been restated to reflect the changes to the Cabinet structure adopted following the local elections in May 2021

Page 103

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 1



Balances and Reserves Balance at 
31-Mar-21

Balance at 
31-Dec-21

Projected
Balance at
31-Mar-22

Projected
Annual

Movement
Comments on Projected Annual Movements

£000 £000 £000 £000

Earmarked Reserves:

Adults & Health Pressures and Recovery -4,700 -4,700 -4,700 0

Ash Dieback -1,200 -1,200 -1,200 0

Budget Management -54,417 -53,546 -53,724 693
£6.7m S31 Business Rates Grant, £2.4m early savings, £0.8m budget
balancing, £0.6m other; Net of £11.2m increased Collection Fund deficits

Business Rates Pilot Fund -21,870 -17,658 -17,658 4,212
£1.9m applied to capital programme (Gigabit, Fibre, Infrastructure); £2.3m
residual 2019/20 NNDR Collection Fund deficit

Children First Improvement Plan -2,285 0 0 2,285
£2.3m anticipated full application of 20/21 underspending carried forward to
provide temporary improvement funding 

Covid-19 Fund -6,972 -24,613 -15,923 -8,951
£15.6m Expenditure Pressures Grant, £6.6m Council Tax Support; £3.7m
applied to capital, £1.0m Q1 income losses/hardship, £8.6m future spend

Economic Growth -2,059 -2,036 -1,798 261

Elections Reserve -600 0 0 600 £0.6m scheduled release of reserve to finance costs in local election year

Highways Commuted Sums -4,069 -4,667 -4,967 -898
£1.3m forecast sums receivable by Planning Services during year; assumed
£0.4m applied to eligible Highways schemes

Highways On-Street Parking -1,921 -1,921 -1,421 500
On-street parking developments and eligible highways network expenditure
expected to exceed income generated by £0.5m in year

Infrastructure Works Feasibility -1,436 -2,959 -1,459 -23

Insurance Reserve -5,845 -5,845 -4,638 1,207
Forecast £1.2m costs to be met by reserve (following Sept-21 premium
renewals and assuming £5m provision requirement for known claims

Interest Smoothing Account -2,254 -2,254 -2,654 -400

Recycling & Waste PFI -10,547 -10,347 -10,347 200

Schools Sickness & Maternity Insurance Scheme -1,771 -1,771 -1,771 0

Service Transformation Fund -13,569 -13,569 -7,734 5,835
Estimated £5.8m supporting transformation projects including Smartcore,
Capita IT insourcing and Children's better use of technology

Social Care Support Grant 2018/19 -1,517 -499 -499 1,018 £1.0m applied to Adults Services per approved budget

Statutory Duties -2,437 -2,437 -2,437 0

Street Lighting PFI -23,362 -22,920 -22,933 429

Unapplied Revenue Grants -1,045 -881 -953 92

Waste MRMC -25,364 -23,464 -23,464 1,900
£1.9m applied to Environment and Climate Change portfolio per approved
budget for estimated in-year lifecycle expenditure

Other Earmarked Reserves -2,228 -2,164 -1,870 358

Earmarked Reserves (Excluding Schools) -191,468 -199,451 -182,150 9,318

School Balances -24,778 -24,613 -24,613 165

Total Earmarked Reserves -216,246 -224,064 -206,763 9,483

General Fund -20,286 -20,286 -20,286 0

Capital Grants Unapplied -55,031 -55,031 -9,405 45,626
Forecast net position of grants/contributions receivable for year and
grants/contributions applied to capital programme (subject to slippage)

Capital Receipts Reserve -4,789 -4,789 0 4,789
Anticipate full utilisation but subject to realisation of eligible transformational
spend under flexible use of capital receipts strategy 

Total Usable Reserves -296,352 -304,170 -236,454 59,898

Page 104

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 1



  
 

Covid-19 Summary - As At 31st December 2021 
 

Finance Summary  
 

1. The cost of the Covid-19 pandemic to the County Council has been monitored 
separately from the portfolio budgets agreed by County Council in February 
2021.  Some unspent grants from 2020/21 have been carried forward and are 
available to be utilised in accordance with grant conditions.  It is expected that 
all the costs of the pandemic which are incurred in 2021/22 will be funded from 
government grants or from other income received from partners. 
 

2. Table 1 details a projected forecast of Covid-19 expenditure and income for 
2021/22 by portfolio.  The presentation of this table has been updated to 
separate grants which are administered by the County Council to care providers 
on behalf of the Government which had previously been recorded within the 
Adults and Health Portfolio.  All ringfenced grants and the Local Council Tax 
Support funding are assumed fully spent or committed in this presentation. 

Table 1 – Covid-19 Summary  
Portfolio Projected 

Expenditure 
Adults & Health £12.533m 
Children & Young People £0.146m 
Learning & Skills £1.915m 
Community Support, Fire & Rescue £11.666m 
Environment & Climate Change £0.345m 
Finance & Property £0.842m 
Highways & Transport £1.414m 
Public Health & Wellbeing £16.153m 
Support Services & Economic Development £0.331m 
Non-Portfolio £11.407m 

Total Portfolio Projected Expenditure £56.752m 
 

Adults & Health – Grants administered by the County Council on behalf 
of Government £24.709m 

Total Projected Expenditure £81.461m 
 
 

Income Allocations  
(including grants carried forward from 2020/21) Allocation 

Grant - Covid-19 central government non-ringfenced grant (including 
Local Council Tax Support and Omicron Support Grant) (£30.255m) 

Grant –Covid-19 specific grants including (Contained Outbreak 
Management Fund, Local Support Grant and others) (£36.810m) 

Grant –Covid-19 specific grants administered in accordance to 
Government requirements (including Infection Control and others) (£24.709m) 

Other Income – Covid-19 income estimated contribution from the 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). (£1.264m) 

Total Projected Income  (£93.038m) 
 

Committed 2022/23 Capital Contribution  £1.723m 
 

Projected Remaining Grant as at 2021/22  (£9.854m) 
 

Remaining Grant - Required for 2022/23 £9.854m 
 

Page 105

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 2



  
 

3. Although it is currently projected that there will be £9.9m of non-ringfenced 
grant unallocated in 2021/22; it is clear that the impact of the pandemic will 
continue into the 2022/23 financial year which will cause significant financial risk 
to the County Council.  On-going supply and demand pressures within Adult 
Social Care are of particular concern as the pandemic continues to affect the 
social care market provision and rising cost of care.   
 

4. To date, the County Council has been pragmatic in its approach to the use of the 
Covid-19 ringfenced grant funding available, with the Executive Leadership team 
playing a key governance role in determining how to distribute funding where 
there is local discretion over its use, which has enabled the projected remaining 
£9.9m non-ringfenced grant to be safeguarded to assist the challenges ahead.   

 
5. A review of the current Covid-19 spend has enabled a forward assessment of the 

areas which may require the Covid-19 grant next year, including: 
 

• The continuation of the Community Hub which helps to support the 
most vulnerable residents in West Sussex.   

 
• Increase in the cost of care provision and the potential need for an 

extension of support to providers to help secure stability in the adult 
social care market. 

 
• Continuation of the additional staffing in Adult Services to meet the 

needs of customers during the pandemic. 
 

• Other costs associated with the pandemic including personal protective 
equipment (PPE) and additional cleaning of public buildings.   

 
6. The Local Council Tax Support fund received in-year is assumed fully committed 

as this funding is being used to support council tax hardship schemes across the 
West Sussex district and boroughs.   

 
Covid-19 Key Decisions During 2021/22 
 

Table 2 lists the Key Decisions which have been taken during the year that have 
impacted Covid-19 expenditure. 
 
 
Table 2:  Key Decisions Which Have Impacted in Year Expenditure 
  

 Key Decision Description Funding 
Source Date 

Key 
Decision 

Reference 
Adult Social Care 
Infection Control and 
Testing Fund 

Allocation of Infection 
prevention and control and 
rapid testing funding 

Specific grant 
allocation 

30th April 
2021 

OKD75 
(20/21) 

Page 106

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 2



  
 

 Key Decision Description Funding 
Source Date 

Key 
Decision 

Reference 

Contain Outbreak 
Management Fund 
(COMF) 

Proposal to utilise 
£6.018m of the total grant 
funding, of which £2.933m 
is to support activities by 
the West Sussex Districts 
and Boroughs, £0.665m is 
for homelessness 
prevention (Adults) and 
£2.419m is to support 
services for children and 
young people 

Specific grant 
allocation 

6th May 
2021 

OKD78 
(20/21) 

Emergency Central 
Government Funding 
Allocation 

Allocation of £0.542m to 
complete the demolition of 
the former Chichester High 
School Year 7 Building 
project following delays 
and loss of funding due to 
the pandemic. 

County Council 
funding 

08th July 
2021 

FP02 
(21/22) 

Winter Grant Scheme - 
Household Support 
Fund 

Distribute funding from the 
Household Support Fund, 
working with partners 

Specific grant 
allocation 

07th 
December 

2021 

CFFR02 
(21/22) 

 
 
Covid-19 Grant Funding Allocations 2021/22 
 
A listing of available Covid-19 grant funding is shown in Table 3.  This details 
the grants brought forward from 2020/21, confirmed new grants and estimates 
of new funding expected to be received.      

Page 107

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 2



Description
Brought 
Forward 
2020/21

2021/22 TOTAL
2021/22 Spending Plan

£m £m £m

Non-Ringfenced Grant:

Covid-19 Central Government Non-Ringfenced Grant                     7.0                   15.8                  22.7 

Fire Contingency Fund                     0.1                      -                      0.1 

Local Council Tax Support                      -                       6.6                    6.6 

Omicron Support Grant                      -                       0.8                    0.8 

Total Non-Ringfenced Grant                    7.0                  23.2                  30.2 

Specific/ Dedicated Grants (WSCC Expenditure):

Contain Outbreak Management Fund                   19.3                     4.0                  23.3 To help reduce the spread of coronavirus and support local public health.

Test and Trace                     1.3                      -                      1.3 Led by WS Public Health, implementation of tailored outbreak control plans to 
reduce and manage the virus across the county.

Workforce Recruitment and Retention Fund (Adult Social Care)                      -                       1.0                    1.0 To support local authorities to address adult social care workforce capacity pressures 
in their geographical area through recruitment and retention activity this winter.

Additional Dedicated Home to School and College Transport                      -                       0.7                    0.7 To provide sufficient transport capacity so children and young people can attend 
school and college safely and on time.

Winter Support Grant                      -                       0.8                    0.8 

Local Support Grant                      -                       2.3                    2.3 

Practical Support Framework                      -                       1.5                    1.5 To support those in need with the cost of food, energy, water bills and other 
essentials.

Household Support Fund                      -                       4.9                    4.9 To support vulnerable households to meet daily needs such as food, clothing and 
utilities.  

Travel Demand Management Grant                     0.1                      -                      0.1 Public transport support funding.

Bus Support Services Grant                      -   0.3                                      0.3 To support bus operators to continue running services during lockdown (supported 
transport routes).

Emergency Active Travel Fund                     0.5                      -                      0.5 Funding to Protect and Increase Travel Services.  Phase 2 (Revenue - indicative 
allocation) installation of temporary cycle lane provision.

Wellbeing for Education Grant                      -                       0.1                    0.1 Additional funding for local authorities to support pupils' and students' wellbeing and 
psychosocial recovery as they return to full-time education.

Total Specific/ Dedicated Grant: 21.2 15.6 36.8

Specific/ Dedicated Grants Administered in Accordance to Government Requirements:

Infection Control/ Rapid Testing                      -                     11.7                  11.7 To support adult social care providers to reduce the rate of Covid-19 within and 
between care settings through infection prevention and control practices. 

Rapid Testing                      -                       7.2                    7.2 To support adult social care providers to reduce the rate of Covid-19 by providing 
rapid testing to staff and visitors.

Workforce Recruitment and Retention Fund (Adult Social Care)                      -                       5.4                    5.4 To support local authorities to address adult social care workforce capacity pressures 
in their geographical area through recruitment and retention activity this winter.

Care Staff Vaccination                      -   0.4                    0.4 

Total Specific/ Dedicated Grants Administered: 0.0 24.7 24.7

Overall Total Portfolio Grants 28.2 63.5 91.7

Capital Ringfenced Grants:

Emergency Active Travel Fund - Phase 2 2.2                      -   2.2 Capital Funding to protect and increase travel services.

Total Capital Ringfenced Grants 2.2 0.0 2.2

Overall Total Grants 30.5 63.5 93.9

To meet additional pressures arising from the pandemic and help continue to deliver 
frontline services.

Table 3 - Covid-19 Grant Funding Allocated to West Sussex County Council - as at 31st December 2021

To provide support to children and households who are experiencing, or at risk of 
experiencing, poverty, where they are impacted by the ongoing public health 
emergency, and where alternative sources of assistance may be unavailable.

Page 108

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 2



Service Transformation- Q3 2021/22 
 

 
At the start of the year, the balance on the Transformation Reserve stood at 
£13.6m.  Of this remaining funding, £11.2m has been earmarked to fund 
approved projects which are currently progressing.  These projects include the 
SMARTCORE Programme, Insourcing and Procurement of IT Services Better Use 
of Technology within Children Services, Support Services Programme, Smarter 
Ways of Working Programme and other smaller projects. 
 

SMARTCORE Programme 
 

This programme is focused upon making business processes more efficient and 
economic through the replacement of the existing SAP system with Oracle 
Fusion. 

 
The programme is based on a set of design principles that seek to establish a 
single source of truth for key data and information relating to Finance, HR, 
Payroll and Procurement and Contract Management Services; which will support 
strategic and operational decision making and planning, whist also providing an 
opportunity to introduce productivity gains via business process improvements.   
 
The programme is in its design phase which involves staff working in detailed 
workshops to determine the structure of Oracle Fusion.   The design will then be 
configured and tested to ensure it meets expectations.   
 
Alongside this, the data migration strategy is being finalised and activity will 
commence to test the transition. 
 
After an extended review of the pre-design phase of the project and based on 
our increased understanding of the Oracle product, the project is now increasing 
in pace with a planned implementation in the spring of 2023. 
 

Insourcing and Procurement of IT Services   
 

The contract for IT services provided by Capita finished on the 30th of September 
as planned.   The IT service now has a modern service model supporting the 
organisation with the right tools on first request which aid productivity and can 
adapt as business needs change.  Greater focus on skills/training to get the best 
from the resources available.  Thirty-one former Capita staff have now been 
integrated into the new operating mode. 
 
Rather than a single supplier, the council now has multiple suppliers, smaller and 
more specialist to support the IT Strategy and Council agenda.  We are engaging 
shorter term outcomes-based contracts which can flex as digital markets evolve. 
  

• XMA Ltd are our supplier for the Information Technology Service Desk and 
End User Compute.  Twenty-one former Capita staff moved to XMA to 
continue to deliver services to the County.    

 

Page 109

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 3



• Version 1 Solutions Limited are the council’s Cloud Hosting provider and 
will migrate services to a cloud environment as well as the on-going 
management of the new (hybrid) environment.   
 

• Dell Corporation Limited are our supplier for computing hardware. 
 

Some transformation activity will continue as the new service settles over the 
coming months.   It is anticipated the costs of transition will be contained within 
the agreed project budget of £2.750m.   The transformed services will also 
deliver the anticipated budget savings of £0.750m per annum. 
 

Better Use of Technology within Children Services 
 

A decision was taken by the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People in 
August to procure a recording system for Children, Young People and Learning.  
This project is at an early stage and will support the transformation of the 
current recording systems in ensuring a coherent and connected view of an 
individual child through system consolidation and integration.  The project will 
reduce the number of systems requiring support and maintenance and will make 
efficiencies and improvements to ways of working which will benefit children, 
families and staff.  The planned completion date is the end of 2022/23. 

 
Support Services Programme 
 

Our support services contract, currently provided by Capita, concludes on the 
30th September 2022.   The main services included within the contract include 
Accounts Payable (OWTB), Payroll services and HR support to schools, Business 
Administration and the Customer Services Centre (CSC). 
 
The Customer Services Centre currently provides support to 23 essential council 
services.  It has been decided that two of the 23 CSC teams will move to the 
County Council to ensure complex contracts with vulnerable customers are held 
within direct control of the County Council.  These services are confirmed as: 
 

• Care Point 1 – Supporting Adults Services 
• The Integrated Front Door – Supporting Children’s Services and the Multi 

Agency Safeguarding Hub. 
 

The remaining 21 CSC services will continue to be delivered via an outsourced 
model, with a planned tendering process due to commence imminently with a 
decision expected towards the end of spring 2022.  
 
The majority of the remaining services will transfer back on or before the end of 
the contract.   The timing of these transfers is currently being reviewed. 
 
£1.2m of funding has been allocated from the Service Transformation Reserve to 
fund this programme of works.   This budget will cover costs for additional 
resources required to deliver the projects including project managers, business 
change support, exit costs for capital and technical support. 
 
 

Page 110

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 3



Early Years Property Support Project 
 

As part of the revised Early Help model in West Sussex, a number of one-off and 
temporary property services costs are expected.  Expenditure of £0.397m 
associated with project management, property clearance and holding is 
estimated as the services transitions into its new operating model and work is 
undertaken to dispose or re-assign affected buildings.   
 

Smarter Ways of Working Programme 
 

The County Council is building on the learning and experienced gained from the 
pandemic to help shape the way we work in the future.  The council has a large 
portfolio of property all across the county which are used for various purposes.  
Work is currently underway to look at future ways of working which will enable 
the County Council to: 

• Reduce the workspace provided and maintained by the County Council 
with no impact to the provision, quality or standard of services. 

• Provide good quality workspaces which staff can use in a flexible manner 
and better suits work and personal lives with no negative impact on well-
being or productivity.  

• The ability to better meet the needs of our customers. 

The programme team have been running workshops with staff to enable 
experiences and ideas to be shared across the County Council.   

A budget of £0.320m has been allocated to fund the initial scoping, planning and 
engagement of this programme of works. 

 

Future Projects – Earmarked Commitments 
 

A number of new projects are currently being scrutinised through the Service 
Transformation Governance Process.  Currently, £0.6m has been earmarked for 
these emerging plans.  If all these funding requests are successful, the 
remaining unallocated funding within the Service Transformation Reserve will 
reduce to £1.8m.  Some of these projects will be funded by utilising the flexible 
capital receipts process, enabling more funds to be maintained in the service 
transformation fund for future transformational projects which are envisaged to 
improve the productivity of the council.  The need for increasing the service 
transformation budget for projects will be considered as part of the on-going 
budget process. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 111

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 3



Table 1 – Service Transformation – Overview of Current Projects 
 

Project 

Total 
Project 
Budget 

Allocated 

Spend in 
Prior Years 

(Pre- 
2021/22) 

2021/22 
Actuals at 
December 

2021 

Final 
Project 
Spend 

Forecast 

Smartcore Programme £7,500,000 £2,526,224 £1,016,000 £7,500,000 

Insource of Procurement and IT 
Services £2,750,000 £473,667 £922,837 £2,750,000 

Better Use of Technology – 
Children’s Services £1,800,000 £0 £43,498 £1,800,000 

Support Services Programme £1,200,000 £0 £0 £1,200,000 

Early Years Property Support Project  £397,000 £0 £22,578 £397,000 

Smarter Ways of Working 
Programme £320,000 £0 £39,000 £320,000 

Temporary Expansion of IT Project 
Team £668,000 £373,840 £152,821 £668,000 

Community Hub – Worthing Library 
Relocation (Project completed in 
2021/22. Awaiting final account.) 

£150,000 £78,747 £22,639 £110,000 

Behaviour Science – Cornerstone 
(2021/22 Final year of project). £135,250 £101,500 £0 £135,250 

 
 
 
Graph 1 – Service Transformation Reserve Position   

  

 

Page 112

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 3



2021/22 CAPITAL MONITOR as at the end of December 2021

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8) (9) (10)
Variance

2021/22 In-Flight 2021/22 Pipeline 2021/22 Total Slippage/ Total 2021/22 Actuals In-Flight Forecast Pipeline Forecast Full Over/(Under)
Capital Programme Capital Programme Capital Programme (Acceleration) Revised Capital to for Remaining for Remaining Year Spend

(February (February (February from 2020/21 Programme Date Period Period Forecast

Portfolio County Council) County Council) County Council)
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Adults Services 2,039 0 2,039 3,095 5,134 4,714 420 0 5,134 0

Children and Young People 60 940 1,000 417 1,417 357 1,517 0 1,874 457

Community Support, Fire and Rescue 2,845 800 3,645 71 3,716 2,226 2,504 0 4,730 1,014

Environment and Climate Change 3,613 1,000 4,613 685 5,298 1,653 3,110 0 4,763 (535)

Finance and Property 2,683 6,154 8,837 (2,171) 6,666 3,718 3,753 0 7,471 805

Highways and Transport 30,957 23,702 54,659 601 55,260 39,575 17,798 0 57,373 2,113

Leader 661 1,523 2,184 2,659 4,843 3,263 3,376 0 6,639 1,796

Learning and Skills 10,505 9,001 19,506 3,182 22,688 15,609 11,033 0 26,642 3,954

Support Services and Economic Development 4,674 500 5,174 (2,760) 2,414 1,009 1,247 0 2,256 (158)

Total Capital Programme 58,037 43,620 101,657 5,779 107,436 72,124 44,758 0 116,882 9,446

Summary of Position

Within the estimated £116.882m expenditure for 2021/22, there are 123 active projects which also includes numerous programmes of works such as Property/Schools and Highways Maintenance.

As at the of quarter three, there were movements to the value of £9.446m within the Capital Programme which can be analysed as follows:
21 projects (+£14.991m) have accelerated there in year estimate.
15 projects (+£7.105m) have received additional funding in year to the capital programme from either s106 or government grants.
3 projects (+£0.277m) have overspent in-year.
16 projects (-£12.147m) have slipped there in year estimate into future years.
7 projects (-£0.780m) have completed in year under budget.

P
age 113

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 4



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Risk Control/Action Target Date

Administration of central government funding to provide financial support to the sector.

Collection of market information on Firefly. Analysis of information and appropriate level of quality
assurance response.

Financial analysis of high risk provision - due diligence checks.

In the event of an incident, ensure the consistent implementation of Emergency Response Plans,
including a full de-brief and lessons learned.

Provision of regular support and communication to care homes to monitor financial sustainability
(increased engagement during COVID-19 pandemic to monitor Infection Control Grant).

Regular review of care homes business continuity arrangements to address government
vaccination directive.

Review capacity of residential and non-residential services to ensure service availability and to
support identification of contingencies if needed.

ongoing

ongoing

ongoing

ongoing

ongoing

ongoing

ongoing

CR58

Risk Description

The care market is experiencing an unprecedented period
of fragility, particularly due to staff shortages and

increasing demand. This has been further exacerbated by
COVID19, including the mandatory requirement for care
staff to have a vaccination; however this also extends to
WSCC staff requiring access to these facilities (i.e. Social
Workers, OT), and contractors. If the current and future

commercial/economic viability of providers is not identified
and supported, there is a risk of failure of social care
provision which will result in funded and self-funded
residents of West Sussex left without suitable care.

Initial
Score

25

Current
Score

25

Target
Score

9

Risk Owner

Executive Director of
Adults and Health

Risk Stategy

Treat

Date Risk Raised
05/09/2018

Risk Change

Unchanged

CR39a

Risk Description

Cyber threat is an evolving, persistent and
increasingly complex risk to the ongoing

operation of County Council. 
There is a risk of a successful cyber attack

directly from external threats; or indirectly as a
consequence of members or staff falling prey to

social engineering or phishing attacks. 
The potential outcome may lead to significant

service disruption and possible data loss.

Initial
Score

20

Current
Score

25

Target
Score

16

Risk Owner

Director of Finance &
Support Services

Risk Stategy

Treat

Risk Control/Action Target Date

Conduct tests including penetration, DR and social engineering. (conducted 6 monthly)

Ensure that cyber-attack is identified early, that reporting & monitoring is effective, and
recovery can be prompt.

Improve staff awareness of personal & business information security practices &
identification of cyber-security issues. Continued actions due to evolving threats.

Maintain IG Toolkit (NHS) & Public Service Network security accreditations.

Provide capacity & capability to align with National Cyber-Security centre
recommendations.

Regular review, measurement and evaluation of corporate (technological/process) /
organisational (behavioural) response to current and emerging cyber threats, where
applicable to undertake pertinent actions to mitigate risks identified.

Transition to a controlled framework for process and practice.

ongoing

ongoing

ongoing

ongoing

ongoing

ongoing

ongoing

Date Risk Raised
01/03/2017

Risk Change

Unchanged

Corporate Risk Register Summary - December 2021

P
age 115

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 5



CR72

Risk Description

The government have stipulated that from 9 Sep 2021 children
in care under 16 will not be allowed to be accommodated in

unregulated placements. This has strengthened existing
regulations that stipulate that all children and young people who

require residential care must be placed within registered
children's homes. Due to a local and nationwide shortage of
registered provision there is a risk that these children and

young people will not be cared for in settings that best meet
their needs, which could lead to safeguarding concerns and

enforcement action against the providers of unregistered homes
and local authorities.

Initial
Score

20

Current
Score

16

Target
Score

8

Risk Owner

Executive Director of Children,
Young People and Learning

Risk Stategy

Treat

Risk Control/Action Target Date

Conduct an annual review and update of the placement sufficiency and commissioning
strategy, in line with the market position statement.

Develop and publish a market position statement to be sent out to care providers and
other LA's to engage them in placements and requirements, in line with the needs of
children.

Escalate to Assistant Directors and Exec Director any situation where a child or young
person is at risk of being without a registered provision when they require one.

ongoing

01/03/2022

ongoing

Date Risk Raised
01/08/2021

Risk Change

Unchanged

CR61

Risk Description

A 'serious incident' occurs resulting in the
death or serious injury of a child where the
Council is found to have failed in their duty
to safeguard, prevent or protect the child

from harm.

Initial
Score

25

Current
Score

15

Target
Score

10

Risk Owner

Executive Director of Children,
Young People and Learning

Risk Stategy

Treat

Risk Control/Action Target Date

Implement Practice Improvement Plan (PIP). Improvement Plans include management
development and HCC intervention.

Provide proactive improvement support to services to assure effective safeguarding
practices.

ongoing

ongoingDate Risk Raised
01/06/2019

Risk Change

Unchanged

P
age 116

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 5



CR68

Risk Description

The government have relaxed COVID-19 restrictions,
however there are still requirements for Local
Authorities to support the management of the
COVID-19 pandemic. If there is a resurgence in

COVID-19 infections and local (county or district)
responsibilities are prolonged or additional measures

imposed, there is a risk services will fail to deliver
existing work plans due to staff responding to the
impact of the pandemic, or staff shortages due to

sickness.

Initial
Score

25

Current
Score

15

Target
Score

10

Risk Owner

Chief Executive

Risk Stategy

Treat

Risk Control/Action Target Date

Develop communications when required to manage expectations of staff and residents
on WSCC response position.

Regular engagement with MHCLG and ensure information and direction is discussed and
implemented through the Strategic Coordinating Group (SCG-Gold) and Tactical
Coordination Group (TCG-Silver).

Review and update business continuity and service critical plans.

Services to consider impacts should government impose restrictions (via tier system) at a
district level as opposed to county.

To continue to lobby government groups to influence funding decisions.

ongoing

ongoing

ongoing

ongoing

ongoing

Date Risk Raised
01/03/2020

Risk Change

Unchanged

CR69

Risk Description

If the council fail to make the necessary
improvements to progress from the

previous ‘inadequate’ rating, there is a risk
that children’s services will fail to deliver
an acceptable provision to the community.

Initial
Score

25

Current
Score

15

Target
Score

10

Risk Owner

Executive Director of Children,
Young People and Learning

Risk Stategy

Treat

Risk Control/Action Target Date

Continue to work with Hants CC as a partner in practice to improve the breadth of
children's service.

Deliver Children First Improvement Plan.

Implement the Children First Service transformation model

ongoing

ongoing

ongoing

Date Risk Raised
01/03/2020

Risk Change

Decreasing

P
age 117

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 5



CR60

Risk Description

There is a risk of failing to deliver the HMIC
FRS improvement plan, leading to an

adverse affect on service delivery; which
may result in failing any subsequent

inspection.

Initial
Score

20

Current
Score

15

Target
Score

10

Risk Owner

Chief Fire Officer

Risk Stategy

Treat

Risk Control/Action Target Date

Ensure robust project and programme governance in place and monitor delivery. ongoing

Date Risk Raised
01/04/2019

Risk Change

Unchanged

CR11

Risk Description

There is a risk that the Council will not be
seen as an attractive place to work by

current and potential employees. This will
result in problems recruiting and retaining

staff in key skills areas.

Initial
Score

20

Current
Score

12

Target
Score

8

Risk Owner

Director of Human
Resources & Org Dev

Risk Stategy

Treat

Risk Control/Action Target Date

Development of comprehensive employee value proposition.

Longer term strategies for addressing recruitment issues e.g. apprenticeships, growing
our own.

Produce Directorate Workforce Plans to identify skills, capacity and capability
requirements.

01/06/2022

ongoing

01/04/2022

Date Risk Raised
01/03/2017

Risk Change

Unchanged

P
age 118

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 5



CR73 - 
DRAFT

Risk Description

If there is a failure to adequately prioritise,
finance and resource our efforts to deliver on

WSCC Climate Change commitments (e.g.
2030 Carbon Neutrality), there is a risk that

there will be insufficient capacity and
capabilty to complete the necessary actions

within the required timeframes. This will lead
to prolonged variations in weather and

adverse impacts on WSCC service provision.

Initial
Score

25

Current
Score

12

Target
Score

8

Risk Owner

Chief Executive

Risk Stategy

Treat

Risk Control/Action Target Date

Align pipeline of projects for existing and future funding opportunities

Built into county-wide Business Planning and budgeting process

Clear prioritisation of CC Strategy delivery within Our Council Plan

Existing estate & infrastructure made climate change resilient & future developments
designed to be as low carbon & climate change resilient

Existing governance bodies (eg, but not limited to, ELT, CAB, Asset Hubs, Procurement
Board) are held accountable for relevant areas of delivery by the Climate Change Board
and WSCC democratic bodies

Recruitment and training policy to ensure all staff & elected members are suitably
informed on climate change issues & that specialist skills are embedded through
recruitment & training to enable delivery

SMART programme of actions based on clear definitions and metrics

ongoing

ongoing

ongoing

ongoing

ongoing

ongoing

ongoing

Date Risk Raised
01/01/2022

Risk Change

Unchanged

CR22

Risk Description

The financial sustainability of council
services is at risk due to uncertain funding
from central government and/or failure to
make the required decisions to ensure the

budget is balanced. This has been
compounded further with the COVID-19

crisis, and the recent Ofsted and HMIC FRS
reports.

Initial
Score

16

Current
Score

12

Target
Score

12

Risk Owner

Director of Finance &
Support Services

Risk Stategy

Tolerate

Risk Control/Action Target Date

Financial impacts arising from the Covid-19 national emergency need to be reflected and
addressed within the PRR and MTFS as appropriate.

Monitor the use of additional funds made available to improve service delivery.

Pursue additional savings options to help close the budget gap.

ongoing

ongoing

ongoing

Date Risk Raised
01/03/2017

Risk Change

Unchanged

P
age 119

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 5



CR70

Risk Description

There is an increasing demand placed on
the senior officers due to the ongoing

threat of COVID19 and additional burdens
due to devolved responsibilities. This may
lead to a continued lack of capacity to deal

with strategic/organisational issues,
leading to poor decision making.

Initial
Score

12

Current
Score

12

Target
Score

12

Risk Owner

Chief Executive

Risk Stategy

Tolerate

Risk Control/Action Target Date

Continue to monitor service resource impact.

Provision of support to services when required.

ongoing

ongoing
Date Risk Raised

01/08/2020

Risk Change

Unchanged

CR39b

Risk Description

Data protection responsibilities. The
Council is a Data Controller and has

obligations and responsibilities arising
from that role. Council needs resources,

skills, knowledge, systems and procedures
to ensure obligations are met.

Initial
Score

20

Current
Score

9

Target
Score

9

Risk Owner

Director of Law &
Assurance

Risk Stategy

Tolerate

Risk Control/Action Target Date

Adopt ISO27001 (Information Security Management) aligned process & practices.

Enable safe data sharing, including using appropriate data standards & appropriate
anonymization techniques.

Ensure the skills and knowledge is available to support Caldicott Guardian in ASC.

Maintain IG Toolkit (NHS) & Public Service Network security accreditations.

Review IT systems implemented prior to 25 May 2018 to confirm compliance with
updated regulations.

Test the effectiveness of DPIA

Undertake Data Privacy Impact Assessments (DPIA) when systems or processes change
and carry out resulting actions.

ongoing

ongoing

ongoing

ongoing

Timetabled

ongoing

ongoing

Date Risk Raised
01/03/2017

Risk Change

Unchanged

P
age 120

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 5



CR50

Risk Description

WSCC are responsible for ensuring the
HS&W of its staff and residents. There is a

risk that if there is a lack of H&S
awareness and accountability by

directorates to capture and communicate
in accordance with Council governance
arrangements, it will lead to a serious

health & safety incident occurring.

Initial
Score

20

Current
Score

9

Target
Score

6

Risk Owner

Director of Human
Resources & Org Dev

Risk Stategy

Treat

Risk Control/Action Target Date

Conduct a training needs analysis, produce gap analysis to understand requirements and
produce suitable courses as a consequence.

Develop and introduce a more comprehensive risk profile approach and front line service
based audits.

Incorporate HS&W information into current performance dashboard.

Purchase, develop and introduce an interactive online H&S service led audit tool.

Regular engagement with other LA's on best practice and lessons learned.

ongoing

ongoing

ongoing

ongoing

ongoing

Date Risk Raised
01/03/2017

Risk Change

Unchanged

CR7

Risk Description

There are governance systems which
inhibit effective performance and a culture

of non-compliance and also a lack of
standardisation in some systems and
processes. Skills and knowledge of

systems inadequate and excessive effort
required for sound decisions and

outcomes.

Initial
Score

16

Current
Score

8

Target
Score

4

Risk Owner

Director of Law &
Assurance

Risk Stategy

Treat

Risk Control/Action Target Date

Audit plan focussing reviews on key corporate support systems to identify areas in need
of improvement.

Data on areas of non-compliance used to inform Directors to enforce compliance with
standards.

Guidance to CLT on governance. Schedule and deliver associated training

Regular compliance monitoring and active corporate support when non-compliance
happens to establish better practice.

ongoing

ongoing

01/01/2022

ongoing

Date Risk Raised
01/03/2017

Risk Change

Unchanged

P
age 121

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 5



CR65

Risk Description

The review of corporate leadership,
governance and culture recommended in the
Children’s Commissioner’s report is not fully

undertaken or effectively implemented
leading to a lack of necessary improvement

and further service failures or external
intervention.

Initial
Score

20

Current
Score

6

Target
Score

6

Risk Owner

Chief Executive

Risk Stategy

Tolerate

Risk Control/Action Target Date

Date Risk Raised
01/12/2019

Risk Change

Unchanged

P
age 122

A
genda Item

 4
A

ppendix 5



Workforce Information – Q3 2021/22 

Leadership and Management 
Indicator Q3 Q2 
2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 

Leadership Stability 

Percentage of Senior 
Management positions filled by 
permanent WSCC employees 
(Excluding Vacancies) 

95% 97% 97% 

Rolling 12-month turnover 
percentage for permanent 
positions at HAY Grade (or 
equivalent) and above 

11% 11% 11% 

Resourcing and Talent 
Indicator Q3 Q2 
2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 

Employed workforce 
(Includes all staff 
directly employed by 
WSCC. Excludes 
casuals, agency, 
outside bodies, 
pensioners and 
partners) 

Total Employed Headcount 

Not Applicable 5,577 5,561 (total number of people employed 
over reporting period) 

Employed Headcount 
Not Applicable 5,398 5,399 (at the end of the reporting 

period)  
Employed FTE  

Not Applicable 4,828 4,803 (at the end of the reporting 
period) 
Number of new Apprentice 
starters since the start of 
Financial year (excluding Schools) 

113 93 78 

Agency (Matrix) 
Total contract spend with Matrix Not Applicable £4,618,499 £4,429,317 

Agency (Matrix) % of Employed 
workforce  Not Applicable 7% 7% 

Staff Turnover Rolling 12-month turnover rate Between 9% 
and 13% 12% 10% 

Performance and Development 
Indicator Q3 Q2 
2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 

Performance 

Percentage positive response to 
the Pulse Survey question: "I have 
regular meaningful conversations 
with my manager about my 
performance, wellbeing and 
support needs" 

75% 
78% 

(Nov 2021 
Survey) 

80% 
(Apr 2021 

Survey) 

Learning and 
Development 

Percentage positive response to 
the question: "I have good 
opportunities to develop my skills 
and knowledge in line with my 
role and my aspirations" 

68% 
70% 

(Nov 2021 
Survey) 

72% 
(Apr 2021 

Survey) 

Staff induction completion rate 90% 82% 90% 

Page 123

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 6



Wellbeing, Values and Ways of Working 
Indicator Q3 Q2 
2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 

Behaviours and 
Values 

Percentage positive response to 
the Pulse Survey question: "I am 
treated with dignity and respect 
by my work colleagues" 

86% 
89% 

(Nov 2021 
Survey) 

91% 
(Apr 2021 

Survey) 

Ways of Working 

Percentage positive response to 
the Pulse Survey question: "I am 
part of a supportive team where 
we regularly reflect on our 
successes and challenges enabling 
us to continuously improve" 

75% 
81% 

(Nov 2021 
Survey) 

82% 
(Apr 2021 

Survey) 

Percentage positive response to 
the Pulse Survey question: "My 
ideas and opinions are valued and 
are used to help shape the way 
we work and our future planning" 

70% 
72% 

(Nov 2021 
Survey) 

73% 
(Apr 2021 

Survey) 

Level of sickness 
absence 
(May retrospectively 
change due to late 
reporting of sickness) 

Rolling 12-month average 
number of calendar days lost due 
to sickness absence per FTE 

15 
Calendar Days 

p.a.
15.5 14.9 

Number of calendar days lost due 
to short term sickness absence 
(less than 21 calendar days) 

Not Applicable 6,956 4,086 

Top reason for short term 
absence (less than 21 calendar 
days) 

Not Applicable 
Respiratory, 
Cough, Cold, 

Flu 

Respiratory, 
Cough, Cold, 

Flu 
Number of calendar days lost due 
to long term sickness absence 
(more than 21 calendar days) 

Not Applicable 14,388 16,191 

Top reason for long term absence 
(more than 21 calendar days) Not Applicable 

Anxiety, 
Stress, 

Depression, 
Mental Health 

Anxiety, 
Stress, 

Depression, 
Mental Health 

Diversity and Inclusion 
Indicator Q3 Q2 
2021/22 2021/22 2021/22 

Employee Disclosure 
Rate 

Disclosure rate for self-
declaration of an employee's: 
disability; sexual orientation; 
race/ethnicity; religion 

30% 17% 18% 

Page 124

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 6



Workforce Summary Narrative 

1. Of the 12 KPIs with a RAG status indicator, nine are ‘green’ and are on track,
two are ‘amber’ and are at risk and one is ‘red’ and at significant risk.

2.  The red rated Workforce KPI is the employee disclosure rate for equality
details. This KPI combines four Protected Characteristics (Disability; Ethnicity;
Sexual Orientation; and Religion) and provides the percentage of the
workforce who have disclosed their data across all four Protected
Characteristics.  A low rate in one of these characteristics pulls down the
combined disclosure percentage.  The current disclosure rate for each of the
four individual Protected Characteristics is: 33% for Disability; 52% for
Ethnicity; 29% for Sexual Orientation; and 19% for Religion. A plan to
improve the level of employee disclosure across all diversity and inclusion
characteristics is being prepared for implementation.

3. The amber rated KPIs are:

a. ‘Rolling 12-month average number of calendar days lost due to
sickness absence per FTE’. The Q3 figure for this KPI is 15.5 calendar
days, which is 0.5 calendar days above the indicator level of 15
calendar days per annum. This is a 0.6 calendar day increase on the
Q2 figure. The increase is due to the spike in coronavirus related illness
likely to be related to the spread of the Omicron variant, plus seasonal
trends. Further details provided below.

b. ‘Staff induction completion rate’ which has fallen from 90% in Q2 to
82% in Q3. The indicator is 90%. This reduction is largely due to falls
in the completion rate in Adults and Health (78% from 95% in Q2) and
Children and Young People (78% from 93% in Q2).

4. The latest Pulse Survey was undertaken in November 2021. The survey
generated a response rate of 35% with 1,692 employees taking part. This
was a decrease in participation from the last survey in April 2021 which had a
record response rate of 2,208. Overall, the survey reported 77% positive
responses (the percentage of response which were ‘strongly agree’ or
‘agree’), compared to 78% in April 2021. Details have been shared with all
departments and work continues upon any areas of concern.

5. Five of the workforce KPIs are based on the Pulse Survey. Although all these
KPIs have fallen by between 1-2 percentage points compared to the April
2021 survey, all of them remain above the indicator level.

6. The County Council’s Employed Headcount is only one different from the Q2
reporting.  However, the Finance and Support Services headcount has
increased by 25 (+9.3%) which includes 31 employees joining the County
Council following the insourcing of IT Service from Capita. The rest of the
changes in Employed Headcount are spread across the other Directorates and
are not concentrated in one area.

7. Rolling annual turnover has remained within the indicator range but it has
increased to 12% (10% in Q2) and this is edging towards the upper range of
the indicator. Rolling turnover for our two largest Directorates: Children,
Young People and Learning; and Adults and Health, is 14.8% and 11.6%
respectively (compared to 13.4% and 10.2% respectively last quarter).

Page 125

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 6



8. As mentioned above, the rolling 12-month average number of calendar days
sickness per FTE, which is our main indicator for sickness absence, has
increased by 0.6 days and is now above the indicator level of 15 calendar
days per annum. This increase is not unexpected as sickness absence in Q3
(and Q4) is traditionally higher than other quarters, but this quarter has also
experienced the exceptional incidence of the Omicron variant of Covid-19.
Like most organisations, the County Council has experienced higher than
normal absence due to this disease with its high infection rate.

9. Short-term sickness is significantly higher in Q3 compared to Q2. This is
related to the comments above with regards to Covid-19/Omicron as the
disease, for most people, results in short-term absence (<21 days). In
addition to Covid-19, there has been an increase in the number of calendar
days lost to sickness absence attributed to Respiratory, Cough, Cold, Flu
which is consistent with this quarter in previous years.

10. There has been no change in the top reason for both short-term and long-
term sickness which remain as Respiratory, Cough, Cold, Flu; and Anxiety,
Stress, Depression, Mental Health respectively. As mentioned in the report for
Q2, Mental Health First Aiders are being trained and it is projected that 153
staff will have been trained as Mental Health First Aiders by the end of the
financial year.

Page 126

Agenda Item 4
Appendix 6



 

Key decision: Yes 
Unrestricted 

CAB17 21-22 
 

Report to Cabinet 

March 2022 

National Highways’ consultation on A27 Arundel Bypass: approval of 

WSCC consultation response 

Report by Matt Davey, Assistant Director of Highways, Transport and 

Planning 

Electoral division(s): Fontwell, Arundel & Courtwick 
 

Summary 

In 2020, National Highways (formerly Highways England) announced the preferred 

route for the A27 Arundel Bypass, which would replace the existing, largely single 
carriageway road with approximately 8km of dual two-lane carriageway starting at 
Crossbush in the east and reconnecting in the west near the A27/A29 Fontwell (east) 

roundabout.  Following construction of the bypass, approximately 6.6km of the 
existing A27 would be ‘detrunked’ and converted to a local road as part of the 

proposed scheme. 

The scheme is a Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project (NSIP) requiring a 
Development Consent Order (DCO) from the Secretary of State (rather than planning 

permission from the local planning authority).  The County Council is a statutory 
consultee in the DCO process, and it has specific responsibilities as a ‘host’ authority. 

In advance of an application for consent being submitted, National Highways is 
undertaking formal consultation from 11 January to 8 March 2022 on the proposed 

scheme and a Preliminary Environmental Information Report (PEIR), which identifies 
the likely significant impacts and any required mitigation.   

A detailed analysis of the PEIR has been undertaken, with consideration being given to 

likely significant impacts (both direct and indirect) and whether those impacts are 
considered to be positive, negative, or neutral (taking into account any proposed 

mitigation measures).  Consideration has also been given to whether further work 
could be undertaken by National Highways, including mitigation measures, to address 
issues identified as being significantly negative.   

In summary, although the County Council gives ‘in principle’ support to the current 

scheme for an A27 Arundel Bypass, there are a number of matters of concern that 
need to be satisfactorily addressed by National Highways in advance of submission of 

the DCO application.  These include: the requirement for key transport-related 
technical documents; potential adverse impacts resulting from the re-distribution of 
traffic on local roads; clarity about elements of the construction phase; the de-

trunking strategy and opportunities to provide mitigation and wider enhancement 

Page 127

Agenda Item 5



measures; understanding how local people and supply chains can benefit and the 

potential impact on local businesses and potential mitigation; impacts relating to noise 
and air quality; consultation on a number of Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) 

methodologies; the scope for enhancement measures over and above those required 
to mitigate impacts; mitigation options to reduce the impact on the national carbon 

budget; measures for climate change adaptation and resilience; and the adequacy of 
funding to mitigate the adverse impacts of the scheme. 

Recommendation 

That Cabinet: 

(a) approves the comments in paragraphs 2.36-2.108 of the report and the 
detailed comments on the PEIR in Appendix C of the report as the County 

Council’s formal response to the consultation on the A27 Arundel Bypass; 

(b) authorises the Assistant Director of Highways, Transport, and Planning to 
respond to any further stages of pre-submission consultation, in consultation 

with the Cabinet Member for Environment and Climate Change - in support of 
the formal response approved under (a); 

(c) if an application for a Development Consent Order is submitted, authorises the 
Assistant Director of Highways, Transport, and Planning to: 

(i) approve the County Council’s ‘adequacy of consultation’ response; 

(ii) prepare and submit the County Council’s written representation and Local 
Impact Report; to negotiate with the applicant on the DCO requirements, 

any S106 Agreement, and the preparation of a Statement of Common 
Ground; and to comment on the written representations of third parties – 
all in support of the formal response approved under (a);  

(iii)  attend the examination hearings and answer the Examining Authority’s 
questions in support of the County Council’s position; and 

(d) if a Development Consent Order is made, approves ‘in principle’ the County 
Council becoming a relevant authority for the discharge of requirements. 

Proposal 

1 Background and context 

1.1 In 2012, the Planning Inspectorate (PINS) became the agency responsible for 

operating the planning process for nationally significant infrastructure projects 
(NSIP).  NSIPs are usually large-scale developments such as new harbours, 

power generating stations, and electricity transmission lines, that require 
‘development consent’ from the relevant Secretary of State under the 
Development Consent Order (DCO) process, rather than planning permission 

from the relevant planning authority.   

1.2 Any developer wishing to construct an NSIP must submit an application for 
consent.  Following submission, PINS examines the application and makes a 

recommendation to the Secretary of State, who will make the decision on 
whether to grant or to refuse development consent.  Once made, a DCO 
provides all the approvals (for example, planning permission, compulsory 

purchase) required for a development to proceed. 

1.3 National Highways proposes to replace and detrunk the existing, largely single 
carriageway, A27 at Arundel with a dual carriageway bypass linking together 

Page 128

Agenda Item 5



the two existing dual carriageway sections of the road to the east and west.  

The scheme is a NSIP (and requires development consent) because it would be 
a new road that forms part of the national strategic road network (motorways 

and trunk roads) operated by National Highways.  Given that the scheme is in 
West Sussex, the County Council is a statutory consultee in the DCO process.   

1.4 The National Policy Statement for National Networks (NPS) sets out the need 

for the development of NSIPs on the national road and rail networks in England 
and  Government policy relating to the delivery of such schemes.  In due 
course, the Secretary of State will use the NPS as the primary basis to make 

the decision on the Arundel Bypass scheme. 

1.5 In advance of an application for consent being submitted, National Highways is 
undertaking formal consultation from 11 January to 8 March 2022 on the 

proposed scheme and a Preliminary Environmental Information Report (PEIR), 
which identifies the likely significant impacts of the scheme and any required 

mitigation.  In addition to consultation on technical matters, it also involves 
consultation with the public in accordance with the Statement of Community 
Consultation (SoCC), a formal document that sets out how National Highways 

proposes to consult the community. 

1.6 This report outlines the scheme and the key areas for consideration by the 
County Council in making a formal response to the consultation. 

2 Proposal details 

Background 

2.1 Improving the A27 at Arundel, Chichester, and Worthing & Lancing is the 

County Council’s highest priority for transport (as identified in the statutory 
West Sussex Transport Plan 2011-2026).  The improvements are needed to 

increase capacity, to improve reliability and safety, to help increase the 
competitiveness of local businesses, and to attract investment.  

2.2 In March 2015, the Government published its first Roads Investment Strategy 

(RIS1), which included a commitment to improve the A27 at Arundel towards 
the end of Roads Period 1 (2015-20).   

2.3 Regarding the development of the current scheme, Highways England (National 
Highways’ predecessor) undertook public consultation in 2017 on three options, 

one partial online route (Option 1) and two routes for an offline bypass (Options 
3 and 5A).   

2.4 In responding to the consultation, the County Council concluded that the 

environmental impacts of Option 5A, if appropriately mitigated, were likely to 
be significantly outweighed by the substantial economic benefits over the longer 

term.  Therefore, provided that a detailed and high-quality package of 
environmental mitigation measures was identified and delivered as part of the 
scheme, Option 5A was the County Council’s preferred option because it 

represented the best fit with the strategic outcomes that the Authority was 
seeking for the A27. 

2.5 In May 2018, Highways England announced the selection of a modified version 

of Option 5A as the preferred route for the bypass, after which it undertook 
work to develop the design for the scheme.  This included consideration of 

Page 129

Agenda Item 5

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/387223/npsnn-web.pdf


alternative options to minimise the impact of the scheme on protected ancient 

woodland and biodiversity at the western end.   

2.6 Following further technical work and a review of alternatives, further 
consultation by Highways England was undertaken in 2019 on six options, two 

partial online routes (Cyan and Beige) and four routes for an offline bypass 
(Crimson, Magenta, Amber, and Grey).   

2.7 In responding to the consultation, the County Council concluded that the 

environmental impacts of the Magenta route (Option 4/5AV1), if appropriately 
mitigated, were likely to be significantly outweighed by the substantial 
transport, economic and social benefits over the longer term.  Therefore, 

provided that a detailed and high-quality package of environmental mitigation 
measures was delivered as part of the scheme, the Magenta route was the 

County Council’s preferred option for an Arundel Bypass because it was the best 
performing option, and it represented the best fit with the strategic outcomes 

that the Authority was seeking for the A27.   

2.8 In March 2020, the second Roads Investment Strategy (RIS2) was published, 
including a commitment by the Government to deliver a dual-carriageway 
Arundel Bypass in Roads Period 2 (2020-2025).  Subsequently, in October 

2020, the Grey route (Option 5BV1) was announced by Highways England as 
the preferred route for the bypass.   

2.9 In responding to the consultation on options by Highways England in 2019, the 

County Council concluded that the Grey route did not provide the best balance 
between the impacts on the economy, the environment, and communities. 

A27 Arundel Bypass 

2.10 Since the announcement of the selection of the grey option as the preferred 

route, Highways England (and subsequently, National Highways) has developed 
the design of the new bypass, approximately 8km of dual two-lane carriageway 
to the south of the existing A27 (see Appendix A: Location Plan).   

2.11 Starting at the existing A27 at Crossbush to the east, the route would reconnect 
with the A27 in the west near the A27/A29 Fontwell (east) roundabout (see 

Appendix B: Preliminary Landscape and Environmental Masterplan).  Key 
features of the scheme include the following works: 

 a junction at Crossbush with access to and from the A27 in both 

directions; 

 a new viaduct spanning the River Arun and a bridge over the Arun Valley 

Railway; 

 new bridges over the Binsted and Tortington Rifes; 

 a new junction with the existing A27 at Tye Lane to the north of Walberton 
(with the A27 continuing via an underpass) enabling westbound access 
onto the A27 and eastbound access from the A27;  

 the closure to vehicular traffic of Tye Lane south of the new route; and 

 the closure of the junction at Arundel Road and the left-turn access from 

the A27 onto Arundel Road (west); 

 a new link road joining the two sections of Arundel Road; 

 new road and public rights of way crossing facilities; 

Page 130

Agenda Item 5



 three temporary construction compounds; and 

 a package of environmental mitigation measures.  

2.12 Subject to consultation with the County Council (as local highway authority), 
approximately 6.6km of the existing A27 between the junctions with Tye Lane 

and Mill Road and the Crossbush junction would be ‘detrunked’ and converted 
to a local road as part of the proposed scheme.  It would then become part of 

the local highway network to be managed and maintained by the County 
Council in perpetuity. 

2.13 National Highways considers that the bypass would help to: make journeys 
faster, safer and more reliable; create new jobs; and have a positive effect on 

existing businesses locally and across the region.  National Highways’ objectives 
for the scheme are to: 

 reduce congestion, reduce travel time, and improve journey time reliability 
along the A27; 

 improve capacity of the A27 whilst supporting local planning authorities to 
manage the impact of planned economic growth; 

 deliver a scheme that minimises environmental impact and seeks to protect 

and enhance the quality of the surrounding environment through its high-
quality design; 

 improve the safety of people travelling along the A27 and, consequently, 
the wider local road network; 

 improve accessibility for all users to local services and facilities; 

 ensure that customers and communities are fully considered throughout the 
design and delivery stages; and 

 respect the South Downs National Park and its special qualities in decision-
making. 

2.14 The broad timetable for the scheme is submission of the DCO application in late 
summer/early autumn 2022, followed by examination through to summer 2023 

and a decision by the end of 2023; more information on the DCO process is set 
out in paragraphs 2.16-2.24.   

2.15 If consent is awarded, construction of the bypass would not start until 2024 

with the new road completed in 2027, followed by detrunking of the existing 
A27 (as outlined in paragraph 2.12 above). 

DCO Process 

2.16 There are six stages in the DCO process. 

Pre-application 

2.17 Before submitting an application for consent, potential applicants have a 

statutory duty to carry out consultation on their proposals; this is the current 
stage for the scheme.  The consultation provides the best opportunity for 

consultees, such as the County Council, and third parties to try to influence the 
project, whether they agree with it, disagree with it, or believe that it could be 
improved. 

Acceptance 

Page 131

Agenda Item 5



2.18 The Acceptance stage begins when an applicant submits an application for 

development consent to PINS.  Key documents submitted by the applicant will 
include the draft order, which will include a number of legislative clauses 

(relating to matters such as statutory nuisance, tree protection orders, and 
stopping-up of public rights of way) and ‘requirements’, which are akin to the 

conditions attached to planning permissions.  Documents relating to mitigation 
of the scheme may also be submitted, for example, a Code of Construction 
Practice, Environmental Management Plans, S106 Planning Agreement, and 

topic-specific strategies.  

2.19 There follows a period of up to 28 days (excluding the date of receipt of the 
application) for PINS, on behalf of the Secretary of State, to decide whether the 

application meets the standards required to be accepted for examination.  This 
includes consideration of the adequacy of the applicant’s consultation prior to 
submission. 

Pre-examination 

2.20 At this stage, the public will be able to register with PINS to become an 
‘Interested Party’ by making a Relevant Representation, which is a written 
summary of a person’s views on an application.  As a statutory consultee, the 

County Council is automatically ‘registered’ as being an Interested Party.  An 
Examining Authority is appointed at the pre-examination stage, and all 

Interested Parties will be invited to attend a Preliminary Meeting, run and 
chaired by the Examining Authority (i.e. a panel of inspectors).   

2.21 Although there is no statutory timescale for this stage of the process, it usually 
takes approximately three months from the applicant’s formal notification and 

publicity of an accepted application. 

Examination 

2.22 PINS has up to six months to carry out the examination.  During this stage, 
Interested Parties are invited to provide more details of their views in writing.  

Careful consideration is given by the Examining Authority to all the important 
and relevant matters, including: compliance with all relevant policies (including 

the NPS); written representations; key documents; supporting evidence 
submitted by Interested Parties; and answers provided by them to the 
Examining Authority’s questions (set out in writing or posed at hearing 

sessions). 

Recommendation and Decision 

2.23 PINS must prepare a report on the application to the relevant Secretary of 
State, including a recommendation, within three months of the close of the six-

month Examination stage.  The relevant Secretary of State then has a further 
three months to decide whether to grant or refuse development consent. 

Post decision 

2.24 Once a decision has been issued by the relevant Secretary of State, there is a 

six-week period in which the decision may be challenged in the High Court.  
This process of legal challenge is known as Judicial Review. 

Role of the County Council 

Page 132

Agenda Item 5



Pre-Application 

2.25 In March 2021, PINS asked the County Council, as a statutory consultee, to 
comment on a scoping request by National Highways, the purpose of which was 
to identify the information to be provided in the Environmental Statement (ES), 

which will be part of the DCO submission); officers made detailed technical 
comments in response.  In April 2021, PINS issued a Scoping Opinion, which is 

binding on National Highways.   

2.26 In advance of an application for consent being submitted, National Highways is 
undertaking formal consultation on the proposed scheme and the PEIR, which 
identifies the likely significant impacts of the scheme and any required 

mitigation.  The Non-Technical Summary (NTS) of the PEIR is on National 
Highways’ consultation website.  As identified above, this is a key stage in the 

process and the County Council’s suggested response, for which approval is 
sought, is set out in paragraphs 2.36-2.108 below.   

2.27 It should be noted that, as a statutory consultee in the DCO process, the 

County Council is required to consider the proposed scheme and the PEIR on 
their merits regardless of the views that the Authority has expressed in 
response to previous consultations by Highways England on options to improve 

the A27 at Arundel (summarised in paragraphs 2.1-2.9 of this report). 

Submission 

2.28 If an application is submitted, the County Council, as a statutory consultee, will 
be expected to engage in the post-submission stages of the process.   

2.29 As part of the acceptance process, the County Council will be asked to comment 

whether the pre-submission consultation undertaken by National Highways 
accords with their SoCC.  In addition to any concerns that the County Council 

may have, it must also consider the views of any third parties that consider the 
consultation to be inadequate.  Accordingly, delegated authority is sought for 
officers to approve the County Council’s ‘adequacy of consultation’ response. 

Examination 

2.30 If the submission is accepted by PINS, the County Council will be invited to 
submit a written representation and a Local Impact Report (LIR - see paragraph 
2.31).  It will also be expected to negotiate with National Highways on the DCO 

requirements, any S106 Agreement, and the preparation of a Statement of 
Common Ground (SoCG - see paragraph 2.32).   

2.31 In deciding whether to grant or to refuse development consent, the Secretary of 

State is required to have regard to LIR submitted by local authorities.  An LIR is 
a technical document defined as “a report in writing giving details of the likely 

impact of the proposed development on the authority’s area (or any part of that 
area)”.  Provided that it fits within this definition, the structure and content of 
an LIR is a matter for each local authority.   

2.32 It is also anticipated that a SoCG will be submitted by the applicant.  The SoCG 

will identify issues where it is considered that the signatories agree with the 
applicant about the impacts of the proposed development.  The contents of the 

final SoCG can only be agreed by the County Council following the conclusion of 
discussions with the applicant about the key issues and the finalising of the 
Authority’s LIR.   

Page 133

Agenda Item 5

https://highwaysengland.citizenspace.com/++preview++/he/a27-arundel-bypass-statutory-consultation-january/supporting_documents/PEIR%20Volume%201%20NTS.pdf
https://nationalhighways.co.uk/our-work/south-east/a27-arundel-bypass/


2.33 Accordingly, delegated authority is sought for officers to prepare and submit the 

necessary responses and documents and to negotiate with the applicant in 
support of the County Council’s formal consultation response.  Delegated 

authority is also sought for officers to attend the examination hearings and to 
answer the Examining Authority’s questions in support of the County Council’s 

position. 

Post-Decision 

2.34 Although the County Council will not be responsible for determining the 
application for consent, it can play a formal role in the post-decision approvals 
process by becoming a ‘relevant authority’ for the discharge requirements in 

the DCO (if it is granted).  The legislation allows there to be more than one 
relevant authority and the final decision rests with the Secretary of State but, if 

requested to do so by National Highways, it would help to give the County 
Council some control over implementation of the scheme. 

2.35 Therefore, ‘in principle’ approval is sought for the County Council becoming a 

relevant authority for the discharge of requirements for the scheme (if an order 
is made).  This matter will need to be the subject of pre-decision discussions 
with National Highways about the work that will need to be undertaken by the 

County Council and the recovery of costs associated with that work. 

Preliminary Environmental Information Report (PEIR) 

2.36 Officers have undertaken a detailed analysis of the PEIR, considering likely 
significant impacts (both direct and indirect) and whether those impacts are 

considered to be positive, negative, or neutral (taking into account any 
proposed mitigation measures).  Consideration has also been given to whether 

further work could be undertaken by National Highways, including mitigation 
measures, to address issues identified as being significantly negative.   

2.37 The following paragraphs address the key issues in relation to the proposals 
presented at this formal consultation stage.  Following some general, 

overarching comments (including about technical and community engagement), 
key issues on a topic-by-topic basis are identified.   

2.38 Approval is sought for the comments in paragraphs 2.36-2.108 and the detailed 

technical comments on the PEIR in Appendix C to be submitted as the County 
Council’s response to the formal consultation.   

General Comments 

2.39 The County Council acknowledges that the objectives of the A27 Arundel Bypass 

scheme closely align with the priorities in the Authority’s Corporate Plan (‘Our 
Council Plan 2021-2025’), West Sussex Transport Plan 2011-2026, and 

Economy Plan 2020-2024.  Nevertheless, any proposals for highway 
improvements on the scale proposed must be carefully and sensitively designed 
with particular attention being paid to significant impacts on the economy, local 

communities, and the environment. 

2.40 Arundel, and the wider area around the town, is a sensitive location with a long-
standing history of difficulty in securing improvements to the strategic road 

network.  Therefore, the County Council considers that proposals for a scheme 
in this location should include not only the highest standard of exemplar design 

Page 134

Agenda Item 5



and mitigation but also the opportunity to enhance the surrounding 

environment and leave a positive legacy for the future.  

2.41 The proposed scheme would lead to both beneficial and adverse impacts to a 
range of communities and environmental receptors surrounding the proposals.  

Therefore, the merits need to be judged by taking careful account of all 
considerations, particularly the significant economic, social, and environmental 

impacts. 

2.42 The County Council considers that National Highways must provide a more 
robust and transparent evidence base across a number of topic areas, including 
the necessary traffic modelling, so that the likely significant environmental 

effects of the proposals can be better understood by stakeholders and local 
communities.  This needs to be presented for there to be confidence that the 

design of the proposed scheme and the package of mitigation and enhancement 
measures has been influenced by the assessment work undertaken.  At present, 

the material presented as part of statutory consultation does not allow for this 
to be understood in full.  

2.43 Therefore, although the County Council gives ‘in principle’ support to the 
current scheme for an A27 Arundel Bypass, there are a number of matters of 

concern that need to be satisfactorily addressed by National Highways in 
advance of submission of the DCO application.  These include: 

 the requirement for transport-related technical documents, including: a 
Transport Assessment (TA); a design audit; a local model validation report; 
a traffic forecasting report; and a Construction Traffic Management Plan 

(CTMP); 

 further engagement about concerns of adverse impacts resulting from the 

re-distribution of traffic on local roads during the operational phase; 

 clarity about elements of the construction phase, including: compounds; 
laydown and materials storage locations and layout; haul routes; the 

requirement for a concrete batching plant; and the construction 
programme; 

 the de-trunking strategy and its role in providing mitigation and wider 
enhancement measures (including biodiversity, recreation, and 
landscape/visual); 

 understanding how local people and supply chains can benefit from the 
construction, including through new employment and training opportunities, 

and more detailed consideration of the potential impact on local businesses 
and potential mitigation of any adverse impacts; 

 further analysis and scrutiny of adverse impacts on local communities 
relating to noise and air quality from both construction and operational 
phases;  

 consultation on a number of Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) 
methodologies, including: a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 

(LVIA); a Residential Visual Amenity Assessment (RVAA); a historic 
environment baseline assessment; a baseline settings assessment; 
ecological surveys; an Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA); a Health 

Impact Assessment (HIA); a Walking, Cycling and Horse-riding Assessment 
Report (WCHAR); and a Public Rights of Way Strategy (PRoWS);   

Page 135

Agenda Item 5



 the scope for enhancement measures, including to Public Rights of Way 

(PRoW) and to ecological habitats through a Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) 
approach, over and above those required to mitigate impacts; 

 further detail about the mitigation options being considered to reduce the 
impact on the national carbon budget and measures for climate change 

adaptation and resilience;  

 the adequacy of funding to mitigate the adverse impacts of the scheme, 
including on the local road network; and 

 responses to the technical queries raised in Appendix C. 

2.44  Therefore, the County Council will continue to engage with National Highways, 
particularly in the post-consultation/pre-submission period, to seek to influence 

the design and to avoid and mitigate any adverse impacts.  This dialogue will 
also aim to maximise opportunities and enable the best possible outcomes for 
the local communities and other sensitive receptors that would be most affected 

by the construction and operational impacts of the scheme. 

Technical Engagement 

2.45  The County Council notes that Government guidance on the pre-application 
stage of the DCO process emphasises the benefits that the early involvement of 

local authorities (and communities and statutory consultees) can bring.  
Therefore, although it was requested a number of times, it is concerned that 

insufficient technical information was provided by National Highways in advance 
of publication of the PEIR and that there has been insufficient time for officers 
to challenge and scrutinise the technical documentation that has now been 

presented.  Furthermore, it is disappointing that a more comprehensive 
evidence base has not been provided through the publication of the PEIR to 

enable stakeholders (including the County Council) to fully consider and 
comment on the proposals at this stage.   

Community Engagement 

2.46 As a statutory consultee, the County Council had the opportunity to comment 

on the draft Statement of Community Consultation (SoCC) in November 2021.  
Although the range of consultation methods proposed was welcomed, the 
County Council is disappointed National Highways has not produced more 

engaging consultation material for the public and key user groups to respond to 
it at this stage.  Apart from the video flyover, there is a lack of detailed 

visualisations, viewpoint specific photomontages, and illustrative sections to 
communicate benefits and potential impacts to a wider audience.  

2.47 Local concerns raised with the County Council during the consultation period 

about the methods of engagement (as documented in the published SoCC) will 
be considered as evidence for inclusion in the County Council’s post-submission 
‘adequacy of consultation’ response (see paragraph 2.29). 

Assessment of Alternatives 

2.48 The PEIR lacks sufficient detail about how environmental criteria have 

influenced the decision-making process, specifically with regard to the 
development of the Grey Route.  In 2019, the County Council raised concerns 

that the Grey Route (option 5BV1) did not offer the best balance between 
traffic, economic and social benefits and environmental impacts.  Although the 

Page 136

Agenda Item 5



PEIR states that “Environmental effects have been considered during this 

appraisal process”, a much clearer narrative is needed to explain how the 
environment has influenced the design process.  

2.49 In responding, the County Council requested that consideration be given to all 

consultation responses before the Preferred Route Announcement (PRA) was 
made.  Therefore, it expected to see a much more transparent presentation and 

detailed analysis of feedback within the PEIR, including how the responses had 
influenced the design.  This must be included within the Consultation Report 
that will be submitted as part of the DCO application. 

Proposed Scheme 

2.50 In addition to key issues summarised on a topic-by-topic basis in the following 
sections, the following paragraphs address some key aspects relating to the 
design of the scheme.  

2.51 The PEIR gives very little detail on the construction phase of the scheme, 

including information relating to haul routes, access for construction vehicles, 
layout, and the rationale for the location of construction compounds/laydown 

areas.  Also, although the PEIR highlights the potential need for a concrete 
batching plant, no further details are given.  Construction phase information is 
needed to give stakeholders confidence that potential impacts, which may be in 

place for the duration of the works (estimated from 2024 to 2027) have been 
appropriately assessed and mitigated.  

2.52 The County Council wants to see a greater emphasis on the de-trunking 

strategy as a key element of the scheme; to date, it has not been presented in 
any detail to stakeholders.  This could provide many opportunities to mitigate 

adverse impacts experienced elsewhere in the scheme and provide 
enhancements to the area.  Not only is there potential for biodiversity benefits, 
but there is also an ideal opportunity for benefits to be realised for the local 

community, such as to Non-Motorised Users (NMU), and there should be strong 
engagement on the future use of the detrunked section of the existing A27.  

2.53 The County Council is pleased to see the inclusion of a viaduct in the proposals, 

instead of a potential embankment crossing the floodplain.  However, there are 
still concerns about the design and placement of the structure, and future work 
needs to involve specialist design input, as well as that of stakeholders, to 

ensure the viaduct is both sensitively designed and informed by the EIA.  

2.54 The County Council welcomes the embedded mitigation proposed through the 
design process, including the introduction of a 50mph speed limit that, with a 

tighter road geometry, will allow a reduction in land take and overall 
environmental impact at the eastern extent of the scheme.  However, the 

County Council wants to see more detail provided on the key crossing points 
and how the scheme can be further sensitively designed to reduce impacts upon 
those communities that live and work in close proximity to the proposals.   

2.55 Overall, the County Council expects the highest standard of design, which must 

incorporate a clear design narrative for each element.  The design must outline 
to stakeholders and the community how the assessment work undertaken will 

mitigate adverse impacts and communicate benefits through wide-ranging 
enhancement measures that go above and beyond those required to mitigate 
the scheme.  

Page 137

Agenda Item 5



Traffic and Transport 

2.56 The information published in the PEIR enables a very limited understanding of 
the impacts of the scheme on the transport network.  There is insufficient 
information about the impacts of the scheme on the transport network to 

confirm whether the proposed scheme is acceptable to the County Council from 
a transport perspective.   

2.57 To determine whether it is acceptable from a transport perspective, the County 

Council requests that, as a minimum, the following evidence base and further 
information is provided: 

 a Transport Assessment (TA) detailing the impacts of the scheme (including 

cumulative impacts with other planned network changes and planned 
development) on the transport network and, if necessary, identifying the 

mitigation measures that will be needed as part of the proposals to ameliorate 
any severe impacts on the transport network, together with arrangements for 

ongoing monitoring after the scheme has opened; 

 a design audit detailing the standards that have been applied to different 
aspects of the scheme and, if necessary, specifying any departures from 

standards; 

 a local model validation report detailing the process for building the transport 

model and the scheme’s performance against all relevant validation criteria;  

 a traffic forecasting report detailing the process for building the forecast 
demand matrices, key assumptions, and outputs; and 

 a Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP). 

2.58 Based on the traffic flow change diagram presented in the Consultation 

Brochure, it is clear that there are positive and negative effects from a traffic 
perspective.  The increase in traffic flow on The Street and Eastergate Lane, 
Walberton is one of the unwelcome effects of the scheme and must be 

adequately assessed.  The impact of the scheme on the A29 Fontwell Avenue 
and areas to the east of the scheme are unclear and require further 

investigation.  In order to understand the issues and the extent to which they 
can be mitigated, the information requested should include diagrams detailing 
link flow changes and models (or other suitable technical information) showing 

the performance of the following junctions in each assessment year: 

 A27/A284 ‘Crossbush’ junction (including any assumptions about interactions 

with the Crossbush service station); 

 A27/A29 ‘Fontwell’ junctions (east and west); 

 A27/B2233 Crockerhill junction;  

 A284/A259 ‘Lyminster Bypass/Fitzalan Rd’ junction; 

 A29/A259 junctions; 

 A27/A280 ‘Patching’ junction; 

 A24/A280 ‘Findon’ junction; and 

 A259/A2032 ‘Goring Crossways’ junction. 

2.59 Based on the information presented in the Consultation Brochure, it is apparent 
that the performance of the A27 Fontwell junctions is one of the reasons for 

some of the undesirable traffic effects of the proposed scheme.  The 

Page 138

Agenda Item 5



improvements at A27/A29 ‘Fontwell West’ junction that are being delivered as 

part of planned development, were not designed to cater for a scenario that 
included an A27 Arundel Bypass.  Poor performance of these junctions has the 

potential to degrade the benefits of the project and lead to rat-runs through 
adjacent communities.  Therefore, the County Council requests that National 

Highways prioritises the identification of improvements at the A27 Fontwell 
junctions and inclusion of suitable measures in a suitable investment 
programme as soon as is practically possible.  

2.60 There continues to be significant local interest in the addition of a junction 

between Ford Road and the proposed scheme to facilitate future planned 
development (that is, both permitted development and allocated sites) in this 

part of Arun District.  There is also concern that the traffic forecasts may not 
accurately represent the level and distribution of development that is planned in 
the adopted Arun Local Plan; therefore, the transport assessment needs to take 

account of all planned development through the use of appropriate sensitivity 
tests.  Although it is recognised that it is not the role of the scheme to mitigate 

potential future (unplanned) development, the design should not preclude the 
addition of a junction at some point in the future, if sufficient development 
comes forward to justify a new junction.  Therefore, National Highways should 

ensure the design, particularly of the viaduct and Tortington Lane overbridge, 
allows the addition of a new junction with Ford Road (with south facing slip-

roads) without the need to substantially modify the scheme. 

Socio-Economics 

2.61  Strategic improvements to the A27 at Arundel are an economic priority for the 
County Council because increased capacity and improved reliability and safety 

on the strategic road network will help to increase the competitiveness of local 
businesses as they recover and grow and help local people access well-paid 
employment.  Improved connectivity within the County and with adjoining 

economic areas along the coast will also help to create the right conditions for 
inward investment, enterprise, and innovation in West Sussex.   

2.62 Therefore, the County Council wants to see a wider analysis of the economic 

impacts of the proposed scheme and the extent to which it will address 
challenges around the competitiveness of the coastal economy including: 

productivity; access to customer and labour markets; attractiveness of the area 
for business growth and entrepreneurship; access for visitors to the coast and 
the South Downs National Park; and the regeneration of coastal towns. 

2.63 The Council also expects to see a plan to ensure that local people and supply 

chains benefit from the construction, including through new employment and 
training opportunities (including a plan to encourage apprenticeships, work 

experience and internships).  More detailed consideration of the impacts on 
local businesses and potential mitigation of any adverse impacts is also 
required.  

Air Quality 

2.64 The PEIR states that there “is a risk of temporary adverse impacts from dust 
emissions during the construction works at residential properties and 
designated habitats located close to the scheme”.  However, it also states that 

it is unlikely that these impacts will be significant, given that “control measures 
will be implemented throughout the construction phase in accordance with the 

Page 139

Agenda Item 5



EMP [Environmental Management Plan]”.  Therefore, it is disappointing that 

National Highways has not produced a first draft EMP to outline these measures 
and to allow stakeholders to scrutinise the detail at this stage. 

2.65 Further assessment of impacts to air quality, including taking account of traffic 

re-routing patterns due to construction phase traffic management and Heavy 
Goods Vehicle (HGV) movements, has not been undertaken as details of the 

construction phase have not been presented.  Therefore, the County Council is 
concerned that there remains a risk there could be changes that could worsen 
air quality; this requires an evaluation of whether predicted effects are 

potentially significant.  

2.66 The scheme would result in reduced traffic flows through Arundel and 
Storrington due to traffic travelling on the bypass and relieving pressure on 

some other roads.  Therefore, residential properties within these areas are 
likely to experience an improvement in local air quality.  However, some 

detrimental air quality impacts are expected near to the scheme and along the 
wider A27 corridor as a result of the expected increase in traffic flows, including 
around the Crossbush Junction, in some areas of Walberton, in Worthing (east 

of the scheme), and between Avisford and Chichester (west of the scheme).  
Until the evidence base and further assessment has been provided and 

scrutinised by the County Council (including the required TA), likely levels of 
impacts cannot be predicted with certainty and required mitigation packages 
cannot be identified. 

Cultural Heritage 

2.67 The County Council is concerned that the scheme could result in adverse effects 

to a number of designated heritage assets, including listed buildings, scheduled 
monuments and conservation areas.  It will also affect archaeological features, 

historic landscapes, and (as-yet) unidentified heritage assets (including deposits 
of geoarchaeological and paleoenvironmental interest).  

2.68 The intention of close cooperation between the LVIA and heritage is welcomed 

and the identification of viewpoints from selected heritage assets is also 
positive.  However, there is a lack of clarity with regard to the remits and 
methodologies of the LVIA and heritage settings, and the methodology by which 

the heritage assets included for viewpoints were selected.  This issue is 
compounded by the fact that the heritage settings assessment baseline work 

has not yet been undertaken/issued.  The contribution made by setting, and 
therefore by existing views, to the significance of any given heritage asset is 
not yet understood.  It has not been agreed by the County Council that these 

represent the final selection and additional viewpoints may be required once 
further details are known. 

2.69 National Highways is undertaking a suite of surveys and investigations (for 

example, geoarchaeological monitoring, trial trench evaluation, and geophysical 
survey) prior to the DCO application; this early survey work is welcomed.  The 

County Council had expected the preliminary results of some of these surveys 
to be included, even in draft form, within the PEIR baseline.  Likewise, neither 
the historic environment baseline assessment nor the baseline settings 

assessment work appear to have been undertaken to date.  These baselines 
could have been undertaken in draft format based on the existing information 

held in the West Sussex Historic Environment Record (WSHER) and other 
readily available sources, especially in the case of baseline settings assessment 

Page 140

Agenda Item 5



for designated heritage assets.  Undertaking these initial stages of assessment 

could have allowed further refinement and more accurate predictions of likely 
significant effects within the PEIR chapter. 

2.70 Assessing the significance of higher-value likely sensitive receptors would have 

allowed a more accurate gauge of likely effects; for example, the current 
assessment of the impact on Arundel Castle is simply “Permanent adverse 

effects associated with the visibility of the Scheme within the landscape setting 
of the asset”.  The opportunity has been missed to further understand and 
quantify the likely effects on this and other key sensitive receptors, for 

example, an assessment of the precise contribution made by views to and from 
Arundel Castle across the Arun Valley floodplain, and the sensitivity of this 

aspect of the Castle’s setting.  

2.71 The PEIR identifies the heritage assets likely to suffer significant adverse effects 
arising from the scheme (accepting that a much wider selection of assets will 

suffer adverse effects at a level below this threshold).  However, in the absence 
of the baseline assessments, it is not possible for the County Council to agree 
the completeness of the list of heritage assets nor the accuracy of the assigned 

values.  Some key assets located in close proximity to the route are not 
included on the list, for example, Walberton Village and Walberton Green 

Conservation Areas and (at present) unidentified archaeological features 
identified by ongoing trial trench evaluation.  The County Council expects to see 
the detailed assessment of heritage assets included within the ES, including 

indirect effects resulting from, for example, through traffic and noise.   

2.72 Although it is not located within the redline boundary for the scheme, 
Blacksmiths’ Corner Roman Villa is identified as a heritage asset likely to suffer 

‘permanent loss or truncation of remains during construction of the scheme’.  
This is of great concern and the loss of the villa and/or any directly associated 
remains is not acceptable. 

2.73 The current historic environment baseline assessment of the route corridor and 
Study Area is extremely light touch.  It is disappointing that the submitted 
baseline does not include predictions of the archaeological potential of the 

various sections of the route, especially given that the preliminary results of the 
ongoing trial trenching are available to inform this (as well as the 

Archaeological Notification Areas available within the WSHER data).  Further 
fleshing out of the baseline might have allowed more accurate assessments of 
likely significance of effects.  

2.74 There are a number of areas of the design that will require continued discussion 

and assessment, as identified in more detail in Appendix C.  The main areas of 
concern include adverse change to the settings of a number of high value 

heritage assets (including conservation areas) with the construction of the 
scheme, the close proximity of the scheme to the Church of St Mary’s (at 
Binsted), and the potential for adverse effects on this Grade II* heritage asset.  

The location of the Yapton Lane compound would result in the total or partial 
loss of archaeological heritage assets identified during the recent geophysical 

survey and ongoing trial trenching.  Although the character, date, and 
significance of the assets has not yet been fully assessed, they are likely to be 
of prehistoric date and of at least local to regional significance.  The necessity of 

the loss of these archaeological features, purely for the siting of a temporary 
construction compound, has not been demonstrated to the County Council and 

alternative locations for this compound should be explored.  

Page 141

Agenda Item 5



Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) 

2.75 The County Council has not yet agreed to the LVIA methodology proposed, 
contrary to the statement within the PEIR, which states that “the methodology 
has been discussed and agreed with various stakeholders during the 

environment focus groups for the Scheme and National Highways Landscape 
Policy Advisors”.  In particular, the County Council has not commented on the 

criteria defined by National Highways for ascribing value and susceptibility to 
change to individual landscape and visual receptors. 

2.76 The LVIA does not address the pre-consultation, technical comments made by 
the County Council regarding the selection of Local Landscape Character Areas 

(LCA).  Noting that analysis of the landscape context should be used as an 
important driver for the design, it will be important for stakeholders to see the 

technical work to verify that the ‘parent’ LCA studies have not been 
misrepresented.  

2.77 The PEIR does not make clear which individual elements that contribute to 

landscape character will be examined in the LVIA.  This needs to include 
changes to surface landform, loss of vegetation, severance of the Green 
Infrastructure network, loss of ecosystems services, severance of the PRoW 

network, changes to features that have endured through time (which would 
affect indicators of Historic Landscape Character), changes to the experiential 

qualities of the landscape, including tranquility, and key/valued views.  

2.78 As noted in the County Council’s Scoping Response (March 2021), the criteria 
for determining landscape value has not been clearly outlined and should follow 
those set out in the Landscape Institute’s Guidelines for Landscape and Visual 

Assessment version 3.  The effects of severance and diversion of PRoW 
(including the erosion of access, loss of public amenity, and change to the 

experiential qualities of the landscape) should also be considered. 

2.79 The County Council has been engaging with National Highways to agree the 
locations of the viewpoints and visualisations and continues to pursue 

agreement on such with a view to examining potential effects.  The PEIR does 
not examine the threshold for a Residential Visual Amenity Assessment (RVAA), 
and the County Council expect this to be discussed in due course with 

stakeholders.  Consideration also needs to be given to the effect of light 
reflecting from windscreens.  A night-time assessment should also be 

undertaken to consider light spill from fixed lighting and also from vehicle 
headlights.  

2.80 The County Council wants to see a more holistic approach taken to the design 

of the scheme where it is led by an understanding of the landscape and its 
sensitivities.  The PEIR fails to demonstrate how the design is informed by the 
local landscape character or to “develop a clear and engaging design narrative 

… which captures the vision of the scheme, [and] demonstrates how its 
component parts come together as a whole – including structures, landscape, 

ecology, connectivity – and illustrates how different user groups will engage 
with the scheme” as recommended by the Design Council (in a letter dated 
09/07/21).  The County Council recommends that National Highways reviews 

the Design Council’s comments and seeks to address the many valid points that 
it made.   

Arboriculture 

Page 142

Agenda Item 5



2.81 The County Council is concerned about potential habitat loss as a direct result 

of the scheme.  Losses will be permanent and irreplaceable in the case of high 
quality, veteran, and ancient trees.  Any restored or replacement habitat can 

take many decades to provide similar levels of ecosystem functioning as that 
which was lost.  The assessment presented within the PEIR is only indicative, as 

surveys are currently being undertaken and no draft Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment (AIA) is available.  

2.82 Although, it is appreciated that surveys are continuing and full details of the 
impacts are unknown (especially for cumulative and in-combination effects), the 

imprecise language including ‘as far as is practicable’ gives considerable leeway 
for loss and damage of habitat.  

2.83 Given that the cumulative zone of influence for biodiversity is very extensive, 

mitigation and enhancement should be at a landscape scale, beyond the Order 
Limits, to restore and create habitat connectivity.  Engaging with existing 

initiatives along the route and beyond (for example, the ‘Weald to Waves’ 
project) could strengthen and connect these, providing ‘additionality’.  

2.84 It is critical that long-term future maintenance and management of assets is 
factored into the overall scheme, especially all of the proposed mitigation for 

habitat loss, which must be properly resourced and robustly monitored.  
Funding such mitigation must not be reliant on other mechanisms and must be 

secured through the DCO. 

Biodiversity 

2.85 The aspiration of a landscape and environment-led approach with disciplines 
considered together in an integrated Landscape and Environmental Masterplan 

is welcomed.  However, permanent and harmful habitat severance, with 
impacts on a range of species including bats, hazel dormice, and water voles, is 
of major concern to the County Council.  

2.86 Until the detailed baseline ecological data has been presented, it is difficult to 

assess impacts, proposed mitigation, and enhancement measures at this stage.  
A Phase 1 Habitat Survey of all habitats within 100m of the centreline of the 

scheme was undertaken in 2020/21.  However, concern is raised about the 
narrow corridor included, given that the survey will need to inform mitigation, 
compensation and enhancement measures both during the construction and 

operational phases.  

2.87 The mitigation measures currently designed into the scheme are lacking in 
detail and need to be developed going forward.  Post-construction ecological 

monitoring and long-term habitat management will be key to the success of any 
package of mitigation, compensation, and enhancement measures.   

2.88 The PEIR and associated documents lack detail on the design of the two green 

bridges, the two bat underpasses, the viaduct crossing of the River Arun and 
Arun floodplain (Arun Valley Viaduct), and landscaping plans.  Therefore, it is 
difficult to envisage how each will function and integrate into the landscape.  

These aspects will need to be addressed in much more depth since they are 
fundamental elements of the biodiversity mitigation package. 

2.89 The area is of national importance to bats and habitat severance is of major 

concern.  Therefore, the design and location of the green bridges and 
underpasses must seek to maximise habitat connectivity for bats, both for 

Page 143

Agenda Item 5



commuting and foraging.  The current plans for the green bridges do not give 

confidence and evidence that this will be achieved.  Concern is raised that the 
green bridges are attempting to be too multi-functional, serving as vehicle 

crossings and footbridges, in addition to green bridges; this could compromise 
their essential purpose as wildlife corridors.  The County Council wants to see 

evidence of where this type of approach has been successful elsewhere in the 
UK. 

2.90 Land has been identified for replacement flood storage to compensate for the 
loss of floodplain due to new structures, such as the viaduct piers and the 

embankment approaches to the bridges.  The potential for designing and 
managing the replacement flood storage areas to maximise biodiversity is an 

area that needs more assessment and design, and discussions with 
stakeholders.  

2.91 The de-trunking of the existing A27 should provide mitigation to help 

compensate for habitat severance.  Re-connecting habitats, notably woodland, 
would provide wildlife corridors for the movement of bats, dormice, birds, and 
other fauna, for example at Binsted Wood and Rewell Wood. Without such 

measures, the proposals would make Binsted Wood very isolated from the 
surrounding landscape.  De-trunking will also present opportunities for 

biodiversity enhancements, over and above those required to mitigate the 
impacts, which should be explored as part of the overall package. 

Noise and Vibration 

2.92 A quantitative assessment of noise and vibration impacts during construction 
has not been undertaken within the PEIR, due to the lack of construction phase 

information at this stage.  Therefore, only a qualitative assessment has been 
carried, based on professional judgment and experience of other nationally 

significant road schemes.  This makes scrutiny of the likely significant effects of 
the scheme, and requirements for mitigation, difficult to determine at this 

stage.  

2.93 The County Council is concerned that the results of this qualitative assessment 
highlight that properties at risk of adverse effects include residential properties 
between Tye Lane and Yapton Lane, as well as properties close to the 

overbridges at Tye Lane, Yapton Lane, Binsted Lane and Tortington Lane.  A 
quantitative assessment of noise and vibration impacts arising from 

construction works should be undertaken and the County Council would expect 
further consultation on the findings and required levels of mitigation for 
surrounding communities.  

2.94 When the scheme is operational, the PEIR states that the largest potential 
increases in traffic noise are expected to be at properties in and around 
Walberton, particularly those close to Yapton Lane, Binsted, and Tortington.  

Increases in noise levels are also expected in the vicinity of Dalloway Road and 
Fitzalan Road in south Arundel and Lyminster Road, south and east of 

Crossbush Junction.  

2.95 Along with some locations becoming quieter due to reductions in road traffic 
noise, there are also likely to be increases in noise in parts of Fontwell, Slindon, 
Arundel, Lyminster and Crossbush, as a result of traffic redistribution.  The 

County Council expects to be consulted as assessment work develops and about 
mitigation measures to be embedded into the design.  Concerns are again 

Page 144

Agenda Item 5



raised about the potential adverse impacts of traffic redistribution once the 

bypass is operational.  

2.96 However, until the evidence base and quantitative assessment work has been 
provided and scrutinised, likely impacts cannot be predicted with confidence 

and required level of mitigations discussed. 

Population and Human Health 

2.97 It is disappointing that a draft Health Impact Assessment (HIA) has not been 
undertaken, which would have enabled the risk and benefits of the scheme on 

population health to be evaluated by the County Council with greater rigour.  
There is also insufficient information in the PEIR to demonstrate how each 

phase of the project would impact on all sensitive receptors, such as schools 
within the study area, and what measures are incorporated into the design to 
prevent harm.  Therefore, it is difficult to assess the effects of the scheme at 

this stage. 

2.98 It is currently predicted that during the construction phase, there could be 
potential adverse in-combination effects (where combined impacts are felt) on 

residential properties in Walberton, Binsted, and Tortington, which are in close 
proximity to the scheme, as well as on education facilities including Walberton 
and Binsted C of E Primary School, Walberton Pre-School, and community 

facilities, including places of worship, village halls and medical facilities.  
Construction of the scheme would require permanent land take from a number 

of receptors, including five residential properties on Binsted Lane, which is likely 
to result in the permanent loss of these properties.  However, little information 
is given to quantify the impacts and proposed mitigation.   

2.99 The receptors listed above are also likely to experience adverse in-combination 
effects during the operational phase of the scheme due to the introduction of 
new dual-carriageway in an area previously occupied with smaller local roads.  

Concern is raised about the potential health impacts to communities in areas 
where there is likely to be an increase in traffic flows, which needs further 

understanding and assessment. 

2.100 It is also predicted that there are likely to be beneficial in-combination effects 
associated with a reduction in road traffic on the existing A27, including on 
residential receptors at Havenwood Park and parts of Arundel, including Canada 

Road and the north end of Jarvis Road.  

2.101 As individual topic assessments are only at a preliminary stage, the assessment 
of in-combination effects has not been presented in detail within the PEIR.  

This, along with a robust Cumulative Effects Assessment (CEA), must be 
presented to inform the requirement for mitigation measures. 

2.102 Concern is raised about the potential likely temporary adverse effects with 

respect to Non-Motorised Users (NMU) during the construction of the scheme.  
Little detail is given in the PEIR concerning mitigation measures, other than to 
keep access available ‘where possible’.  The assessment of impacts presented 

are preliminary and qualitative, given that the NMU survey and a Walking, 
Cycling and Horse-riding Assessment Report (WCHAR) have not been presented 

as part of the PEIR. 

2.103 A Public Rights of Way (PRoW) Strategy is required, setting out general 
principles around providing access, where possible, throughout construction and 

Page 145

Agenda Item 5



when this is not, how access can still be retained along alternative routes.  

Long-term closures for approximately three-four years would have a very 
negative impact on local communities and recreational access to the South 

Downs National Park.  Therefore, a clearer plan is required setting out how 
impacts will be minimised.   

2.104 The County Council makes more detailed comments about impacts and 

potential opportunities for individual PRoW in Appendix C.  Further work and 
consultation are needed on how the scheme can better integrate into the wider 
network of NMU facilities.  For example, proposals for detrunking the A27, 

which is currently a point of severance for many users, and how the scheme 
could tie in with the Lyminster Bypass, to provide desirable access to the south. 

Climate 

2.105 The County Council is unable to comment fully as several key documents have 

not yet been presented.  These include the traffic modelling data and TA, a 
Sustainability Assessment, a Preliminary Greenhouse Gas (GHG) assessment, 

the EMP, and the CTMP. 

2.106 The presented suggestions on emission minimisation are inconsistent, with 
confused references to material re-use, electric vehicle charging points, and 
provision of green bridges.  Although there is some focus on adaptation with 

reference to both infrastructure and use of technology, the County Council 
expects to see a greater emphasis on climate change adaptation and resilience.  

2.107 Paragraph 5.17 of the NPS states that applicants should “provide evidence of 

the carbon impact of the project and an assessment against the Government’s 
carbon budgets”.  Based on ‘other national highways projects’, the PEIR states 

that it is expected that when the full impact assessment is undertaken, it will 
show that the scheme would be unlikely to affect the UK’s ability to meet its 
overarching binding greenhouse gas reduction targets.  Although emissions 

from highway schemes may only be 0.1% of the UK’s overall budget, it is the 
cumulative effect of these projects that should be considered.  Therefore, the 

County Council expects to see detail of the mitigation options to reduce the 
impact of the proposed scheme on the national carbon budget.   

Fire and Rescue 

2.108 The West Sussex Fire and Rescue Service is unable to comment on the potential 

impact of the scheme of the Fire Station located in Ford Road, Arundel (which is 
staffed by retained ‘on call’ personnel) because the necessary information is not 
currently available within the PEIR.  The proposals suggest an increase in some 

localised traffic and congestion, when operational and during the construction 
phase, and a compound operating on land east of Ford Road.  This may have an 

impact on response standards in this area and will require modelling work to be 
undertaken to assess potential effects.  To enable this, the results of the full TA 
and the Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) are required and consultation on the 

scheme need to be undertaken with the service to ensure that any potential 
adverse impacts on emergency responders can be minimised.  

Next Steps 

2.109 Following approval of the County Council’s consultation response by Cabinet, 

the next steps in the DCO process are as follows (with indicative timings): 

Page 146

Agenda Item 5



 post-consultation engagement (March-July 2022): discussions with National 

Highways about the matters of concern raised in this report, including 
consideration of new or revised evidence.  

 submission (August 2022): National Highways submits its DCO application to 
PINS.  The County Council has 14 days to submit its ‘adequacy of 

consultation response’ to PINS. 

 pre-examination (September-November 2022): if the application is accepted 
by PINS, negotiations with National Highways will continue about the DCO 

requirements, any S106 Agreement, and the preparation of a SoCG. 

 examination (December 2022-May 2023): examination of the DCO application 

and the representations and submissions of ‘interested parties’ (including the 
County Council’s written representation and LIR).  As necessary, officers 
comment on third party written representations, attend the examination 

hearings, and answer the Panel’s questions.   

 examination report (June-August 2023): PINS reports to the relevant 

Secretary of State, recommending whether to grant or refuse development 
consent. 

 decision (September-November 2023): the Secretary of State makes the 

decision to grant or refuse development consent.  

 post-decision (December2023-January 2024): there is a six-week period for 

Judicial Review.  

3 Other options considered (and reasons for not proposing) 

3.1 As a ‘host’ authority, one of the responsibilities of the County Council is to 
respond to the current formal consultation.  The responsibilities also include: 

discussing the DCO requirements and S106 Agreement; providing an ‘Adequacy 
of Consultation’ response; preparing SoCG and LIR; and submitting written 

representations and participating in the examination process.   

3.2 There is the option to not take on the role of being a relevant authority with 
responsibility for the discharge of requirements (if an order is granted).  

However, it seems sensible for it to undertake this task for the project (if costs 
are recovered) because it would give the Authority some control over 
implementation of the scheme. 

4 Consultation, engagement, and advice 

4.1 Internal officers have been involved in the analysis of the PEIR and preparation 
of the detailed comments on the PEIR in Appendix C.   

4.2 Joint working, including the identification of key issues, has taken place with 
the Arun District Council and the South Downs National Park Authority.  Joint 

working with those authorities will continue, as necessary, for the next stages 
of the DCO process. 

4.3 An all-member briefing was held on 26 January 2022 at which an outline of the 

scheme and its impacts (and proposed mitigation) was given by National 
Highways, with the opportunity for questions and answers.   

4.4 On 24 February 2022, the draft consultation response was considered by the 

Communities, Highways and Environment Scrutiny Committee.  The following 
points were raised for consideration by Cabinet – that the Committee: 

Page 147

Agenda Item 5



1. Recognised the importance of residents having confidence in the process, 

and the transparency of the process. 

2. Expressed strong concerns around the lack of access and exit points on 

the proposed bypass.  

3. Was disappointed by the lack of evidence provided by National Highways.  

4. Acknowledged the deep concerns from local members about the impact 
of the proposed bypass on local villages (for example, Fontwell and 
Walberton) and the natural habitat.  

5. Raised concerns about the financial consequences to the County Council 
of the impact of the proposed bypass on the local road network. 

6. Felt that the proposed bypass might only move the traffic congestion, 
from Crossbush to east of Fontwell. 

7. Raised concerns about the traffic modelling, in particular the projections 

for the number of new houses, which seemed to be well below the 
ambitions set out in local plans.  

8. Acknowledged that the Council’s policy is to have the bypass but 
questioned the choice of route selected (the Grey route).  The Committee 
had strong concerns about the wording in the draft response around the 

Council expressing ‘in principle’ support for the Grey route.  Different 
views were expressed, as follows: 

 although the Council should support a bypass that complements 
Council policies, it should not support the proposed route, having 
previously supported a different route and given the lack of 

information provided for the Grey route by National Highways. 

 the Council should support a bypass in principle, but support for the 

proposed route should be contingent on the concerns raised in the 
draft consultation response being adequately addressed, despite it 
not being the Council’s preferred route.  

 the Council should support a bypass in principle, but the information 
provided by National Highways does not allow the Council to reach 

an informed view on the Grey route.  

 the Council should support a bypass in principle but reiterate that 
the Grey route is not its preferred option.  There remain a number 

of significant questions with the proposed route, as set out in the 
consultation response. 

4.5 In response to the Committee’s comments, it is considered that most of the 
points of concern have been adequately addressed in the draft consultation 

response and will be the subject of dialogue with National Highways in the post-
consultation/pre-submission period.  However, some amendments have been 
made to strengthen the response by including references to: concern about the 

adequacy of funding to mitigate the adverse impacts of the scheme (including 
on the local road network); and the transport assessment taking account of all 

planned development (both permitted development and the development of 
sites allocated in the adopted Arun Local Plan). 

5 Finance 

5.1 Although the County Council has responsibilities as a statutory consultee, there 
is no requirement for National Highways to fund this additional work.  However, 

Page 148

Agenda Item 5



the County Council has agreed in principle to a Planning Performance 

Agreement (PPA) with National Highways that contributes towards the cost of 
the Authority engaging in the DCO process.  This will enable the consultation 

work required to be delivered within existing budgets. 

5.2 If a DCO is confirmed, a new PPA with National Highways will be sought in 
relation to the County Council discharging its requirements. 

6 Risk implications and mitigations 

6.1 There are no risks associated with responding to the consultation and engaging 

in the next stages of the DCO process.   

Risk Mitigating Action (in place or planned)  

None n/a 

7 Policy alignment and compliance  

7.1 Corporate Plan (Our Council Plan 2021-2025) – ‘A sustainable and prosperous 
economy’, one of the four priorities in the Plan, is key to the future wellbeing of 

West Sussex; this is especially important given the ongoing economic impact of 
COVID-19.  Strategic improvements to the A27 at Arundel will help to ensure 

that businesses are supported to recover and grow, that local people have 
access to well-paid employment, and that the conditions are right for enterprise 
and innovation will have a positive impact on the long-term health of residents 

and on the potential of young people.  Therefore, National Highways’ scheme 
for an Arundel Bypass aligns, in principle, with this priority.  Responding to the 

challenges of climate change underpins the four priorities in the Plan; 
paragraph 7.4 of this report addresses this matter.  

7.2 West Sussex Transport Plan 2011-2026 – improving the A27 at Arundel (and at 
Chichester and Worthing & Lancing) is the County Council’s highest priority for 

transport as identified in the Plan.  The improvements are needed to increase 
capacity, to improve reliability and safety, to help increase the competitiveness 

of local businesses, and to attract investment.  Therefore, National Highways’ 
scheme for an Arundel Bypass aligns, in principle, with this priority. 

7.3 Economy Plan 2020-2024 – Theme 2 of the Plan is to ‘protect and revive the 

coastal towns’ of West Sussex.  One of the headline actions under this theme is 
to work with central Government, Highways England, and local stakeholders to 
identify deliverable schemes to improve the A27 bottlenecks at Chichester, 

Arundel, Worthing & Lancing alongside public transport improvements.  
Therefore, National Highways’ scheme for an Arundel Bypass aligns, in 

principle, with this theme. 

7.4 Climate Change – although focussed on the County Council’s activity, the 
Authority’s Climate Change Strategy is supportive of actions that reduce carbon 

associated with road-based transport, including through the increased use of 
sustainable transport options.  As identified in paragraphs 2.103-2.105 of this 

report, the potential impacts of National Highways’ scheme for an Arundel 
Bypass on climate change are uncertain at this stage.  However, in accordance 
with the NPS for National Highways, it is noted that the carbon impact of the 

scheme will be assessed at a national level, against the Government’s carbon 
budgets, not at a local level. 

Page 149

Agenda Item 5

https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/about-the-council/policies-and-reports/environment-planning-and-waste-policy-and-reports/climate-change-in-west-sussex/


7.5 Legal Implications – the County Council is a statutory consultee in the DCO 

process.  It has specific responsibilities as a ‘host’ authority, including: being a 
consultee on the draft SoCC [undertaken]; responding to the scoping request 

[undertaken]; responding to the formal consultation [this stage]; discussing the 
DCO requirements and S106 Agreement; providing an ‘Adequacy of 

Consultation’ response; preparing SoCG and LIR; and submitting written 
representations and participating in the examination process.  The 
recommendations in this report seek to ensure that the County Council delivers 

its responsibilities for the current and remaining stages of the process. 

7.6 Equalities – not applicable, as it is a response to a consultation by an external 
organisation. 

7.7 Crime and Disorder, Public Health, and Social Value – not applicable. 

Matt Davey 

Assistant Director of Highways, Transport and Planning 

Contact Officers  

Michael Elkington, Head of Planning Services, 0330 22 26463, 
michael.elkington@westsussex.gov.uk  

Darryl Hemmings, Transport Planning and Policy Manager, 0330 22 26437, 

darryl.hemmings@westsussex.gov.uk. 

Appendices 

Appendix A: Location Plan 

Appendix B: Preliminary Landscape and Environmental Masterplan 

Appendix C: Detailed comments on the Preliminary Environmental Information 
Report 

Background papers 

None 

Page 150

Agenda Item 5



Fil
en

am
e: 

\\b
a-d

at-
00

1.s
co

ttw
ils

on
.co

.uk
\44

00
 - M

an
ag

em
en

t S
erv

ice
s\5

00
4 -

 In
for

ma
tio

n S
ys

tem
s\6

05
97

60
7_

A2
7_

Ar
un

de
l_B

y_
Pa

ss
\02

_M
ap

s\P
EI

R\
Int

rod
uc

tio
n\I

NT
RO

_P
EIR

_F
igu

re1
_1

_S
ite

Lo
ca

tio
nP

lan
_A

3_
P0

3.m
xd

1 0 1 2 km

±

Revision Details SuffixDateBy
Check

Purpose of issue

Client
NATIONAL HIGHWAYS
Bridge House
1 Walnut Tree Close
Guildford
Surrey
Project Title

Drawing Title

Designed Drawn Checked Approved Date

Internal Project No.

Scale @ A3 Volume

THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN PREPARED PURSUANT TO AND SUBJECT TO THE
TERMS OF AECOM'S APPOINTMENT BY ITS CLIENT. AECOM ACCEPTS NO

LIABILITY FOR ANY USE OF THIS DOCUMENT OTHER THAN BY ITS ORIGINAL
CLIENT OR FOLLOWING AECOM'S EXPRESS AGREEMENT TO SUCH USE, AND
ONLY FOR THE PURPOSES FOR WHICH IT WAS PREPARED AND PROVIDED.

St James House
Knoll Road
Camberley
GU15 3XU

Drawing Number
Highways England PIN | Originator | Volume

Location | Type | Role | Number

Rev

© Crown copyright 2021 [and database rights] OS
100030649. You are granted a non-exclusive,
royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the
Licensed Data for non-commercial purposes for the
period during which National Highways makes it
available. You are not permitted to copy,
sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make
available the Licensed Data to third parties in any
form. Third party rights to enforce the terms of this
licence shall be reserved to OS.

A27 ARUNDEL BYPASS

FIGURE 1-1
LOCATION PLAN

SM SM KS

1:30,000

60642441

SH 04/01/2022

BAM Nuttall Limited
AECOM House
Home Lane
Bedford
Tel: +44 1234 349 641

AECOM

EGN

Suitability

www.aecom.comwww.bamnuttall.co.uk

HE551523 -BAM -EGN-
ZZ -DR -LE -0014 P03

KEY

S4

THE DRAFT ORDER LIMITS

AREA NOT INCLUDED WITHIN THE
DRAFT ORDER LIMITS

SCHEME

SAFETY, HEALTH AND 
ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION BOX
IT IS ASSUMED THAT ALL WORKS ON THIS DRAWING 

WILL BE CARRIED OUT BY A COMPETENT 
CONTRACTOR WORKING, WHERE APPROPRIATE, 

TO AN APPROPRIATE METHOD STATEMENT
THIS DRAWING IS TO BE USED ONLY FOR THE 
PURPOSE OF ISSUE THAT IT WAS ISSUED FOR 

AND IS SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT.
EXCEPTIONAL RISKS RELATING TO THE WORKS

ASSOCIATED WITH THIS DRAWING ARE 
IDENTIFIED BELOW

Updating the Draft Order Limits AC 20/12/21 02
AW

PRELIMINARY ENVIRONMENTAL
INFORMATION REPORT

AC
SM

04/01/22 03PEIR Vol. 3 Comments

P
age 151

A
genda Item

 5
A

ppendix A



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Ch 200.0

Ch 300.0

Ch 400.0

Ch 500.0

Ch 600.0

Ch 700.0

Ch 900.0

Ch 1000.0

Ch 1100.0

Ch 1200.0

PI 320.429Ls 0.000mYs 3.332mXs 119.917mLT 80.029mST 40.026m

PI 854.044Ls 0.000mYs 13.166mXs 168.150mLT 112.593mST 56.330m

PI 119.240Ls 0.000mYs 16.475mXs 181.002mLT 121.385mST 60.741m

PI 1079.075Ls 0.000mYs 6.587mXs 168.536mLT 112.593mST 56.330m

PI 320.429Ls 120.000mYs 3.332mXs 119.917mLT 80.029mST 40.026m

PI 1079.075Ls 168.767mYs 6.587mXs 168.536mLT 112.593mST 56.330m

PI 854.044Ls 168.767mYs 13.166mXs 168.150mLT 112.593mST 56.330m

FONTWELL

Ty
e 

La
ne

Existing A27

Co
ps

e 
La

ne

FONTWELL

FONTWELL EAST
ROUNDABOUT

Existing A27 (detrunked)

Ty
e 

La
ne

R/C

DRIVE

DR
IV

E

DRIVE

DRIVE

DRIVE

SWALE

SWALE
SWALE

SW
AL

E

POND

Bin StoreCycle Store

svp

svp

Sink &
D/W waste

Rising

main

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

W/M
waste

WC
waste

WHB

waste

rwp

rwp

ElecriserGasriser

Gas supply

to boiler

Boiler
condensate

Elec riser

Meter positions

to detached

units only

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

svp

svp

Sin
k &

D/W
 wa
ste

Ris
ing

ma
in

Ga
s s
upp
ly t
o

coo
ker
 / h
ob

W/Mwa
ste

WCwa
ste

WH
B

wa
ste

rw
p

rw
p

Ele
c

rise
r

Ga
s

rise
r

Ga
s s
upp
ly

to b
oile
r

Bo
iler

con
den
sat
e

Ele
c ri
ser

Me
ter
 po
siti
ons

to d
eta
che
d

uni
ts o

nlyBT
 Op
en 
Re
ach
 or
 FT
TP

wh
ere
 req
uire
d lo
cat
ion
,

EZ
 be
nd 
upo
n e
ntry
.

Rising

main

rwp

rwp

Gas supply

to boiler

Gas supply

to cooker

svp

svp

WC waste

WHB
waste BT Open Reach or FTTP where

required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Elec riser
Gas
riser

Rising

main

rwp

rwp

Gas supply

to boiler

Gas supply

to cooker

svp

svp

WC waste

WHB
waste

BT Open Reach or FTTP where

required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Elec
riser Gas

riser

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

Gas supply

to boiler

svp

Rising

main

WC waste

svp

Sink &

W/M waste

WHB
waste

door

door

rwp

rwp

rwp

rwp

Elec riser
Gas

riser

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Gas supply to
cooker / hob

Gas supply
to boiler

WC
waste

WHB
waste

Rising
main

svp
svp

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Elec
riser Gas

riser

Rising
main

Gas supply to

cooker / hobGas supply

to boiler

Sink &W/M waste

WCwaste

WHBwaste

Elec
riser

svp

svp

Gas
riser

door

door

door

rwp

rwp
BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location, EZ

bend upon entry.

Rising

main

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

Gas supply

to boiler

Sink &
W/M waste

WC waste

WHB

waste

Elecriser

svp

svp

Gas
riser

door

door

door

rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location, EZ

bend upon entry.

Rising
main

Gas supply to
cooker / hob

Gas supply to boiler

Sink &
W/M waste

WC
waste

WHB
waste

Elec risersvp

svp

Gas
riser

door

door

door

rwp

rwpBT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location, EZ
bend upon entry.

Sink & D/W &
W/M waste

rising main

SVP

SVP

WC

waste

elecriser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open

Reach location

rwp

gas
riser

WHB
waste

Capped drain
for future
shower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W &
W/M waste

rising main

SVP

SVP

WC

waste

elecriser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open

Reach location

rwp

gas
riser

WHB
waste

Capped drain
for future
shower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W &
W/M waste

rising main

SVP

SVP

WCwaste

elec
riser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open
Reach location

rwp

gasriser

WHB

waste

Capped drain
for future
shower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W &
W/M waste

rising main

SVP

SVP

WCwaste

elec
riser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open
Reach location

rwp

gasriser

WHB

waste

Capped drain
for future
shower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W & W/M waste rising main

SVP

SVP

WC waste

elec
riser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open
Reach location

rwp

gas
riser

WHB waste Capped drain for future shower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W & W/M waste rising main

SVP

SVP

WC waste

elec
riser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open
Reach location

rwp

gas
riser

WHB waste Capped drain for future shower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W &

W/M wasterising main

SVP

SVP

WCwaste

elecriser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open
Reach location

rwp

gasriser

WHB
waste

Capped drain
for futureshower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W &

W/M wasterising main

SVP

SVP

WCwaste

elecriser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open
Reach location

rwp

gasriser

WHB
waste

Capped drain
for futureshower position

B.I.G

Sin
k &
 D/
W 
&

W/
M w
ast
e

risi
ng 
ma
in

SV
P

SV
P

WCwa
ste

ele
c

rise
r

rw
p

rw
p

rwp

BT
 Op
en

Re
ach
 loc
atio
n

rw
p

gasrise
r

WH
Bwa

ste

Ca
ppe
d d
rain

for
 fut
ure

sho
we
r p
osi
tion

B.I
.GSin

k &
 D/
W 
&

W/
M w
ast
e

risi
ng 
ma
in

SV
P

SV
P

WCwa
ste

ele
c

rise
r

rw
p

rw
p

rwp

BT
 Op
en

Re
ach
 loc
atio
n

rw
p

gasrise
r

WH
Bwa

ste

Ca
ppe
d d
rain

for
 fut
ure

sho
we
r p
osi
tion

B.I
.G

Sink & D/W &

W/M waste

rising main

SVP

SVP

WC
waste

rwp

rwp

rwp

rwp

gas
riser

WHB

waste

Capped drain

for future

shower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W &

W/M waste

rising main

SVP

SVP

WC
waste

rwp

rwp

rwp

rwp

gas
riser

WHB

waste

Capped drain

for future

shower position

B.I.G

RWP

RWP

RWP

RWP

RWP

RWP

RWP

RWP

Beam spandirection

Beam span direction

Beam span direction

Gasriser Plot 89Gasriser

Plot 92

svp

Gas supply tocooker / hob

Gas s
upp

ly
to b

oile
r

Sink,D/W &W/M waste

Rising
main

svp

Sink,D/W &W/M waste

Rising
main

GasriserPlot 88

Gas
riserPlot 91

Gas supply tocooker / hob

Ga
s su

ppl
y

to b
oile

r

svp

svp

Gasriser
Plot 90

GasriserPlot 93

Gas supply tocooker / hob

Gas s
upp

ly
to b

oile
r

Sink,D/W &W/M waste

Rising
main

Beam span direction

Beam span direction

Rise
rs O

ver

Bea
m spa

n
dire

ctio
n

Beam span direction

Beam span direction

Bea
m spa

n d
irec

tion

Bea
m spa

n d
irec

tion

Bea
m spa

n d
irec

tion

Bea
m spa

n d
irec

tion

Bea
m spa

n d
irec

tion

Bea
m spa

n d
irec

tion

Beam span direction

Bea
m spa

n d
irec

tion

Beam span direction

Bea
m spa

n d
irec

tion

RWP

Gas supply
to boiler

Gas supply to
cooker / hob

svp

Sink,D/W &
W/M waste

Rising
main

100mm Duct to Bin & Cycle Store

Beam span direction

Beam span direction

rwp

rwp

svp

svp

Ga
s su

ppl
y

to b
oile

r

WHBwaste

WCwaste

Sink,D/W& W/Mwaste

Risingmain

Gasriser

Elec
riser

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Gassupply
to
cooker/ hob

rwp

svp

Gas s
upp

ly
to b

oile
r

WHBwasteWCwaste

Sink,D/W& W/Mwaste

Risingmain

Gasriser

Elecriser

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Gassupply
to
cooker/ hob

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE rwp

rwp

GA
RA

GE
 TY

PE
 SI

NG
LE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GA
RA

GE
 TY

PE
 D

OU
BL

E
rw

p

rw
p

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GA
RA

GE
 TY

PE
 D

OU
BL

E

rwp

rw
p

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GA
RA

GE
 TY

PE
 D

OU
BL

E

rw
p

rw
p

GA
RA

GE
 TY

PE
 D

OU
BL

E

rw
p

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

rwp

Duct for electric

landlord supply inapartment riser

BIN STORE

CYCLE STORE

Risingmain

Floor Gully

rwp

109

110

110

110
110

112

111

111
111

113

112

112

111

111

105

106

105

106
106

105

106

105

107

107
107

107

107

108

108

108

108

104

103

104

104104

104

103

103
103

103

100 99

98101

97

102

969594

99

98
99

98

99

98

97

97
97

97

95 96

95 96

9695

94 94

94 94

100 100

100 100

102

102

102

102

101

101

101

BLOCK D
88-93

BLOCK C
82-87

Gas supply to
cooker / hob

Gas supply
to boiler

svp

Rising
main

WCwaste

svp

Sink &
W/M waste

WHB
waste

door

door

Sleeper wall

rwp

rwp

rwp

rwp

Elecriser

Gasriser
BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

rwp

Elec
riser

Gas riserrwp

Risingmain

Sink &
W/M
waste

SVP

WHB
waste

Ga
s s

upp
ly t

o
coo

ker
 / h

ob
Ga

s s
upp

ly
to b

oile
r

BT Open Reach or FTTPwhere required location,EZ bend upon entry.

rwp

Elec
riser

Gas riser
rwp

Rising
main

Sink &
W/Mwaste

SVP

WHB
waste

Ga
s s

upp
ly t

o
coo

ker
 / h

ob
Ga

s s
upp

ly
to b

oile
r

BT Open Reach or FTTPwhere required location,EZ bend upon entry.

76 77

Elec
riser

Gas riser

SVP

Sink &W/M
waste Rising

main

WHBwaste

WC
waste

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,EZ bend upon entry.

Gas riser

SVP

Sink &W/M
wasteRisingmain

WHBwaste

WC
waste

BT Open Reach or FTTPwhere required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

rwp

rwp

rwp

Ga
s s

upp
ly t

o
coo

ker
 / h

ob
Ga

s s
upp

ly
to b

oile
r

Ga
s s

upp
ly t

o
coo

ker
 / h

ob
Ga

s s
upp

ly
to b

oile
r

78 79

Elec
riser

Gas riser

SVP

Sink &
W/M
waste Risingmain

WHBwaste

WC
waste

BT Open Reach or FTTPwhere required location,EZ bend upon entry.

Elecriser

Gas riser

SVP

Sink &
W/Mwaste

Risingmain

WHB
waste

WC
waste

BT Open Reach or FTTPwhere required location,EZ bend upon entry.

rwp

rwp

rwp

rwp

Ga
s s

upp
ly t

o
coo

ker
 / h

ob
Ga

s s
upp

ly
to b

oile
r

Ga
s s

upp
ly t

o
coo

ker
 / h

ob
Ga

s su
ppl

y
to b

oile
r

74 75

ØØ ØØ Ø

Ø

Ø

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

Gas supply

to boiler

svp

Rising

main

WC

waste

svp

Sink &

W/M waste

WHBwaste

door

door

rwp

rwp

rwp

rwp

Elec

riser

Gas

riser

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

Ga
s su

ppl
y to

coo
ker

 / h
obGa

s s
upp

ly
to b

oile
r

WC
wa

ste

WH
B

wa
ste

Ris
ing

ma
in

svp

svp

rw
p

rw
p

rwp

BT
 Op

en 
Re

ach
 or 

FTT
P

whe
re r

equ
ired

 loc
atio

n,
EZ 

ben
d u

pon
 en

try.

Ele
c

rise
r

Ga
s

riser

74 74 76
76 77 77 78 78 79 79

88 89 90 91 92 93 v v

84858687vvvvvvv

75

75

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W
EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W
EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W
EX W

EX WEX W
EX WEX W

EX WEX W
EX WEX WEX W

EX WEX W
EX WEX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W
EX

 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W
EX

 W
EX

 W
EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W
EX

 W
EX

 W
EX

 W
EX

 W
EX

 W
EX

 W
EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W
EX

 W
EX

 W
EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W
EX W EX W

EX W
EX W EX W

EX W EX W
EX W EX W

EX W EX W EX W
EX W EX W

EX W EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W
EX W

EX W
EX W

EX
 W

EX W
EX W

EX W
EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W
EX W

EX W
EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W
EX W

EX W
EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

Existing woodland corridor to be
retained where possible or replaced

with native woodland.

Existing linear trees and shrubs to be
retained where possible or replaced to

create a continuous woodland corridor.

Proposed native woodland to form extension
of Potwell Copse (Ancient Woodland) and

integrate bridleway overbridge earthworks
into the wider landscape.

Noise mitigation barrier to reduce the effect
of traffic noise on Avisford Grange residents.

Existing boundary hedgerow and to be

Proposed linear trees and shrubs to
screen views of A27 bypass from

residents north of Tye Lane and Hooe
Farm to the south.

Noise mitigation barrier to reduce the effect of
traffic noise on residents north of the A27 bypass.

Embankments either side of Tye Lane overbridge to be
planted with native woodland to encourage north - south
habitat connectivity and visual screening of the structure.

Existing field boundary hedgerow
to be 'gapped up' to provide
habitat connectivity for dormouse.Proposed native woodland to form

extension of Ashbeds to assist with
dormouse habitat loss and

connectivity.

Native hedgerow proposed to curtilage of highway
embankment connecting to wider network of field

boundary hedgerows.

CUT LINE

CUT LINE

SHEET 1

SHEET 2

PROPOSED
BRIDLEWAY
OVERBRIDGE
(BR392)

PROPOSED
TYE LANE
OVERBRIDGE

Drawing Number Rev
Highways England PIN Originator Volume

Location Type Role Number

THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN PREPARED PURSUANT TO AND SUBJECT TO THE
TERMS OF AECOM'S APPOINTMENT BY ITS CLIENT. AECOM ACCEPTS NO

LIABILITY FOR ANY USE OF THIS DOCUMENT OTHER THAN BY ITS ORIGINAL
CLIENT OR FOLLOWING AECOM'S EXPRESS AGREEMENT TO SUCH USE, AND
ONLY FOR THE PURPOSES FOR WHICH IT WAS PREPARED AND PROVIDED.

DateApprovedCheckedDrawn

Internal Project No.

Drawing Title

Suffix
By

REVISION DETAILS Date
Check

Project Title

Client

Suitability

Scale @ A1 Volume

Purpose of issue

Designed

www.aecom.com 
Tel:

SAFETY, HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION BOX

IT IS ASSUMED THAT ALL WORKS ON THIS DRAWING WILL BE
CARRIED OUT BY A COMPETENT CONTRACTOR WORKING, WHERE

APPROPRIATE, TO AN APPROPRIATE METHOD STATEMENT.

THIS DRAWING IS TO BE USED ONLY FOR THE PURPOSE OF ISSUE THAT IT WAS
ISSUED FOR AND IS SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT.

EXCEPTIONAL RISKS RELATING TO THE WORKS ASSOCIATED WITH THIS
DRAWING ARE IDENTIFIED BELOW.

www.bamnuttall.co.uk

BAM Nuttall Limited
St James House
Knoll Road

GU15 3XW
Camberley

Pl
ot

 D
at

e 
:

Fi
le

 N
am

e 
: HE551523 P02BAM ELS

ZZ___ DR LD 0001

A27 Arundel Bypass

PRELIMINARY
LANDSCAPE

AND ENVIRONMENTAL
MASTERPLAN

JD JB JD SH 06/01/22

60630750 S4

Landscape

SUITABLE FOR STAGE APPROVAL

C
: W

W
O

R
KI

N
G

EC
O

M
_D

S0
2_

U
K-

C
LT

O
LI

N
.M

IL
LS

@
AE

C
O

M
.C

O
M

\D
01

01
16

7E
55

15
23

-B
AM

-G
EN

-Z
Z_

ZZ
_Z

Z_
ZZ

-T
M

-Z
Z-

00
01

06
 J

an
ua

ry
 2

02
2 

09
:5

9:
42

AECOM

Brickhill Drive
Bedford Heights
Unit 216

+44 1234 349 641

JB

SH
06/01/22

JB

SH
21/12/21

P02

P01

1:2500

NATIONAL HIGHWAYS
Bridge House
1 Walnut Tree Close
Guildford
Surrey

For Stage Approval

First Issue

NOTES

NOTE:

©Crown copyright 2021 [and database rights] OS 100030649 . You are
granted anon-exclusive, royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the
Licensed Data for non-commercial purposes for the period during which
Highways England makes it available. You are not permitted to copy,
sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available the Licensed Data to
third parties in any form. Third party rights to enforce the terms of this licence
shall be reserved to OS.

©Bluesky International Limited.

150100500 200 250 300

SCALE 1:2,500 @A1

N

This drawing represents a preliminary design and will be subject to detailed
design development in accordance with the provisions of the Development
Consent Order including as a response to feedback from statutory
consultation. All proposed landscape requirements (including retained
vegetation, proposed replacement planting and individual trees), on and
off-site ecological mitigation, flood compensation requirements and highways
related features are indicative at this stage and subject to change. This
drawing is provided for Statutory Consultation and inclusion within the PEI
Report with the following limitations: 

· Preliminary Landscape and Environmental Masterplan proposals are
based on highway layout 'Design Fix 3A' and associated drainage and
structural elements.

· Landscape Elements in accordance with Table 4.2b of DMRB, LD117
Landscape Design rev 0.

· *Very low noise surfacing is quieter than a Level 3 'very quiet surfacing'
material as defined in Table 9/17 in the Manual of Contract documents
for Highway Works.

· Greyed out areas within the Scheme are excluded from the draft Order
Limits.

· For complete draft Order Limits, detailed highways, structures, drainage
and Public Rights of Way proposals refer to drawing ref: GENERAL
ARRANGEMENT PLAN HE551523-BAM-HGN-ZZ-DR-CH-0131.

· Do not scale from drawing.

LE 1.3 Species rich grassland

LE 2.4 Linear trees and shrubs

LE 2.1 Woodland

LE 2.2 Woodland edge

LE 4.4 Hedgerow with trees

LE 5.1 Individual trees

Location of construction compound

Retained vegetation

Attenuation pond

Location of wetland enhancement areas

Floodplain compensation storage areas

Location of replaced ponds

Highway embankments - shorter line indicates top
of embankment

Drainage ditch

Earth bund

Noise barriers

draft Order Limits

Very low noise surfacing *

Retained Common Land

Replacement Common Land

7

8

9

3

4

5

6

10

1

11

2

Existing

Proposed

FIGURE 2-1 (SHEET 1 OF 6)

P
age 153

A
genda Item

 5
A

ppendix B

http://www.ursglobal.com
http://www.ursglobal.com


Ch 1200.0

Ch 1300.0

Ch 1400.0

Ch 1500.0

Ch 1600.0

Ch 1700.0

Ch 1800.0

Ch 1900.0

Ch 2000.0

Ch 2100.0

Ch 2200.0

Ch 2300.0

Ch 2400.0

Ch 2500.0

Ch 2600.0

Ch 2700.0

Ch 2800.0

Ch 2900.0

Ch 3000.0

Ch 3100.0

131°03'47.9"215.270m

PI 1724.513Ls 0.000mYs 6.587mXs 168.536mLT 112.593mST 56.330m

PI 2066.040Ls 0.000mYs 13.166mXs 168.150mLT 112.593mST 56.330m

PI 1499.482Ls 0.000mYs 13.166mXs 168.150mLT 112.593mST 56.330m

PI 2450.416Ls 0.000mYs 0.688mXs 84.995mLT 56.668mST 28.335m

PI 3149.708Δ 42.0° LTT 670.960mL 1281.419m

R 1750.000mPC 2498.486PT 3779.905

PI 2450.416Ls 85.000mYs 0.688mXs 84.995mLT 56.668mST 28.335m

131°03'47.9"215.270m

PI 1291.591Δ 24.5° LTT 156.341mL 307.903m

R 720.000mPC 1154.987PT 1462.890

PI 1724.513Ls 168.767mYs 6.587mXs 168.536mLT 112.593mST 56.330m

PI 2066.040Ls 168.767mYs 13.166mXs 168.150mLT 112.593mST 56.330m

PI 1499.482Ls 168.767mYs 13.166mXs 168.150mLT 112.593mST 56.330m

WALBERTON

Ya
pt

on
 L

an
e

AVISFORD PARK
GOLF COURSE

Binsted Lane

Ty
e 

La
ne

Existing A27 (detrunked)

Ty
e 

La
ne

Yapton Lane

He
dg

er
s H

ill

Elec rise
r

Gas
 rise

r

SV
P

Sin
k &

W/M was
te

Ris
ing

ma
in

WH
B

wa
ste

WC
wa

ste

BT 
Ope

n R
eac

h o
r FT

TP

whe
re r

equ
ired

 loc
atio

n,

EZ 
ben

d u
pon

 en
try.

Ele
c

riser

Gas
 rise

r

SV
P

Sin
k & W/M wa

ste

Ris
ing

mai
n

WH
B

waste

WC wa
ste

BT 
Ope

n R
eac

h o
r FT

TP

whe
re r

equ
ired

 loc
atio

n,

EZ 
ben

d u
pon

 en
try.

rwp

rwp

rw
p

rw
p

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

Gas supply

to boiler

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

Gas supply
to boiler

30-33

26-29

2

3

4

5

R/C

R/C

R/C

DRIVE

DR
IV

E

DRIVE

DRIVE

DRIVE

DRIVE

DRIVE

DRIVE

DRIVE

DRIVE

DRIVE

DRIVE

DRIVE

DRIVE

DRIVE

DR
IV

E

DR
IV

E

DR
IV

E

DR
IV

E

SW
AL

E

SWALE

SWALE

SWALE

SWALE

SW
AL

E

SW
AL

E

SWALE

SWALE

SWALE

SWALE

SWALE

SWALE

SWALE

SWALE

SWALE
SWALE

SWALE

SW
AL

E

SWALE

POND

POND

SW
AL

E

SUB
STATION

Sink & D/W &
W/M waste

svp

svp

Sink &

D/W waste
Rising
main

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

W/M waste

WC waste

WHB waste

rwp

rwp

Elec riser

Gas

riser

Gas supply

to boiler Boiler

condensate

Elec riser

Meter positions

to detached

units only

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

svp

svp

Sink &D/W waste
Risingmain Gas supply to

cooker / hob

W/Mwaste

WC
waste

WHBwaste

rwp

rwp

Elecriser

Gasriser

Gas supply

to boiler

Boiler

condensate

Elec riser

Meter positions

to detached

units only

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

svp

svp

Sink & D/W waste

Rising
main

Gas supply to cooker / hob

W/M waste

WC
waste

WHB
waste

rwp

rwp

Elec
riser

Gas
riser

Gas supply to boiler

Boiler
condensate

Elec riser

Meter positions to detached units only

BT Open Reach or FTTP where required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

svp

svp

Sin
k &

D/W
 wa

ste

Rising

ma
in

Gas
 sup

ply 
to

coo
ker

 / h
ob

W/M was
te

WC waste

WHBwaste

rwp

rw
p

Ele
c

rise
r

Ga
s

riser

Ga
s su

ppl
y

to b
oile

r

Boilercon
den

sat
e

Ele
c ri

ser

Met
er p

osit
ions

to d
eta

che
d

uni
ts o

nly

BT 
Ope

n R
eac

h o
r FT

TP

whe
re r

equ
ired

 loc
atio

n,

EZ 
ben

d u
pon

 en
try.

svp

svp

Sink &
D/W waste

Rising
main

Gas supply to
cooker / hob

W/Mwaste

WCwaste

WHB
waste

rwp

rwp

Elec
riser

Gasriser

Gas supply
to boiler

Boiler
condensate

Elec riser

Meter positions
to detached
units only

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

svp

svp

Sink &
D/W waste

Rising main

Gas supply to cooker / hob

W/M
waste

WC waste

WHB
waste

rwp

rwp

Elec
riser

Gas riser

Gas supply

to boiler

Boiler
condensate

Elec riser

Meter positions
to detached units only

BT Open Reach or FTTP where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

svp

svp

Sin
k &

D/W
 wa

ste

Ris
ing

ma
in

Ga
s su

ppl
y to

coo
ker

 / h
ob

W/M wa
ste

WC wa
ste

WH
B

wa
ste

rwp

rw
p

Ele
c

rise
r

Ga
s

rise
r

Ga
s su

ppl
y

to b
oile

r

Boi
ler

con
den

sat
e

Ele
c ri

ser

Me
ter 

pos
ition

s
to d

eta
che

d
uni

ts o
nly

BT
 Op

en 
Re

ach
 or 

FTT
P

wh
ere

 req
uire

d lo
cat

ion
,

EZ 
ben

d u
pon

 en
try.

svp

svp

Sink &D/W waste

Rising
main

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

W/Mwaste
WCwaste

WHBwaste

rwp

rwp

Elec
riser

Gas
riser

Gas supplyto boiler

Boilercondensate

Elec riser

Meter positions

to detached

units only

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

svp

svp

Sink &

D/W waste

Rising
main

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

W/M
waste

WC
waste

WHB waste

rwp

rwp

Elec

riser

Gasriser

Gas supply

to boiler

Boiler
condensate

Elec riser

Meter positions
to detached
units only

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

svp

svp

Sink &
D/W waste

Rising
main

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

W/Mwaste

WCwaste

WHBwaste

rwp

rwp

Elec

riser

Gas

riser

Gas supply

to boiler

Boilercondensate

Elec riser

Meter positions
to detached

units onlyBT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

svp

svp

Sink &

D/W wasteRising

main

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

W/Mwaste

WC waste

WHB

waste

rwp

rwp

Elecriser

Gasriser

Gas supply

to boiler
Boiler
condensate

Elec riser

Meter positions

to detached

units only

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

svp

svp

Sink &
D/W waste

Rising
main

Gas supply to
cooker / hob

W/Mwaste

WC

waste

WHBwaste

rwp

rwp

Elec
riser

Gas
riser

Gas supply
to boiler

Boiler

condensate

Elec riser

Meter positions

to detached
units only

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

svp

svp

Sin
k &

D/W
 wa
ste

Ris
ing

ma
in

Ga
s s
upp
ly t
o

coo
ker
 / h
ob

W/
M

wa
ste

WCwa
ste

WH
B

wa
ste

rw
p

rw
p

Ele
c

rise
r

Ga
s
rise

r

Ga
s s
upp
ly

to b
oile
r

Bo
iler

con
den
sat
e

Ele
c ri
ser

Me
ter
 po
siti
ons

to d
eta
che
d

uni
ts o
nly

BT
 Op
en 
Re
ach
 or
 FT
TP

wh
ere
 re
qui
red
 loc
atio
n,

EZ
 be
nd 
upo
n e
ntr
y.

svp

svp

Sink &

D/W waste

Rising
main

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

W/M
waste

WC
waste

WHBwaste

rwp

rwp

Elec
riser

Gas

riser

Gas supply

to boiler

Boiler
condensate

Elec riser

Meter positions

to detached
units only

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

svp

svp

Sin
k &

D/W
 wa
ste

Ris
ing

ma
in

Ga
s s
upp
ly t
o

coo
ker
 / h
ob

W/Mwa
ste

WCwa
ste

WHB
wa

ste

rw
p

rw
p

Ele
c

rise
r

Ga
s

rise
r

Ga
s s
upp
ly

to b
oile
r

Bo
iler

con
den
sat
e

Ele
c ri
ser

Me
ter
 po
siti
ons

to d
eta
che
d

uni
ts o
nly

BT
 Op
en 
Re
ach
 or 
FT
TP

wh
ere
 req
uire
d lo
cat
ion
,

EZ
 be
nd 
upo

n e
ntry

.

svp

svp

Sin
k &D/W

 wa
ste

Risingmain

Ga
s s

upp
ly t

o

coo
ker
 / h
ob

W/
M

wa
ste

WCwa
ste

WH
Bwa

ste

rw
p

rw
p

Ele
c

rise
r

Ga
s

rise
r

Ga
s s
upp
ly

to b
oile

r

Bo
iler

con
den
sat
e

Ele
c ri
ser

Me
ter
 po
siti
ons

to d
eta
che
d

uni
ts o
nly

BT
 Op
en 
Re
ach
 or 
FT
TP

wh
ere
 req
uire
d lo
cat
ion
,

EZ
 be
nd 
upo
n e
ntry
.

svp

svp

Sink &
D/W waste

Risingmain

Gas supply to
cooker / hob

W/M
waste

WCwaste

WHB
waste

rwp

rwp

Elec
riser

Gas
riser

Gas supplyto boiler

Boilercondensate

Elec riser

Meter positions
to detached
units only

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

svp

svp

Sink &
D/W waste

Rising
main

Gas supply to
cooker / hob

W/M
waste

WC
waste

WHB
waste

rwp

rwp

Elec rise
r Gas

riser

Gas supply
to boiler

Boiler
condensate

Elec riser

Meter positions
to detached
units only

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

svp

svp

Sin
k &

D/W
 wa
ste

Ris
ing

ma
in

Ga
s s
upp
ly t
o

coo
ker
 / h
ob

W/
Mwa

ste

WCwa
ste

WH
B

wa
ste

rw
p

rw
p

Ele
c

rise
r

Gasrise
r

Ga
s s
upp
ly

to b
oile

r

Bo
iler

con
den
sat
e

Ele
c ri
ser

Me
ter
 po
siti
ons

to d
eta
che
d

uni
ts o
nly

BT
 Op
en 
Re
ach
 or
 FT
TP

wh
ere
 re
qui
red
 loc
atio
n,

EZ
 be
nd 
upo
n e
ntr
y.

svp

svp

Sin
k &

D/W
 wa
ste

Ris
ing

ma
in

Ga
s s
upp
ly t
o

coo
ker
 / h
ob

W/
M

wa
ste

WCwa
ste

WH
B
wa
ste

rw
p

rw
p

Ele
c
rise
r

Ga
s

rise
r

Ga
s s
upp
ly

to b
oile

r

Bo
iler

con
den
sat
e

Ele
c ri
ser

Me
ter
 po
siti
ons

to d
eta
che
d

uni
ts o
nly

BT
 Op
en 
Re
ach
 or
 FT
TP

wh
ere
 re
qui
red
 loc
atio
n,

EZ
 be
nd 
upo
n e
ntr
y.

svp

svp

Sink &

D/W waste

Rising

main

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

W/M
waste

WCwaste

WHB
waste

rwp

rwp

Elec
riser

Gas
riser

Gas supply

to boiler

Boiler

condensate

Elec riser

Meter positions

to detached

units only

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Rising
main

rwp

rwp

Gas supply to boiler

Gas supply to cooker

svp

svp

WC waste

WHB
waste

BT Open Reach or FTTP where
required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Elec
riser

Gas riser

Risingmain

rwp

rwp

Gas supplyto boiler

Gas supplyto cooker

svp

svp

WCwaste

WHB
waste

BT Open Reach or FTTP where
required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Elec
riser
Gas
riser

Risingmain

rwp

rwp

Gas supply
to boiler

Gas supplyto cooker

svp

svp

WCwaste

WHBwaste

BT Open Reach or FTTP where

required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Elec
riser

Gasriser

Rising
main

rwp

rwp

Gas supply to boiler

Gas supply
to cooker svp

svp

WC
waste

WHB waste

BT Open Reach or FTTP where

required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Elec riser

Gas riser

Rising main

rwp

rwp

Gas supply

to boiler

Gas supply

to cooker

svp

svp

WC waste

WHB waste

BT Open Reach or FTTP where

required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Elec riser
Gas riser

Rising

main

rwp

rwp

Gas supply

to boiler

Gas supply

to cooker

svp

svp

WC waste

WHB waste

BT Open Reach or FTTP where

required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Elec
riser

Gas riser

Rising

main

rwp

rwp

Gas supply

to boiler

Gas supply

to cooker

svp

svp

WCwaste

WHB waste

BT Open Reach or FTTP where

required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Elec riser
Gas

riser

Risingmain

rwp

rwp

Gas supply

to boiler

Gas supply

to cooker

svp

svp

WC
waste

WHB
waste

BT Open Reach or FTTP where

required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Elec
riser

Gasriser

Ris
ing

ma
in

rwp

rw
p

Ga
s s
upp
ly

to b
oile
r

Ga
s s
upp
ly

to c
ook
er

svp

svp

WCwa
ste

WH
Bwa

ste

BT
 Op
en 
Re
ach
 or
 FT
TP
 wh
ere

req
uire
d lo
cat
ion
, E
Z b
end
 up
on 
ent
ry.

Ele
c
rise

rGa
s

rise
r

Rising
main

rwp

rwp

Gas supply

to boiler

Gas supply
to cooker

svp

svp

WC waste

WHB

waste

BT Open Reach or FTTP where

required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Elec
riser

Gas rise
r

Rising

mainrwp

rwp

Gas supply

to boiler

Gas supply

to cooker

svp

svp

WC waste

WHB

waste

BT Open Reach or FTTP where

required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Elec
rise

r

Gas riser

Rising

mainrwp

rwp

Gas supply

to boiler

Gas supply

to c
ook

er

svp

svp

WCwaste

WHBwaste

BT Open Reach or FTTP where

required location, EZ bend upon entry. Elec rise
r

Gas

rise
r

Gas supply to cooker / hob

Gas supply to boiler

svp

Rising main

WC
waste

svp

Sink & W/M wasteWHB waste

doo
r

door

rwp

rwp

rwp

rwp

Elec
riser

Gas riser

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

Ga
s s

upp
ly t

o
coo

ker
 / h

ob

Ga
s su

ppl
y

to b
oile

r

svp
Ris

ing
ma

in

WC
wa

ste
svp

Sin
k &

W/M
 wa

ste

WH
B

wa
ste

do
or

doo
r

rw
p

rwp

rwp

rw
p

Ele
c

rise
r

Gas rise
r

BT
 Op

en 
Re

ach
 or 

FTT
P

wh
ere

 req
uire

d lo
cat

ion
,

EZ 
ben

d u
pon

 en
try.

Gas supply to cooker / hob

Gas supply to boiler

svp

Rising main

WC
waste

svp

Sink & W/M waste
WHB waste

door

door

rwp

rwp

rwp

rwp

Elec
riser

Gas riser

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

Ga
s s

upp
ly t

o
coo

ker
 / h

ob

Ga
s s

upp
ly

to b
oile

r

svp
Ris

ing
ma

in

WC wa
ste

svp

Sin
k &

W/M
 wa

ste

WH
B

wa
ste

doo
r

do
or

rw
p

rw
p

rw
p

rw
p

Ele
c

rise
r Ga

s

riser

BT
 Op

en 
Re

ach
 or 

FTT
P

wh
ere

 req
uire

d lo
cat

ion
,

EZ 
ben

d u
pon

 en
try.

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

Gas supply

to boiler

svp

Rising

main

WC waste

svp

Sink &

W/M waste

WHB
waste

door

door

rwp

rwp

rwp

rwp

Elec
riser

Gas riser

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Ga
s s
upp
ly t
o

coo
ker
 / h
ob

Ga
s s
upp
ly

to b
oile

r

svp

Ris
ingma

in

WCwa
ste

svp

Sin
k &

W/
M w

ast
e

WH
B
waste

do
or

do
or

rw
p

rw
p

rwp

rw
p

Ele
c

rise
rGa

s
rise
r

BT
 Op
en 
Re
ach
 or
 FT
TP

wh
ere
 re
qui
red
 loc
atio
n,

EZ
 be
nd 
upo
n e
ntr
y.

svp

Elecriser

Gasriser

Risingmain svp

Gas
supplyto boiler

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

rwp

rwp

rwp

rwp

WCwaste

Basinwaste

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

Sink &WMwaste

svp

Elec
riser

Gasriser

Risingmain svp Gassupplyto boilerGas supply tocooker / hob

rwp

rwp

rwp

rwp

WC
waste

Basin
waste

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

Sink &WM
waste

svp

Elecriser

Gas
riser

Rising
main

svp
Gas
supply
to boiler

Gas supply to
cooker / hob

rwp rwprwp

rwp

WC
waste

Basin
waste

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

Sink &
WM
waste

svpElec riser

Gas riser

Rising
main

svp
Gas
supply
to boiler

Gas supply to cooker / hob

rwp

rwp

rwp

rwp

WC
waste

Basin waste

BT Open Reach or FTTP where required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Sink &
WM
waste

svp

Elec riser

Gas riser

Rising mainsvp
Gas
supply to boiler Gas supply to cooker / hob

rwp

rwp

rwp

rwp

WC waste

Basin waste

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Sink &
WMwaste

svp

Elec
riser

Gas

riser

Rising

main

svp Gas
supp

ly

to boiler

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

rwp

rwp

rwp

rwp

WC

waste

Basin

waste

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Sink &WM
waste

svp

Elec

rise
r

Gas
rise

r

Rising

main

svp
Gas
supply

to boiler

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

rwp

rwp

rwp

rwp

WC waste

Basinwaste

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Sink &

WMwaste

svp

Elec
riser

Gas
riser

Rising
main

svp Gas

supply
to boiler

Gas supply to
cooker / hob

rwp
rwp

rwp

rwp

WC
waste

Basin
waste

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

Sink &WM

waste

Gas supply tocooker / hob

Gas supply
to boiler

WC
waste

WHB
waste

Risingmain

svp

svp

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach or FTTPwhere required location,EZ bend upon entry.

Elec
riser

Gas
riser

Gas supply to cooker / hob

Gas supply to boiler

WC
waste

WHB
waste

Rising main

svp

svp

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach or FTTP where required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Elec
riser

Gas
riser

Gas supply to
cooker / hob

Gas supply
to boiler

WCwaste WHB
waste

Rising
main

svp

svp

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

Elec
riser

Gas
riser

Ga
s su

ppl
y to

coo
ker

 / h
ob

Ga
s s

upp
ly

to b
oile

r

WCwas
teWHB wa

ste

Ris
ing

ma
in

svp

svp

rw
p

rwp

rw
p

BT
 Op

en 
Re

ach
 or 

FTT
P

wh
ere

 req
uire

d lo
cat

ion
,

EZ 
ben

d u
pon

 en
try.

Ele
c

rise
r

Ga
s

rise
r

Gas supply to cooker / hob

Gas supply
to boiler

WC waste

WHB waste

Rising main

svp

svp

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Elec riser

Gas riser

Gas supply to cooker / hob

Gas supply to boiler

WC
waste

WHB waste

Rising main

svp

svp

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Elec riser

Gas riser

Gas supply to cooker / hob

Gas supply to boiler

WC waste

WHB waste

Rising main

svp

svp

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Elec riser

Gas
riser

Gas supply tocooker / hob

Gas supply

to boiler

WCwaste

WHBwaste

Risingmain

svp

svp

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Elecriser

Gas
riser

Gas supply to cooker / hob

Gas supply
to boiler

WC
waste

WHB
waste

Rising
main

svp
svp

rwp
rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

Elec

riser Gas

riser

Gas supply to
cooker / hob

Gas supply
to boiler

WC
waste

WHB waste

Rising
main

svp
svp

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

Elec
riser

Gas riser

Rising
main

Gas supply to
cooker / hob

Gas supply
to boiler

Sink &
W/M waste

WCwaste

WHB
waste

Elec
riser

svp

svp

Gasriser

door
door

door

rwp

rwp
BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location, EZ
bend upon entry.

Ris
ing

main

Ga
s s

upp
ly t

o
coo

ker
 / h

ob

Ga
s s

upp
ly

to b
oile

r

Sin
k &

W/M
 wa

ste
WC wa

steWHBwa
ste

Ele
c

rise
r

svp

svp

Ga
s

rise
r

doo
r

do
or

do
or

rw
p

rw
p

BT
 Op

en 
Re

ach
 or 

FTT
P

wh
ere

 req
uire

d lo
cat

ion
, EZ

ben
d u

pon
 en

try.

Rising

main

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

Gas supply
to boiler

Sink &
W/M waste

WCwaste

WHB
waste

Elec

riser

svp

svp

Gas
riser

door

door

door

rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location, EZ

bend upon entry.

Rising

main

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

Gas supply

to boiler

Sink &

W/M waste

WC

waste

WHB

waste

Elec

riser

svp

svp

Gas

riser

door

door

door

rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location, EZ

bend upon entry.

Risingmain

Gas supply to
cooker / hob

Gas supply
to boiler

Sink &
W/M waste

WC
waste

WHB
waste

Elec
riser

svp

svp

Gas
riser

door
door

door

rwp

rwp
BT Open Reach or FTTPwhere required location, EZ
bend upon entry.

Ris
ing

ma
in

Ga
s s

upp
ly t

o
coo

ker
 / h

ob

Ga
s s

upp
ly

to b
oile

r

Sin
k &

W/M
 wa

ste

WC wa
ste

WH
B

wa
ste

Ele
c

rise
r

svp

svp

Ga
s

rise
r

do
or

do
or

do
or

rw
p

rw
p

BT
 Op

en 
Re

ach
 or 

FTT
P

wh
ere

 req
uire

d lo
cat

ion
, EZ

ben
d u

pon
 en

try.

Risingma
in

Ga
s su

ppl
y to

coo
ker

 / h
ob

Ga
s su

ppl
y

to b
oile

r

Sin
k &

W/M
 wa

ste

WC waste
WHB

wa
ste

Elec rise
r

svp

svp

Ga
s

rise
r

doo
r

doo
r

do
or

rwp

rwp

BT 
Op

en 
Rea

ch 
or F

TTP
whe

re r
equ

ired
 loc

atio
n, E

Z
ben

d u
pon

 en
try.

Ris
ing

ma
in

Ga
s su

ppl
y to

coo
ker

 / h
ob

Ga
s su

ppl
y

to b
oile

r

Sin
k &

W/M
 wa

ste
WC wa

ste

WHB wa
ste

Ele
c

rise
r

svp

svp

Gas rise
r

do
or

do
or

do
or

rwp

rw
p

BT
 Op

en 
Re

ach
 or 

FTT
P

wh
ere

 req
uire

d lo
cat

ion
, EZ

ben
d u

pon
 en

try.

Ris
ing

ma
in

Ga
s su

ppl
y to

coo
ker

 / h
ob

Ga
s su

ppl
y

to b
oile

r

Sin
k &

W/M
 wa

ste
WC wa

steWH
B

waste

Elec rise
r

svp

svp

Ga
s

rise
r

doo
r

do
or

do
or

rw
p

rw
p

BT
 Op

en 
Re

ach
 or 

FTT
P

wh
ere

 req
uire

d lo
cat

ion
, EZ

ben
d u

pon
 en

try.

Rising

main

Gas s
upp

ly to

cooker / hob

Gas supply

to boiler

Sin
k &

W/M waste

WC

waste

WHB

waste

Elec

rise
r

svp

svp

Gas

rise
r

door

doo
r

doo
r

rwp

rwp

BT Open
 Reac

h or
 FTTP

where required location, EZ

bend upon entry.

Rising

main

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

Gas supply

to boiler

Sink &

W/M waste

WC

waste

WHB

waste

Elec
riser

svp

svp

Gas

riser

door

door

doo
r

rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location, EZ

bend upon entry.

Rising main

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

Gas supply

to boiler

Sink & W/M waste

WC waste

WHB
waste

Elec
riser

svp

svp

Gas
riser

door

door

door

rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location, EZ

bend upon entry.

Rising
main

Gas supply to
cooker / hob

Gas supplyto boiler

Sink &
W/M waste

WC
waste

WHBwaste

Elec
riser

svp

svp

Gas
riser

door

door

door

rwp

rwp
BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location, EZ

bend upon entry.

Rising
main

Gas supply to
cooker / hob

Gas supply
to boiler

Sink & W/M waste

WC
waste

WHB
waste

Elec
riser

svp

svp

Gas
riser

door
door

door

rwp

rwpBT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location, EZ

bend upon entry.

Ris
ing

ma
in

Ga
s s
upp
ly t
o

coo
ker
 / h
ob

Ga
s s
upp
ly

to b
oile
r

Sin
k &

W/
M w
ast
e

WCwa
ste

WH
B

wa
ste

Ele
c

rise
r

svp

svp

Ga
s

rise
r

do
or

do
or

do
or

rw
p

rw
p

BT
 Op
en 
Re
ach
 or
 FT
TP

wh
ere
 re
qui
red
 loc
atio
n, E
Z

ben
d u
pon
 en
try.

Rising
main

Gas supply to
cooker / hob

Gas supply
to boiler

Sink &
W/M waste

WC

waste

WHB
waste

Elec
riser

svp

svp

Gas rise
r

doo
r

door

door

rwp

rwp
BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location, EZ

bend upon entry.

Rising
main

Gas supply to
cooker / hob

Gas supply

to boiler

Sink &
W/M waste

WC
waste

WHB
waste

Elec
riser

svp

svp

Gas
riser

door

door

door

rwp

rwp
BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location, EZ

bend upon entry.

Ris
ing

ma
in

Ga
s s
upp
ly t
o

coo
ker
 / h
ob

Ga
s s
upp
ly

to b
oile

r

Sin
k &

W/
M w
ast
e

WCwa
ste

WH
B

wa
ste

Ele
c

rise
r

svp

svp

Ga
s

rise
r

do
or

do
or

do
or

rwp

rw
p

BT
 Op
en 
Re
ach
 or
 FT
TP

wh
ere
 re
qui
red
 loc
atio
n, E
Z

ben
d u
pon
 en
try.

Sink & D/W &

W/M waste

rising main

SVP

SVP

WCwaste

elec
riser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open
Reach location

rwp

gas

riser

WHBwaste

Capped drain
for future
shower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W &

W/M waste

rising main

SVP

SVP

WCwaste

elec
riser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open
Reach location

rwp

gas

riser

WHBwaste

Capped drain
for future
shower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W &
W/M waste

rising main

SVP

SVP

WCwaste

elec
riser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open
Reach location

rwp

gasriser

WHB
waste

Capped drain
for future
shower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W &
W/M waste

rising main

SVP

SVP

WCwaste

elec
riser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open
Reach location

rwp

gasriser

WHB
waste

Capped drain
for future
shower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W & W/M waste
rising main

SVP

SVP

WC
waste

elec
riser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open
Reach location

rwp

gas riser

WHB
waste

Capped drain
for future shower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W & W/M waste
rising main

SVP

SVP

WC
waste

elec
riser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open
Reach location

rwp

gas riser

WHB
waste

Capped drain
for future shower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W &W/M waste
rising main

SVP

SVP

WCwaste

elecriser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT OpenReach location

rwp

gas
riser

WHBwaste

Capped drain
for futureshower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W &W/M waste
rising main

SVP

SVP

WCwaste

elecriser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT OpenReach location

rwp

gas
riser

WHBwaste

Capped drain
for futureshower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W & W/M waste
rising main

SVP

SVP

WC waste

elec
riser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach location

rwp

gas
riser

WHB
waste

Capped drain for future shower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W & W/M waste
rising main

SVP

SVP

WC waste

elec
riser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach location

rwp

gas
riser

WHB
waste

Capped drain for future shower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W &
W/M waste rising main

SVP

SVP

WC
waste

elec riser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach location

rwp

gas riser

WHB waste

Capped drain for future shower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W &
W/M waste rising main

SVP

SVP

WC
waste

elec riser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach location

rwp

gas riser

WHB waste

Capped drain for future shower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W & W/M waste rising main

SVP

SVP

WC waste

elec riser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach location

rwp

gas riser

WHB waste

Capped drain for future shower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W & W/M waste rising main

SVP

SVP

WC waste

elec riser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach location

rwp

gas riser

WHB waste

Capped drain for future shower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W &
W/M waste

rising main

SVP

SVP

WC waste

elec

riser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open

Reach location

rwp

gas
riser

WHBwaste

Capped drain

for future
shower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W &
W/M waste

rising main

SVP

SVP

WC waste

elec

riser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open

Reach location

rwp

gas
riser

WHBwaste

Capped drain

for future
shower position

B.I.G

Sin
k &
 D/
W 
&

W/
M w
ast
e

risi
ng 
ma
in

SV
P

SV
P

WCwa
ste

ele
c

rise
r

rwp

rw
p

rw
p

BT
 Op
en

Re
ach
 loc
atio
n

rw
p

gasrise
r

WH
B

wa
ste

Ca
ppe
d d
rain

for
 fut
ure

sho
we
r p
osi
tion

B.I
.GSin

k &
 D/
W 
&

W/
M w
ast
e

risi
ng 
ma
in

SV
P

SV
P

WCwa
ste

ele
c

rise
r

rwp

rw
p

rw
p

BT
 Op
en

Re
ach
 loc
atio
n

rw
p

gasrise
r

WH
B

wa
ste

Ca
ppe
d d
rain

for
 fut
ure

sho
we
r p
osi
tion

B.I
.G

Sink & D/W &

W/M waste

rising main

SVP

SVP

WC
waste

elec
riser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open

Reach location

rwp

gas
riser

WHB
waste

Capped drain

for futureshower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W &

W/M waste

rising main

SVP

SVP

WC
waste

elec
riser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open

Reach location

rwp

gas
riser

WHB
waste

Capped drain

for futureshower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W &
W/M waste

rising main

SVP

SVP

WC waste

elec
riser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open
Reach location

rwp

gas
riser

WHB

waste

Capped drain
for future
shower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W &
W/M waste

rising main

SVP

SVP

WC waste

elec
riser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open
Reach location

rwp

gas
riser

WHB

waste

Capped drain
for future
shower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W & W/M waste
rising main

SVP

SVP

WC waste

elec
riser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach location

rwp

gas riser

WHB waste

Capped drain
for future shower position

B.I.G

Sink & D/W & W/M waste
rising main

SVP

SVP

WC waste

elec
riser

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach location

rwp

gas riser

WHB waste

Capped drain
for future shower position

B.I.G

RWP

RWP

RWP

RWP

RWP

RWPGas
riserPlot 117

Gas
riserPlot 119

svp

Rise
rs O

ver

Sink,D/W &W/M waste

Risingmain Ga
s s

upp
ly

to b
oile

r

Gas supply to
cooker / hob

Rising
main

Floor Gully

Gasriser
Plot 116

Gasriser
Plot 118

svp
Sink,D/W &
W/M wasteRisingmainGa

s s
upp

ly
to b

oile
r

Gas supply to
cooker / hob

100mm Duct to Bin & Cycle Store

100
mm

 Du
ct t

o Bi
n &

 Cy
cle 

Stor
e

RWP

RWP

RWP

RWP

RWP

RWP

RWP

RWP

Beam spandirection

Beam span direction

Beam span direction

Gasriser Plot 89Gasriser

Plot 92

svp

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

Ga
s su

ppl
y

to b
oile

r

Sink,D/W &W/M waste

Risingmain

svp

Sink,D/W &W/M waste

Risingmain

GasriserPlot 88

Gasriser
Plot 91

Gas supply tocooker / hob

Ga
s su

ppl
y

to bo
iler

svp

svp

GasriserPlot 90

GasriserPlot 93

Gas supply tocooker / hob

Ga
s su

ppl
y

to b
oile

r

Sink,D/W &
W/M waste Rising

main

Beam span direction

Beam span direction

Rise
rs O

ver

Bea
m spa

n
dire

ctio
n

Beam span direction

Beam span direction

Bea
m spa

n d
irec

tion

Bea
m spa

n d
irec

tion

Bea
m spa

n d
irec

tion

Bea
m spa

n d
irec

tion

Bea
m spa

n d
irec

tion

Bea
m spa

n d
irec

tion

Beam span direction

Bea
m spa

n d
irec

tion

Beam span direction

Bea
m spa

n d
irec

tion

RWP

RWP

RWP

RWP

RWP

RWP

RWP

Gas
riser Plot 117

Gas riser
Plot 119

svp

Gas supply to cooker / hob

Gas supply
to boiler

Gas riserPlot 83

Gas riser

Gas supply to cooker / hobGas supply
to boiler

Plot 86

Gas riser

Gas riser

Gas supply
to boiler

Gas supply to
cooker / hob

Sink,D/W &
W/M waste

Rising main

svp

svp

svp

Sink,D/W &
W/M waste

Rising
main

Sink,D/W & W/M waste
Rising
main

100mm Duct to Bin & Cycle Store100mm Duct to Bin & Cycle Store

Risers Over

Beam span direction

Beam span direction

Beam span direction

Beam span direction

Beam span direction

Beam span direction

Beam span direction

Beam span direction

Beam span direction

Beam span direction

Beam span direction

Beam span direction

Beam span
direction

Beam span direction

Beam span direction

Beam span direction

Beam span direction

RWP

RWP

RWP

RWP

RWP

RWP

level threshold

Gas riser

Gas supply to cooker / hob

Plot 31Gas riser Plot 33

Risers Over

AB

AB

Gas riser

Gas supply
to boiler

Gas supply to cooker / hob

Plot 30

Gas riser Plot 32

Stepped threshold

svp

svp

Gas supply
to boiler

svp

svp

Rising mainSink,D/W & W/M waste

Sink,D/W &

W/M waste

Rising main

AB

AB

AB

AB

AB

AB

AB

AB

AB

AB

AB

AB

AB

AB

AB

AB

AB

AB

AB

AB

AB

AB

RW
P

RW
P

RWP

RW
P

RW
P

RW
P

Sin
k,D

/W 
&

W/M
 wa

ste

Ga
s

rise
r

Gas supply
to boiler

Ris
ing

ma
in

Ga
s su

ppl
y to

coo
ker

 / h
ob

svp

svp

svp

Ga
s

rise
r

Ga
s s

upp
ly t

o
coo

ker
 / h

ob

Gas supply
to boiler

Plo
t 26

Plo
t 27

Ga
s

rise
r

Ga
s

rise
r

Plo
t 28

Plo
t 29

Sin
k,D

/W 
&

W/M
 wa

steRis
ing

ma
in

Risers Over

AB

AB
AB

AB

AB

AB
AB

AB

AB

AB
AB

AB

AB
AB

AB

AB
AB

AB

AB100mm Duct to Bin & Cycle Store

100mm Duct to Bin & Cycle Store

AB

AB
AB

AB

AB
AB

AB

rwp

rwp

svp

svp

Gas supply

to boiler

WHB

waste
WC
waste

Sink,D/W

& W/M
waste

Rising

main

Gas riser

Elec

riser

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Gas
supply
to

cooker

/ hob

rwp

rwp

svp

svp

Gas supply
to boiler

WHB
waste

WC

waste

Sink,D/W
& W/M

waste

Rising

main

Gas

riser

Elec
riser

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Gas

supply

tocooker

/ hob

rwp

rwp

svp

svp

Gas supply

to boiler

WHB
wasteWC

waste

Sink,D/W

& W/MwasteRising main

Gas
riser

Elec riser

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Gas

supply

to

cooker
/ hob

rwp

rwp

svp

svp

Gas supply

to boiler

WHB waste

WC
waste

Sink,D/W & W/M

waste

Rising

main

Gas

riser

Elec riser
BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Gas
supply to

cooker

/ hob

rwp

rwp

svp

svp

Gas supply
to boiler

WHB waste

WC waste

Sink,D
/W & W/M waste

Rising main

Gas riser

Elec riser

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Gas supply to cook
er / hob

rwp

rwp

svp

svp

Gas supply
to boiler

WHB waste

WC waste

Sink,D/W
& W/M waste

Rising main

Gas riser

Elec riser

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Gas

supp
ly tocook

er / hob

rwp

rwp

svp

svp

Ga
s su

ppl
y

to b
oile

r

WHB
waste

WC
waste

Sink,D/W& W/Mwaste

Risingmain

Gasriser

Elecriser

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Gassupplytocooker/ hob

rwp

rwp

svp

svp

Gas s
upp

ly
to b

oile
r

WHBwasteWCwaste

Sink,D/W& W/Mwaste

Rising
main

Gasriser

Elec
riser

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Gassupplytocooker
/ hob

rwp

rwp

svp

svp

Ga
s su

ppl
y

to bo
iler

WHBwaste

WC
waste

Sink,D/W& W/Mwaste

Risingmain

Gasriser

Elecriser

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Gassupplytocooker/ hob

rwp

rwp

svp

svp

Gas s
upp

ly
to b

oile
r

WHB
wasteWCwaste

Sink,D/W& W/Mwaste

Risingmain

Gasriser

Elec
riser

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Gassupplytocooker
/ hob

rwp

rwp

svp

svp

Ga
s su

ppl
y

to b
oile

r

WHBwaste

WC
waste

Sink,D/W& W/Mwaste
Risingmain

Gasriser

Elecriser

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Gas
supplyto

cooker/ hob

rwp

rwp

svp

svp

Ga
s su

ppl
y

to b
oile

r

WHBwasteWCwaste

Sink,D/W& W/Mwaste

Rising
main

Gasriser

Elec
riser

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

Gas
supplyto
cooker/ hob

rwp

rwp

svp

svp

Ga
s su

ppl
y

to b
oile

r

WHB
waste

WCwaste

Sink,D/W
& W/Mwaste Rising

main

Gasriser

Elecriser

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

Gassupply
to

cooker/ hob

rwp

rwp

svp

svp

Ga
s su

ppl
y

to b
oile

r

WHB
wasteWCwaste

Sink,D/W& W/Mwaste

Rising
main

Gasriser

Elecriser

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

Gassupplytocooker
/ hob

rwp
BT Open Reach or FTTP where required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Rising
main

rwp

svp

WHB waste

BT Open Reach or FTTP where required location, EZ bend upon entry.

WHB waste

Rising
main

rwp

rwp

Gas supply to boiler

Gas supply to cooker

svp

svp

WC waste

WHB waste

BT Open Reach or FTTP where required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Elec riser

Gas
riser

Rising
main

rwp

rwp

Gas supply
to boiler

Gas supply to cooker

svp

svp

WC waste

WHB waste

Elec
riser

Gas

riser

BT Open Reach or FTTP where required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Rising
main

rwp

rwp

Gas supply to boiler

Gas supply to cooker

svp

svp

WC waste

WHB waste

BT Open Reach or FTTP where required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Elec riser

Gas
riser

Rising
main

rwp

rwp

Gas supply
to boiler

Gas supply to cooker

svp

svp

WC waste

WHB waste

Elec
riser

Gas

riser

BT Open Reach or FTTP where required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Rising

main

rwp

rwp

Gas supply

to boiler

Gas supply

to cooker

svp

svp

WC
waste

WHBwaste

BT Open Reach or FTTP where

required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Elec
riser

Gas

riser

Risingmain rwp

rwp

Gas supply

to boiler

Gas supplyto cooker svp

svp

WC
waste

WHB
waste Elec

riser

Gasriser

BT Open Reach or FTTP where

required location, EZ bend upon entry.
Rising

main

rwp

rwp

Gas supply

to boiler

Gas supply

to cooker

svp

svp

WC
waste

WHBwaste

BT Open Reach or FTTP where

required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Elec
riser

Gas

riser

Risingmain rwp

rwp

Gas supply

to boiler

Gas supplyto cooker svp

svp

WC
waste

WHB
waste Elec

riser

Gasriser

BT Open Reach or FTTP where

required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Risingmain

rwp

rwp

Gas supply
to boiler

Gas supply
to cooker

svp

svp

WC
waste

WHB
waste

BT Open Reach or FTTP where

required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Elec
riser

Gas
riser

Rising
main

rwp

rwp

Gas supply
to boiler

Gas supply
to cooker

svp

svp

WC

waste

WHB
waste Elec

riser

Gas

riser

BT Open Reach or FTTP where

required location, EZ bend upon entry.
Risingmain

rwp

rwp

Gas supply
to boiler

Gas supply
to cooker

svp

svp

WC
waste

WHB
waste

BT Open Reach or FTTP where

required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Elec
riser

Gas
riser

Rising
main

rwp

rwp

Gas supply
to boiler

Gas supply
to cooker

svp

svp

WC

waste

WHB
waste Elec

riser

Gas

riser

BT Open Reach or FTTP where

required location, EZ bend upon entry.

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GA
RA

GE
 TY

PE
 S

IN
GL

E

rw
p

rw
p

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE rwp

rwp

GA
RA

GE
 TY

PE
 SI

NG
LE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GA
RA

GE
 TY

PE
 S

IN
GL

E

rw
p

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GA
RA

GE
 TY

PE
 S

IN
GL

E

rw
p

rw
p

GA
RA

GE
 TY

PE
 S

IN
GL

E

rw
p

rw
p

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GA
RA

GE
 TY

PE
 DO

UB
LE

rwp

rwp

GA
RA

GE
 TY

PE
 D

OU
BL

E

rw
p

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GA
RA

GE
 TY

PE
 D

OU
BL

E
rw

p

rw
p

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GA
RA

GE
 TY

PE
 D

OU
BL

E

rw
p

rw
p

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GA
RA

GE
 TY

PE
 D

OU
BL

E

rw
p

rw
p

GA
RA

GE
 TY

PE
 D

OU
BL

E

rw
p

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLErwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLErwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLErwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE
rwp

rwp

GA
RA

GE
 TY

PE
 DO

UB
LE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLErwp

rwp

GA
RA

GE
 TY

PE
 D

OU
BL

E

rw
p

rw
p

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GA
RA

GE
 TY

PE
 D

OU
BL

E

rw
p

rw
p

GA
RA

GE
 TY

PE
 D

OU
BL

E

rw
p

rw
p

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

GA
RA

GE
 TY

PE
 D

OU
BL

E

rw
p

rw
p

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

Duct for electric
landlord supply in

apartment riser

BIN STORE

CYCLE STORE

Rising
main

Floor Gully

rwp

Duct for electric
landlord supply in

apartment riser

BIN STORE

CYCLE STORE

Risingmain

Floor Gully

rwp

rwp

38 38

Risingmain

Gas supply tocooker / hob

Gas supplyto boiler

Sink &
W/M waste WCwaste

WHB
waste

Elec
riser

svp

svp

Gas
riser

Sleeper wall

rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach or FTTPwhere required location, EZ
bend upon entry.

Risingmain

Gas supply tocooker / hob

Gas supplyto boiler

Sink &
W/M waste WCwaste

WHB
waste

Elec
riser

svp

svp

Gas
riser

Sleeper wall

rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach or FTTPwhere required location, EZ
bend upon entry.

37 37

38

38 39

39

40

40

39

39
40

37 37 37

36

53
51

3636

36

53

53
53

52

52

52

52

51
50

51 50

51 50

50
49

49 48

49 48

49 48

48 47

47

47

46

46

47

46

45

45

45

40

41

42

43

44

41

42

41

42

Ris
ing

main

rwp

rwp

Gas s
upp

ly
to b

oile
r

Ga
s su

ppl
y

to co
oker

svp

svp

WC waste

WHB

was
te

BT 
Open

 Reac
h or

 FTT
P w

here

requ
ired

 loca
tion

, EZ
 ben

d up
on e

ntry
.

Elec

rise
r

Gas riser

Ris
ing

ma
in

rwp

rwp

Gas s
uppl

y

to b
oile

rGas s
upp

ly

to co
oker

svp

svp

WC

was
te

WHB

waste

Elec

rise
r

Gas rise
r

BT O
pen

 Reac
h or

 FTT
P w

here

requ
ired

 loc
atio

n, E
Z be

nd u
pon

 ent
ry.

43

44

43

44

43

44

17

17

18

18
19

19

20

20 21

21 22
22

17

17

18

19

18

19

20

20
21

21

22

22

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

23
23

23

23
23

34

34

34

34

BLOCK B
30-33

11

12

11
12

11
12

11
12

13

13

13

14

13

14
15

15

Rising
main

rwp

rwp

Gas supply

to boiler

Gas supply

to cooker

svp

svp

WC

waste

WHBwaste

BT Open Reach or FTTP where

required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Elec
riser

Gas

riser

14
15 16

16

16

16

1

1 1

1 1

rising main

SVP

SVP

WC
waste

elec
riser

rwp

rwprwp

BT Open
Reach location

rwp

gas
riser

WHB
waste

Capped drain
for future shower position

B.I.G

2

2

3

3

4

4
6

5

5

172

173

173172

172
173

172 173
171

171

171

171

170

164

163
162

163

162 163

163
162

162

174

175

175

174

175

174

175

174

169

170

169
168

168 168

169

170

169

170

168 168

161

161

161

161

160

160

160

159

158

159

158

159
159

158

158

157
157

157

157

156
156

156
156

156

156

156

164

164

164

164

164

164

165

165

166

166

166

165

166

165

167

167

167

167

167

154

154

154

154

154

153

152

152

153

152

153

152

153

151

151

151

151

150
149

150

149
150

150
149

149

155
155

155

155
155148

148

148

148

144

143
142

144 144

144
144

144 144
143142

142 143

142 143

141

141

141

141

140

140
140

140

139

139

139
139

138138

138

138

146 145

146 145

146 145146

145

147
147

147

147

136 136
136

136

135

135

134

133
132

135 135

134

134

133132

133132

131

131

131
130

128
129127

127

132 133
134

130
129

130
129

128
127

128
127

126

126

126

126

137137

137

137

123123

123

123 123
124

124
124

124
124

125

125

125 125

56
56

55

54

55

54

56

55

54

56

55

54

5758

5758

57

58

58 57

66

65

66

65

66

67

67

68

69
69 68

69 68

69 68

120

120

120

120

121

122

121
121

122
122

121
121

121
121122

122

122
122

109
109

109
109

109 109
109

110

110

110
110

115

115

BLOCK E
116-119

115

114

113

112

111

111
111

113

114

113

114

112

112

111

111

105

106

105

106
106

105

106

105

107

107
107

107

107

108

108

108

108

104

103

104

104104

104

103

103
103

103

100 99

98101

97

102

9695
94

99

98
99

98

99

98

97

97
97

97

95 96

95 96

9695

94 94

94 94

100 100

100 100

102

102

102

102

101

101

101

BLOCK D
88-93

BLOCK C
82-87

Gas supply to
cooker / hobGas supply

to boiler

svp

Rising
main

WCwaste

svp

Sink &W/M waste

WHB
waste

door

door

Sleeper wall

rwp

rwp

rwp

rwp

ElecriserGas

riser

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Gas supply

to boiler

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

Gas riser

WC waste

Elecriser

WHB

waste

Risingmain

Sink &W/Mwaste

SVP

rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Elec

riser

Gas riser

Risingmain

Sink &W/Mwaste

SVP

WHBwaste

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

Gas supply
to boiler

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

rwp

rwp

7

Gas supply to boiler

Gas supply to cooker / hob

Ga
s ri

ser

WC w
aste

Ele
c

rise
r

WHB

was
te

Ris
ing

main

Sink &

W/M wa
ste

SVP

rw
p

rw
p

BT 
Op

en 
Rea

ch 
or F

TTP
whe

re r
equ

ired
 loc

atio
n,

EZ 
ben

d u
pon

 en
try.

Ga
s ri

serSV
P

Sin
k &

W/Mwa
ste

Ris
ing

ma
in

WH
B

was
te

WC

wa
ste

Gas supply to cooker / hob
Gas supply to boiler

67

rw
p

Elec rise
r

Ga
s ri

ser
rw

p

Ris
ing

ma
in

Sin
k &

W/M wa
ste

SV
P

WH
B

wa
ste

Gas supply to cooker / hobGas supply to boiler

BT
 Op

en 
Re

ach
 or 

FTT
P

wh
ere

 req
uire

d lo
cat

ion
,

EZ
 be

nd 
upo

n e
ntry

.

rw
p

Ele
c

rise
r

Ga
s ri

ser
rw

p

Ris
ing

ma
in

Sin
k & W/M

wa
ste

SV
P

WH
B

waste

Gas supply to cooker / hob
Gas supply
to boiler

BT
 Op

en 
Re

ach
 or 

FTT
P

wh
ere

 req
uire

d lo
cat

ion
,

EZ
 be

nd 
upo

n e
ntry

.

62

63

rw
p

Ele
c

rise
r

Ga
s ri

ser
rw

p

Risingma
in

Sin
k &

W/M wa
ste

SV
P

WH
B

was
te

Gas supply to cooker / hobGas supply
to boiler

BT
 Op

en 
Re

ach
 or 

FTT
P

wh
ere

 req
uire

d lo
cat

ion
,

EZ
 be

nd 
upo

n e
ntry

.

rw
p

Ele
c

rise
r

Ga
s ri

ser
rw

p

Ris
ing ma

in

Sin
k & W/M

wa
ste

SV
P

WH
B

wa
ste

Gas supply to
cooker / hob

Gas supply
to boiler

BT
 Op

en 
Re

ach
 or 

FTT
P

wh
ere

 req
uire

d lo
cat

ion
,

EZ 
ben

d u
pon

 en
try.

64

65
rwp

Elec
riser

Gas riserrwp

Risingmain

Sink &W/M
waste

SVP

WHB
waste

Ga
s s

upp
ly t

o
coo

ker
 / h

ob
Ga

s su
ppl

y
to b

oile
r

BT Open Reach or FTTPwhere required location,EZ bend upon entry.

rwp

Elec
riser

Gas riser rwp

Rising
main

Sink &
W/Mwaste

SVP

WHB
waste

Ga
s su

ppl
y to

coo
ker

 / h
ob

Ga
s s

upp
ly

to b
oile

r

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,EZ bend upon entry.

76 77

rwp

Elecriser

Gas riser

rwp

Rising

main

Sink &W/Mwaste

SVP

WHBwaste

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

Gas supply

to boiler

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Elecriser

Gas riser

Rising
main

Sink &

W/Mwaste

SVP

WHB

waste

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

Gas supply

to boiler

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

rwp

Elecriser

Gas riser

Rising
main

Sink &
W/Mwaste

SVP

WHB

waste

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

Gas supply

to boiler

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

rwp

8

9

10

rwp

Elec
riser

Gas riser
rwp

Rising
main

Sink &
W/Mwaste

SVP

WHBwaste

Gas supply to
cooker / hob Gas supplyto boiler

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

Elec
riser

Gas riser

Rising
main

Sink &
W/Mwaste

SVP

WHB
waste

Gas supply tocooker / hob Gas supply
to boiler

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

rwp

Elec
riser

Gas riser

Rising

main

Sink &
W/Mwaste

SVP

WHB
waste

Gas supply to
cooker / hob Gas supply

to boiler

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

rwp

59

60

61

24

25

Elec
riser

Gas riser

SVP

Sink &
W/Mwaste

Rising
main

WHB
waste

WCwaste

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

Elec
riser

Gas riser

SVP

Sink &W/M
waste

Rising
main

WHB
waste

WC
waste

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

rwp

rwp

rwp

rwp Gas supply tocooker / hob Gas supplyto boiler

Gas supply tocooker / hob Gas supply
to boiler

70

71

Elec
riser

Gas riser

SVP

Sink &
W/Mwaste

Rising
main

WHB
waste

WCwaste

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

Elec
riser

Gas riser

SVP Sink &
W/Mwaste

Rising
main

WHB
waste

WCwaste

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

rwp

rwp

rwp

rwp Gas supply to
cooker / hob Gas supplyto boiler

Gas supply tocooker / hob Gas supplyto boiler

72

73

Elecriser

Gas riser

SVP

Sink &
W/M
waste Risingmain

WHBwaste

WC
waste

BT Open Reach or FTTPwhere required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

Elecriser

Gas riser

SVP

Sink &
W/Mwaste

Risingmain

WHB
waste

WC
waste

BT Open Reach or FTTPwhere required location,EZ bend upon entry.

rwp

rwp

rwp

rwp

Ga
s s

upp
ly t

o
coo

ker
 / h

ob
Ga

s su
ppl

y
to b

oile
r

Ga
s su

ppl
y to

coo
ker

 / h
ob

Ga
s s

upp
ly

to b
oile

r

78 79

Elec
riser

Gas riser

SVP

Sink &W/M
waste

Risingmain

WHB
waste

WCwaste

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,EZ bend upon entry.

Elec
riser

Gas riser

SVP

Sink &
W/M
wasteRising

main

WHB
waste

WC
waste

BT Open Reach or FTTPwhere required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

rwp

rwp

rwp

rwp

Ga
s su

ppl
y to

coo
ker

 / h
ob

Ga
s s

upp
ly

to b
oile

r

Ga
s s

upp
ly t

o
coo

ker
 / h

ob
Ga

s s
upp

ly
to b

oile
r

74 75

Elec
riser

Gas riser

SVP

Sink &W/M
waste

Risingmain

WHB
waste

WCwaste

BT Open Reach or FTTP
where required location,EZ bend upon entry.

Elec
riser

Gas riser

SVP

Sink &W/M
wasteRising

main

WHBwaste

WC
waste

BT Open Reach or FTTPwhere required location,
EZ bend upon entry.

rwp

rwp

rwp

rwp

Ga
s s

upp
ly t

o
coo

ker
 / h

ob
Ga

s su
ppl

y
to b

oile
r

Ga
s su

ppl
y to

coo
ker

 / h
ob

Ga
s s

upp
ly

to b
oile

r

80 81

Ø

Ø
Ø

Ø

Ø

Ø

Ø

Ø
Ø

ØØ Ø Ø

Ø
Ø

Ø

Ø
Ø

Ø

Ø

Ø
Ø

Ø
Ø

Ø

Ø

Ø

Ø

Ø

Ø

Ø

Ø

Ø

35

35

35

35

svp

Elecriser

Gasriser

Rising
main

svp

Gassupplyto boiler

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

rwp

rwp

rwp

rwp

WCwaste

Basin
waste

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

Sink &WMwaste

Gas supply to cooker / hob

Gas supply to boiler

svp

Rising
main

WC waste

svp

Sink & W/M waste

WHB waste

Sleeper wall

rwp

rwp

rwp

rwp

Elec riser

Gas
riser BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location, EZ bend upon entry.

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

Gas supply to cooker / hob

Gas supply to boiler

svp
Rising
main

WC
waste

svp

Sink & W/M waste
WHB
waste

rwp

rwprwp

rwp

Elec
riser

Gas riser

BT Open Reach or FTTP where required location, EZ bend upon entry.

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

Sleeper wall

rwp

rwp

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

Gas supply

to boiler

svp

Rising

main

WCwaste

svp

Sink &

W/M waste

WHB

waste

door

door

rwp

rwp

rwp

rwp

Elecriser

Gasriser

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

GARAGE TYPE DOUBLE

rwp

rwp

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

Gas supply
to boiler

WC

waste

WHB

waste

Rising
main

svp

svp

rwp

rwp

rwp

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.
Elec

riser

Gas riser

GARAGE TYPE SINGLE

rwp

rwp

Ga
s s

upp
ly t

o
coo

ker
 / h

obGa
s su

ppl
y

to b
oile

r

WC wa
ste

WH
B

wa
ste

Ris
ing

ma
in

svp

svp

rw
p

rw
p

rw
p

BT
 Op

en 
Re

ach
 or 

FTT
P

wh
ere

 req
uire

d lo
cat

ion
,

EZ 
ben

d u
pon

 en
try.

Ele
c

rise
r

Ga
s

rise
r

svp

svp

Sink &
D/W waste

Rising
main

Gas supply to

cooker / hob

W/Mwaste

WCwaste

WHB
waste

rwp

rwp

Elec

riser

Gas
riser

Gas supply

to boiler

Boiler

condensate

Elec riser

BT Open Reach or FTTP

where required location,

EZ bend upon entry.

26-29

74 74 76
76 77 77 78 78 79 79 80 80 81 81

88 89 90 91 92 93 v v

828384858687vvvvvvv

75

75

59 59

60

60

61

61
62

62

63

63

64

64

67

v

70

70

71

71

72

72

73

73

116

117

118

119

v

6

6

6

7

7

8

8

9

9

10

10

v

v

v

24
24

25
25

26

27
28

29
30

31
32

33
v

v

v

Rising main

rwp

Gas supply to boiler

Gas supply to cooker

svp

svp

WC
waste

WHB

waste Elec

riser

Gas
riser

rwp

Gas supply
to boiler

Gas supply to cooker

svp

WC waste

Elec
riser

Gas riser

Rising main

rwp

rwp

Gas supply to boiler

Gas supply to cooker

svp

svp

WC
waste

WHB

waste

BT Open Reach or FTTP where required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Elec

riser

Gas
riser

Rising
main

rwp

rwp

Gas supply
to boiler

Gas supply to cooker

svp

svp

WC waste

Elec
riser

Gas riser

BT Open Reach or FTTP where required location, EZ bend upon entry.

Ris
ing ma

in

rw
p

rw
p

Ga
s su

ppl
y

to b
oile

r

Ga
s su

ppl
y

to c
ook

er

svp

svp

WC
wa

ste

WH
B

was
te

Elec rise
r

Ga
s

rise
r

BT 
Op

en 
Rea

ch 
or F

TTP
 wh

ere
req

uire
d lo

cat
ion

, EZ
 be

nd 
upo

n e
ntry

.

rw
p

Sin
k

was
te

WCwa
ste

WH
B

wa
ste

Ris
ing

ma
in

thr
es

ho
ld

rwp

rwp

rwp

rwp Dra
ina

ge 
cha

nne
l

BT
 Op

en 
Re

ach
 or 

FTT
P

wh
ere

 req
uire

d lo
cat

ion
,

EZ 
ben

d u
pon

 en
try.

elec rise
r

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W
EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W
EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W EX W

EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX W
EX W

EX W
EX

 W
EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W
EX

 W
EX

 W
EX W

EX
 W

EX W
EX W

EX
 W

EX W
EX

 W
EX

 W
EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W
EX W

EX
 W

EX W
EX

 W
EX

 W
EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W
EX

 W
EX W

EX W
EX

 W
EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W
EX

 W
EX W

EX W
EX

 W
EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W
EX

 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W
EX W

EX
 W

EX W
EX

 W
EX

 W
EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W
EX W

EX W
EX W

EX W EX W EX W
EX W

EX W EX W EX W EX W EX W
EX W

EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W
EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W EX W EX W EX W EX W
EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W
EX W

EX W
EX W

EX W EX W EX W EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W
EX W

EX W
EX W

EX WEX W
EX W

EX W
EX W

EX WEX W
EX W

EX WEX W
EX W

EX W

EX W EX W
EX W

EX W
EX W

EX W EX W
EX W

EX W EX W
EX W

EX W
EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W
EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W
EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W
EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W
EX W

EX W
EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W
EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W
EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W
EX W

EX W
EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W
EX W

EX W
EX W

EX W

EX W
EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W
EX WEX W

EX WEX WEX W
EX WEX W

EX WEX W
EX WEX W

EX WEX WEX W
EX WEX W

EX WEX W
EX WEX W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W
EX

 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W
EX

 W
EX

 W
EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W
EX

 W
EX

 W
EX

 W
EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W EX W
EX W EX W

EX W EX W EX W
EX W EX W

EX W EX W
EX W EX W EX W

EX W EX W
EX W EX W

EX W EX W
EX W

EX W
EX W

EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W

EX
 W

EX W
EX

 W
EX

 W
EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W
EX

 W
EX

 W
EX

 W
EX

 W
EX

 W
EX

 W
EX W

EX
 W

EX WEX W
EX WEX W

EX WEX WEX W
EX WEX W

EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W

EX
 W

EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W
EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W
EX W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W
EX W

EX
 W

EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W
EX WEX W

EX W
EX

 W

EX WEX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W
EX W

EX W
EX W

EX
 W

EX W
EX W

EX W
EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W
EX W

EX W
EX W

EX
 W

EX W
EX W

EX W
EX W

EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W EX W
EX W

EX W EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W
EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W

EX W EX W EX W
EX W EX W

EX W EX W
EX W EX W

EX W
EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W
EX

 W
EX

 W
EX

 W
EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W
EX

 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W
EX W

EX W
EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W
EX

 W
EX

 W
EX

 W
EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W
EX

 W
EX

 W
EX

 W
EX W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX
 W

EX W

EX W

BINSTED

Land within Binsted Rife retained and
enhanced for reptile and water vole

habitat.

Proposed hedgerow with trees
to visually integrate entrance of
Avisford Grange with
surrounding landscape.

Very low noise road surfacing
within vicinity of Church of St
Mary's, Binsted Lane to
reduce traffic noise.

Indicative locations of proposed wildlife ponds
to replace 3 ponds lost within footprint of
proposed A27 bypass.

Existing boundary hedgerow and to be
retained where possible or replaced with

similar to assist screening views from
Avisford Grange.

Continuation of planted A27 bypass
corridor to screen residential views from
Yapton Lane. Top of embankment to be
planted with native hedge and trees to

replicate and integrate into existing field
boundary treatment.

Noise mitigation earth bund to form
extension of A27 bypass embankment.
Planted with linear trees and shrubs to
provide screening and strengthen landscape
integration to Golf Course.

Proposed native hedgerow with
trees to define arable field
boundaries, assist screening traffic
and provide habitat connectivity to
existing hedgerows.

Proposed native hedgerow with trees to
edge of embankment and field boundary
to provide a 'filtered' screen from views
south of Church of St Mary's, Binsted Lane
across Binsted Rife.

Grade II* Listed Church
of St Mary's, Binsted Lane.

Land identified for the
potential reprovision of
Avisford Park Golf Club.

Linear tree and shrubs planted
to create a multi-layered

approach to screen views from
Avisford Grange.

AVISFORD GRANGE
HOUSING ESTATE

(under construction)
CUT LINE

CUT LINE

CUT LINE

SHEET 1

SHEET 2

SHEET 2

SHEET 3

PROPOSED
TYE LANE
OVERBRIDGE

PROPOSED YAPTON
LANE OVERBRIDGE

PROPOSED BINSTED
RIFE UNDERBRIDGE

YAPTON
LANE

COMPOUND

Yapton Lane overbridge online
option. For offline option refer
General Arrangement Plans,
sheet 2B.

Ch 1200.0

Ch 1300.0

PI 1291.591Δ 24.5° LTT 156.341mL 307.903mR 720.000mPC 1154.987PT 1462.890

CUT LINE

SHEET 1

SHEET 2

Drawing Number Rev
Highways England PIN Originator Volume

Location Type Role Number

THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN PREPARED PURSUANT TO AND SUBJECT TO THE
TERMS OF AECOM'S APPOINTMENT BY ITS CLIENT. AECOM ACCEPTS NO

LIABILITY FOR ANY USE OF THIS DOCUMENT OTHER THAN BY ITS ORIGINAL
CLIENT OR FOLLOWING AECOM'S EXPRESS AGREEMENT TO SUCH USE, AND
ONLY FOR THE PURPOSES FOR WHICH IT WAS PREPARED AND PROVIDED.

DateApprovedCheckedDrawn

Internal Project No.

Drawing Title

Suffix
By

REVISION DETAILS Date
Check

Project Title

Client

Suitability

Scale @ A1 Volume

Purpose of issue

Designed

www.aecom.com 
Tel:

SAFETY, HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION BOX

IT IS ASSUMED THAT ALL WORKS ON THIS DRAWING WILL BE
CARRIED OUT BY A COMPETENT CONTRACTOR WORKING, WHERE

APPROPRIATE, TO AN APPROPRIATE METHOD STATEMENT.

THIS DRAWING IS TO BE USED ONLY FOR THE PURPOSE OF ISSUE THAT IT WAS
ISSUED FOR AND IS SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT.

EXCEPTIONAL RISKS RELATING TO THE WORKS ASSOCIATED WITH THIS
DRAWING ARE IDENTIFIED BELOW.

www.bamnuttall.co.uk

BAM Nuttall Limited
St James House
Knoll Road

GU15 3XW
Camberley

Pl
ot

 D
at

e 
:

Fi
le

 N
am

e 
: HE551523 P02BAM ELS

ZZ___ DR LD 0002

A27 Arundel Bypass

PRELIMINARY
LANDSCAPE

AND ENVIRONMENTAL
MASTERPLAN

JD JB JD SH 06/01/22

60630750 S4

Landscape

SUITABLE FOR STAGE APPROVAL

C
: W

W
O

R
KI

N
G

EC
O

M
_D

S0
2_

U
K-

C
LT

O
LI

N
.M

IL
LS

@
AE

C
O

M
.C

O
M

\D
01

01
16

7E
55

15
23

-B
AM

-G
EN

-Z
Z_

ZZ
_Z

Z_
ZZ

-T
M

-Z
Z-

00
01

06
 J

an
ua

ry
 2

02
2 

10
:0

0:
12

AECOM

Brickhill Drive
Bedford Heights
Unit 216

+44 1234 349 641

JB

SH
06/01/22

JB

SH
21/12/21

P02

P01

1:2500

NATIONAL HIGHWAYS
Bridge House
1 Walnut Tree Close
Guildford
Surrey

For Stage Approval

First Issue

NOTE:

©Crown copyright 2021 [and database rights] OS 100030649 . You are
granted anon-exclusive, royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the
Licensed Data for non-commercial purposes for the period during which
Highways England makes it available. You are not permitted to copy,
sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available the Licensed Data to
third parties in any form. Third party rights to enforce the terms of this licence
shall be reserved to OS.

©Bluesky International Limited.

150100500 200 250 300

SCALE 1:2,500 @A1

N

NOTES

This drawing represents a preliminary design and will be subject to detailed
design development in accordance with the provisions of the Development
Consent Order including as a response to feedback from statutory
consultation. All proposed landscape requirements (including retained
vegetation, proposed replacement planting and individual trees), on and
off-site ecological mitigation, flood compensation requirements and highways
related features are indicative at this stage and subject to change. This
drawing is provided for Statutory Consultation and inclusion within the PEI
Report with the following limitations: 

· Preliminary Landscape and Environmental Masterplan proposals are
based on highway layout 'Design Fix 3A' and associated drainage and
structural elements.

· Landscape Elements in accordance with Table 4.2b of DMRB, LD117
Landscape Design rev 0.

· *Very low noise surfacing is quieter than a Level 3 'very quiet surfacing'
material as defined in Table 9/17 in the Manual of Contract documents
for Highway Works.

· Greyed out areas within the Scheme are excluded from the draft Order
Limits.

· For complete draft Order Limits, detailed highways, structures, drainage
and Public Rights of Way proposals refer to drawing ref: GENERAL
ARRANGEMENT PLAN HE551523-BAM-HGN-ZZ-DR-CH-0131.

· Do not scale from drawing.

LE 1.3 Species rich grassland

LE 2.4 Linear trees and shrubs

LE 2.1 Woodland

LE 2.2 Woodland edge

LE 4.4 Hedgerow with trees

LE 5.1 Individual trees

Location of construction compound

Retained vegetation

Attenuation pond

Location of wetland enhancement areas

Floodplain compensation storage areas

Location of replaced ponds

Highway embankments - shorter line indicates top
of embankment

Drainage ditch

Earth bund

Noise barriers

draft Order Limits

Very low noise surfacing *

Retained Common Land

Replacement Common Land

7

8

9

3

4

5

6

10

1

11

2

Existing

Proposed

FIGURE 2-1 (SHEET 2 OF 6)

P
age 154

A
genda Item

 5
A

ppendix B

http://www.ursglobal.com
http://www.ursglobal.com


Ch 2900.0

Ch 3000.0

Ch 3100.0

Ch 3200.0

Ch 3300.0

Ch 3400.0

Ch 3500.0

Ch 3600.0

Ch 3700.0

Ch 3800.0

Ch 3900.0

Ch 4000.0

Ch 4100.0

Ch 4200.0

Ch 4300.0

Ch 4400.0

86°34'51.3"621.067m

PI 3783.313Ls 0.000mYs 0.918mXs 69.428mLT 46.291mST 23.146mPI 3783.313Ls 69.436mYs 0.918mXs 69.428mLT 46.291mST 23.146m

86°34'51.3"621.067m

PI 3149.708Δ 42.0° LTT 670.960mL 1281.419mR 1750.000mPC 2498.486PT 3779.905

Bi
ns

te
d

La
ne

Binsted Lane

Binsted Lane

Proposed native woodland, native
woodland edge and species-rich
grassland. Grassland required for
reptile receptor area.

Dormouse habitat mitigation comprising of
gapping-up field boundary hedges and

creation of a native woodland copse.

Gentle gradient of embankment with
specimen trees to integrate green bridge

into the surrounding landscape.

Floodplain compensation
storage area.

Habitat connectivity
strengthened east - west, with
proposed native hedgerows,
linear trees and shrub planting.

Wetland habitat enhancement
within Tortington Rife.

Proposed vegetated 'funnel' guiding
bats foraging routes across the A27
bypass via the green bridge.

Proposed native hedgerow with
trees to define field boundary.

Existing native hedgerow to
be gapped up for dormouse

habitat connectivity.

Proposed dormouse
enhancement area comprising of

native woodland.

Proposed native hedgerow with
trees to define arable field
boundaries, assist screening traffic
and provide habitat connectivity to
existing hedgerows.

edge of embankment and field boundary
to provide a 'filtered' screen from views
south of Church of St Mary's, Binsted Lane
across Binsted Rife.

CUT LINE
CUT LINE

CUT LINE

SHEET 2

SHEET 3

SHEET 3
SHEET 4

PROPOSED BINSTED
LANE OVERBRIDGE

PROPOSED TORTINGTON
RIFE UNDERBRIDGE

Ch 2900.0

PI 3149.708Δ 42.0° LTT 670.960mL 1281.419mR 1750.000mPC 2498.486PT 3779.905

CUT LINE

SHEET 2

SHEET 3

Ch 4500.0

Ch 4600.0

Tortington Lane

To
rt

in
gt

on
 L

an
e

CUT LINE
CUT LINE

SHEET 3
SHEET 4

Drawing Number Rev
Highways England PIN Originator Volume

Location Type Role Number

THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN PREPARED PURSUANT TO AND SUBJECT TO THE
TERMS OF AECOM'S APPOINTMENT BY ITS CLIENT. AECOM ACCEPTS NO

LIABILITY FOR ANY USE OF THIS DOCUMENT OTHER THAN BY ITS ORIGINAL
CLIENT OR FOLLOWING AECOM'S EXPRESS AGREEMENT TO SUCH USE, AND
ONLY FOR THE PURPOSES FOR WHICH IT WAS PREPARED AND PROVIDED.

DateApprovedCheckedDrawn

Internal Project No.

Drawing Title

Suffix
By

REVISION DETAILS Date
Check

Project Title

Client

Suitability

Scale @ A1 Volume

Purpose of issue

Designed

www.aecom.com 
Tel:

SAFETY, HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION BOX

IT IS ASSUMED THAT ALL WORKS ON THIS DRAWING WILL BE
CARRIED OUT BY A COMPETENT CONTRACTOR WORKING, WHERE

APPROPRIATE, TO AN APPROPRIATE METHOD STATEMENT.

THIS DRAWING IS TO BE USED ONLY FOR THE PURPOSE OF ISSUE THAT IT WAS
ISSUED FOR AND IS SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT.

EXCEPTIONAL RISKS RELATING TO THE WORKS ASSOCIATED WITH THIS
DRAWING ARE IDENTIFIED BELOW.

www.bamnuttall.co.uk

BAM Nuttall Limited
St James House
Knoll Road

GU15 3XW
Camberley

Pl
ot

 D
at

e 
:

Fi
le

 N
am

e 
: HE551523 P02BAM ELS

ZZ___ DR LD 0003

A27 Arundel Bypass

PRELIMINARY
LANDSCAPE

AND ENVIRONMENTAL
MASTERPLAN

JD JB JD SH 06/01/22

60630750 S4

Landscape

SUITABLE FOR STAGE APPROVAL

C
: W

W
O

R
KI

N
G

EC
O

M
_D

S0
2_

U
K-

C
LT

O
LI

N
.M

IL
LS

@
AE

C
O

M
.C

O
M

\D
01

01
16

7E
55

15
23

-B
AM

-G
EN

-Z
Z_

ZZ
_Z

Z_
ZZ

-T
M

-Z
Z-

00
01

06
 J

an
ua

ry
 2

02
2 

10
:0

0:
48

AECOM

Brickhill Drive
Bedford Heights
Unit 216

+44 1234 349 641

JB

SH
06/01/22

JB

SH
21/12/21

P02

P01

1:2500

NATIONAL HIGHWAYS
Bridge House
1 Walnut Tree Close
Guildford
Surrey

For Stage Approval

First Issue

NOTE:

©Crown copyright 2021 [and database rights] OS 100030649 . You
are granted anon-exclusive, royalty free, revocable licence solely to
view the Licensed Data for non-commercial purposes for the period
during which Highways England makes it available. You are not
permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make
available the Licensed Data to third parties in any form. Third party
rights to enforce the terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

©Bluesky International Limited.

150100500 200 250 300

SCALE 1:2,500 @A1

N

NOTES

This drawing represents a preliminary design and will be subject to detailed
design development in accordance with the provisions of the Development
Consent Order including as a response to feedback from statutory
consultation. All proposed landscape requirements (including retained
vegetation, proposed replacement planting and individual trees), on and
off-site ecological mitigation, flood compensation requirements and highways
related features are indicative at this stage and subject to change. This
drawing is provided for Statutory Consultation and inclusion within the PEI
Report with the following limitations: 

· Preliminary Landscape and Environmental Masterplan proposals are
based on highway layout 'Design Fix 3A' and associated drainage and
structural elements.

· Landscape Elements in accordance with Table 4.2b of DMRB, LD117
Landscape Design rev 0.

· *Very low noise surfacing is quieter than a Level 3 'very quiet surfacing'
material as defined in Table 9/17 in the Manual of Contract documents
for Highway Works.

· Greyed out areas within the Scheme are excluded from the draft Order
Limits.

· For complete draft Order Limits, detailed highways, structures, drainage
and Public Rights of Way proposals refer to drawing ref: GENERAL
ARRANGEMENT PLAN HE551523-BAM-HGN-ZZ-DR-CH-0131.

· Do not scale from drawing.

LE 1.3 Species rich grassland

LE 2.4 Linear trees and shrubs

LE 2.1 Woodland

LE 2.2 Woodland edge

LE 4.4 Hedgerow with trees

LE 5.1 Individual trees

Location of construction compound

Retained vegetation

Attenuation pond

Location of wetland enhancement areas

Floodplain compensation storage areas

Location of replaced ponds

Highway embankments - shorter line indicates top
of embankment

Drainage ditch

Earth bund

Noise barriers

draft Order Limits

Very low noise surfacing *

Retained Common Land

Replacement Common Land

7

8

9

3

4

5

6

10

1

11

2

Existing

Proposed

FIGURE 2-1 (SHEET 3 OF 6)

P
age 155

A
genda Item

 5
A

ppendix B

http://www.ursglobal.com
http://www.ursglobal.com


Ch 4400.0

Ch 4500.0

Ch 4600.0

Ch 4700.0

Ch 4800.0

Ch 4900.0

Ch 5000.0

Ch 5100.0

Ch 5200.0

Ch 5300.0

Ch 5400.0

Ch 5500.0

Ch 5600.0

Ch 5700.0

Ch 5800.0

Ch 5900.0

Ch 6000.0

Ch 6100.0

Ch 6200.0

76°41'01.2"1488.377m76°41'01.2"1488.377m

PI 4700.035Δ 9.9° LTT 249.365mL 497.490mR 2880.000mPC 4470.407PT 4967.897

TORTINGTON

Fo
rd

 R
oa

d

Fo
rd

 R
oa

d

Tortington Lane

To
rt

in
gt

on
 L

an
e

Ri
ve

r A
ru

n
Ri

ve
r A

ru
n

Proposed woodland to screen views of
A27 bypass from surrounding
residential properties.

Landscape to revert back to flood
plane grassland post construction.

Noise mitigation earth bund planted with
linear trees and shrubs to screen
views and reduce traffic noise from
Tortington Manor to the south.

Green bridge to comprise of native
hedgerows to the centre and either
side of bridge with specimen trees
and shrub planting on the
embankments to create habitat
connectivity for bat foraging routes.

Proposed native woodland planting to
mitigate woodland lost within common
land. Adjacent grassland and specimen
trees proposed as replacement for common
land of equivalent size to that lost and
severed as part of Tortington Lane
realignment.

Potential water vole receptor area to
comprise of at least 4 additional ditches
spanning  >1km within this field parcel or
similar.

Existing Broad Green Waste
Common Land adjacent to
Tortington Lane to be retained.

Potential water vole receptor area to
comprise of at least 4 additional ditches
spanning  >1km within this field parcel or
similar.

CUT LINE
CUT LINE

CUT LINE

CUT LINE

SHEET 3
SHEET 4

SHEET 4
SHEET 5

PROPOSED TORTINGTON
LANE OVERBRIDGE

PROPOSED ARUN
VALLEY VIADUCT

FORD ROAD
COMPOUND

Tortington Priory, Scheduled
Monument

Grade II Listed
Tortington Manor.

Drawing Number Rev
Highways England PIN Originator Volume

Location Type Role Number

THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN PREPARED PURSUANT TO AND SUBJECT TO THE
TERMS OF AECOM'S APPOINTMENT BY ITS CLIENT. AECOM ACCEPTS NO

LIABILITY FOR ANY USE OF THIS DOCUMENT OTHER THAN BY ITS ORIGINAL
CLIENT OR FOLLOWING AECOM'S EXPRESS AGREEMENT TO SUCH USE, AND
ONLY FOR THE PURPOSES FOR WHICH IT WAS PREPARED AND PROVIDED.

DateApprovedCheckedDrawn

Internal Project No.

Drawing Title

Suffix
By

REVISION DETAILS Date
Check

Project Title

Client

Suitability

Scale @ A1 Volume

Purpose of issue

Designed

www.aecom.com 
Tel:

SAFETY, HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION BOX

IT IS ASSUMED THAT ALL WORKS ON THIS DRAWING WILL BE
CARRIED OUT BY A COMPETENT CONTRACTOR WORKING, WHERE

APPROPRIATE, TO AN APPROPRIATE METHOD STATEMENT.

THIS DRAWING IS TO BE USED ONLY FOR THE PURPOSE OF ISSUE THAT IT WAS
ISSUED FOR AND IS SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT.

EXCEPTIONAL RISKS RELATING TO THE WORKS ASSOCIATED WITH THIS
DRAWING ARE IDENTIFIED BELOW.

www.bamnuttall.co.uk

BAM Nuttall Limited
St James House
Knoll Road

GU15 3XW
Camberley

Pl
ot

 D
at

e 
:

Fi
le

 N
am

e 
: HE551523 P02BAM ELS

ZZ___ DR LD 0004

A27 Arundel Bypass

PRELIMINARY
LANDSCAPE

AND ENVIRONMENTAL
MASTERPLAN

JD JB JD SH 06/01/22

60630750 S4

Landscape

SUITABLE FOR STAGE APPROVAL

C
: W

W
O

R
KI

N
G

EC
O

M
_D

S0
2_

U
K-

C
LT

O
LI

N
.M

IL
LS

@
AE

C
O

M
.C

O
M

\D
01

01
16

7E
55

15
23

-B
AM

-G
EN

-Z
Z_

ZZ
_Z

Z_
ZZ

-T
M

-Z
Z-

00
01

06
 J

an
ua

ry
 2

02
2 

10
:0

1:
11

AECOM

Brickhill Drive
Bedford Heights
Unit 216

+44 1234 349 641

JB

SH
06/01/22

JB

SH
21/12/21

P02

P01

1:2500

NATIONAL HIGHWAYS
Bridge House
1 Walnut Tree Close
Guildford
Surrey

For Stage Approval

First Issue

NOTE:

©Crown copyright 2021 [and database rights] OS 100030649 . You
are granted anon-exclusive, royalty free, revocable licence solely to
view the Licensed Data for non-commercial purposes for the period
during which Highways England makes it available. You are not
permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make
available the Licensed Data to third parties in any form. Third party
rights to enforce the terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

©Bluesky International Limited.

150100500 200 250 300

SCALE 1:2,500 @A1

N

NOTES

This drawing represents a preliminary design and will be subject to detailed
design development in accordance with the provisions of the Development
Consent Order including as a response to feedback from statutory
consultation. All proposed landscape requirements (including retained
vegetation, proposed replacement planting and individual trees), on and
off-site ecological mitigation, flood compensation requirements and highways
related features are indicative at this stage and subject to change. This
drawing is provided for Statutory Consultation and inclusion within the PEI
Report with the following limitations: 

· Preliminary Landscape and Environmental Masterplan proposals are
based on highway layout 'Design Fix 3A' and associated drainage and
structural elements.

· Landscape Elements in accordance with Table 4.2b of DMRB, LD117
Landscape Design rev 0.

· *Very low noise surfacing is quieter than a Level 3 'very quiet surfacing'
material as defined in Table 9/17 in the Manual of Contract documents
for Highway Works.

· Greyed out areas within the Scheme are excluded from the draft Order
Limits.

· For complete draft Order Limits, detailed highways, structures, drainage
and Public Rights of Way proposals refer to drawing ref: GENERAL
ARRANGEMENT PLAN HE551523-BAM-HGN-ZZ-DR-CH-0131.

· Do not scale from drawing.

LE 1.3 Species rich grassland

LE 2.4 Linear trees and shrubs

LE 2.1 Woodland

LE 2.2 Woodland edge

LE 4.4 Hedgerow with trees

LE 5.1 Individual trees

Location of construction compound

Retained vegetation

Attenuation pond

Location of wetland enhancement areas

Floodplain compensation storage areas

Location of replaced ponds

Highway embankments - shorter line indicates top
of embankment

Drainage ditch

Earth bund

Noise barriers

draft Order Limits

Very low noise surfacing *

Retained Common Land

Replacement Common Land

7

8

9

3

4

5

6

10

1

11

2

Existing

Proposed

FIGURE 2-1 (SHEET 4 OF 6)

P
age 156

A
genda Item

 5
A

ppendix B

http://www.ursglobal.com
http://www.ursglobal.com


Ch 6000.0

Ch 6100.0

Ch 6200.0

Ch 6300.0

Ch 6400.0

Ch 6500.0

Ch 6600.0

Ch 6700.0

Ch 6800.0

Ch 6900.0

Ch 7000.0

Ch 7100.0

Ch 7200.0

Ch 7300.0

Ch 7500.0

Ch 7600.0

Ch 7700.0

PI 6494.500Ls 0.000mYs 0.850mXs 85.692mLT 57.136m

ST 28.569m

PI 7212.234Ls 0.000mYs 1.700mXs 85.680mLT 57.136mST 28.569m

PI 7579.443Ls 0.000mYs 5.232mXs 250.504mLT 167.102mST 83.565m

PI 6437.088Ls 0.828mYs 0.000mXs 0.828mLT 0.552mST 0.276m

PI 6494.500Ls 85.700mYs 0.850mXs 85.692mLT 57.136m

ST 28.569m

PI 7212.234Ls 85.700mYs 1.700mXs 85.680mLT 57.136mST 28.569m

PI 7579.443Ls 250.602mYs 5.232mXs 250.504mLT 167.102mST 83.565m

142.975m106°22'40.9"

PROPOSED
CROSSBUSH
JUNCTION

 Existing A27

Existing woodland to be retained
where possible and enhanced with

additional native woodland to
form an uninterrupted screen of

Crossbush Junction from
properties to the south.

Existing field boundary hedges to
be retained where possible.

Planted embankments of railway crossing
softens views of structure and provides
visual integrating into the existing
landscape vegetation.

CUT LINE

CUT LINE

CUT LINE

CUT LINE

SHEET 4
SHEET 5

SHEET 5

SHEET 6

PROPOSED ARUN
VALLEY VIADUCT

PROPOSED ARUN VALLEY
RAILWAY OVERLINE BRIDGE

CROSSBUSH
COMPOUND

CROSSBUSH
COMPOUND

CROSSBUSH

AR
UN

 V
AL

LE
Y

RA
ILW

AY
 LI

NE

Drawing Number Rev
Highways England PIN Originator Volume

Location Type Role Number

THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN PREPARED PURSUANT TO AND SUBJECT TO THE
TERMS OF AECOM'S APPOINTMENT BY ITS CLIENT. AECOM ACCEPTS NO

LIABILITY FOR ANY USE OF THIS DOCUMENT OTHER THAN BY ITS ORIGINAL
CLIENT OR FOLLOWING AECOM'S EXPRESS AGREEMENT TO SUCH USE, AND
ONLY FOR THE PURPOSES FOR WHICH IT WAS PREPARED AND PROVIDED.

DateApprovedCheckedDrawn

Internal Project No.

Drawing Title

Suffix
By

REVISION DETAILS Date
Check

Project Title

Client

Suitability

Scale @ A1 Volume

Purpose of issue

Designed

www.aecom.com 
Tel:

SAFETY, HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION BOX

IT IS ASSUMED THAT ALL WORKS ON THIS DRAWING WILL BE
CARRIED OUT BY A COMPETENT CONTRACTOR WORKING, WHERE

APPROPRIATE, TO AN APPROPRIATE METHOD STATEMENT.

THIS DRAWING IS TO BE USED ONLY FOR THE PURPOSE OF ISSUE THAT IT WAS
ISSUED FOR AND IS SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT.

EXCEPTIONAL RISKS RELATING TO THE WORKS ASSOCIATED WITH THIS
DRAWING ARE IDENTIFIED BELOW.

www.bamnuttall.co.uk

BAM Nuttall Limited
St James House
Knoll Road

GU15 3XW
Camberley

Pl
ot

 D
at

e 
:

Fi
le

 N
am

e 
: HE551523 P02BAM ELS

ZZ___ DR LD 0005

A27 Arundel Bypass

PRELIMINARY
LANDSCAPE

AND ENVIRONMENTAL
MASTERPLAN

JD JB JD SH 06/01/22

60630750 S4

Landscape

SUITABLE FOR STAGE APPROVAL

C
: W

W
O

R
KI

N
G

EC
O

M
_D

S0
2_

U
K-

C
LT

O
LI

N
.M

IL
LS

@
AE

C
O

M
.C

O
M

\D
01

01
16

7E
55

15
23

-B
AM

-G
EN

-Z
Z_

ZZ
_Z

Z_
ZZ

-T
M

-Z
Z-

00
01

06
 J

an
ua

ry
 2

02
2 

10
:0

1:
35

AECOM

Brickhill Drive
Bedford Heights
Unit 216

+44 1234 349 641

JB

SH
06/01/22

JB

SH
21/12/21

P02

P01

1:2500

NATIONAL HIGHWAYS
Bridge House
1 Walnut Tree Close
Guildford
Surrey

For Stage Approval

First Issue

NOTE:

©Crown copyright 2021 [and database rights] OS 100030649 . You are
granted anon-exclusive, royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the
Licensed Data for non-commercial purposes for the period during which
Highways England makes it available. You are not permitted to copy,
sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available the Licensed Data to
third parties in any form. Third party rights to enforce the terms of this licence
shall be reserved to OS.

©Bluesky International Limited.

150100500 200 250 300

SCALE 1:2,500 @A1

N

NOTES

This drawing represents a preliminary design and will be subject to detailed
design development in accordance with the provisions of the Development
Consent Order including as a response to feedback from statutory
consultation. All proposed landscape requirements (including retained
vegetation, proposed replacement planting and individual trees), on and
off-site ecological mitigation, flood compensation requirements and highways
related features are indicative at this stage and subject to change. This
drawing is provided for Statutory Consultation and inclusion within the PEI
Report with the following limitations: 

· Preliminary Landscape and Environmental Masterplan proposals are
based on highway layout 'Design Fix 3A' and associated drainage and
structural elements.

· Landscape Elements in accordance with Table 4.2b of DMRB, LD117
Landscape Design rev 0.

· *Very low noise surfacing is quieter than a Level 3 'very quiet surfacing'
material as defined in Table 9/17 in the Manual of Contract documents
for Highway Works.

· Greyed out areas within the Scheme are excluded from the draft Order
Limits.

· For complete draft Order Limits, detailed highways, structures, drainage
and Public Rights of Way proposals refer to drawing ref: GENERAL
ARRANGEMENT PLAN HE551523-BAM-HGN-ZZ-DR-CH-0131.

· Do not scale from drawing.

LE 1.3 Species rich grassland

LE 2.4 Linear trees and shrubs

LE 2.1 Woodland

LE 2.2 Woodland edge

LE 4.4 Hedgerow with trees

LE 5.1 Individual trees

Location of construction compound

Retained vegetation

Attenuation pond

Location of wetland enhancement areas

Floodplain compensation storage areas

Location of replaced ponds

Highway embankments - shorter line indicates top
of embankment

Drainage ditch

Earth bund

Noise barriers

draft Order Limits

Very low noise surfacing *

Retained Common Land

Replacement Common Land

7

8

9

3

4

5

6

10

1

11

2

Existing

Proposed

FIGURE 2-1 (SHEET 5 OF 6)

P
age 157

A
genda Item

 5
A

ppendix B

http://www.ursglobal.com
http://www.ursglobal.com


Ch 7500.0

Ch 7600.0

Ch 7700.0

Ch 7800.0

Ch 7900.0

PI 7579.443Ls 0.000mYs 5.232mXs 250.504mLT 167.102mST 83.565mPI 7579.443Ls 250.602mYs 5.232mXs 250.504mLT 167.102mST 83.565m

 Existing A27

CUT LINE

CUT LINE

SHEET 5

SHEET 6

Drawing Number Rev
Highways England PIN Originator Volume

Location Type Role Number

THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN PREPARED PURSUANT TO AND SUBJECT TO THE
TERMS OF AECOM'S APPOINTMENT BY ITS CLIENT. AECOM ACCEPTS NO

LIABILITY FOR ANY USE OF THIS DOCUMENT OTHER THAN BY ITS ORIGINAL
CLIENT OR FOLLOWING AECOM'S EXPRESS AGREEMENT TO SUCH USE, AND
ONLY FOR THE PURPOSES FOR WHICH IT WAS PREPARED AND PROVIDED.

DateApprovedCheckedDrawn

Internal Project No.

Drawing Title

Suffix
By

REVISION DETAILS Date
Check

Project Title

Client

Suitability

Scale @ A1 Volume

Purpose of issue

Designed

www.aecom.com 
Tel:

SAFETY, HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION BOX

IT IS ASSUMED THAT ALL WORKS ON THIS DRAWING WILL BE
CARRIED OUT BY A COMPETENT CONTRACTOR WORKING, WHERE

APPROPRIATE, TO AN APPROPRIATE METHOD STATEMENT.

THIS DRAWING IS TO BE USED ONLY FOR THE PURPOSE OF ISSUE THAT IT WAS
ISSUED FOR AND IS SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT.

EXCEPTIONAL RISKS RELATING TO THE WORKS ASSOCIATED WITH THIS
DRAWING ARE IDENTIFIED BELOW.

www.bamnuttall.co.uk

BAM Nuttall Limited
St James House
Knoll Road

GU15 3XW
Camberley

Pl
ot

 D
at

e 
:

Fi
le

 N
am

e 
: HE551523 P02BAM ELS

ZZ___ DR LD 0006

A27 Arundel Bypass

PRELIMINARY
LANDSCAPE

AND ENVIRONMENTAL
MASTERPLAN

JD JB JD SH 06/01/22

60630750 S4

Landscape

SUITABLE FOR STAGE APPROVAL

C
: W

W
O

R
KI

N
G

EC
O

M
_D

S0
2_

U
K-

C
LT

O
LI

N
.M

IL
LS

@
AE

C
O

M
.C

O
M

\D
01

01
16

7E
55

15
23

-B
AM

-G
EN

-Z
Z_

ZZ
_Z

Z_
ZZ

-T
M

-Z
Z-

00
01

06
 J

an
ua

ry
 2

02
2 

10
:0

1:
59

AECOM

Brickhill Drive
Bedford Heights
Unit 216

+44 1234 349 641

JB

SH
06/01/22

JB

SH
21/12/21

P02

P01

1:2500

NATIONAL HIGHWAYS
Bridge House
1 Walnut Tree Close
Guildford
Surrey

For Stage Approval

First Issue

NOTE:

©Crown copyright 2021 [and database rights] OS 100030649 . You are
granted anon-exclusive, royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the
Licensed Data for non-commercial purposes for the period during which
Highways England makes it available. You are not permitted to copy,
sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available the Licensed Data to
third parties in any form. Third party rights to enforce the terms of this licence
shall be reserved to OS.

©Bluesky International Limited.

150100500 200 250 300

SCALE 1:2,500 @A1

N

NOTES

This drawing represents a preliminary design and will be subject to detailed
design development in accordance with the provisions of the Development
Consent Order including as a response to feedback from statutory
consultation. All proposed landscape requirements (including retained
vegetation, proposed replacement planting and individual trees), on and
off-site ecological mitigation, flood compensation requirements and highways
related features are indicative at this stage and subject to change. This
drawing is provided for Statutory Consultation and inclusion within the PEI
Report with the following limitations: 

· Preliminary Landscape and Environmental Masterplan proposals are
based on highway layout 'Design Fix 3A' and associated drainage and
structural elements.

· Landscape Elements in accordance with Table 4.2b of DMRB, LD117
Landscape Design rev 0.

· *Very low noise surfacing is quieter than a Level 3 'very quiet surfacing'
material as defined in Table 9/17 in the Manual of Contract documents
for Highway Works.

· Greyed out areas within the Scheme are excluded from the draft Order
Limits.

· For complete draft Order Limits, detailed highways, structures, drainage
and Public Rights of Way proposals refer to drawing ref: GENERAL
ARRANGEMENT PLAN HE551523-BAM-HGN-ZZ-DR-CH-0131.

· Do not scale from drawing.

LE 1.3 Species rich grassland

LE 2.4 Linear trees and shrubs

LE 2.1 Woodland

LE 2.2 Woodland edge

LE 4.4 Hedgerow with trees

LE 5.1 Individual trees

Location of construction compound

Retained vegetation

Attenuation pond

Location of wetland enhancement areas

Floodplain compensation storage areas

Location of replaced ponds

Highway embankments - shorter line indicates top
of embankment

Drainage ditch

Earth bund

Noise barriers

draft Order Limits

Very low noise surfacing *

Retained Common Land

Replacement Common Land

7

8

9

3

4

5

6

10

1

11

2

Existing

Proposed

FIGURE 2-1 (SHEET 6 OF 6)

P
age 158

A
genda Item

 5
A

ppendix B

http://www.ursglobal.com
http://www.ursglobal.com


Appendix C: Detailed Comments on the Preliminary Environmental 
Information Report  

This document provides comments from West Sussex County Council (hereafter 
referred to as ‘WSCC’) on the A27 Arundel Bypass Preliminary Environmental 

Information Report (PEIR), published by National Highways on 11 January 2022.   

The following table provides comment for each PEIR chapter relevant to WSCC, 
with specific paragraph/table/figure references where applicable. 

NB: It does not include comments on behalf of the District or Borough Councils 
in West Sussex.   

  

Page 159

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C



Reference  WSCC Comment 

Non-Technical Summary 

General  WSCC welcomes the use of simple language and clear layout to help a 

non-technical reader of this document.  This document could have been 

supplemented with more photographs/visualisations and diagrams to 

help the reader with understanding aspects such as construction 

principles.  

2.1.4 Please replace 'heritage value' with 'significance' or 'interest'.  WSCC is 

unclear what 'wider influence of their setting' means; please consider 

re-wording for the Environmental Statement (ES). 

4.1.3 and 4.1.5 The Development Consent Order (DCO) application will also include a 

draft of the Environmental Management Plan (EMP).  Although draft, it 

is advised that this document will need to be very detailed to provide 

confidence that adverse impacts will be avoided or minimised to an 

acceptable level.  It is unclear whether the EMP covers just the 

construction phase or both the construction and operational phases.  

WSCC expects this to be outlined within the ES. 

5.2.4 WSCC would have liked to have seen the detail with regards 

construction haul routes shown within the documentation to allow 

stakeholders to have an understanding at this stage of likely 

construction impacts.  

6.2.1 Reference should be made to the fact that the significance of any 

previously unknown archaeological heritage assets within the route 

corridor is currently unknown but could potentially be high.  There 

currently exists the potential for significant adverse effects upon 

significant heritage assets. 

6.2.4. Operational effects on setting; this should be included under Section 

6.3. 

6.3.2 The operation of the scheme will result in some adverse effects on 

prominent heritage assets within Arundel, specifically Arundel Castle 

and the Arundel Conservation Area.  The significance of these heritage 

assets is high and the effects may be significant. 

7.2.5 Route alignment and engineering design options should be fully 

explored and only as a last resort should removal of veteran and 

ancient trees be considered.  WSCC expects detailed assessment of 

options to cover justification for the removal of these trees. 

7.2.8 WSCC should be included as a key stakeholder for consultation on 

woodland/tree loss and potential mitigation and it expects to be 

consulted on these matters as part of the ongoing consultation.   

8.3.1 Lighting is only being incorporated into the scheme design where it is 

essential for safety reasons to reduce light spill onto bat habitat.  This 

is critically important.  Thus, for ecological reasons, it will not be 

acceptable to light the green bridges or underpasses (including Binsted 

Rife underbridge) despite their proposed multi-functional use as rights 

of way, bridleways and/or for vehicular traffic.   

17 Where reference is made to the design of any golf course mitigation, it 

should also be stated that a baseline settings assessment will be 

needed to assess the contribution made by setting (as existing) to the 

Page 160

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C



heritage asset’s significance; only then can the impacts of proposed 

changes be understood and assessed. 

Chapter 1 - Introduction 

1.3.9, 1.3.10 

and Appendix 1-

C 

WSCC welcomes the inclusion of National Highways responses to 

comments made by stakeholders at the Scoping Stage.  However, not 

all comments raised by WSCC have been included.  WSCC expects 

National Highways to include all comments in the Consultation Report 

for DCO submission, to ensure all comments to date have been 

responded to. 

1.4.1 WSCC is pleased that effective stakeholder engagement has been 

noted as a key driver for the design evolution process.  To date, it has 

been noted that meetings held could have provided a more meaningful 

platform for stakeholders to share vital local knowledge and technical 

input.  WSCC welcomes the updating of the Terms of Reference and 

look forward to more opportunities to provide input into the design and 

development of the EIA going forward.  

1.6.9 Local concerns raised to WSCC during the consultation period about the 

methods of engagement (as documented in the published SoCC) will be 

considered as evidence for inclusion in the acceptance phase Adequacy 

of Consultation response.  

Chapter 2 -The Scheme  

Traffic and 

Transport 

There is insufficient information about the impacts of the scheme on 

the transport network.  As the assessment of some environmental 

impacts (e.g., air quality, noise and carbon) are dependent on 

information from the traffic model, it is not possible to draw any firm 

conclusions based on the assessment of these impacts at this stage.  

As a minimum, the following should be provided: 

 Transport assessment (the scope of which should be agreed with 

WSCC); 

 Design audit identifying any departures from standards; 

 Local model validation report; 

 Traffic forecasting report; 

 Road safety audit; 

 Construction traffic management plan; and  

 Walking Cycling Horse Riding Assessment Report (WCHAR). 

Traffic and 

Transport 

It is unclear how the scheme will perform as part of the wider highway 

network which is already congested in places.  The scheme has the 

potential to exacerbate existing issues and create new ones, either in 

isolation or in combination with other planned network changes and 

planned development.  The apparent rat run on The Street in 

Walberton requires further investigation to understand the causes and 

potential solutions which should be included in the proposed scheme.  

In order to understand the issues and the extent to which they can be 

mitigated, the information requested should include diagrams detailing 

link flow changes and models (or other suitable technical information) 

showing performance of the following junctions in each assessment 

year: 

 A27/A284 ‘Crossbush’ junction (including any assumptions about 

interactions with the Crossbush service station); 

 A27/A29 ‘Fontwell’ junctions (east and west); 

Page 161

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C



 A284/A259 ‘Lyminster Bypass/Fitzalan Rd’ junction; 

 A27/B2233 ‘Crockerhill’ junction; 

 A29/A259 junctions; 

 A27/A280 ‘Patching’ junction; 

 A24/A280 ‘Findon’ junction; and 

 A259/A2032 ‘Goring Crossways’ junction. 

General 

Arrangement 

(sheet 1 of 9) 

The proposed Tye Lane junction with existing A27 and Mill Lane 

involves an acute turn for westbound traffic at the end of a long 

straight where presumably national speed limit will apply.  There is 

potential for road safety issues.  WSCC expects a road safety audit and 

details of how the recommendations are addressed within the design to 

be produced.  

General 

Arrangement  

(sheet 1 of 9) 

Latest cycle design guidance (LTN 1/20) recognises the need for 

segregation between different users and generally seeks to move away 

from shared use facilities such as the proposed footway/cycleway 

alongside the detrunked A27.  WSCC expects evidence to justify the 

choice of design solution in this location as there appears to be plenty 

of space available. 

General 

Arrangement   

(sheet 4 of 9) 

The Tortington Lane overbridge has the potential to affect the 

deliverability of a junction with Ford Road, now or in the future.  This 

should be taken into account in determining the dimensions of this 

structure which should not preclude the addition of a Ford Road 

junction designed to current standards. 

General 

Arrangement  

(sheet 4 of 9) 

It is unclear what design standards have been used to design the 

Tortington Lane overbridge which appears to include a steep gradient 

on the southern side of the A27.  A design audit is expected, setting 

out what standards have been used and any departures from standards 

that will require WSCC approval.   

General 

Arrangement   

(sheet 5 of 9) 

The proposed Crossbush junction looks quite small.  A junction model 

(or similar information) is expected to demonstrate that the scheme 

will operate to an acceptable level without significant queuing on the 

A284 and existing A27.  It is not clear whether the proposed scheme 

includes enough queuing space for traffic to turn right into the service 

area without queuing back through the roundabout/slip road.  Evidence 

is required that the queueing space is sufficient. 

Table 2.1 The height of the viaduct has the potential to affect the deliverability of 

a junction with Ford Road, now or in the future.  This should be taken 

into account in determining the clearance height and ensuring the 

viaduct height does not preclude the addition of a Ford Road junction 

designed to current standards.  

2.3.5 WSCC expects detailed engagement on the de-trunking strategy going 

forward, including the potential to mitigate impacts elsewhere and the 

wide ranging opportunities this element of the scheme could bring to 

the local area.  This sections also states ‘de-trunking of the existing 

A27 carriageway may involve some works within the National Park 

given that a large section of it is located within the designated area’.  

WSCC suggests this is changed to ‘will’ as this is more accurate. 

2.3.15 ‘The PEI Report is based on the maximum area of land likely to be 

required for construction and operation of the Scheme’.  There needs 

to be a clearer understanding of construction working areas, haul 

routes, and clarity that enough land is available for mitigation and 

Page 162

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C



enhancement within the Draft Order Limits before certainty can be had 

on the above statement. 

2.4.3 WSCC requests that a crossing schedule is produced for inclusion 

within the ES, to outline each type of crossing (e.g. watercourse, road, 

PRoW) and a brief description of the construction methodology to be 

used.  

General  WSCC requests further consultation on surfacing along the entire route 

and the benefits of using a ‘very low noise’ surfacing for the entire 

length, rather than proposed for just the section adjacent to the 

Church of St Mary’s Church.  

2.4.11 WSCC welcomes the review by the Design Council and wants National 

Highways to acknowledge all comments made, rather than just that 

stated in this paragraph.  The review was wide ranging and WSCC 

would request the design feedback given is taken on board, with clear 

narrative in the ES as to how they have been factored into the design.  

General WSCC welcomes reference to the ‘Road to Good Design’.  Importance 

must be placed on the criteria for good design within the National 

Networks NPS (NN NPS), where it states, ‘Applicants should include 

design as an integral consideration from the outset’, and ‘Visual 

appearance should be a key factor in considering the design of new 

infrastructure, as well as functionality, fitness for purpose, 

sustainability and cost’.  WSCC wants to see how these criteria have 

been applied to the final design presented as part of the DCO 

application. 

2.4.12 WSCC wants to see the overall footprint minimised as far as possible 

and, therefore, it would be useful if a table was given on the key 

features (engineering parameters) for stakeholders to understand both 

construction and operational land-take.  

2.4.16 and 

2.4.17 

Understanding where required lighting, signage, speed cameras, 

location of vehicle restraint systems and emergency and maintenance 

access would be required, will be needed for a full and robust EIA to be 

undertaken.  WSCC requests that this information is included as part of 

the EIA going forward.  Consultation on a lighting strategy will be 

required with key stakeholders.  

2.5.1.d Sections and visualisations which show how the proposed green 

bridges will sit in the landscape and how their design has responded to 

landscape character will also be required.  

2.6.2 Proposals that involve the extension or creation of new golf facilities 

will need to be factored into the LVIA too, including viewpoints and the 

ZTV.  WSCC request that viewpoints and visualisations are included to 

show the likely impact of the golf course on visual and landscape 

receptors.  

2.6.8 It is unclear what design standards have been used to design the 

option for an offline Yapton Lane overbridge.  A design audit should be 

provided setting out what standards have been used and any 

departures from standards that will require WSCC approval.   

2.7.1 and 2.7.2 The requirement for a concrete batching plant to enable construction of 

the scheme should be confirmed, along with its associated impacts 

presented within the ES. 

Page 163

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C



2.7.4 Further details regarding the construction programme should have 

been provided, even in a preliminary sense to aid the assessment of 

impacts and required mitigation.  This will be required within the ES. 

2.7.8 The optioneering work to locate the chosen compound locations should 

have been discussed with stakeholders ahead of PEIR publication.  

What consideration for sensitive receptors has been undertaken?  

Confirmation on whether ZTVs for each compound have been 

undertaken is required.  Further details on layouts, locations (along 

with any smaller compounds not included in the consultation material) 

should be consulted upon prior to ES stage assessment.  Concerns are 

raised with the close proximity of some sensitive receptors to the 

locations outlined, including Yapton Lane compound, (residential 

properties along Yapton Lane and archaeological sensitivities) and Ford 

Road.  Also of concern are potential effects to PRoW and how these 

compounds will be accessed for 3-4 years from the local road network.  

2.7.24 A clearer understanding of the work and associated impacts of the 

utility diversions is needed as part of the ES, including whether enough 

land with the Draft Order Limits been included to facilitate this if 

consultation with suppliers/owners/managers has not been undertaken 

in detail and solutions are not finalised.  No detail on the potential 

effects of these diversions have been included in the PEIR. 

2.7.28 Clarity is required on where properties would be demolished and the 

impact of this across all EIA topics needs addressing.  No detail is 

given, although five properties along Binsted Lane are referred to in 

paragraph 12.6.2, and reference to Morley’s Croft (Grade II listed 

building) in 6.8.5 where it states, ‘Should construction unavoidably 

require this building to be demolished, it is likely that its loss would be 

significant’.  WSCC is concerned this level of detail has not been 

confirmed in the PEIR. 

General Concern is raised about potential effects upon Arundel Fire Station and 

the impact to emergency response times.  Further details, including 

Flood Risk Assessment (FRA), TA and the CTMP are required, and 

consultation with West Sussex Fire and Rescue during the next stages 

of the project.  

Chapter 3 - Assessment of Alternatives 

3.4.4/3.4.5 The PEIR lacks sufficient detail about how environmental criteria have 

influenced the decision-making process, specifically with regard the 

development of the Grey Route.  In 2019, WSCC raised concerns that 

the Grey Route (option 5BV1) did not offer the best balance between 

traffic, economic and social benefits and environmental impacts.  

Although the PEIR states that ‘Environmental effects have been 

considered during this appraisal process’, a much clearer narrative is 

needed to explain how the environment has driven the design process.  

Constraints mapping and scoring criteria should be included within the 

ES chapter, to make the assessment much more transparent.  How 

feedback from the community and stakeholders have influenced the 

design must be clearly demonstrated and the main reasons for the 

selection of the chosen option and the rejection of alternatives should 

be presented in accordance with the requirements of the EIA 

Regulations in the ES. 

3.5.65 WSCC welcome the decision of a viaduct option for the River Arun 

crossing, over that of an embankment.  However, there are still 

concerns about the design and placement of the structure and future 

Page 164

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C



work needs to involve specialist design input, as well as that of 

stakeholders, to ensure the viaduct is both sensitively designed and 

informed by the EIA.  There must be the highest standard of design, 

which must incorporate a clear design narrative.  The design must 

outline to stakeholders and the community how the assessment work 

undertaken will mitigate adverse impacts and communicate benefits 

through wide-ranging enhancement measures that go above and 

beyond those required to mitigate the scheme.  WSCC had expected 

the flexibility in design height indicated within the PEIR to be further 

assessed to allow the EIA to inform this design element.   

Chapter 4 - Environmental Assessment Methodology 

General WSCC welcomes, pursuant to Regulation 14 (4) of the 2017 EIA 

Regulations, the resultant ES being prepared by competent experts.  

WSCC had expected to see that the PEIR provided a Statement of 

Competence to this effect.  WSCC expects to see this at the ES stage. 

General WSCC wants to see commitments to monitoring in the ES where 

required.  It is recognised that monitoring is an important element in 

the management and verification of the actual proposed impacts.  It is 

understood that the outline management plans, across a number of 

environmental topics, will be submitted along with the DCO application.  

It was expected a full list of these should be included in the PEIR as a 

minimum, and it would have been very helpful to stakeholders to see 

some draft outline documents, especially with the contractor on board 

as part of the design team.   

Table 4.1 WSCC have not yet agreed to the LVIA methodology proposed, 

contrary to the statement within the table.  In particular, WSCC has 

not commented on the criteria defined by National Highways for 

ascribing value and susceptibility to change to individual landscape and 

visual receptors. 

4.2 and 4.2.3 It is also noted that the draft Order Limits seem to go outside of the 

indicative Scoping Boundary from March 2021; this should be 

confirmed by National Highways and any implications outlined in the 

ES. 

General  Without undertaking a more transparent, detailed, and less preliminary 

assessment, it is unclear whether likely impacts from the proposals will 

be mitigated sufficiently.  This also does not give confidence the design 

has been informed by the assessment work undertaken and the draft 

Order Limits are a ‘worst case land take’, as currently stated in the 

PEIR. 

4.5 The statement that a preliminary assessment has been undertaken and 

that it is considered (at this stage) there are unlikely to be any 

significant environmental effects associated with major events.  This 

needs a clear evidence base presented to understand how this 

conclusion has been reached.  WSCC would be concerned about any 

increase in flood risk, which would have the potential to impact local 

residents, and await the final FRA for comment further. 

General It is unhelpful that statements of significant effects are made without 

the transparency in the impact matrix scoring (sensitivity/importance 

and magnitude of effect which allows a significant or non-significant 

scoring to be concluded) and much is left to professional judgement 

without the necessary evidence base.  WSCC expects a full transparent 

assessment to be undertaken for the ES. 

Page 165

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C



General The Scoping Report stated an intention to adopt a ‘landscape approach’ 

to assessment in general; to ensure impacts to environmental 

receptors are understood in an integrated way.  Despite this stated 

intention, there is poor integration between the different chapters.  

Given the scale of the development and its potential to impact on 

numerous different environmental factors, the importance of cross-

disciplinary work cannot be overstated for this scheme and along with 

a robust CEA, must be further addressed in the ES. 

General There is inconsistency between the way construction and operational 

phase impacts are presented.  For example, effects on heritage assets 

via change within setting; preferably within the construction stage; 

reference to the effects being ongoing and permanent should be made 

within the operation section. 

General The importance of the EMP is made in the PEIR.  However, it would 

have been helpful to have a first outline draft of this document 

available as part of statutory consultation to give stakeholders 

confidence that measures and procedures will be defined and secured 

through the DCO.  This must be presented as part of the DCO 

application.  

Chapter 5 - Air Quality 

General  WSCC refers to comments also made by Arun District Council (ADC) 

with regard to air quality matters. 

General  Reference should be made to ‘Breathing Better a partnership approach 

to improving air quality in West Sussex’ (May 2018).  WSCC and all 

West Sussex District and Borough Councils are committed to ensuring 

that the County is a healthy place to live. 

5.1.7 The Scoping Opinion requested that PM2.5 assessment was included.  

The Environment Act 2021 indicates that Government is committed to 

setting a target for PM2.5.  It is suggested that a PM2.5 assessment 

takes place in preparation for the Government target which may be 

introduced before a decision is taken on the DCO.  

5.3.3 The air quality assessment is based on fixed traffic demand.  Outputs 

from the variable demand model should be provided to confirm the 

location and significance of the effects on air quality. 

5.3.6 The assessment of construction impacts on air quality is only 

qualitative.  WSCC expects a quantitative assessment to be undertaken 

for the ES to allow for meaningful scrutiny of potential impacts.  

5.8.5 Details of construction phase HGV movements have not been provided.  

A quantitative assessment should be provided to allow the impacts on 

air quality to be fully assessed.  

General Until the evidence base and further assessment has been provided and 

scrutinised by WSCC (including the required TA and construction phase 

information), likely levels of impacts cannot be predicted with certainty 

and required mitigation packages discussed.  

Chapter 6 - Cultural Heritage 

6.1.2 The ES must include reference to geoarchaeological deposits. 

6.1.5 WSCC questions why a fuller baseline assessment has not been 

produced for the PEIR.  The baseline would obviously need to be 

updated for the ES with the results of the ongoing field surveys, to 

incorporate previously unrecorded archaeological/geoarchaeological 

Page 166

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C



heritage assets.  However, the West Sussex Historic Environment 

Record (WSHER) data, supplemented by other sources such as Lidar, 

site walkover and desk-based research, is sufficient to produce a much 

more complete assessment of the historic environment baseline 

resource, and the archaeological potential along the route, than has 

been provided within the chapter.   

6.1.5 It is not clear why a baseline assessment of significance (and the 

contribution made by setting) for designated heritage assets has not 

undertaken earlier in the DCO process.  Such a baseline settings 

assessment should have been prepared in order to inform the process 

of scoping in/out of heritage assets and selection of viewpoints for the 

LVIA.  Ongoing survey work is unlikely to change the assessment of 

significance of designated heritage assets (or non-designated built 

heritage assets).  In the event that additional built heritage 

assessment work is planned in order to inform assessments of 

significance, a preliminary statement of significance for these assets 

could still have been undertaken for PEIR stage. 

6.1.5 The significance of designated assets is touched upon only once in 

6.8.6, points a-n; this comprises only a single-word assessment of 

value (high/very high) and only for those designated assets assessed 

as likely to suffer ‘potential significant effects’ due to changes within 

their setting.  No supporting qualitative statement of significance, in 

accordance with Historic England methodology, nor methodology 

setting out how value/significance has been assessed, is provided.  

WSCC would therefore very much disagree that ‘the significance of 

designated assets is considered within the PEI Report’ as this has not 

been done in a consistent, meaningful, or transparent way.  It’s not 

clear why this exercise has not been caried out for designated assets at 

the very least. 

6.3.1 The information required to produce a baseline and preliminary 

assessment of significance for designated heritage assets would have 

been available at the time of writing the PEIR and it is not clear why a 

draft version this has not been produced to draft/preliminary stage.  

Further justification is required. 

6.3.3 The sources listed in Section 6.5, including full WSHER search, would 

be considered sufficient to inform the production of a fully detailed, if 

preliminary, baseline assessment for PEIR stage.  With the results from 

ongoing surveys to be added for the ES.  The baseline included here is 

much lighter touch, which is unhelpful.  

6.4.2 The wider 5km study area for higher value assets is welcomed and 

necessary, especially in regard to the viaduct section, situated within 

the open floodplain landscape, likely to be prominent within longer 

range views from a number of heritage assets located at some 

considerable distance.  WSCC expects to see this flexible approach 

extended.  Consideration should be given to the creation of a bespoke 

ZTV generated specifically for the floodplain/viaduct section of the 

route, extending to 5km, and including designated assets of all grades.  

The purpose being to pick up any designated assets graded below II* 

(i.e., Grade II LBs; Registered Parks and Gardens) which might have 

long-range, designed views contributing to their significance which 

incorporate the Arun valley floodplain, and thus be affected by the 

scheme.  Such heritage assets may well not be picked up by the 

current methodology.  

Page 167

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C



6.5 In general, the baseline provides a well-written and concise narrative 

overview of the historical development of the study area.  However, 

the level of detail is less than expected and is somewhat inconsistent in 

degree of detail (e.g., Bronze Age vs Iron Age sections), with some 

heritage assets recorded on the HER and located within the redline 

boundary not mentioned or mentioned only in passing as part of a 

wider monument class.  The lack of WSHER reference numbers within 

the text means it is difficult to ascertain whether specific 

assets/finds/features have been included within the baseline or 

considered.  For example, the reference to a Roman villa 'at Walberton 

approximately 440 m south of the Scheme', as opposed to reference to 

the accepted identifier as per the WSHER, 'Roman Villa site at 

Blacksmith's Corner, Walberton' (MWS8590). 

6.5.9 See comment for 6.1.5 

6.5.11 This statement is contradicted by 6.5.12, which discusses a number of 

Palaeolithic findspots recorded within the Study Area.  Was the 

intention to refer to the lack of previously recorded Palaeolithic 

archaeological sites or features, of secure provenance (as opposed to 

findspots), within the Study Area?  

6.5.16 The Avisford Grange Report was added to the WSHER in 2021; records 

suggest that the last WSHER search undertaken for the route was on 

26/11/2020.  The WSHER User Guide states that HER data should be 

held for a maximum of 12 months.  The HER should have been 

consulted to check for recent updates prior to finalisation of the PEIR, 

at a minimum. 

6.5.16 Although the results of the ongoing trial trenching have not yet been 

reported, the WSHER identifies a number of undated features identified 

from aerial photography and/or Lidar (the latter identified as a source 

from which this baseline was compiled).  Accepting that any feature 

identified by such non-intrusive methods (such as the ring ditch 

identified in the 'golf course mitigation field’, north-east of St Mary's 

Church Binsted, WSHER MWS15137) remains undated, these possible 

and probable features should be discussed within the baseline, within 

the most appropriate period section. 

6.5.17 The baseline does not touch upon research questions for the area; 

WSCC expect the inclusion of such within the ES/baseline.  Specifically 

for this period, WSCC would want to see discussion of the emerging 

evidence on the coastal plain for intensification of settlement, 

transport, and storage of goods during the late Iron Age/early 

Romano-British period.  The findings from adjacent Avisford Park add 

to this body of evidence.  Any potentially contemporary features from 

ongoing scheme field investigations should be discussed, and their 

significance assessed, in the context of this wider picture, which might 

elevate the significance of individual features/activity beyond a basic 

functional and period-based interpretation.  Assessment of significance 

needs to consider the potential of previously unrecorded archaeological 

features to contribute to research questions relating to this transitional 

phase and changes in the landscape, settlement pattern, industrial and 

agricultural patterns, and transport network. 

6.6.4 WSCC expects Pleistocene deposits of Palaeolithic 

archaeological/geoarchaeological potential, as well as historic 

landscapes to be included within this section of the ES. 

Page 168

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C



6.7.2 A viaduct is likely preferable to an embankment in terms of both 

change within settings of heritage assets, and physical impacts (direct 

and indirect) to buried archaeological features and deposits.  However, 

the design will be key.  Any crossing of the floodplain will necessarily 

be elevated and highly visually prominent from a number of higher-

grade heritage assets to a greater or lesser degree.  Within the ES, a 

robust settings assessment and understanding of significance, the 

contribution of setting and the sensitivity to change of the affected 

areas will be vital to accurately capture likely impacts to sensitive 

receptors.  This should include ensuring that mere intervisibility with 

the viaduct is not taken as a proxy for an adverse effect to significance, 

and likewise that non-visual effects are fully assessed.  The option of 

lowering the vertical alignment of the scheme over the Arun floodplain 

would likely reduce the impacts upon heritage assets, in particular 

Arundel Castle.  Further assessment work needs to be undertaken.   

6.7.3 The intention to balance screening of intrusive views of the road with 

the need to preserve the current open landscape setting of the Church 

of St Marys (which makes a positive contribution to the significance of 

the Grade II* listed building) is welcomed.  The success or otherwise of 

this balancing act will hinge upon the detailed design of the scheme 

although the potential for significant, permanent adverse impacts to 

significance remains high.  The potential for substantial harm to this 

high value heritage asset has certainly not been ruled out, as the 

baseline settings assessment has not been undertaken.  Further 

consultation with stakeholders is needed here.  

6.7.4 It is encouraging to note that heritage has been considered in the 

drafting of the draft EMP.  However, the same consideration does not 

seem to have been given to the siting of compounds and laydown 

areas; the location of several compounds seems likely to result in 

significant permanent physical effects to non-designated archaeological 

heritage assets, as well as temporary adverse effects to designated 

assets via changes within setting.  

6.7.6  WSCC requests the terminology for investigations vs mitigation is 

checked e.g., ‘a programme of archaeological mitigation and recording 

proportionate to the level of impact and the value of the assets 

affected.’ 

6.7.9 The proposed use of ultra-low noise surfacing and lowered speed limit 

in the vicinity of St Mary’s Church is welcomed.  The exact locations of 

acceleration and deceleration around this zone, and how this interacts 

with the surfacing, need to be confirmed before the benefits/reduced 

harm of these mitigation measures can be accurately assessed.  

6.8.2 The loss or truncation of the assets highlighted in this section as 

'known assets that may be significantly affected' is noted, and it is 

assumed this has been calculated on a 'worst case scenario' basis, 

although the methodology and evidence base for this assessment is not 

presented.  In the absence of the baseline assessment to refine the 

presence, distribution, significance and likely impacts, this list causes 

concern.  The principle of the loss or truncation of many of the assets 

listed here (a non-exhaustive list which does not include the results 

from the ongoing evaluation fieldwork) has not yet been agreed or 

justified as acceptable or unavoidable.  In particular, items c, f, h, i and 

m will need further assessment of significance and likely impacts 

before the principle of their loss can be weighed in the ‘planning 

balance’ exercise.   

Page 169

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C



6.8.5 The loss of Grade II Listed Morley's Croft should be avoided unless the 

success of the scheme hinges on its unavoidable removal (see paras 

5.131 and 5.133 of the NPSNN).  Its loss would certainly (as opposed 

to likely; the asset is identified as high value in 6.8.6 point j) be 

considered a significant adverse effect.   

6.8.8 There can be a tendency when assessing construction phase effects to 

write non-physical temporary effects off, purely on the basis they are 

not permanent and irreversible.  However, the 3-4 year duration of the 

construction programme means that, whilst temporary, these 

structures will comprise substantial fixtures in the landscape, with 

some degree of longevity.  WSCC requests the effects of the scheme 

should be assessed in light of this.  

6.8.9 The loss or severe truncation of a substantial prehistoric enclosure 

(identified during geophysical survey and confirmed via the preliminary 

results of the ongoing trial trenching) is proposed, in an area outside 

the route corridor, purely for the construction of a compound.  It is not 

at all clear on the basis of the information provided that this potentially 

significant adverse effect upon a (previously unrecorded) 

archaeological heritage asset is unavoidable.  In line with the intentions 

stated in this section, WSCC would expect to see greater efforts to 

minimise the impacts of compounds upon heritage assets; both above-

and below-ground. 

6.8.14 The magnitude of the beneficial effect upon heritage assets as a result 

of detrunking remains to be assessed; this will differ for different 

heritage assets.  The benefit is likely to be greatest for those heritage 

assets currently identified as noise sensitive receptors along the 

existing A27.  In the absence of the baseline settings assessment, it is 

not possible to state that a reduction in traffic will automatically result 

in a meaningful beneficial effect; it first needs to be identified the 

degree to which setting contributed to significance.  Any asset that 

receives significant benefit from a reduction in traffic noise, may also 

be at risk of significant adverse effects due to increase traffic noise as a 

result of the new route alignment.  Assessment work should ensure 

that harm and benefit is weighed fairly for the detrunking vs the new 

scheme.    

6.8.15 In the absence of the baseline assessment work, it is not yet possible 

to make this assertion. 

6.8.16 Even with the embedded mitigation of surfacing in the vicinity of the 

Church of St Mary’s, Binsted, the change in setting and associated 

increase in noise, visual intrusion, change in character, loss of 

tranquillity, and severance of existing views, will still remain and will 

need to be robustly assessed in the ES. 

General Trial trenching coverage for the scheme is generally excellent and the 

majority of route corridor and major impacts areas covered.  However, 

the following exceptions have been identified: 

 South of Proposed Bridleway Overbridge (BR391), east of Copse 

Lane and Potwell Copse; the evaluated area did not include the 

south-east portion of the field; this area now appears within the 

redline, and the proposed tie-in with Copse Lane extends into 

this unevaluated area; 

 A parcel on land immediately south of Avisford Park House and 

east of Tye Lane was not evaluated; 

Page 170

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C



 Location of attenuations ponds either side of Binsted Rife, and 

laydown area, have not been evaluated; it is agreed that site and 

water table constraints make trial trench evaluation impractical, 

but note that this area has not been evaluated; 

 Land either side of Tortington Rife, within route corridor/works 

areas, not evaluated due to hydrological reasons; 

 Land SW of Binsted Lane (in vicinity of and south-east of 

Oakley's Barn), required for utilities diversions; not evaluated; 

and 

 There may well be the need for subsequent phases of trial trench 

evaluation, in the event that additional areas of impacts, 

especially for compounds, utilities, mitigation and access, are 

identified. 

General Due to the hydrological constraints of the floodplain and the deep 

overburden known to be present, effective field evaluation of the 

viaduct section of the route has been challenging, with Trial Trenching 

descoped here as a result.  The programme of geoarchaeological 

monitoring and investigations within this section of the route is 

welcomed.  Care must be taken to ensure the archaeological potential 

of this section of the route is assessed fully beyond the assessment of 

geoarchaeological potential arising from the search work.  The potential 

for in situ Pleistocene archaeological sites and features to be preserved 

at depth should be considered in addition to the geoarchaeological and 

paleoenvironmental potential.  The inability to evaluate or mitigate this 

section effectively should not be used as justification for accepting the 

impacts of piling without clear justification; the areas of impacts along 

this section will be substantial and extensive, with cumulative impacts 

to any archaeological deposits or in situ features present at depth 

below alluvial deposits. 

General Assessment of significance of effects; the omission of the likely 

magnitude of effects is not helpful.  The methodology states that in the 

absence of the detailed baseline assessment work, a 'worst-case 

scenario’ has been adopted for assessing likely significant effects.  

Table 6.2 assesses the likely permanence and whether the effect will 

be adverse or beneficial (following embedded mitigations).  However, 

when assessing on a 'worst-case scenario’ basis, WSCC would expect 

to see a preliminary assessment of the magnitude/severity of potential 

effects.  This could be expressed as a range, e.g., 'permanent adverse 

effect, likely minor to major adverse'.  The current methodology serves 

to downplay where there is the likelihood for significant adverse 

effects.  For example, the assessment for Arundel Castle, one of the 

major sensitive receptors for the scheme, is assessed only as; 

'Permanent adverse effects associated with the visibility of the Scheme 

within the landscape setting of the asset’ and 'Permanent beneficial 

effect from removal of traffic from the setting of the asset during 

operation of the Scheme'.  In the absence of a likely magnitude of 

effect being provided, the impression is given that the (likely slight) 

beneficial effect of a reduction in traffic through Arundel may balance 

out the (likely more significant) adverse effects of the scheme upon 

this nationally significant heritage asset.  The omission of assessment 

of magnitude of effect therefore gives a false impression of the likely 

significant effects of the scheme.  

General The assessment of cumulative impacts should specifically include a 

consideration of the piecemeal loss of non-designated archaeological 

Page 171

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C



heritage assets on the Sussex coastal plain.  Recent housing 

developments in the vicinity of the redline boundary (around Walberton 

and Binsted in particular) have identified further evidence for an 

apparently extensive landscape of multi-period prehistoric and 

Romano-British activity.  The ES should assess how the scheme will 

impact archaeology which might form part of this emerging prehistoric 

landscape (with further evidence almost certainly forthcoming from the 

trial trench evaluation).   

General The location of the Yapton Lane compound will result in the total or 

partial loss of archaeological heritage assets identified during the 

recent geophysical survey and ongoing trial trenching.  The character, 

date and significance of the assets has not yet been fully assessed, but 

they are likely to be of prehistoric to Romano-British date and of at 

least local to regional significance.  Significance may be influenced in 

the case of a demonstrable relationship with features excavated at 

Avisford Grange, and with the Blacksmith’s Corner Roman villa to the 

south of the route corridor.  The loss of these archaeological features, 

located in land outside the route corridor, purely for the siting of a 

‘temporary' construction compound, has not been sufficiently justified.  

Alternative options for this secondary compound should be explored, 

and if none are viable, convincing justification should be provided to 

support this.  

General There is likely to be an impact from topsoil stockpiling areas, on the 

assumption that the existing topsoil in the areas will be removed prior 

to stockpiling, and that subsequent removal of the stockpiles has the 

potential for impact to buried archaeology.  Any areas proposed for 

topsoil storage, or storage of other materials where topsoil removal will 

be required, should be assessed within the ES. 

General Whilst the impacts associated with the compounds and topsoil 

stockpiling areas are at least outlined in the PEIR, the referenced 

'laydown areas' do not appear to be covered.  It is not currently clear 

what, if any, groundworks will be involved, and if there may be 

archaeological impacts from laydown area.  In particular, it is noted 

that a laydown area is proposed in close proximity to Tortington Priory 

Scheduled Monument; this is a potential cause for concern and may 

entail additional impacts during construction phase. 

General The location of the proposed access track for the attenuation pond 

south-west of the Church of St Mary’s, Binsted, is of concern; there 

may be the potential for additional, avoidable impacts to the church 

due to additional changes within its immediate setting; details on the 

need for and design of this feature are expected in the ES.  

General The potential for additional impacts to the archaeological resource 

arising from off-site ecological mitigation/biodiversity net gain habitat 

creation is unclear.  Any such off-site mitigation should be included 

within the ES assessment.  

General It is of concern that the LVIA appears to have considered the road 

corridor only in selection of viewpoint, and not included other areas of 

impacts.  In particular, the field earmarked for the potential golf course 

relocation, east of the Church of St Mary’s.  The field has been included 

within the trial trench evaluation, but it appears that this area, as well 

as the temporary structures such as compounds, have not been 

included within the ZTV.  Creation of a new 18-hole golf course within 

this arable parcel will introduce change into the settings of heritage 

assets above and beyond that caused by the road itself, in particularly 

Page 172

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C



to the Church and surrounds.  The results of the trial trench evaluation 

indicate the presence of heritage assets of archaeological interest 

which might be truncated or removed.  If this option is taken forward, 

there should be detailed heritage and archaeological impact 

assessment for the golf course reprovision, including settings.  WSCC 

would also expect to see a ZTV and, if appropriate, viewpoints, for 

these additional areas of impact, not just for the main route corridor 

itself.  

Table 6.2 The inclusion of Blacksmiths’ Corner Roman Villa in Table 6.2 as a 

heritage asset likely to suffer ‘Permanent loss or truncation of remains 

during construction of the Scheme’ is of great concern.  The villa is not 

located within the redline boundary for the scheme and its loss and/or 

the loss of any directly associated remains is not acceptable.   

The villa is identified as asset A52; however, on Fig. 6.2, A52 lies north 

of Sunnyfield Farm and A53 appears to correspond to the villa’s 

location.  This and other asset numbers need checking for errors. 

Chapter 7 - Landscape and Visual  

Figure 2.1 Details of the Preliminary Landscape and Environmental Masterplan 

(PLEM) for the Yapton Lane offline overbridge option are required. 

Figure 2.1 

(Sheet 1 of 6) 

 Woodland planting at (4).  It is unclear how this planting assists 

with connectivity as it appears to comprise discrete parcels.  

Consideration should be given to ways of connecting new habitat 

so that it contributes to Green Infrastructure.  WSCC request a 

Green Infrastructure Plan that illustrates connectivity between 

existing and proposed features; 

 Why are Ashbeds and land to west included within the red line?  

Can this area be used for further planting?; 

 ‘Noise barriers’ need to be included in illustrative sections and 

assessed as part of LVIA.  Details of height and materials need to 

be included.  WSCC requests consideration should be given to 

green solutions such as http://www.etsluk.com/; 

 Locations of proposed hedgerows and tree lines should be 

informed by existing and historic landscape pattern and 

opportunities taken to restore historic field patterns where 

possible; and 

 More specific detail required on ‘downgrading’ of existing A27 is 

required including illustrative sections and inclusion in the LVIA. 

Figure 2.1 

(Sheet 2 of 6) 

 The proposed ‘layered landscape’ needs to be informed by and 

respond positively to the existing landscape character including the 

historic landscape pattern; 

 Why is land to the east of Yapton Road compound within red line?  

WSCC requests this area is excluded if not required.  Is Yapton 

Road compound shown to the correct size?; 

 Proposed linear tree belts, hedgerows and earth bunds and their 

locations need to be informed by an understanding of landscape 

character; 

 Proposals that have the potential to impact the historic and rural 

character of the Church of St Mary’s, Binsted including the A27 

(and associated planting, lighting, noise, bunds, and noise 

attenuation measures) and proposed golf course need to be 

carefully considered and informed by an understanding of 

Page 173

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C

http://www.etsluk.com/


landscape character.  The proposal also needs to be factored into 

the LVIA and represented by viewpoints;   

 It is not clear if the attenuation pond will hold water permanently.  

WSCC would prefer this feature to contribute to biodiversity/ green 

infrastructure and be less engineered and more natural in shape.  

Consideration should be given to making sure access tracks are 

rural in character and do not have a suburbanising effect. 

Figure 2.1 

(Sheet 3 of 6) 

 More details are required of the floodplain compensation area and 

how this is to be planted and maintained and its appearance and 

function outside of flood events; 

 Location and shape of proposed landscape elements (including 

attenuation basins, woodland extensions, planting, boundaries etc) 

needs to be informed by an understanding of existing character 

and historic landscape patterns; and 

 Why is the land north and south of Binsted Lane (to south of 

proposed A27) within the red line?  WSCC requests this is removed 

if not required as part of the scheme. 

Figure 2.1 

(Sheet 4 of 6) 

 Is the Ford Road compound shown to the correct size? 

 Temporary haul roads, storage areas, concrete batching plant (if 

required) etc need to be shown on plans; 

 Why is land south-west of Tortington Priory within red line?  WSCC 

requests this is removed if not required as part of the scheme; 

 Proposed ditches for water vole receptor area need to be informed 

by local landscape character and historic field patterns; and 

 Details are required of how land reverting ‘back to flood plain 

grassland’ will be maintained are required. 

Figure 2.1 

(Sheet 5 of 6) 

Are compounds shown to the correct size?  Details of screening will be 

required and they will need to be assessed within construction phase of 

LVIA. 

7.2.3 WSCC have been engaging with National Highways regarding LVIA 

methodology, including the location of viewpoints.  Final agreement on 

the location of viewpoints and visualisations needs to be reached, 

which needs to include visualisations that show the proposed extension 

to the golf course, green bridges, compounds, haul roads, concrete 

batching plant, gantries, lighting, detrunking and factor into the LVIA 

all these additional elements which form part of the wider scheme.  

7.3.3 States ‘Further detail is given later in this chapter regarding the 

threshold for Residential Visual Amenity Assessment’.  This appears to 

be missing.  WSCC expect this to be included in the ES and further 

discussions with stakeholders undertaken. 

7.4.5 The preliminary ZTV is based on the centreline of the proposed 

highway at a height of 4.5m to account for lorries.  The ZTV needs to 

also reflect other elements that may sit at above lorry height such as 

bridges, gantries etc and include development away from the 

immediate highway such as concrete batching plant, haul roads, 

compounds and the proposed golf course, all of which have the 

potential to cause visual impact.  

7.5.1 The landscape assessment needs to examine all the aspects that 

contribute to landscape character as set out in GLVIA, which includes: 

 (5.4) including: – physical influences – geology, soils, landform, 

drainage, and water bodies; – land cover, including different 

Page 174

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C



types of vegetation and patterns and types of tree cover; – the 

influence of human activity, including land use and management, 

the character of settlements and buildings, and pattern and type 

of fields and enclosure;  

 the aesthetic and perceptual aspects of the landscape – such as, 

for example, its scale, complexity, openness, tranquillity or 

wildness; 

 the overall character of the landscape in the study area, including 

any distinctive Landscape Character Types or areas that can be 

identified, and the particular combinations of elements and 

aesthetic and perceptual aspects that make each distinctive, 

usually by identification as key characteristics of the landscape; 

and 

 (2.19) Character is not just about the physical elements and 

features that make up a landscape, but also embraces the 

aesthetic, perceptual and experiential aspects of the landscape 

that make different places distinctive. 

Where the landscape character assessments mention key views, these 

too must be taken into consideration in the landscape assessment as 

they contribute to the landscape character and can be affected by 

development.  

General Appears to be no reference to Historic Landscape Character in the 

LVIA.  There needs to be discussion of disruption to any historic field 

patterns caused by the proposals. 

7.5.7 Turner’s many views of the Arun and Arundel should be referenced as 

valued views in the visual assessment: 

https://www.tate.org.uk/art/artworks/turner-arundel-castle-on-the-

river-arun-d18140   

7.5.24-27 Clarification requested in comments by WSCC on 1.7.21 (included 

below) regarding selection of LLCA and their key characteristics is still 

outstanding: 

 There is no explanation of the characteristics identified that make 

each of the 26 Local Landscape Character Areas’ distinctive from 

the others, other than the comment that “we have reviewed 

existing landscape studies and identified local LCAs at a scale 

appropriate to the scheme corridor and reflecting changes in the 

landscape”.  Verbal explanation from TR suggested that 

information from all the published LCAs at national / county / 

district and SDNP level have been collated and updated in order 

to define the 26 LLCAs.  However, if LCX have misinterpreted any 

of the published studies, then their evidence baseline will be 

erroneous; and 

 This analysis of the landscape context should be used as an 

important driver for design, and it will therefore be important 

that all stakeholders get to see the technical work in order to 

verify that LCX have not misrepresented the ‘parent’ LCA studies.  

WSCC therefore request this information/evidence is presented to 

the environment subgroup attendees ahead of the PEIR being 

published, to provide timely feedback into the process. 

7.5.40.b  ‘Not consider views from parts of recreational routes that would be 

closed during the construction phase’.  It is unclear if this refers to not 

assessing in the ‘construction’ assessment routes that will be closed in 

that period or any PRoW that will be closed. 

Page 175

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C

https://www.tate.org.uk/art/artworks/turner-arundel-castle-on-the-river-arun-d18140
https://www.tate.org.uk/art/artworks/turner-arundel-castle-on-the-river-arun-d18140


7.5.40.c WSCC requests that residents of Avisford Grange development should 

be included as receptors in future baseline. 

7.5.40 Visual d WSCC requests the impact of reflected light on windscreens is 

undertaken as part of the required assessments. 

General Should include reference to valued views as depicted in JMW Turner’s 

views of Arundel referenced in 2b 7.5.7  

7.6.4. Planting b Planting should respect the existing landscape character and historic 

landscape pattern.  Introducing uncharacteristic woodland blocks or 

screen planting could undermine landscape character.  Species selected 

need to be the native species for example Populus nigra ssp. 

betulifolia. 

7.7.19 If views across the proposals are a key characteristic of the SDNP LCA, 

then these should be assessed as a landscape characteristic.  The 

SDNP viewshed study should be referred to:  

https://www.southdowns.gov.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2015/10/Viewshed-Study-Report.pdf  

Table 7.3 ‘After the implementation of the EMP, no further mitigation is likely to 

be required.’  Without an early draft EMP available (to assess what 

measures will be included) or a LVIA, design changes and additional 

mitigation cannot be ruled out.  

Response to 

email from 

Charlotte 

Williams on 

6.1.21 – 

Viewpoint 

consultation  

WSCC wants the following viewpoints to be included for assessment 

within the LVIA: 

 Tye Lane adjacent to Harvest House; 

 Views from the cemetery, London Road adjacent to St Phillips 

Catholic Primary School; 

 Footpath 241, south of Pedler’s Croft; and 

 Several more along the route of the existing A27 to consider the 

visual effects of de-trunking (including at its connections with all 

PROW’s and roads… Mill Road, Tye Lane, Shellbridge Road, 

Yapton Lane, Binsted Lane (at Threecorner Wood), Binsted Lane 

(at East and West Lodges), Jarvis Road, Bridleway’s 397, 3667, 

386, Footpaths 388, 3400, 347, 3067, 346, 348, 2207, and also 

on the Arundel Relief Road (across the watermeadows), and The 

Causeway (by Arundel station), and on the hill to Crossbush 

(between both parts of Crossbush Lane) 

General Illustrative sections are required to understand the proposals in more 

depth and their impact especially with regard to roadside planting, 

screening, viaduct, green bridges, highways lighting, gantries and 

signage, junctions, cuttings and embankments, acoustic fencing, bunds 

and basins, compounds, haul roads, golf course redevelopment, Yapton 

bridge, detrunking, etc.  These should show nearby built form, 

indicative vehicles and pedestrians for scale.  Elevational drawings will 

also be required to show the appearance and scale of bridges, viaduct, 

gantries, acoustic barriers etc and help understand fully their likely 

impact.  Viewpoint photographs or photomontages should have been 

included.  The flythrough is helpful but more visualisations are required 

for the DCO submission. 

Landscape and Visual Baseline (Appendix 4c) 

14 WSCC expects that the proposed tree planting reflects the existing 

character and degree of openness/enclosure.  Tree planting to screen 

the proposal could have a negative impact on the landscape character. 

Page 176

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C

https://www.southdowns.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/Viewshed-Study-Report.pdf
https://www.southdowns.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/Viewshed-Study-Report.pdf


57 b. “Clear views to the higher ground of the Downs to the north” are a 

key characteristic of LCA SC8 and impacts on them should be assessed 

as part of the landscape assessment. 

60 j. “Key close dramatic views of Arundel (castle, Roman Catholic 

cathedral, parish church, clustered hillside housing) from the south”.  

k. “Seaward views from elevated positions”. 

l. “Long views of river valley towards the Chalk Downs and Arundel 

from the south.” 

These are all key characteristics of LCA SC10 and impacts on them 

should be assessed as part of the landscape assessment. 

100 Final location and number of viewpoints and location of visualisations 

needs to be agreed with stakeholders, including WSCC. 

101 VP 23 is shown on HE551523 as a location for a type 4 visualisation but 

does not appear in table 7-A-2. Orientation of VP 29 is incorrect on 

plan.  

Chapter 8 - Biodiversity  

8.2.3 This section is misleading.  These three Focus Group meetings in 2021 

did not address biodiversity specifically and no WSCC ecologist was 

present. 

8.3.1 b and c The ecological assessment is ongoing and the full results of the 

ecological surveys will be reported in the ES.  WSCC requests the 

completed ecological survey reports ahead of DCO submission, if 

possible, and for a programme of when each ecological survey will be 

completed and made available. 

8.3.2 It is not possible to provide detailed comments on the PLEM and the 

likely effectiveness of embedded mitigation measures without seeing 

the ecological surveys upon that decisions have presumably been 

based.  e.g. without seeing the bat survey data, notably bat flight 

paths, it is not possible to provide meaningful comments on the 

locations chosen for the green bridges.  Likewise, without seeing the 

reptile survey reports, it is not possible to comment on the location and 

extent of proposed reptile habitat required for reptile receptor areas.  

Some general comments are given below: 

 Avisford Park Golf Course: three ponds within the road footprint 

will be lost and it is proposed to create replacement ponds within 

the golf course but in close proximity to the new A27.  Given that 

trunk roads are a significant hazard to amphibians, it is 

recommended that the replacement ponds should be at least 

250m from the road; 

 The new attenuation pond shown to the west of Binsted Rife, just 

south of the proposed A27, appears very artificially ‘planted’ in 

this floodplain.  WSCC requests this is designed to be more 

natural and managed to enhance the biodiversity of the rife 

floodplain; 

 The watercourses, including Binsted Rife and Tortington Rife, are 

extremely important features in this landscape.  Their routes are 

not easy to identify on this plan.  WSCC expects these to be 

highlighted and labelled in the ES; 

 Flood compensation storage areas should be better integrated 

into the landscape so they can function more naturally and as a 

result provide benefits to biodiversity; 

Page 177

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C



 Binsted Lane overbridge: The T-junction road arrangement 

immediately to the north of the bridge, plus associated 

embankments, present considerable barriers to the movement of 

animals.  Thus, this design does not appear conducive to 

encouraging animals to use this ‘green bridge’; 

 All the proposed mitigation measures shown on this PLEM are 

within the Draft Order Limits.  Given that the scheme will have 

major adverse ecological impacts, including habitat severance, 

stretching across a much broader landscape, mitigation measures 

will need to extend into the wider landscape.  Presumably there 

will be substantial off-site mitigation and compensation 

measures.  They should all feature on this PLEM; 

 WSCC assumes there are ecological surveys of the sites identified 

for construction compounds.  It is difficult to comment on the 

choice of sites without access to the supporting ecological 

surveys.  Clarification is needed whether these sites will be 

returned to their former use or used for habitat creation. 

8.3.3 Evidence (best practice guidance or scientific research) is needed to 

support the chosen design of the ‘green bridges’ at Binsted Lane and 

Tortington Lane.  Is there confidence that they will function as green 

bridges for wildlife as well as their use by vehicles, pedestrians and 

horses?  Are the two ‘green bridges’ sufficiently wide given their multi-

functional use?    

Table 8.1 A Phase 1 Habitat Survey of all habitats within 100m of the centreline 

of the scheme was undertaken in 2020/21.  This seems a very narrow 

corridor given that this survey will need to inform mitigation, 

compensation and enhancement measures both during the construction 

and operational phases.  Furthermore, site compounds, storage areas 

and temporary access routes would need to be included in the Phase 1 

Habitat Survey.  

8.5.43 This is subject to review, as the woodland surveys are currently not 

available.  As highlighted in 8.5.38, the Ancient Woodland Inventory 

did not include sites of less than 2ha.  It is possible that the recent 

surveys will identify further areas of ancient woodland. 

8.5.45 Every effort should be taken to retain ancient and veteran trees 

through the route alignment and engineering design.   

8.6.5 and 

8.7.10 

The green bridges may, depending on their design, location and 

landscaping, provide some habitat connectivity but it is a very bold 

statement to suggest that they will maintain north-south habitat 

connectivity across the new road.  Evidence is required to support this 

claim. 

8.6.27 Another potential enhancement measure could be to enhance the nine 

ponds within the Study Area, all of which are of limited diversity (See 

8.5.67).   

8.7.8 It is stated that ‘Lighting is only being incorporated into the Scheme 

design where it is essential for safety reasons.’  Given the significance 

of the area for bats, in particular, lighting is a very sensitive issue.  The 

Lighting Strategy will require significant ecological input.   

Chapter 9 - Geology and Soils  

General There is no detail or evidence base presented about the amount of land 

affected during construction and operation, or the sensitivity and value 

of that land (ALC and soil surveys not undertaken).  A basic 

Page 178

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C



assessment of the overall likely footprint for construction and operation 

of land needed would have aided clarity of the findings.  There is also a 

lack of mitigation measures proposed, (such as that to be contained 

within the Soils Management Plan (SMP).  WSCC expects to see this 

level of detail within the ES. 

9.9 How will the potential footprint be affected if the viaduct height was 

lowered, as outlined in Table 2.1, and would this lead to increase land 

take and potential environmental impacts?  

9.9.3 WSCC expects to see an assessment of the golf course reprovision area 

fully assessed within this chapter. 

Chapter 10 - Material Assets and Waste 

10.1.7 Reference to JMLP is not correct, this should read Joint Minerals Local 

Plan July 2018 (Partial Review March 2021).  

10.2.1 It is not clear when further consultation with WSCC as Minerals and 

Waste Planning Authority will take place.  This should take place in 

advance of submission of the DCO application.  

10.4.3 This para states, ‘The study area for alternative materials (secondary 

and recycled aggregates) is the southeast England region (comprising 

Berkshire, Buckinghamshire, East Sussex, Hampshire, Isle of Wight, 

Kent, Oxfordshire, Surrey and West Sussex), as set out within LA 110 

(Ref 10-1)’.  WSCC welcomes reference to the use of alternative, 

recycled and secondary aggregates.  Primary aggregates are a finite 

resource; therefore, the use of recycled and secondary aggregates 

should be prioritised where possible.  Although it is accepted that 

materials can be sourced from a wide geographical location, onus 

should be on sourcing materials as locally as possible to limit the 

distances that HGVs travel. 

10.5.8 WSCC welcomes that the safeguarding guidance has been referenced, 

and that National Highways have noted that safeguarded sharp sand 

and gravel is present within the draft Order Limits. 

10.5.20 WSCC is due to publish an updated AMR (2020/21) in February 2022, 

that will be available on the WSCC website -  

https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/about-the-council/policies-and-

reports/environment-planning-and-waste-policy-and-reports/minerals-

and-waste-policy/monitoring-reports/  

10.8.4 - 5 Although there is reference to sharp sand and gravel safeguarding, 

there is no further information provided, and instead an explanation of 

where no significant effects are expected.   

10.8.8 Although the target for use of recycled aggregates is 26%, based on 

national guidelines, National Highways should strive to achieve a higher 

target.  

10.8.13 Regarding the potential impacts on the Stubbs Copse waste facility, the 

PEIR states ‘The construction of the Scheme is not expected to directly 

impact the operation of this waste management facility due to the 

limited extent of the construction works required within the waste 

infrastructure consultation area. Therefore, no significant effects are 

anticipated’.  It is important the thorough consideration is given to 

ensuring that any activities do not prevent or prejudice the operation of 

the waste site. 

Page 179

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C

https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/about-the-council/policies-and-reports/environment-planning-and-waste-policy-and-reports/minerals-and-waste-policy/monitoring-reports/
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/about-the-council/policies-and-reports/environment-planning-and-waste-policy-and-reports/minerals-and-waste-policy/monitoring-reports/
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/about-the-council/policies-and-reports/environment-planning-and-waste-policy-and-reports/minerals-and-waste-policy/monitoring-reports/


General WSCC welcomes reference to the Minerals Local Plan, Waste Local Plan, 

and Minerals and Waste Safeguarding Guidance.  WSCC is concerned 

however, that there is no detail provided on how safeguarded minerals 

and waste resources/sites will be considered, beyond reference to the 

EIA and to further consultation (set out in para 10.2.1).   

WSCC expects to see a Waste Infrastructure Statement focusing on 

Stubbs Copse, in line with the safeguarding guidance, to demonstrate 

that the waste site is not prevented or prejudiced in its operations.  

This should include consideration of the existing vehicle movements 

to/from the site.    

WSCC would like to see a Mineral Resource Assessment, to ensure that 

needless sterilisation of minerals (safeguarded sharp sand and gravel) 

does not occur.  One way to prevent needless sterilisation occurring is 

through prior extraction, which is detailed in the safeguarding 

guidance, and would be welcomed.  

Consultation with WSCC, as Minerals and Waste Planning Authority, 

allowing time to consider any assessments undertaken by National 

Highways, should take place in advance of submission of the DCO 

application. 

10.8.11 This states ‘worst-case scenario requiring the disposal to landfill of 

95% of earthworks cut material has been assessed, comprising 

approximately 513,000 m3 of material for disposal (assuming a bulking 

factor of 1.2). This quantity of material equates to approximately 

0.81% of total regional landfill capacity’.  WSCC expects this figure to 

be considerably lower and a clear strategy following the waste 

hierarchy should be presented, including a Strategic Waste 

Management Plan as part of the ES.  

10.3.2 This states ‘Data on the type and quantity of materials required to 

construct the Scheme, and the type and quantity of waste generated 

from Scheme construction, are not currently available’.  WSCC requests 

this data is made available, as it is not possible to make any 

assessment without it. 

Chapter 11 - Noise and Vibration  

11.2.2 WSCC welcomed consultation on the baseline monitoring locations and 

methodologies for noise.  As stated in an email from WSCC in August 

2021, a clearer narrative is required with regard to baseline noise 

locations and whether temporary construction compounds, haul routes, 

batching plant etc have been taken into account when deciding upon 

likely monitoring positions as well as the route itself.  Clarification is 

also needed regarding ecological/built heritage assets considered as 

potential locations at this stage. 

11.3.1 WSCC raised concerns that details of the construction traffic, diversion 

routes, construction schedule, construction methodology and plant 

requirements are not yet confirmed.  Therefore, a qualitative 

assessment has been carried out at this stage, based on professional 

judgment and experience of other nationally significant road schemes, 

of the likely noise and vibration effects of the activities described in 

Chapter 2: The Scheme, following the application of best practicable 

means to minimise noise and vibration levels.  Little meaningful 

feedback can be given by stakeholders until quantitative assessment 

has been undertaken and the impacts of construction traffic on noise 

sensitive receptors without details of the volume and routes (and their 

proximity to noise sensitive receptors) that are proposed to be used.  

Page 180

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C



11.3.2 This paragraph refers to a validated traffic model of the local region.  

Details must be provided of the model and validation in a Local Model 

Validation Report (or similar technical documents).  Feedback cannot 

be made on the outcomes of the preliminary operational phase noise 

assessment until certainty and scrutiny on the traffic modelling upon 

which it is based has been undertaken.  

11.5.3 A much clearer detailed table of non-residential NSRs should be 

included and mapped for the purposes of assessment.  

11.6.3 Traffic may redistribute during the construction phase to avoid delays 

resulting in temporary impacts that it has not been possible to assess.  

Please provide details of likely traffic re-routing onto alternative roads 

during construction and associate temporary noise impacts. 

11.9.5 Further evidence is required to substantiate the conclusion that the 

offline option for Yapton Lane is better in noise terms.  The number of 

properties that would benefits from the reduction in noise due to the 

offline overbridge is quite small compared to those in Avisford Grange 

that would benefit from a deeper cutting.  It is not possible to fully 

assess this and provide informed comments without a more detailed 

assessment. 

Chapter 12 - Population and Human Health  

General  There has been no consultation since the Scoping Stage with WSCC 

regarding health and wellbeing and any methodologies to be used to 

undertake Health Impact Assessment work, or Equality studies.  As 

stated in the NN NPS, National Highways needs to ‘identify measures to 

avoid, reduce or compensate for adverse health impacts, as 

appropriate’.  Clarity is required on the human health impacts for both 

the construction and operational stages of the scheme.  No detail on 

the potential impacts upon the determinants of human health have 

been provided, or on the level of land take required which may impact 

upon private/residential properties.  Therefore, further consultation will 

be required through the next stages of the scheme development. 

12.3.3 The PEIR states ‘where the Scheme cuts across a walking, cycling or 

horse-riding route, endeavours will be made where possible to ensure 

that all routes are kept in place by offering safe and well-planned 

diversions during the construction phase. At this stage, it is not 

possible to confirm the length of time that each route would be 

temporarily closed’.  WSCC is concerned that no detail on the 

construction phase impacts to PRoWs has been included, and 

consultation on a draft Public Rights of Way Strategy (PRoWS), which 

outlines these details should be undertaken as part of the next stages 

of the scheme.  The timescales should be clarified as the process goes 

on, but possible alternatives should also be assessed as to their 

suitability because this comment is vague and gives no confidence 

mitigation is going to be suitable to try to accommodate lawful public 

use during construction where possible to reduce the impact on PRoW 

users for the estimated three year duration of construction. 

12.3.3 No NMU surveys or WCH Assessment Report (WCHAR) have been 

presented as part of the PEIR.  Concern is raised about the statement 

on frequency of use of WCH and its indicator of the recreational value 

of a route.  These routes may be used in a limited manner due to the 

difficulties in crossing the existing A27.  A WCH Assessment Report 

should therefore be provided for consultation with stakeholders.  

Page 181

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C



12.5.59 The road safety performance across large administrative areas (district, 

county etc) do not necessarily reflect what is happening on the section 

of A27 that is expected to be bypassed or the area of scheme 

influence.  More detailed analysis is required of the road safety 

performance in the area of influence of the scheme and a quantitative 

assessment of the likely benefits in a Transport Assessment. 

Specific 

comments on 

PRoWs 

Some further queries on specific routes are given below: 

 BW392 - in principle support proposal for a NMU route, and 

welcomes the inclusion of this crossing the existing A27 route. 

 FP350 - currently provides good and well used access for walkers 

directly from Walberton across to the Church of St Marys and 

then on into the SDNP.  Further clarity on the detail is needed, 

concern is raised about the user experience with the path 

proposed to be realigned under the new road, including drainage 

and lighting concerns.  WSCC requests discussions on whether 

upgrading of this route from footpath to Bridleway is possible, as 

it offers a good off road access between Yapton Lane and Binsted 

Lane.  Section 12.8.42 mentions a new PRoW that connects to 

the existing PROW 350 footpath, which would provide a 

connection to Binsted Lane, further detail is needed. 

 FP354 - proposal in principle supported for grade separated 

crossing of new road but need to consider access up slope on 

southern side of road and mitigation to meet DDA compliance 

where possible.  Also as this bridge will be carrying vehicular 

traffic as well, how is NMU traffic being safely accommodated 

alongside this vehicular traffic? 

 FP3403 - this is quite a big diversion and changes route from off 

road to on road for some of the journey, albeit a quiet road with 

access traffic to properties.  How is this pedestrian route being 

accommodated alongside vehicular traffic and is there a provision 

for pedestrians to link to FP3401 from the proposed diversions 

northern end? 

 FP206 - appears to be no material change to the line but it is an 

aspiration of Arun DC to upgrade this footpath to Bridleway in the 

future so this needs to be considered when designing head 

clearance over this route so it is future proofed. 

 FP2207 - in principle support the grade separation from the 

proposed new road. 

 Further discussions are needed on how the scheme could tie in 

with WSCC's Lyminster Bypass near Crossbush.  Pedestrian, 

equestrian and cycle access is desirable and would be interesting 

to consider how these two schemes can tie in and provide access 

south.  

 Also there is potential for upgrade of FP2189 to Bridleway to 

create an NMU facility east from Crossbush to tie in with existing 

network.  

12.6.7 A PRoW strategy would be beneficial for the whole project, setting out 

general principles around providing access throughout construction 

where possible and when this is not, how access can still be retained 

along alternative routes.  Long term closures for up to three years will 

have a very negative impact on local communities and recreational 

access to the SDNP, so a clearer plan of action is required setting out 

how this will work. 

Page 182

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C



12.8.2 Full assessment of permanent land take and loss of properties to 

residents on Binsted Lane is required, including the detrimental 

impacts to occupants and owners.  

General  The assessment seems light on detail and WSCC would recommend 

reference to the iPROW paper titled "Environmental Impact 

Assessment: Appraising Access". 

General  Without detailed assessment, whether there will be ‘significant benefit 

for walkers, cyclists and horse riders as part of the Scheme’ is yet to be 

demonstrated.  There is very little in the way of new routes specifically 

for NMUs, and there are opportunities to go further than the current 

scheme.  Those identified have been provided either because the 

original alignments needed to be diverted or mitigated for because of 

the bypass or they are provided in short sections where without 

separate provision, users would be required to share road space with 

vehicles.  Apart from the new bridleway bridge over the existing A27 

there are no details about the approach to detrunking.  Provision for 

walking, cycling, and horse riding would potentially have a large impact 

in terms of increased uptake of active travel amongst local 

communities. 

12.8.6 WSCC raises concerns regarding the potential impact of both the 

construction and operational phases of the proposed scheme upon 

Walberton and Binsted C of E Primary School.  Concern is raised 

regarding not only the close proximity of the new bypass alignment 

and its construction, but also the potential redistribution of traffic 

during the operation of the scheme and its effects upon road safety.  

The PEIR gives no detail upon specific impacts and lacks any detail in 

relation to proposed mitigation measures.  WSCC would expect the 

school site to comply with the relevant Department for Education 

Building Bulletins e.g. BB103 (Area Guidelines for Mainstream Schools) 

and mitigation must be in place to ensure those requirements and 

especially around noise and air quality are met.  Further consultation is 

therefore required with WSCC and the school itself during the next 

stages of the project, to ensure any anticipated adverse effects are 

appropriately mitigated.  Not all facilities have been included here.  

There is also the Walberton Community Play Centre, Walberton Pre-

School and Walberton Playgroup in the vicinity, and all need to be 

considered within the assessment. 

12.8.32 WSCC expects a wider analysis of the economic impacts of the 

proposed scheme and the extent to which it will address challenges 

around the competitiveness of the coastal economy including 

productivity, access to customer and labour markets, attractiveness of 

the area for business growth and entrepreneurship, access for visitors 

to the coast and the South Downs National Park, and the regeneration 

of coastal towns. 

12.8.34 WSCC query why no locations in Walberton area are at risk of 

temporary adverse impact due to dust emissions.  Is this an error? 

12.8.43 There appears to be provisions to cross the new road with overbridges 

but these are likely to be highway assets and not PROW as they will 

run alongside vehicular carriageway.  This issue needs to be considered 

carefully so the provision is suitable and does not deter users travelling 

so close to vehicular traffic. 

Chapter 13 - Road Drainage and the Water Environment  

Page 183

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C



General  There is no mention of the ‘Lower Tidal River Arun Strategy (LTRAS)’, 

which is an EA study of the lower sections of the River Arun and covers 

the Arundel area.  Consideration should be made to this strategy. 

General  Detailed ground investigation and ground water monitoring have yet to 

be completed; therefore, the potential impacts have been considered 

qualitatively within the current assessment.  WSCC wants further 

consultation on these matters once the assessment is developed.  

13.3.2 Flow gauging, water quality sampling, aquatic ecology and hydro 

morphological walkovers have and are still being undertaken.  WSCC 

would like to see the same level of monitoring continue during and 

after the construction work is complete. 

13.5.81 A number of private water supplies have been identified.  Are any of 

these outside of the EA’s Source Protection Zones?  What, if any, level 

of monitoring will be in place during the construction to ensure these 

water supplies are not affected during the construction phase? 

General A detailed Flood Risk Assessment has yet to be carried out.  Therefore, 

WSCC request consultation on this document prior to the DCO 

application being submitted.  

13.5.96 WSCC are not aware of any areas of emerging groundwater within the 

study area, when local groundwater levels are high.  However, WSCC 

understands this does happen along other sections of the A27, so 

needs to be considered. 

13.5.111 This refers to historic flooding in Barnham, but it does not mention the 

late 1990s event when the culvert under the road and railway became 

blocked leading to property flooding at the time.  Can National 

Highways confirm if the date in the report is wrong and it should read 

1998, not 1968? 

13.6 Although the temporary impact that construction can have on the 

water environment is discussed, controls are not outlined.  WSCC has 

witnessed in recent years significant uncontrolled silt run-off from 

major construction sites and the damage it has done to the local water 

environment.  Therefore, it is important that these issues are 

considered and suitable controls put in place during the construction 

phase.  The culverting of minor watercourses is discussed.  This work 

will require ‘Ordinary Watercourse Consent’ from Arun DC and culverts 

should be a minimum of 450mm diameter. 

13.6.8 WSCC notes this section identifies three non-linear surface water 

features, although four are listed. 

13.6.12 This section states that ‘piles have the potential to interrupt 

groundwater flows’.  Current best practice should be followed to limit 

this effect, and further discussion and engagement will be required 

with relevant stakeholders to ensure method statements and relevant 

mitigation is put in place.  

13.6.21 and 

3.7.4 (h) 

This section states ‘there is the potential for operational drainage 

discharges to alter the flow regime of receiving watercourses and to 

impact upon water quality’.  These issues need to be considered 

carefully as increased flood risk and/or pollution would not be 

acceptable.  It is noted that the ‘Design, mitigation and enhancement 

measures’, section 13.7.4 (h) contradicts this statement, stating that 

there will be no increase in flood risk or run-off rates. 

Page 184

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C



General It will be important that a robust maintenance plan is put in place 

following construction and all third-party responsibilities are identified. 

General Special consideration during the design stage needs to be given at 

camber/topography changes to avoid the risk of cross carriageway flow 

leading to aquaplaning/reduced visibility due spray hazard.  Also the 

placing and maintenance of gullies in low spots which are likely to block 

due to high levels of leaf fall should be carefully considered through the 

design process. 

Chapter 14 - Climate  

14.1.3 The chapter needs to refer to the draft West Sussex Transport Plan 

(WSTP) 2022-2036 (currently post-public consultation) West Sussex 

Transport Plan Review - West Sussex County Council 

14.1.3 The West Sussex Plan 2017 – 2022 is superseded.  The current one is 

‘Our Council Plan 2021 – 2025’ Our Council Plan - West Sussex County 

Council 

14.3.20/ 24 WSCC cannot make comment without scheme specific data, for 

example, the preliminary Green House Gas (GHG) assessment.  There 

is a lack of construction emissions data, which along with all the 

required construction information would give stakeholders more 

confidence about the construction phase.  WSCC expects to see all 

these documents in draft form before the DCO submission in order to 

comment and provide a meaningful response. 

14.3.23 Without seeing a draft version of the EMP and associated documents 

(such as the construction worker travel plan) WSCC cannot have 

certainty that aspects will be covered and therefore secured through 

the consenting process.  A draft version, along with a commitments 

register, should have been forthcoming as part of the consultation. 

14.3.23 WSCC requests that this is split and more clarity provided.  The 

examples of emission mitigation are helpful, but the co-benefits of re-

use of material arisings is not the same as the inclusion of a green 

bridge or the provision of EV charging points.  

14.3.23 WSCC requests details of proposed EV charging points on this stretch 

of the road, and clarification of why drivers would stop on this stretch 

(which should be flowing), rather than charging points be increased at 

Fontwell or at Crossbush.  WSCC would welcome charging 

infrastructure that complement the EV Strategy and recent contract 

award for EV charging countywide.  

14.3.24 With regard to the Net Zero Highways Plan, WSCC would like to see 

how this scheme specifically contributes to the ambitions of Net Zero 

corporate emissions by 2030, being Net Zero for maintenance and 

construction by 2040 and Net Zero carbon for travel on roads by 2050.  

This is not spelt out clearly in the report.   

14.3.28/14.3.35 WSCC acknowledges that the emissions from this scheme may only be 

0.1% of the overall UK budget, but from a cumulative perspective, 

every scheme has a part to play.  Information on this scheme’s 

potential to be a ‘Near Zero’ scheme could be presented and 

considered. 

14.3.31 WSCC is disappointed that the ES assessment is not presented in a 

preliminary form and WSCC would expect to see draft assessment work 

before submission of the ES.  

Page 185

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C

https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/about-the-council/policies-and-reports/roads-and-travel-policy-and-reports/west-sussex-transport-plan-review/
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/about-the-council/policies-and-reports/roads-and-travel-policy-and-reports/west-sussex-transport-plan-review/
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/about-the-council/policies-and-reports/corporate-policy-and-reports/our-council-plan/
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/about-the-council/policies-and-reports/corporate-policy-and-reports/our-council-plan/
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/media/13766/electric_vehicle_strategy.pdf
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/news/ev-chargepoint-roll-out-in-west-sussex/
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/news/ev-chargepoint-roll-out-in-west-sussex/


 

General No reference is made to the WSCC Climate Change Strategy - the 

Authority has an ambition to be both carbon neutral and climate 

resilient to 2030.  Although the Strategy is about WSCC’s local actions, 

many of the West Sussex Local Authorities have similar ambitions and 

it would be helpful to understand how this nationally important scheme 

aligns with the delivery of these collective ambitions at the local level.  

14.4.13 WSCC expects to see more localised data if stations exist.  WSCC 

requests that a longer-term data range is considered, to reflect the 

more recent variation in climatic extremes.  It is proposed that a Local 

Climate Impact Profile (LCIP) could be useful to inform this.  It is 

requested that National Highways consider funding the preparation of a 

scheme-specific LCLIP. (WSCC has one 1998-2008 but not published – 

available on request). 

14.4.28 and 

14.4.36 

WSCC expects to see reference and consideration given to drought, 

given the southeast status as water-stressed.  National Highways is 

requested to check the impact of water neutrality on the scheme 

proposal.  Map showing the Sussex North Water Resource Zone in West 

Sussex (document unsuitable for assistive technologies)  

14.4.29 No detail is provided on adaptation measures.  While 14.4.31 provides 

suggestions on mitigation, it is contradictory as a green bridge is not a 

mitigation (emission reduction) measure.  There are no suggestions 

provided for adaptation.  WSCC requests that proposed adaptation 

measures are provided for consideration, for example, alternative 

highways surfacing.  Further reference to LA114 would be beneficial 

(referred to in 14.4.38) with more detail.  

General WSCC would like to see clearer references to carbon off-setting.  

WSCC’s preference is for on-site (insetting) where possible, to achieve 

widest benefit, further details should be provided.  

Chapter 15 - Cumulative, In-combination and Project-wide Effects 

15.2.5 WSCC requests clarity on the cut-off point for developing the CEA prior 

to DCO submission.  WSCC should be consulted on the development of 

the long list of CEA projects to be taken into consideration. 

15.2.7 Many of the assessments are based upon the forecasts derived from 

the traffic modelling, which is why the lack of any documentation 

outlining this modelling is unhelpful.  Further consultation on these 

topics is expected.  

General WSCC expects to see any impacts caused by direct interaction between 

planned projects (such as Rampion 2 onshore cable route, if this is 

likely to interact) mitigated, which could involve joint working method 

statements if required.  Further assessment of potential impacts of 

these projects should be undertaken with the ES.  

15.3 There is potential for both adverse and beneficial in-combination effects 

associated with the scheme.  Clearer assessment is needed on the in-

combination effects of multiple adverse impacts upon any one 

individual receptor, especially those sensitive receptors in close 

proximity to the route.   

Page 186

Agenda Item 5
Appendix C

https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/media/14787/climate_change_strategy_2020-2030.pdf
https://www.ukcip.org.uk/wizard/current-climate-vulnerability/lclip/
https://www.ukcip.org.uk/wizard/current-climate-vulnerability/lclip/
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/media/17039/map_sussexnorth_wrz.pdf
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/media/17039/map_sussexnorth_wrz.pdf


Key decision: Yes 

Unrestricted 
Ref: CAB18 (21/22) 

 

Report to Cabinet 

March 2022 

West Sussex Fire and Rescue Service Community Risk Management 

Plan 2022-2026 

Report by Sabrina Cohen-Hatton, Chief Fire Officer 

Electoral division(s): All 
 

Summary 

The Fire and Rescue National Framework for England (2018) requires all Fire and 

Rescue Authorities to produce a Community (Integrated) Risk Management Plan1 
(CRMP) that covers at least a 3-year period. The plan must identify and assess all 

foreseeable fire and rescue related risks to communities and set out the arrangements 
that have been put in place to prevent and respond to them.  

Our CRMP is a four-year strategy that sets out the service’s objectives to meet the 
risks identified within the county. It sets out six key proposals for change that will 

enable the service to do this more effectively. The priorities are aligned to the WSCC 
2021-25 Council Plan, setting out clearly the way in which Fire and Rescue activities 

contribute to the Council objectives.  

This paper sets out the draft West Sussex Fire and Rescue Service Community Risk 
Management Plan (2022-2026). 

Recommendation 

That Cabinet approve the West Sussex Fire & Rescue Service Community Risk 

Management Plan 2022- 2026 CRMP for publication.  

 

Proposal 

1 Background and context 

1.1 Our Council Plan (2021-25) sets out four key priorities for WSCC, underpinned 
by a cross-cutting theme on tackling climate change:  

 Keeping people safe from vulnerable situations  

 A sustainable and prosperous economy  

                                       
1 The National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC) commissioned a Community Risk Management (CRM) project to develop 

robust, evidence based digital guidance that supports a consistent approach to the CRM planning process which has 
resulted in a national change in terminology from Integrated to Community Risk Management Plan. 

Page 187

Agenda Item 6



 Helping people and communities fulfil their potential  

 Making best use of resources  

 

1.2 This strategy sets out how West Sussex Fire and Rescue Service contributes to 
these priorities through the activity required through its CRMP. This includes 

requirements set out in statute within the Fire and Rescue Services Act (2004), 
and the Fire and Rescue National Framework for England (2018) which sets out 
government priorities for fire and rescue authorities. 

1.3 The framework identifies high level expectations but does not prescribe how 

individual fire and rescue services should conduct its day-to-day business, 
which is a role for the fire and rescue authority, in consultation with the 

communities and residents that it serves. It details the following five priorities: 

 Make appropriate provision for fire prevention and protection activities and 
response to fire and rescue related incidents;  

 Identify and assess the full range of foreseeable fire and rescue related risks 
their areas face;  

 Collaborate with emergency services and other local and national partners to 

increase the efficiency and effectiveness of the service they provide;  
 Be accountable to communities for the service they provide; and  

 Develop and maintain a workforce that is professional, resilient, skilled, flexible 
and diverse.  
 

1.4 The framework also states that a CRMP must: 

 Reflect up to date risk analyses including an assessment of all foreseeable fire 

and rescue related risks that could affect the area of the authority;  
 Demonstrate how prevention, protection and response activities will best be 

used to prevent fires and other incidents and mitigate the impact of identified 
risks on its communities, through authorities working either individually or 

collectively, in a way that makes best use of available resources;  
 Outline required service delivery outcomes including the allocation of resources 

for the mitigation of risks;  

 Set out a management strategy and risk-based programme for enforcing the 
provisions of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 in accordance 

with the principles of better regulation set out in the Statutory Code of 
Compliance for Regulators, and the Enforcement Concordat;  

 Cover at least a three-year time span and be reviewed and revised as often as 

it is necessary to ensure that the authority is able to deliver the requirements 
set out in this Framework;  

 Reflect effective consultation throughout its development and at all review 
stages with the community, its workforce and representative bodies and 
partners; and  

 Be easily accessible and publicly available.  
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 188

Agenda Item 6



2 Proposal Details 

CRMP Design 

2.1 In accordance with the framework document and the newly published CRMP 
Fire Standard2, we have undertaken a robust and detailed assessment of 

foreseeable operational risk. This process has considered our community risks, 
using a range of tools to identify where incidents might happen, when they 

might occur and how serious they could be. Using this data, alongside historical 
information about demand, allows us to identify options to better target our 
resources, including firefighters and appliances more effectively, resulting in a 

better balance of prevention, protection and response. 

2.2 A programme of pre-consultation and engagement activities were held to 
inform the development of the CRMP. A series of events were held with staff 

from across the service to gather views and opinions to help shape the CRMP 
which included themes around new ways of working, learning and development, 
use of technology and operational preparedness. 

Risk Analysis 

2.3 We have used a wide range of complex data sources to inform our Technical 
Risk document that sets out the risk within the county. These include critical 

fire risk maps, Mosaic and Exeter data, incident data and modelling, national 
and community risk registers, and West Sussex Life. In addition to this we use 
housing, industrial and business development plans and infrastructure 

modelling to determine predicted changes in risk and potential demand in the 
coming years. 

2.4 We define the critical fire risk for each area in the county from three years of 

weighted historical data, drawing on information from:  

• dwelling fire rate, taking the number of households into account  

• other critical building fires  

• dwelling fire casualties rate raking the population into account  

• the level of deprivation from the national index of multiple deprivation. 

2.5 Based on this data, each LSOA is given a critical fire risk grade from very high 
to low. This allows us to keep our focus on the most vulnerable residents and 

those communities at highest risk, thereby ensuring our Prevention, Protection 
and Response resources are targeted efficiently to achieve the best possible 

outcomes for our local communities. 

2.6 Our risk analysis predicts large percentage rises within demographics that are 
vulnerable to fire, such as the 80+ age group. Increasing life expectancy, 
coupled with limited improvements in healthy life expectancy, is likely to mean 

an increase in age-related impairment and disability, which is another risk 
factor for vulnerability from fire. With an increasing number of older people, the 

number of people with physical and sensory impairments will continue to grow 

                                       
2 https://www.firestandards.org/approved-standards/community-risk-management-planning-

fss-rmp01/ 

Page 189

Agenda Item 6



along with the number of people with dementia. There will be more people 

living longer with multiple long-term conditions.  

2.7 Poor health and disability are dwelling fire risk factors. This is likely to lead to 
an increase in demand for services both in terms of preventing and attending 

fires, particularly as we encourage and assist people to live independently at 
home. 

2.8 Deprivation is clearly linked to higher risk of fires. Being a single parent, never 

in paid work, living on your own and being deprived were the top factors 
associated with higher rates of fire in the home. West Sussex now has five 
small areas falling in the 10% of the most deprived areas in England. 

2.9 Our risk analysis also indicates a need to consider a growing number of 
extreme weather events, such as wildfire and flooding, as climate change 
continues to impact. We also need to be prepared to deal with a range of 

incidents such as major fires (including high rise and waste processing and 
recycling sites), and incidents such as Marauding Terror Attacks. There are also 

emerging risks from new technologies, such as increasing use of electric 
vehicles and Battery Energy Storage Systems. 

2.10 Our updated risk analysis has shown that both risk and operational demand are 
consistent across a seven-day period. There is a gap in our current operating 

model as we have four less wholetime fire engines available during the 
weekend daytime, when compared to weekdays. 

2.11 Data also demonstrates that retained fire engine availability has reduced by 

10.7% over a five-year period. Retained availability is lowest during daytime 
hours, both on weekdays and weekends. Fire engines crewed by retained 

firefighters at our four-day crewing stations are typically the least available 
type of resource. These factors can lead to a reduction in fire appliance 
availability in rural areas and along our Eastern border, particularly during the 

weekend daytime period. 

Proposal details 

2.12 Our 5 Strategic Priorities are outlined in the table below, along with the 
corresponding Council Plan Priority that each contributes to. 

WSFRS Strategic Priority Council Plan Priority 

Preventing fires and emergencies from 
happening 

Keeping people safe from vulnerable 
situations 

Protecting people, firefighters and 
property by making buildings as safe 
from fire as they can be 

Keeping people safe from vulnerable 
situations; Building a safe and 
prosperous economy 

Responding to fires and emergencies 
quickly and effectively – (relates to 
Council Plan priority 

Keeping people safe from vulnerable 
situations; Helping people and 
communities to fulfil their potential 

Have a safe and valued workforce Helping people and communities to fulfil 
their potential 

Page 190

Agenda Item 6



Making best use of resources Making the best use of resources 

 

2.13 We have identified six proposals for change that will improve the service, in line 
with the risk analysis of the county. These are listed below, a more detailed 

‘What’, ‘Why’ and ‘How’ rationale, along with supporting analysis of risk data is 
outlined in the CRMP consultation document in Appendix A. 

2.13.1 Enhance our Retained operating model – this proposal seeks to 

increase the availability of our retained firefighters across West 
Sussex to maximise the amount of emergency response cover 
available and to strengthen operational resilience. 

2.13.2 Weekend Protection, Prevention and Response improvements – a 
proposal to extend immediate response cover to our current day 
crewing stations, helping us to get to more incidents more quickly and 

to increase the amount of prevention work we are able to deliver. 

2.13.3 Improving Protection, Prevention and Response performance in rural 
areas – we propose to extend the crewing arrangements to improve 

cover and prevention activity at weekends in rural parts of West 
Sussex. 

2.13.4 Unwanted False Alarms - Changes to our response which include 

options for a risk based and managed approach to reducing Unwanted 
Fire Alarms including the use of technology and charging. 

2.13.5 Review of Emergency Response Standards (ERS) – in line with a 
proposed national review of these standards by the NFCC. 

2.13.6 Enhanced specialist capability and assets – a review to ensure that 

our current specialist capability is fit for purpose and meets the 
current and future risks that our County may face. 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 191

Agenda Item 6



Delivering the CRMP  

 
2.14 CRMP implementation is supported by a Community Risk Management 

Framework (figure 1) with governance, assurance and performance reviews at 
each level. 

 
 

2.15 The CRMP is supported by a Community Risk Delivery Plan which the Chief Fire 

Officer is responsible for. This sets out how the service will operationalise the 
priorities set out within the CRMP, including detailed annual objectives for each 
year. This plan is supported by a set of Core Measures which are scrutinised by 

the Fire and Rescue Services Scrutiny Committee, and KPIs that are included in 
the Council Plan. 

 

2.16 Service plans set out the activity and resources required within each 
department to deliver the requirements of the Community Risk Delivery Plan, 
supported by a suite of Service Measures. These feed into Local Risk 

Management Plans which set out the business plan for each fire station area to 
deliver the requirements of the CRMP at a local level. They focus on community 

risk, the delivery of service and the subsequent risk mitigation activities. These 
are utilised in setting individual performance objectives, creating a “golden 
thread” between the CRMP and daily activities.  

 

3 Other options considered 

3.1 As the production of the CRMP is a statutory duty no other options have been 
considered. 

Page 192

Agenda Item 6



 

4 Consultation, engagement and advice 

4.1 A public consultation was undertaken in relation to the strategic objectives set 
out within the plan, including the six supporting strategic proposals for change 

(see Appendix A). This consultation included wide community engagement, 
consultation with partners and staff. It was designed using best practice for 
public consultation set out in the Local Government Association ‘Gunning 

Principles3’. 
 

4.2 The aim of our public consultation was to engage with as broad a range of 
people who live and work in West Sussex as possible through available tools 
and media including the WSCC Engagement Hub. Adjustments were made to 

our approach to account for risks prevented by Covid. We supplemented face-
to-face with on-line engagement. This also avoided unnecessary travel and 

reduced printed material, in keeping with WSFRS and WSCC’s carbon reduction 
policies. 
 

4.3 On-line activities included social media campaigns (through Facebook, Twitter 
and LinkedIn), targeted emails and links / referrals from local government 
websites, which, along with direct access, took the public to our engagement 

hub to complete the survey. 
 

4.4 Proactive engagement included a range of partners, elected members and local 

authorities which included our neighbouring FRS, Sussex Police, South East 
Coast Ambulance Service, district and boroughs and the 135 town and parish 
councils. 

 

4.5 The consultation ensured that targeted efforts were made to reach communities 
that can be hard-to-reach . This included extensive public engagement with 

community groups, faith organisations, business groups and social 
organisations across the county. 

 

4.6 The public consultation was advertised extensively through the residents e-
panel, which totals in excess of 100,000 residents, as well as through the 
residents Town and Parish E-Newsletters. Public engagement was also extended 

to a number of WSCC’s libraries at a variety of times to ensure the widest 
possible reach to further engage with hard-to-reach residents who might not 

have online access. 
 

4.7 A mid-point review identified disproportionately fewer responses from people 

under the age of 30 and over the age of 75, women, and people from minority 
ethnic backgrounds. Further work was undertaken to target these 

demographics through various targeted social media outlets and community 
groups and hubs including the Cadet schemes around the county. Crawley was 
also targeted via the Inter Faith Network which accessed a further 1000 

individuals in the Crawley area. 

                                       
3 https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/The%20Gunning%20Principles.pdf 

 

Page 193

Agenda Item 6

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/The%20Gunning%20Principles.pdf


 

4.8 Analysis of the engagement metrics revealed that over 5000 people interacted 
with the consultation, 1,800 of these visitors engaged further or took a further 
step with the process and 698 people completed the survey. An analysis of the 

consultation engagement hub information can be found in the background 
papers on the Engagement Consultation Analysis. 

Consultation proposals & outcome 

4.9 There was strong support for each of the proposals for change, which are 

subsequently recommended for approval as part of the CRMP. An executive 
summary is provided below (more detail can be found in the background 

papers).  
 

Strategic proposal What people told us 

Enhance our Retained operating model 

 

- 89% strongly agreed or agreed 
- 7% disagreed or strongly 

disagreed 
- 4% neither agreeing nor 

disagreeing 

Weekend Protection, Prevention and 
Response improvements 

 

- 80% strongly agreed or agreed 
- 10% disagreed or strongly 

disagreed 
- 10% neither agreeing nor 

disagreeing 

Improving Protection, Prevention and 

Response performance in rural areas 

 

- 84% strongly agreed or agreed 

- 8% disagreed or strongly 
disagreed 

- 8% neither agreeing nor 

disagreeing 

Unwanted False Alarms - Changes to our 

response proposal 1: Implement a risk-
based approach in low risk commercial 

properties, using call filtering to identify 
whether a response is required. This 
would remove the automatic response to 

automated fire alarms 

- 53% strongly agreed or agreed 

- 33% disagreed or strongly 
disagreed 

- 13% neither agreeing nor 
disagreeing 

Unwanted False Alarms - Changes to our 
response proposal 2: Introduce a 

charging scheme for repeated false 
alarms 

- 74% strongly agreed or agreed 
- 18% disagreed or strongly 

disagreed 
- 8% neither agreeing nor 

disagreeing 

Unwanted False Alarms - Changes to our 

response proposal 3: Use new 
technological developments to change 
the way that businesses manage 

potential false alarms and how we then 
consequentially respond 

- 73% strongly agreed or agreed 

- 13% disagreed or strongly 
disagreed 

- 14% neither agreeing nor 

disagreeing 

Page 194

Agenda Item 6



Review of Emergency Response 
Standards (ERS) 

 

- 81% strongly agreed or agreed 
- 4% disagreed or strongly 

disagreed 

- 15% neither agreeing nor 
disagreeing 

Enhanced specialist capability and assets 

 

- 91% strongly agreed or agreed 
- 3% disagreed or strongly 

disagreed 
- 6% neither agreeing nor 

disagreeing 

 

4.10 As a result of the feedback, we received we are confident that our original 

proposals and assessment of risk are well supported by the public in their 
responses. The one proposal where we received significant feedback was 
proposal 4. In response to this feedback, we are preparing a communication 

plan to ensure that the objectives of the proposal are well understood by those 
most affected – this will include an impact assessment and engagement with 

businesses, insurance sector and Chambers of Commerce.  

5 Finance 

5.1 In order to deliver the CRMP an increase in base budget of £1.3m has been 
agreed, falling to £1.150 in subsequent years. The requirement for an increase 

to fund the CRMP had been recognised in previous medium term financial plans. 

5.2 Most of the uplift reflects an increase in the number of firefighter positions 
required to extend the availability of fire crews on the weekends and to improve 

the resilience of the retained duty system.  

5.3 As part of the CRMP it is proposed that there will be a risk-based review of the 
fleet relating to special appliances. We anticipate that any subsequent changes 
to the fleet will be met within the existing capital programme allocation for fire 

and rescue service fleet. 

6  Risk Implications and mitigations 

Risk Mitigating Action (in place or planned) 

 

 
That the document does 
not comply with statutory 

requirements 
 

 
This is being mitigated via close reference to the 
current National Framework for Fire and Rescue 

during generation of the document, consultation 
with appropriate Fire and Rescue Service 
professionals, and oversight by Members.  

 

 
That the document does 
not inform delivery by the 

fire and rescue service 
 

 
This is being mitigated through use of the CRMP 
action plans to directly inform business planning 

by the service, and by accounting to Members and 
the Public, through an online performance 

dashboard and an annual Statement of Assurance. 
Performance will also be addressed and 
scrutinised going forward.  

Page 195

Agenda Item 6



 

7 Policy alignment and compliance 

7.1  The five strategic priorities within the CRMP are aligned with Our Council Plan 
(2021-25) and the commitments of: 

 Keeping people safe from vulnerable situations 

 A sustainable and prosperous economy 

 Helping people and communities fulfil their potential 

 Making best use of resources. 

7.2 The aims and actions of the CRMP will be compliant with all statutory 
responsibilities, further detail can be found in the CRMP document at Appendix 
A). An Equality Impact Assessment can also be found at Appendix B.  

 

Sabrina Cohen-Hatton 
Chief Fire Officer 

Contact Officer: Mark Andrews, Deputy Chief Fire Officer 

Appendices 

Appendix A: CRMP 2022-2026  

Appendix B: People Impact Assessment 

Background papers 

CRMP Engagement Consultation (available upon request).  

 

Page 196

Agenda Item 6



PREVENTION

RESPONSE

PROTECTION

PEOPLE

West Sussex Community 
Risk Management Plan 
2022-2026

Making West Sussex safer for everyone.

P
age 197

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



2  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Contents

Our Community Risk Management Plan 3

Community Risk Management Plan methodology 5

Statutory responsibilities 7

Our vision, mission, priorities and values 8

Our Core Code of Ethics 9

Fire Authority structure, assurance and governance 10

Key Achievements from our last IRMP (2018-2022) 12

Identifying and assessing risk 13

Our county 15

Transport 18

Horizon scanning for risks 19

Our service 20

Strategic Priority 1: Preventing fires and emergencies 
from happening 21

Strategic Priority 2: Protecting people, firefighters and 
property by making buildings as safe from fire as they can be  25

Strategic Priority 3: Responding to fires and 
emergencies quickly and effectively 29

Strategic Priority 4: Have a safe and valued workforce 41

Strategic Priority 5: Making best use of resources - 
Budget and finance 43

Strategic Priority 5: Making best use of resources - 
Estates and assets 44

Strategic Priority 5: Making best use of resources - 
WSFRS Training Centre and Horsham Fire Station 45

Strategic Priority 5: Making best use of resources - 
Climate and sustainability 46

Our public consultation 48

Summary of Strategic Priorities and Objectives 49

Accessibility 52

West Sussex Community Risk 
Management Plan 2022-2026

P
age 198

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



3  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Our Community Risk Management Plan

A message from the Cabinet Member 
Welcome to West Sussex Fire and Rescue Authority’s Community Risk Management Plan 2022 – 2026. 

I am honoured to be your Cabinet Member with responsibility for our fire and rescue service, 
and I am committed to ensuring that our service helps keep you, our communities, safe. 

As an integral part of West Sussex County Council (WSCC), West Sussex Fire and Rescue 
Service (WSFRS) carries out extensive work across a broad range of programmes to 
help all of us who live and work within the county to live safer, stronger lives. 

Following an extensive public consultation with you, our residents, this Community Risk 
Management Plan (CRMP) sets out the direction of our fire and rescue service over the course 
of the next four years. In preparing it, we have listened to residents, staff, our emergency 
service partners and other interested stakeholders to ensure we are continuing to deliver 
a service that reflects the requirements of our communities across West Sussex. 

Our CRMP sets out the fire and rescue service’s strategic priorities and the steps 
that the service will be taking to implement these new programmes of work, to help 
ensure that West Sussex continues to be a safe place to live and work.

Duncan Crow 
Cabinet Member for Community 
Support, Fire and Rescue,
West Sussex County Council

“Continuing to deliver a service that 
reflects the requirements of our 
communities across West Sussex.”

Watch an 
introduction 
from the Cabinet 
Member on 
our website.

P
age 199

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A

https://youtu.be/4fw-nEMWu4I
https://youtu.be/4fw-nEMWu4I
https://youtu.be/4fw-nEMWu4I
https://youtu.be/4fw-nEMWu4I
https://youtu.be/4fw-nEMWu4I


4  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Our Community Risk Management Plan

A message from the Chief Fire Officer 
I am delighted to be able to share with you our plans for your fire and rescue service. 

Our Community Risk Management Plan sets out in detail who we are as a service, the work that we 
carry out, and the steps that we take to try and prevent emergency situations from arising in the 
first place, as well as the measures that we have in place to respond to an emergency situation.

This document really does form the cornerstone of our service, setting the direction 
of each of our teams over the course of the next four years to ensure that we remain 
a strong and resilient service, there for you when you need us most.

A key part of the preparation of this Community Risk Management Plan is understanding 
risk. From there we can work out what steps need to be taken to manage that risk. This 
helps us to work out where we need our staff and resources, so we can respond to high-
risk incidents and plan how to deliver our vital prevention and protection work.

This plan sets out how we plan to address those risks that we deal with on a day-to-day basis here in 
West Sussex, as well as identifying new and emerging trends that will impact how we deliver our work.

The last few years have shown us that the world is always changing, and it is for that 
reason that we constantly review and assess the risks in our county to help mitigate 
those risks and help ensure our communities remain strong and resilient.

Sabrina Cohen-Hatton 
Chief Fire Officer,
West Sussex Fire and 
Rescue Service

“To ensure that we remain a strong 
and resilient service, there for 
you when you need us most.”

Watch an 
introduction 
from the Chief 
Fire Officer on 
our website.

P
age 200

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A

https://youtu.be/RWhwHn0_s-I
https://youtu.be/RWhwHn0_s-I
https://youtu.be/RWhwHn0_s-I
https://youtu.be/RWhwHn0_s-I
https://youtu.be/RWhwHn0_s-I


5  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Community Risk Management Plan methodology

It is a statutory requirement for all fire and 
rescue services to produce a Community 
Risk Management Plan (CRMP) which 
identifies and assesses all current and 
forseeable fire and rescue related 
risks in our communities and ensures 
that arrangements are put in place to 
prevent or respond to these risks.

This is to ensure that all fire and rescue 
services produce, review and update 
their CRMP in line with National Fire 
Chiefs Council (NFCC) guidelines and in 
consultation with key stakeholders within 
their organisation and the community, 
making the CRMP accessible and publicly 
available as well as aligning to the 
strategic priorities of the county council.

We also review and respond to the 
findings of inspections from Her Majesty’s 
Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire 
and Rescue Services (HMICFRS).

The CRMP methodology is one that all fire 
and rescue services must use to ensure that 
appropriate resources are available with the 
emphasis placed on prevention, protection, 
response and its people, taking into 
consideration the risk profile in West Sussex.

We will identify and consider all foreseeable 
and existing strategic, operational and 
community risks relevant to the service. 

In doing so we will also consider national, 
regional, and local influences, taking 
account of local and national policies. 

We will consider the needs of the community, 
our stakeholders and all our partners through 
consultation to include consideration 
of their existing plans and risks. 

To achieve this we have a number of 
key stages which look internally at 
WSFRS data sources and externally 
working with our partners.

The CRMP process includes ongoing 
monitoring, evaluation and review to promote 
continuous learning and improvement.  
It’s implementation is supported by a 
Community Risk Management Framework 
(pictured right), with governance, assurance 
and performance reviews at each level.

The CRMP feeds into the Community 
Risk Delivery Plan (CRDP). This is 
owned by the Chief Fire Officer and 
outlines the implementation of the 
CRMP projects and proposals over 
the life of the document, with detailed 
annual objectives for the current year.

The CRMP is supported by service plans 
that further describe how the service 
reduces the identified risks and focuses 
resources on activities where they will have 

the greatest impact on reducing risk and 
vulnerability within our communities. It also 
highlights proposals for areas where we 
could improve the delivery of our service 
over the lifespan of the document. 

The service plans feed into Local Risk 
Management Plans (LRMPs) which 
focus on community risk for a specific 
area and align our resources to the 
risks in the local community. Through 
community engagement this enables 
efficient planning and management of 
actions to reduce the identified risks.

P
age 201

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



6  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Community Risk Management Plan methodology

What is risk?
The NFCC have defined risk as a 
combination of the likelihood and 
consequences of hazardous events.

Risk is the potential for an emergency 
to occur, that may threaten life, cause 
damage or harm to people, property, or 
the environment, including an impact 
on critical infrastructure, or protracted 
demand on emergency service resources.

We identify, assess and research our 
foreseeable risks, drawing on local incidents, 
feedback and learning from significant 
local and national events. This is reviewed 
every year to identify our priorities, set our 
objectives and measure our performance. 

National Framework 
and West Sussex Data
The government sets out priorities for 
Fire and Rescue Authorities through the 
Fire and Rescue National Framework 
for England (2018). The framework 
is available from our website.

Safer West Sussex 
Partnership
The Safer West Sussex Partnership is the 
multi-agency strategic community safety 
executive which aims to reduce crime 
and disorder, vulnerability and inequality 
through a series of cross cutting strategic 
priorities and county wide work streams.  

West Sussex Life
West Sussex Life is a statistical report 
providing a range of information about West 
Sussex and is available from our website.

Statement of assurance
We must provide assurance on financial, 
governance and operational matters and 
show how they have had due regard to 
the expectations set out in our CRMP. 
Our annual statement of assurance 
is available from our website.

P
age 202

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A

https://yourvoice.westsussex.gov.uk/crmp
https://yourvoice.westsussex.gov.uk/crmp
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/fire-emergencies-and-crime/crime-prevention/safer-west-sussex-partnership-swsp/
https://www.westsussex.gov.uk/about-the-council/policies-and-reports/corporate-policy-and-reports/west-sussex-life/
https://yourvoice.westsussex.gov.uk/crmp


7  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Statutory responsibilities

Like all Services, West Sussex Fire and 
Rescue Service is empowered, guided, 
and governed by a number of bodies 
and external pieces of legislation:

Fire and Rescue 
Services Act 2004

Civil Contingencies 
Act 2004

Regulatory Reform 
Order 2005

Health and Safety 
at Work Act 1974

Policing and 
Crime Act 2017

The Government also sets out 
expectations on its priorities for Fire 
and Rescue Authorities (FRA) through 
a national framework – the latest 
version in 2018 requires FRAs to:

 » Make appropriate provision for fire 
prevention/protection activities and 
response to fire/rescue related incidents

 » Identify and assess the area’s 
full range of foreseeable fire 
and rescue related risks

 » Collaborate with emergency services 
and other local and national partners 
to increase the efficiency and 
effectiveness of service provision

 » Be accountable to communities 
for service provision

 » Develop and maintain a workforce 
that is professional, resilient, 
skilled, flexible and diverse

The National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC) is 
the professional voice of the UK fire and 
rescue service. It drives improvement and 
development throughout the UK FRS, while 
supporting strong leadership – including 
for the devolved administrations.

The Local Government Association is 
the national membership body for local 
authorities, that works on behalf of councils 
to ensure local government has a strong, 
credible voice with national government.

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and 
Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) independently 
assesses the effectiveness and efficiency of 
fire & rescue services, in the public interest.

P
age 203

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



8  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Our vision, mission, priorities and values

Our Vision 
Our WSFRS vision is we 
are all: Proud to Serve.

Our Mission
We work with our communities 
and partners every day to 
prevent emergencies, helping 
everyone to be safe and to 
improve lives in West Sussex. 
Emergencies will always happen 
and when they do, we are 
ready to respond as quickly as 
possible to help people in their 
time of need and to save lives. 

We empower and support 
our people to be the best 
they can be, to deliver to 
the highest standards when 
serving our communities and 
to uphold the values of our 
fire and rescue service.

Strategic Priorities 
West Sussex Fire and Rescue Service Priorities

There are five strategic West Sussex Fire 
and Rescue Service CRMP priorities:
1. Preventing fires and emergencies from happening

2. Protecting people, firefighters and property by 
making buildings as safe from fire as they can be

3. Responding to fires and emergencies 
quickly and effectively 

4. Have a safe and valued workforce

5. Making best use of resources

West Sussex County Council Priorities
Our Strategic objectives support the county council 
priorities as set out in the Council Plan 2021-2025. 
It is organised around the following four priorities 
with an underpinning theme of climate change. 

 » Keeping people safe from vulnerable situations

 » A sustainable and prosperous economy

 » Helping people and communities 
to fulfil their potential

 » Making the best use of resources

Our Council Plan
Our Council Plan is WSCC’s corporate plan for 2021-
2025 and is available to view on our website.

Our Values 
We have five core values, 
developed with our 
employees, which are 
central to successfully 
achieving our vision and 
corporate plan priorities. 

Proud to be customer-
centred: we put the 
customer central to 
everything we do.

Listen and act upon:  
we listen to each other 
and act on what we say.

Honest and realistic: 
we are honest and 
realistic about what 
we can achieve.

Trust and support:  
we trust and support each 
other to achieve our goals.

Genuinely valued:  
we feel our contribution 
is valued and our 
achievements are 
recognised.

P
age 204

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A

https://yourvoice.westsussex.gov.uk/crmp


9  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Our Core Code of Ethics

We have adopted the national 
Core Code of Ethics for Fire and 
Rescue Services in England.

The code of ethics has been developed 
in partnership with the NFCC, Local 
Government Association (LGA), and 
the Association of Police and Crime 
Commissioners to support a consistent 
approach to ethics, including behaviours, 
by fire and rescue services in England.

The Core Code sits alongside the Code 
of Ethics Fire Standard developed by 
the Fire Standards Board and sets out 
five ethical principles. These should 
be considered within all FRS activities, 
policies, procedures and plans: 

Putting our communities first. 
We put the interest of the public, the 
community and service users first.

Integrity. 
We act with integrity including 
being open, honest and consistent 
in everything we do.

Dignity and respect. 
Making decisions objectively 
based on evidence, without 
discrimination or bias.

Leadership. 
We are all positive role models, always 
demonstrating flexibility and resilient 
leadership. We are all accountable for 
everything we do and challenge all behaviour 
that falls short of the highest standards.

Equality, diversity, and inclusion (EDI).  
We continually recognise and promote 
the value of EDI both within the 
FRSs and the wider communities in 
which we serve. We stand against 
all forms of discrimination, create equal 
opportunities, promote equality, foster 
good relations, and celebrate difference.

Fit for the Future
Fit for the Future (FfF) lays out a proposal for 
establishing a common picture, vision, for the 
future of fire and rescue services in England. 

Its purpose is to identify what needs 
to change, using a sound evidence 
base and then identify how that change 
could be delivered, by supporting its 
implementation across all services. 

This initial concept was developed in 
partnership by the NFCC, the National 
Employers (England) and the LGA; and 
is further developed in conjunction 
with fire sector leadership.

FfF proposes 11 areas of improvement that 
span the breadth of fire and rescue service 
business, from risk planning, prevention 
and protection, through to recruitment and 
retention of staff, developing an inclusive fire 
service culture and how services work with 
others to improve safety in communities. 

These have been reflected within the 
corresponding service plans to ensure that 
the delivery within West Sussex is aligned to 
national improvements across the sector.

NFCC Code of Ethics

P
age 205

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



10  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Fire Authority structure, assurance and governance

WSCC is the Fire Authority for 
WSFRS and is responsible for:

 » Firefighting and rescue

 » Protecting people and property from fire

 » Promoting fire safety in the home

 » Providing special services for emergencies

WSFRS is linked to a range of key strategic 
planning areas of WSCC that aids a holistic 
approach to keeping residents safe. These 

include emergency management, transport 
and infrastructure planning , the design of 
support for vulnerable people, flood risk 
management and the overall place shaping 
and democratic ownership of an area. 

Fire and rescue authorities must provide 
assurance on financial, governance and 
operational matters and evidence how 
they have actioned due regard to the 
expectations set out in their Community 
Risk Management Plan (CRMP).

Decisions relating to the fire and rescue 
service and transformation plans of the 
service are subject to scrutiny by the Fire 
and Rescue Service Scrutiny Committee 
which was established at the full county 
council meeting on 17 December 2019.

West Sussex Fire and Rescue Governance Structure

P
age 206

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



11  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Fire Authority structure, assurance and governance

It is essential that the service understands 
how it is performing against its primary 
responsibilities. As well as submitting 
incident and operational data to HMICFRS 
for analysis and review, we achieve 
this locally through our Performance 
Assurance Framework (PAF), under which 
performance targets are set, measured and 
reported, by collating various datasets from 
different sources into a single dashboard.  

The PAF examines performance on a 
quarterly basis across the four elements 
of service provision, corporate health, 
priority programmes and risk through a 
suite of core and service measures. This 
allows the service to respond and make 
informed decisions to ensure service 
aims and objectives are achieved through 
being intelligence and evidence led. 

These measurements are fed back 
through a governance framework to 
ensure performance is monitored at 
both officer and at a political level, 
leading to an open and transparent 
organisation. As well as holding officers 
to account, the framework also enables 
scrutiny of the political leadership and 
decisions of Cabinet and the Cabinet 
Member with responsibility for fire. 

The framework ensures the service 
is intelligence and evidence led and 
therefore has the ability to react early when 
performance is not to the required level. 
Additionally, the service will be able to 
celebrate success where it has delivered 
to a high standard and made a difference 
to the public and business in the county.  

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary 
and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) 
has statutory responsibility for the 
inspection of the police forces, and since 
July 2017 the fire and rescue services, of 
England and Wales.  HMICFRS is headed 
by the Chief Inspector of Constabulary and 
Chief Inspector of Fire and Rescue Services 
and its remit includes responsibility to 
assess and report on the efficiency, 
effectiveness and leadership of the 
Fire and Rescue services in England.

P
age 207

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



12  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Key Achievements from our last IRMP (2018-2022)

Improved and focused scrutiny for fire with a 
clear delineation between performance and 
assurance. Dedicated Fire and Rescue Service 
Scrutiny Committee launched and supporting 
Performance & Assurance Framework (PAF).

New, efficient and flexible, ways of working. 
Operational improvements in County Crewing 
and the Service Delivery Centre matching 
resources to risk. Use of technological advances 
such as virtual meetings, interviews and learning 
and flexible/home working arrangements.

Integration of local and national learning. 
Continued implementation of National 
Operational Learning (NOL) identified outcomes.

Increased transparency in recruitment 
and workforce processes. Revised policies 
and processes around transfers and 
moves, talent management, leadership 
and management and promotions.

Modernising our operational equipment 
and firefighting tactics. Introduction of 12 
tonne fire engines, PhotoVoltaic (PV) stop 
as well as fog nails and smoke curtains as 
key examples of responding to emerging 
risks from operational learning.

Improved oversight of decision making and 
improvement projects and programmes. 
Organisational Assurance and Governance 

(OAG) team implemented as a technical 
Programme Management Office to drive 
efficiency and provide internal assurance.

Service wide improved approach to 
safeguarding. New and wider training and 
procedures further help identify and safeguard 
vulnerable people through direct and 
collaborative prevention activity, supported 
by the creation of a multi-agency officer role 
and a Safe and Habitable Homes Forum to 
review multi agency complex housing cases.

Alignment, involvement and engagement 
through national fire sector programmes 
of work. Continued focus on alignment 
with National Operational Guidance 
(NOG) and national Fire Standards with 
clear supporting processes and plans, 
leading a regional operational programme 
to drive operational consistency.

Workforce planning and recruitment of people 
with the necessary skills and capabilities 
needed to carry out the IRMP. Creation 
of a number of roles including a Wellbeing 
Manager and a Diversity and Inclusion Adviser, 
as well as improved capacity in all service 
areas to meet activity required in the IRMP.

Implementation of technological solutions 
across all performance areas to improve 
accuracy and consistency. New IT systems 

for performance monitoring (PowerBi) and 
an updated prevention and protection 
system (Farynor) introduced to drive 
local activity across the service through 
new Local Risk Management Plans.

Improved focus on enforcement and 
business engagement. Introduction of 
dedicated resources to support priority 
Business Fire Safety areas through technical 
expertise relating to, and collaborating 
with, both joint regulators and residents.

Efficiencies through collaboration across 
control function with Surrey and East Sussex 
Fire Services. Information sharing and tri-
service mobilisation through Joint Fire Control.

A workforce that is professional, resilient, 
skilled, flexible and diverse. Introduction 
of a Core Behaviour and Standards 
Framework, a Dignity and Respect 
Framework and commencement of work 
on adopting the NFCC Code of Ethics.

A more structured appraisal procedure and 
monitoring mechanisms. Implementation 
of performance conversations/appraisals 
with development areas feeding into 
training and development, ensuring 
standards of behaviours expected from all 
staff, including leaders, are embedded in 
line with NFCC Behaviour framework.

P
age 208

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



13  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Identifying and assessing risk

We will identify and consider all foreseeable 
and existing strategic, operational and 
community risks relevant to the service. 
In doing so we will also consider national, 
regional, and local influences, taking 
account of local and national policies. 

We will consider the needs of the community, 
our stakeholders and all our partners through 
consultation and include consideration 
of their existing plans and risks. 

To achieve this we have a number of key 
stages which look internally at WSFRS 
data sources and externally working 
with our partners. These include:

 » Horizon scanning for local, regional, 
and national influences which 
may affect service objectives

 » Critical fire risk maps

 » WSCC strategic mapping tool

 » Community Risk Data displayed 
in Power Bi and LRMP

 » Data produced in our Statement of 
Assurance and West Sussex Life

 » Ongoing engagement with personnel/ 
staff across WSFRS and WSCC

The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 
places a legal duty on WSCC and the 
Fire Authority to assess the impacts and 
likelihood of potential hazards and risks 
to the residents and environment of West 
Sussex, to prepare plans, train in the use 
of, and exercising of, the plans as individual 
agencies and collectively with multiagency 
partners. This is to ensure we are able 
to respond and support the recovery 
from disruptive incidents and events. 

Both authorities also have a legal 
duty to ensure that business 
continuity arrangements are in place 
to deliver their critical functions in 
times of crisis and disruption.  

Within West Sussex, we have a Resilience 
and Emergencies Team (RET) that operates 
24/7 on behalf of WSCC and the Fire 
Authority to ensure that the organisations 
are trained and prepared to respond to 
events that impact on the safety of residents 
and business continuity. This includes 
engagement and support to multi-agency 
and partnership working, to ensure the 
safe operation and execution of planned 
events and co-ordinating the activities 
of the organisation in responding to, and 
recovering from, significant events.

Watch a video from our 
risk and improvement 
team on our website.

P
age 209

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A

https://youtu.be/o-KOOink_Pg
https://youtu.be/o-KOOink_Pg
https://youtu.be/o-KOOink_Pg


14  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Identifying and assessing risk

The National Risk Register (NRR) sets 
out the range of risks and challenges 
we face, which have the potential to 
cause significant disruption to the UK. 

This includes national and malicious events, 
including environmental hazards, human 
and animal health, and major accidents.

This explains what the government and 
partners are doing to mitigate these risks, as 
well as information and advice for the public. 

The Sussex Resilience Forum (SRF) is a 
partnership of organisations across East 
Sussex, West Sussex and Brighton and 
Hove. It includes the emergency services, 
local authorities, Environment Agency 
and health providers along with voluntary 
organisations and utility providers.

The SRF assesses the non-malicious risks 
that are most likely to happen, the impact 
these would have across the county and 
ensures that adequate planning, response 
and recovery arrangements are in place. 
These plans include pandemic outbreaks, 
which formed the basis of our response to the 
unprecedented events triggered by COVID 19.

The SRF also publishes a Community Risk 
Register (CRR), to inform people about 
local risks in their communities. This 
allows a resilient approach to preparation 
for emergency situations that may affect 
homes, communities and businesses.  

The top risks identified in 
Sussex in the CRR are:

 » Pandemic

 » Coastal flooding

 » Inland flooding

 » Severe weather

 » Fuel shortage

 » Loss of critical infrastructure

 » Animal disease

 » Coastal pollution

 » Industrial accidents

 » Transport accidents

More information is available on 
the Community Risk Register.

The mitigating factors influencing the risk 
appetite of the fire and rescue authority 
are informed by five main activities:

Prevention and Protection activity

Emergency response demand

Fire and rescue service 
emergency response times

The weight and appropriateness 
of our response to emergencies

Resilience
i.e. Service resources that remain 

available when fire engines 
and firefighters are committed 

to ongoing incidents

Any significant change to these factors 
would reflect a change in the risk appetite 
of the fire and rescue authority.  As such, 
these factors have been used to help define 
the proposals for consideration in this plan 
in our Strategic Assessment of Risk.

P
age 210

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/952959/6.6920_CO_CCS_s_National_Risk_Register_2020_11-1-21-FINAL.pdf
https://www.sussex.police.uk/SysSiteAssets/media/downloads/sussex/about-us/sussex-resilience-forum/srf-information-for-communities-2018.pdf
https://www.sussex.police.uk/SysSiteAssets/media/downloads/sussex/about-us/sussex-resilience-forum/srf-information-for-communities-2018.pdf
https://yourvoice.westsussex.gov.uk/crmp


15  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Our county
The county of West Sussex has a population of just under 860,000 people.  

It is made up of seven districts: Adur, Arun, Chichester, Crawley, Horsham, Mid Sussex, and Worthing.  
It operates a two-tier system of local government.

West Sussex population 

858,852

Men 

48.6% 
Women 

51.4%

Population by age

0-9 98,993
10-19 92,323
20-29 83,906
30-39 101,210
40-49 112,653
50-59 122,632
60-69 101,776
70-79 87,820
80+ 7,532

Ethnicity

93.8% of the West Sussex 
population are white.

Projected population growth
Population is expected to increase 

by 20.4% by 2039. The largest 
increase is in the over 65 age group. 
To accommodate this we expect to 
see nearly 50,000 further homes 

being built over this period with the 
majority in the next 10 to 15 years.

To ensure our communities continue to receive the best possible service from us, we are striving to embed 
diversity and inclusion into our culture and at the heart of all of our decision making processes.

P
age 211

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



16  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Our county

Over half of the land area in the county is 
designated as protected countryside, the 
largest area of this being the South Downs 
National Park. 

The West Sussex population is ‘super-
ageing’. This means that the population 
is ageing faster than the rest of the UK 
population. People aged 65 and over 
currently make up 23% of the population 
and this is predicted to reach 30% by 
2041.  There will be more people living 
longer with multiple long-term conditions.   

This is likely to lead to an increase in 
demand for services both in terms of 
preventing and attending fires, particularly 
as people are encouraged and assisted 
to live independently at home. 

Although West Sussex is considered to be 
one of the less deprived areas, and a popular 
place to live, visit and retire to, there are 
pockets of significant deprivation and areas 
with complex needs, including five small areas 
falling in the 10% of the most deprived areas 
in England. Many of these are also areas 
of concern to partners in other agencies. 
Deprivation is clearly linked to higher risk 
of fires. Being a single parent, never in 
paid work, living on your own and being 
deprived were the top factors associated 
with higher rates of fire in the home.

There are areas within West Sussex where 
misuse of alcohol and adult smoking 
are higher than the national average, 
both of which present significant fire risk 
factors, with smoking often a factor in 
the cause of fire that lead to death.

Social renting is also a dwelling fire 
risk factor; higher in houses of multiple 
occupation (HMOs) particularly for 
those of three or more storeys.  

Mental health related factors have been 
identified in many of the recent dwelling fire 
fatalities in West Sussex, including dementia, 
hoarding, and undefined mental health issues.

West Sussex is largely a prosperous county, 
attracting cutting edge technologies as 
well as more established commerce.  West 
Sussex is largely a small firm economy 
with around 85% employing fewer than 
10 people, though Crawley has one of the 
higher proportions of large businesses 
with over 250 or more employees. 

An economic partnership known as the 
‘Gatwick Diamond’ includes Horsham, East 
Grinstead, Burgess Hill, Haywards Heath 
and Crawley. This is home to businesses 
including aviation, aerospace and defence, 
advanced manufacturing and engineering, 
financial and professional services, life 
sciences, health technologies, food and 
drink. Many are drawn to or stay in the area 
because of their proximity to Gatwick Airport. 

P
age 212

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



17  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Our county

The infrastructure, natural and built 
environment within our county is incredibly 
diverse. The county is a mix of 42% rural 
area and 58% urban, which are home 
to more than 70 high rise buildings. 

Significant sites across the county include 
Shoreham Port and harbour, Littlehampton 
harbour, business parks, and significant 
public sector administration centres. We 
now have a significant wind farm (Rampion 
Wind Farm) offshore with an associated 
electricity substation at Bolney.  

West Sussex has a wealth of listed buildings, 
which all have their own unique risks and 
challenges. These buildings are identified 
with heritage markers on our fire appliance 
mobile data terminals (MDT) which provide 
specific information for crews, with the larger 
properties having specific operational plans.  

With increasingly high summer 
temperatures comes the increased risk 
in heat-related deaths and of fire in the 
open, with advice issued to residents 
to ensure they do not inadvertently put 
themselves and others at risk of fire.

The county is the second most wooded in 
the UK – 19% woodland compared to the 
national average of 9%. With increasingly 
high summer temperatures comes the 
increased risk of wildfires. Wildfires can 
require significant resources to resolve 
the incident, with the added challenge of 
water resources that are often scarce in 
these locations. We will continue to work 
closely with water companies to ensure 
the supply of adequate firefighting water.

Parts of the coast, and low-lying flood plains, 
include areas of national and international 
importance for conservation and recreation 
and are also some of the most developed 
coastlines in the UK. They are vulnerable to 
sea level rise and flooding caused by surface 
water as well as river and coastal flooding. 
We will continue to monitor and work with 
partners on risks such as Pagham Spit.  

Waste processing and recycling sites pose 
a significant fire risk and there have been 
a number of waste site fires both within 
West Sussex and nationally. These fires 
tend to be very resource intensive for the 
fire and rescue service and have wide 
reaching impacts both during and after the 
events for residents and agencies alike.

Covers 769 square miles

More than 50% of land 
designated as protected 
countryside, the largest 

area of this being the South 
Downs National Park

8000 heritage buildings

1% heathland   

11 household recycling centres

Around 50 miles of coastline

P
age 213

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



18  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Transport

West Sussex has a number of major 
roads, mainline railway services 
and an international airport. 

There are a number of road 
improvements schemes underway 
with plans for more in the future in 
Chichester, Arundel, Worthing and 
Lancing. With complex commuting 
patterns and summer tourist traffic 
to some significant events such 
as motor racing and equestrian 
events, congestion can be an issue 
at peak travel times year-round, 
and also in the summer on roads 
leading to popular destinations. 
This can impact on how quickly we 
can reach emergency incidents.

Due to the planned housing 
developments within West Sussex 
in the next 20 years, it is predicted 
that car ownership will also increase. 
Along with commercial and industrial 
developments within West Sussex 
and a planned increase in travel 
and tourism, this will result in more 
cars on the roads and a potential 
increase in road traffic collisions. 

The West Sussex rail network 
includes links to Gatwick, Waterloo, 
Brighton and Portsmouth. Level 
crossings are a common feature 
along the lines and typically closed 
for three minutes at a time, although 
this can be extended according to the 
proximity of trains and time of day. 
Tunnels offer significant firefighting 
challenges. Significant rail tunnels 
include Balcombe and Clayton 
Tunnels in the east of the county.

A dedicated airport fire service 
is based at Gatwick responding 
to all aircraft emergencies within 
the airport boundaries. In 2019 
46.6 million passengers passed 
through the airport on 141,935 
departures and 141,990 arrivals. 
Additionally, there are private 
airports at Shoreham and Goodwood 
each with their own fire service.  
Alongside aircraft emergencies, the 
main high-risk areas relate to fuel 
storage and refuelling facilities. 

15603 miles of road network

1 stretch of motorway, the M23 

Other major roads include A23, A24, 
A27, A259, A272 and the A29.

Gatwick Airport, which 
employs 24,000 staff

Smaller airports at Shoreham 
and Goodwood

Good transport links with London. 
Mainline rail services between Brighton, 

Southampton and Portsmouth.

P
age 214

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



19  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Horizon scanning for risks

WSFRS is a member of the NFCC Business 
Continuity Group and has its own internal 
Horizon Scanning and Emerging Risks Group. 

There are a number of other hazards and 
threats that carry a risk impact, including 
hazardous materials, human and animal 
health, loss of critical infrastructure 
and major accidents and we must plan 
for and respond to these risks.

Climate change
Over the coming years, we are likely to 
see rising temperatures and sea levels 
and an increase in the frequency and 
severity of extreme weather events. 
Severe weather can take a variety of 
forms, including heavy rain or snow, strong 
winds and extreme temperatures, causing 
significant problems and disruption.

Pandemics
We continuously monitor a broad range of 
potential risks and have robust business 
continuity arrangements in place. COVID-19 
has had far-reaching implications for our 
service, but we have policies and procedures 
in place to help mitigate disruption. It is 
recognised that COVID-19 will have longer 
term impacts on the service, including:

 » an impact on funding in years to come;

 » changing processes and expectations as 
we continue to learn to live with the virus;

 » ongoing physical and mental 
health implications.

Vehicle technology
An increase in electric vehicles and the 
development of automated vehicles will have 
implications on the vehicle related incidents 
we attend and how we safely deal with them.

Risks arising from 
renewable energy 
source technologies
The increased use of renewable energy 
sources has given rise to a number of 
different risks.  For example, the risks 
posed to the public and firefighters 
from solar farms and large-scale energy 
storage (batteries) facilities.  This will 
impact the types of incidents we attend 
and how we safely deal with them.

Gatwick Northern runway
The proposed second runway at 
Gatwick could lead to an increase 
in demand on WSFRS prevention, 
protection and response activity.

P
age 215

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



20  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Our service

35 fire engines

25 fire stations

28 special appliances

750 staff
638 operational staff, 

112 specialist support roles.

3 protection centres
with fire safety specialists and 

fire investigation teams. 

Prevention teams
including targeted education 
and community volunteers.

P
age 216

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



21  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Strategic Priority 1: Preventing fires and emergencies from happening

Our Prevention priorities 
are to reduce the 
volume and severity of 
emergencies we attend 
each day as well as helping 
to improve the health, 
safety and wellbeing 
of the people and 
communities most at risk.  

Our targeted programmes are aimed at 
keeping those who are most vulnerable safe.  
They are designed to help adults, children 
and communities to fulfil their potential and 
support a prosperous economy through 
reducing risk, injury and property damage.  

We will use an intelligence led, risk based 
approach and build upon our existing 
partnerships, to target the most vulnerable 
and those who are most at risk from fire and 
other emergencies within our community.  

As the county’s population continues to 
grow, we anticipate an increase in the 
demand for support. We know that 17% 
of our population have a limiting long-
term illness and 23% are aged over 65. 

Our risk reduction activities will be 
maximised by using specialist staff to work 
with our target groups, whilst working 

collaboratively with partner agencies 
including the police, social care, adult 
mental health and general practitioners.

1.1 We will always place the resident 
at the centre of our activities and 
together we will reduce accidental 
dwelling fires, deliberate fires, 
and influence road users to adopt 
behaviour that will make them safer.  

Our reputation as a trusted organisation 
means we are well placed to be a  
‘Samaritan’, supporting people who 
are in danger of coming to harm.

Working with those most 
vulnerable and at risk
We use a range of information to ensure that 
our activities are intelligence led and reach 
those who need our help the most.  Age, 
health, lifestyle factors and deprivation can 
play an important part in identifying who is 
living with an increased risk.  For example, 
over the last decade in West Sussex 40% of 
those who lost their life as a result of a fatal 
fire in their home were aged 85 and over, of 
which a high proportion had care and support 
needs.  Our data tells us that older people 
living alone with care and support needs are 

at a greater risk of an accidental dwelling 
fire and we will continue to prioritise them.

To be able to deliver our prevention 
role our staff and volunteers need to be 
competent and appropriately trained. 

1.2 We will further develop our capacity 
using our frontline staff. 

This increased capacity will extend our 
reach beyond our traditional high risk 
urban areas into the more remote parts of 
our county and enable us to play a wider 
role in strengthening our communities.

Our Safe and Well Visits will target 
those who are identified as being at 
an increased risk.  Visits will always be 
tailored to the specific needs of the 
household and may be completed by 
our fire crews, volunteers, or specially 
trained Community Fire Safety Officers.  

1.3 We will continue to ensure that 
those persons most at risk will be 
prioritised so that they receive 
the quickest response. 

Watch a video from 
our Prevention team 
on our website.

PREVENTION

P
age 217

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A

https://youtu.be/m8nefNfWQDg
https://youtu.be/m8nefNfWQDg
https://youtu.be/m8nefNfWQDg


22  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Strategic Priority 1: Preventing fires and emergencies from happening

We are committed to ensuring that our 
residents receive the information needed 
to keep their household safe.  We are also 
committed to making every contact count and 
therefore provide advice and guidance on a 
range of health and wellbeing issues, as well 
as fire prevention.  Our staff are trained to 
identify vulnerability and support individuals 
where a non-fire related concern is identified, 
we work alongside our partners to ensure that 
the right support is offered depending upon 
the residents’ needs. We work closely with 
WSCC Trading Standards and other partners to 
reduce the impact of rogue traders, scammers, 
modern slavery and other criminal acts which 
are targeted towards vulnerable people. 

We will also prioritise those who live in the rural 
parts of West Sussex.  We know that 42% of our 
population live in a rural area and historically 
our data shows that they have an increased 
risk of fire.  We will work with the rural 
community to increase their understanding 
of fire safety awareness and deliver Safe 
and Well Visits to those that need them.

Modern buildings should be designed to 
prevent fires from causing harm to occupants.  
Systems such as fire alarms and sprinklers 
should enable residents to evacuate a 
building safely during an emergency.  Our 
colleagues in busines fire safety ensure that 

buildings are compliant to the law, but we 
also recognise that residents have a part 
to play in keeping themselves and others 
safe.  We will continue to offer Safe and 
Well Visits to all residents within high risk 
residential buildings and undertake joined 
up engagement with the occupants where 
necessary to increase fire safety awareness. 

Children and young people
Alongside our Safe and Well Visits 
we will continue to work with children 
and young people to increase their 
understanding of the dangers of fire and 
how they can actively prevent them.  

1.4 We will continue to visit local authority 
schools in West Sussex to increase the 
understanding of the dangers of fire.  
This extends our reach into homes 
that we would not otherwise engage 
with. This gives children and young 
people a sound and solid foundation 
of fire safety knowledge that they 
can utilise throughout their lives.

Using our influence as trusted role 
models, we will continue to deliver 
targeted education and engagement 
programmes to vulnerable young people. 

We will continue to work with people who 
demonstrate fire setting behaviours to 

educate them about the dangers of fire and 
divert them away from the activity.  Where 
necessary we will share information with other 
agencies to ensure that people remain safe.  

Arson and deliberate fires 
We attended 414 fires in 2020-21 which were 
deliberately lit.  As deliberate fires occur 
at different rates across the county, we will 
empower local stations to target activity 
through their Local Risk Management Plans.  

Where someone is identified as being at 
a particular risk of arson, our specialist 
Community Fire Safety Officers (CFSOs) 
undertake an immediate Safe and Well Visit 
to help keep that person safe.  We will ensure 
that the appropriate support is provided, 
including specialist equipment if needed.

P
age 218

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



23  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Strategic Priority 1: Preventing fires and emergencies from happening

Road safety
The number of people killed and seriously injured on the 
county’s roads has been reducing each year, yet there is still 
work to be done to ensure that all road users are kept safe.

Data provided by the DVLA shows that 10.5% of all 
driver’s licences are owned by 17 to 24-year olds in 
the UK.  Our incident data shows that younger drivers 
are far more likely to be involved in an accident than 
older drivers, with this age group involved in 18.5% 
of all road traffic collisions in West Sussex.  

The degree of disproportionality reduces as the age group 
increases, with 65 to 74-year-olds holding 12.1% of all the 
UK’s drivers licences, yet are involved in just 7% of all road 
traffic collisions in West Sussex.  This demonstrates that we 
need to continue working with young people to reduce the 
number of people killed and seriously injured on our roads. 

P
age 219

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



24  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Strategic Priority 1: Preventing fires and emergencies from happening

As a central member of the Sussex Safer 
Roads Partnership (SSRP) we have delivered 
the Safe Drive, Stay Alive campaign to over 
120,000 new drivers in the 17-24-year old 
age range, since 2006, focussing on the 
Fatal Four (driver distraction, speeding, 
drink / drug driving and not wearing a 
seatbelt) as the main causes of death and 
serious injury in a road traffic collision.

1.5 We continue, with our partners in 
the SSRP, to deliver campaigns to 
the road user groups who are most 
likely to be killed or injured.  

Another example is Biker Down, which 
provides crucial first aid and safety 
awareness training to motorcyclists.  Both 
these programmes were redesigned in 
2020 to enable them to be delivered 

virtually and continue to educate and 
inform, despite COVID-19 restrictions.   

1.6 We will, using local incident 
data, deliver targeted road safety 
campaigns throughout the year 
as part of LRMPs. Together we will 
reduce the number of people killed 
and seriously injured on our roads. 

Working with communities 
to improve water safety 
West Sussex has a coastline across the 
south of the county as well as several 
major waterways and these are utilised 
for both leisure and business activities.  

We are already experiencing the impacts 
of climate change with heavier rainfall 

increasing the number of flooding 
incidents we have to deal with.

Whilst the number of required water rescues 
remains relatively low (in 2020-21 we were 
required to complete 18 rescues of people 
who had got into difficulty) the number of 
flooding incidents has been consistently high.  
In total, we attended 819 flooding incidents in 
the period 2018 to 2021 to provide assistance.  

Many of these incidents could have 
been avoided with better awareness, for 
example not driving a car through any 
expanse of water without first knowing 
how deep it is. Drowning is one of the 
UK’s leading causes of accidental death.  

We will, therefore, continue to work 
with partners to produce educational 
materials and increase the understanding 
of water safety to reduce the number 
of incidents that require an attendance 
from the fire and rescue service.

An increased focus on the way we review, 
quality assure and evaluate our work will 
support us in demonstrating the effectiveness 
and efficiency of our prevention activity. 
This will result in continuous improvement 
to ensure that we meet the needs of our 
communities, adapting as their needs change.

P
age 220

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



25  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Strategic Priority 2: Protecting people, firefighters and property 
by making buildings as safe from fire as they can be 

The Regulatory Reform (Fire 
Safety) Order 2005 states 
that owners, managers or 
operators of businesses have a 
responsibility to make sure that 
premises reach the required 
standards and employees are 
provided with adequate fire safety training. 

The Fire Safety Team supports businesses 
to comply with the Regulatory Reform (Fire 
Safety) Order 2005 and other legislation, 
so that building owners or managers 
minimise the risk of fire, understand duties 
and continue to manage and maintain the 
arrangements required within the order. 

With more than 35,000 non-domestic 
properties in West Sussex, keeping the county 
safe is complex.  The WSFRS Fire Safety 
Team supports public safety and business 
resilience, by providing support and advice 
to premises, such as hospitals, care homes, 
hotels and other businesses so that fire 
safety plans can be effectively managed.

Risk Reduction
We will continue to work with others to 
identify and minimise risk during the design 
stage of any building through our responses 
to consultations for building regulations 
and licensing. As building designs and 
construction methods evolve we continue 
to develop our own in-house expertise 
and specialist knowledge to ensure that 
the built environment in West Sussex is 
designed to be as safe as possible.

We are proud of our team of specialist 
staff who continually undertake education 
and enforcement action with those who 
are responsible for keeping buildings 
and their occupants safe from fire, but we 
believe that any frontline staff who work 
for us should have an understanding of the 
features of the built environment that are 
there to keep people safe from fire and the 
consequences if these features are missing. 

This enhanced understanding ensures 
our team are more effective in keeping 
buildings and vulnerable occupants 
safe from fire, and mitigating the 
consequences of fire should it occur.  

To support this:

2.1 We will develop and train our response 
crews with fire safety training and 
fire investigation qualifications and 
skills to ensure they can deliver 
low risk fire safety and undertake 
initial fire investigation.

These skills will provide our crews 
with greater awareness of the built 
environment and fire dynamics which will 
improve our overall firefighting strategy, 
operational assurance, data gathering 
and protection/prevention activity.

2.2  We will ensure our prevention, 
protection and response teams work 
closer together so that an inclusive 
approach to local risk management. 

Our protection and prevention specialists 
can support the recommendations for 
any tailored solutions to fire risk to highly 
vulnerable people within the home 
environment including the provision 
of specialist alarms or telehealth. 

There will always be a number of buildings 
in West Sussex with unique design features 
or contents which present hazards, risks 
and challenges to operational staff when 
called to respond to emergencies. We will 
continue to ensure that our firefighters have 

Watch a video from 
our Protection team 
on our website.

PROTECTION

P
age 221

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A

https://youtu.be/cEVtMCBA958
https://youtu.be/cEVtMCBA958
https://youtu.be/cEVtMCBA958


26  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Strategic Priority 2: Protecting people, firefighters and property 
by making buildings as safe from fire as they can be 

accurate and up-to-date knowledge and 
information to manage hazards they are 
called to deal with. This also involves staff 
familiarisation visits where effective plans 
are developed, evaluated and confirmed.

Our premises risk management team will 
continue to support our station-based 
staff in this activity, ensuring that training 
exercises are carried out at sites with the 
highest level of risk. The delivery of these 
exercises will form part of our LRMPs.

Our teams manage data gathered on over 
2,500 premises.  Mobile data terminals on our 
fire engines allow firefighters to have access to 
safety critical property-based hazard information 
at the scene of an incident – including specific 
plans for fire service operations, incorporating 
multi-agency emergency planning with 
partners and other key stakeholders, which are 
reflected in WSFRS policies and procedures.

This ensures that service plans are fully 
integrated into multi-agency emergency plans.

The Fire Safety Team works proactively to 
deliver a risk based inspection programme 
to target high risk and vulnerable premises 
that include residential care homes, high 
rise living, residential schools, hospitals, 

hotels, large population public spaces and 
complex premises, such as Gatwick Airport.  

We will be reviewing our risk based inspection 
programme in line with the NFCC community 
risk programme to ensure that it effectively 
targets risk for West Sussex and aligns to 
the new Protection Fire Standard, Building 
Safety Bill and Fire Safety Act 2021. 

We continue to review our policies and 
procedures, particularly within higher risk 
occupancy residential blocks, including 
specialised housing, extra care, older people 
housing and student accommodation, in 
line with the outcomes of the Grenfell Tower 
recommendations and the subsequent 
changes in regulation, to ensure life risk is 
continually prioritised in our protection work.  

We will continue to communicate and engage by 
holding business fire safety events, sending out 
messages through social media and on WSCC’s 
website to promote a wider public understanding 
and share risk information, both seasonal and 
reactive, to inform people of their responsibilities. 
To support this we maximise partnership 
working to promote shared messaging, 
helping businesses to help themselves. 

We will make better use of technology 
and digital media to ensure our protection 
messages are as effective as possible. 
We will work with NFCC and Northampton 
University to develop a new virtual reality 
fire safety training tool that will help improve 
basic fire safety standards in workplaces 
and gather crucial data on compliance.

Where buildings are unsafe and not compliant 
with legislation, and where there are serious fire 
safety concerns identified, we will act firmly on 
our duty to enforce fire safety improvements. 
In some circumstances we will prosecute 
those responsible for serious breaches.

We are members of the British 
Automatic Fire Sprinkler Association. 
We support the provision of sprinklers in 
commercial and domestic settings.

We have signed a Memorandum of 
Understanding for Fire Investigation with 
East Sussex, Surrey and Kent FRS to show 
our commitment to continuously improve 
our understanding of fire science and 
investigation techniques. We will create a 
new reporting framework that ensures critical 
fire investigation and incident reviews are 
conducted to help inform future prevention 

P
age 222

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



27  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Strategic Priority 2: Protecting people, firefighters and property 
by making buildings as safe from fire as they can be 

and protection strategy based on the 
behaviours of people and buildings in fire.
Our plans for reducing risk in the 
community are dependent on our 
understanding of risk. We recognise that this 
understanding can always be improved. 
We will develop our understanding of risk 
in general and in specific areas by:

2.3 Ensuring that the knowledge we 
gain from fire investigation fully 
informs our understanding of risk 
and is used to improve protection, 
prevention and response activities.  

2.4 Fire Investigation Officers identifying 
risks and causes of fire. Learning 
from these incidents provides our 
prevention and protection teams 
with important information that 
helps to prioritise inspection 
programmes and safety messages.

2.5 Working effectively with other 
regulators and agencies to reduce 
risk.  There are multiple examples 
of multi-agency engagement 
and information sharing. 

One example would be joint enforcement 
to identify and improve premises that 
are dangerous and uninhabitable and 
where safeguarding concerns are 
evident, such as modern slavery.

Regulation and 
enforcement
All buildings should be designed and 
maintained so they are safe from fire; 
however, we know this isn’t always the 
case. This can be seen in national incidents 
such as Grenfell Tower, which, along with 
other similar cases, indicate that some 
methods of construction in residential 
properties exist that are likely to mean that 
these buildings fail in the event of a fire. 
As such, we have specifically targeted a 
full Building Risk Review of all our high-
rise buildings over 18m, which are now 
included within our Risk Based Inspection 
Programme (RBIP) for Fire Safety audits 
and also our Premises Risk Management 
programme. This ensures we capture critical 
risk information essential to support safe 
systems of work for firefighters and other key 
responders during emergency incidents.

Education, information and partnership 

working are crucial to our Protection 
Strategy. We recognise the need for better 
regulation and will aim to increase the 
number of primary authority partnerships 
within the housing and care sector.

2.6  We will work with the NFCC, Asian Fire 
Service Association and Department 
for Business Energy and Industrial 
Strategy (BEIS) to understand about 
disproportionate enforcement and 
develop a toolbox for better regulation 
and enforcement in the future.

We have increased business engagement 
and education resources, including an 
investment in Primary Authority Partnership 
Schemes (PAS) with local providers and 
closer working with county council risk 
assessments, with a designated protection 
post established to manage and develop 
these evolving partnership arrangements.

We will continue to drive compliance with 
fire safety legislation by inspecting those 
buildings where the likelihood or severity 
of any fire is greatest. Where we identify 
serious, life-critical, failings in buildings, we 
will take immediate action to make safe, 
whilst also actively pursuing prosecutions 
against those responsible for such failings.

P
age 223

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



28  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Strategic Priority 2: Protecting people, firefighters and property 
by making buildings as safe from fire as they can be 

Responding to false alarms places an 
unnecessary burden on business owners 
and occupants, whilst increasing the 
demand on our emergency response 
services, reducing the overall effectiveness 
and resilience of our resources. 

The following data shows the number 
of false alarms received by WSFRS 
between April 2018 and March 2020.

On average, we respond to and attend just 
over 23 unwanted fire signals every week.

2.7 We will take a risk based approach 
where, in low risk commercial 
properties, we will no longer 
automatically respond to fire alarm 
actuations. This approach would be 
managed through our Joint Fire Control.

2.8 We will develop and introduce a 
charging scheme for responding to 
false alarms to promote the appropriate 
management and maintenance of 
automatic fire alarm systems.

2.9 We will make use of the latest 
developments in technology 
to reduce the impact of false 
alarms  - both for businesses and 
the fire and rescue service.

If a fire is confirmed we will always respond 
by sending the nearest fire engine.

Attended false alarms by type
System smoke alarm

  337
Human

  323
Fire alarm due to apparatus

  210
Contaminants

  111
System: other

  111
Fire

  37
Malicious false alarm

  30
System: heat

  18
External factors

  15
System: sprinkler
  6

Animal
  3
System: flame
  2
Special service
  1

P
age 224

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



29  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Strategic Priority 3: Responding to fires and 
emergencies quickly and effectively

Our overarching objective is to help our 
residents and businesses to be safer, 
stronger and more resilient through 
prevention and protection activity.

However, it is inevitable that emergencies 
will occur, and when they do, it is important 
that we are able to react by matching our 
resource to the risks. This ensures we 
are ready to respond quickly with a safe, 
competent and well-trained workforce, 
in order to help people and save lives. 

Firefighting and 
Rescue Philosophy
3.1 We will develop a firefighting and 

rescue strategy that builds upon 
the previous introduction of new 
firefighting equipment and tactics. 

This strategy will underpin our risk-based 
approach to equipment development, 
policy and operational training, ensuring 
that firefighter safety, public safety and 
environmental protection are at the 
centre of our operational capabilities.

We respond to a variety of emergencies, 
which include fires, road traffic collisions, 
specialist rescues, flooding and hazardous 

materials incidents. In 
order to respond to 
these incidents we have 
a modern fleet of fire 
engines, a range of vehicles 
with specialist capabilities, and industry-
leading equipment for our firefighters.

Firefighters are often the first emergency 
responders in attendance. They can 
be required to deliver emergency 
first aid treatment to preserve 
life in a range of situations. 

3.2 We will enhance our Immediate 
Emergency Care (IEC) capability by 
providing suitable training, equipment 
and personal protective equipment 
required to all operational staff.

Our Joint Fire Control (JFC) with Surrey 
and East Sussex fire and rescue services 
is where highly trained control room staff 
deal with emergency calls, mobilising the 
nearest and quickest vehicles to incidents.

JFC also continually assess those resources 
dynamically and according to risk. 

3.3 We will continue to improve JFC 
arrangements through the use 
of technological solutions.

Watch a video from 
our Response team 
on our website.

RESPONSE

P
age 225

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A

https://youtu.be/YOphv-grgqg
https://youtu.be/YOphv-grgqg
https://youtu.be/YOphv-grgqg


30  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Strategic Priority 3: Responding to fires and 
emergencies quickly and effectively

We have in place robust monitoring and 
debriefing processes which allow us to analyse 
all aspects of operational work. This provides the 
assurance that we are continuously improving 
the safety and effectiveness of our crews.

Where appropriate we will share learning 
nationally through the Joint Operational Learning 
(JOL) and the National Operational Learning 
(NOL) platforms. In conjunction with Surrey 
and East Sussex partners, we will implement 
NOG as the foundation for our operational 
response and operational fire standards. This 
ensures that National Operational Guidance 
(NOG) remains foremost in our thinking, 
contributing to improved firefighter safety.

We continually monitor and review all our 
activities to ensure we provide the most 
appropriate response to the risks faced 
by local communities and businesses.

The work our firefighters carry out is 
not limited to responding to 999 calls, 
but also includes vital prevention and 
protection activity to prevent emergencies 
from happening in the first place.

To ensure this activity is prioritised 
efficiently, each fire station has developed 
an LRMP based on comprehensive, 

detailed community risk data which is 
reviewed and updated annually.

3.4 We will continue to develop and 
evolve our LRMPs, working with key 
partners, to reduce community risk 
and improve firefighter safety.

Our firefighters also carry out site-
specific risk information checks, visiting 
businesses to give crews the awareness 

and risk information they need to safely 
deal with any incidents that may occur. 

The majority of the incidents we respond 
to can be adequately resolved through 
the flexible deployment of personnel on 
one or two of our fire engines. In ensuring 
that these fire engines are available, we 
will use a variety of different crewing 
and duty systems to efficiently align 
availability with risk and demand.

P
age 226

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



31  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Strategic Priority 3: Responding to fires and 
emergencies quickly and effectively

23 fire 
engines

located at 
retained stations

8 fire engines
Located in wholetime stations

4 fire engines
Located in day crewed stations

Our fire stations and 
our firefighters
Our fire stations are crewed by both 
wholetime and retained firefighters. 

Immediate response stations
Six immediate response fire stations, 
crewed by wholetime staff, five of which 
also have an additional retained crew. 

Retained 
Retained firefighters respond to emergency 
calls within their local area from either 
their home or main employment.

Day crewed stations
Currently maintain an immediate 
response capability 7am - 7pm, Monday 
to Friday. Outside of those times they 
are crewed by retained firefighters.

 

Current percentage of retained 
availability by station type

 » Retained-only station 
2015-16: 82.5%. 2019-20: 72.7%. 

 » Retained at a wholetime fire station 
2015-16: 63.5%. 2019-20: 51.6%. 

 » Retained at a day crewed station  
2015-16: 43.1%. 2019-20: 32.8%.

Responding across borders
We respond by sending the quickest 
fire engine to every incident. On some 
occasions a fire engine from a neighbouring 
fire service may be the first on scene 
as we operate border-less mobilising 
with our neighbouring services.

2019-20:

72.7%
2015-16:

82.5%

2015-16:

63.5%
2019-20:

51.6%

2015-16:

43.1%
2019-20:

32.8%

P
age 227

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



32  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Strategic Priority 3: Responding to fires and 
emergencies quickly and effectively

WSFRS Station locations

P
age 228

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



33  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Strategic Priority 3: Responding to fires and 
emergencies quickly and effectively

Our retained firefighters provide the most 
efficient and effective means for us to deliver 
our service in rural, low activity geographical 
areas. Nationally there is a challenge with 
retained firefighter recruitment and retention. 
We find that there are less people who 
work or live close enough to a fire station 
that can commit to being available for 
emergency calls at times when we need 
them, in particular during the day time.

3.5 We will work with staff to develop 
and implement an operational 
response model to maximise retained 
availability  in strategic geographical 
areas aligned to community risk.

On a day-to-day basis, we address any 
potential gaps in cover by efficiently using 
our Crewing Optimisation Group (COG) 
in a dynamic and targeted way. COG is a 
team of wholetime firefighters who operate 
from varying rural locations, 7am - 7pm 
Monday to Friday. This is to make sure 
we have fire engines available where 
we need them, when we need them.

3.6 We will enhance and modernise our 
provision to seven days a week 7am 
- 7pm cover to align our resources 
to risk and to enhance our rural 
prevention and protection activity. 

Our comprehensive review of risk and 
incident data demonstrates there is no 
significant change to daytime risk or demand 
during both weekday and weekend periods. 
In fact Saturdays represent our busiest period. 

Our four Day Crewing Stations at Burgess 
Hill, East Grinstead, Haywards Heath and 
Shoreham currently maintain an immediate 
response capability 7am-7pm Monday to 
Friday. During this time they also undertake 
protection and prevention activities.

Fire engines crewed by retained firefighters 
at the four Day Crewing Stations are typically 
the least available type of resource.

3.7 We will extend the current day 
crewing model at these stations to 
provide immediate response cover 
and protection and prevention 
activity 7am - 7pm, 7 days per week 
with a new flexible crewing model. 

These changes will provide greater flexibility 
and capacity for completing Safe and Well 
Visits, delivering community safety events, 
and working with businesses to support 
their fire safety responsibilities. These 
changes will also improve emergency 
response performance by 13 seconds 
to all incidents across West Sussex.

Retained and day-crewed pump availability by hour: 2018/19 and 2019/20

01:00 02:00 03:00 04:00 05:00

Total demand

06:00 07:00 08:00 09:00 10:00 11:00 12:00 13:00 14:00 15:00 16:00 17:00 18:00 19:00 20:00 21:00 22:00 23:00 00:00

Weekday availability percentage Weekend availability percentage

50%

P
age 229

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



34  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Strategic Priority 3: Responding to fires and 
emergencies quickly and effectively

Average weekday incident demand

Monday 14.1%

Tuesday 14.1%

Wednesday 14.7%

Thursday 14.1%

Friday 14.7%

Saturday 14.7%

Sunday 13.5%

As shown in the data above, demand is highly 
consistent across all days of the week.

Our modelling of five day crewing against 
seven day crewing shows a improvement 
in overall response times of 13 seconds 
to all incidents across West Sussex.

The following data demonstrates the 
modelled improvements to response times 
to all incidents in the Mid Sussex and Adur 
geographic areas, which is where our 
four day crewing stations are located.

Mid Sussex District
Current attendance times: 11 minutes, 56 
seconds. Modelled attendance times: 10 minutes, 
56 seconds. Improvement: 1 minute.

Adur District
Current attendance times: 10 minutes. 28 
seconds. Modelled attendance times: 9 minutes, 
54 seconds. Improvement: 34 seconds.

Response to terror 
related incidents
We have the capability to respond to a 
terrorist incident 24/7. Our operational 
staff have received specialist training and 
equipment to respond to a terrorist incident 
and support our partner agencies.

These teams are supported by specially 
trained firefighters and officers within 
our Operational Recovery Team. They 
provide specialist firefighting capability 
and support other emergency responders 
in the treatment and evacuation of 
casualties from hostile environments.

These teams are also supported by National 
Incident Liaison Officers (NILOs). This liaison 
role has particular emphasis on multi-agency 
support, which is founded upon national 
Joint Emergency Services Interoperability 
Programme (JESIP) operating principles.

Current  
attendance times:

11:56

Modelled 
attendance times:

10:56

Improvement:

1:00

Current  
attendance times:

10:28

Modelled 
attendance times:

09:54

Improvement:

0:34P
age 230

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



35  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Strategic Priority 3: Responding to fires and 
emergencies quickly and effectively

Flooding and High 
Volume Pump (HVP)
Extreme weather can take a variety of 
forms, including heavy rain or snow, strong 
winds and extreme temperatures, causing 
significant problems and disruption.

Over the coming years, we are likely to 
see rising temperatures and sea levels 
in line with climate change predictions, 
and an increase in the frequency and 
severity of extreme weather events.

We have specialist wade, swift water 
response teams and boat operation teams 
geographically positioned across the county.

We have one of the UK’s specialist HVP 
units. This is a key national asset with 
dual capabilities. It can be deployed 
to clear floodwater, but also to support 
firefighting operations. This enhances the 
county’s business continuity and resilience 
planning and keeps us at the forefront 
of the national UK flood response. 

As temperatures rise, there is further 
risk during the warmer summer 
months of an increase in wildifres.

We have a number of officers who have 
undergone specialist training to become 
national Tactical Advisors in water/flood 
rescue, wildfire and waste fires. These officers 
can be deployed nationally by the Fire and 

Rescue Service’s National Control 
Centre upon request from an affected 
service under the National Coordination 
and Advisory Framework (NCAF).

P
age 231

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



36  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Specialist capability
There are a range of potential incidents that, 
due to their location or complexity, require 
additional equipment for their resolution. 
These include fires where there is poor 
road access, accidents involving heavy 
goods vehicles, aircraft or trains, fires that 
require a specialist media for extinguishing, 
or fires distant from water supplies.
In addition to our fleet of 35 fire engines, 
we have a range of specialist vehicles 
located across the county. They are:

Four wheel drive (11 vehicles)
Based at Selsey, Chichester, Midhurst, 
Bognor Regis, Petworth, Littlehampton, 
Horsham, Shoreham, Crawley, 
Haywards Heath and East Grinstead.
Four wheel drive with Environment 
Agency equipment
Based at Storrington.
Water carrier (two vehicles)
Based at Petworth and Burgess Hill.

Incident Command Unit
Based at Haywards Heath.
Command Support Unit
Based at Bognor Regis

Heavy rescue tender (three vehicles)
Based at Chichester, Worthing and Crawley.
Breathing Apparatus Support 
Unit (two vehicles)
Based at Chichester and Horsham.
Boat (two vehicles)
Based at East Wittering and the 
Technical Rescue Unit.
Unimog
A specialist all-terrain multi-purpose vehicle 
based at the Technical Rescue Unit.
WSFRS drone
Based at the Technical Rescue Unit.
High volume pump
Based at Bognor Regis.
Aerial ladder platform (two vehicles)
Based at Worthing and Horsham.

We have invested in specialist equipment 
to allow us to deal with the full range of 
foreseeable incidents. These include, PV 
Stop, which allows us to safely deal with 
fires involving solar panels that generate 
electricity whenever the sun is shining, 
and smoke hoods to assist with safely 
evacuating residents of buildings where 
smoke is blocking escape routes.

3.8 We will undertake a risk-based review 
of our specialist capability and asset 
requirements to ensure they are fit for 
purpose, both now and for the future.

3.9 We will undertake a further 
consultation on any 
significant changes to our 
response arrangements.

Our Technical Rescue Unit
There are also incidents where 
a specifically trained specialist 
response is required, including:

 » Confined space rescues

 » Hazardous materials incidents for 
rescues or environmental protection

 » Rescues at height

 » Animal rescues

 » Rescues from rivers and at 
flooding incidents

 » Terrorist incidents

To support these, we maintain a specialist 
Technical Rescue Unit made up of 
wholetime firefighters with additional 
training, that are available 24/7. 

Strategic Priority 3: Responding to fires and 
emergencies quickly and effectively

P
age 232

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



37  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Strategic Priority 3: Responding to fires and 
emergencies quickly and effectively

Collaboration 
We have an excellent track record 
of working in partnership to help us 
achieve our organisational goals. 

As part of WSCC we benefit from joint 
procurement to achieve economies of 
scale, but there are also much wider 
benefits of our collaborative work with 
WSCC partners. This includes being able to 
work closely with both children’s services 
and adult social care where there are 
safeguarding concerns, as well as wider 
community safety issues through our work 
with Public Health, Trading Standards and 
the Resilience and Emergencies Team. 

We work particularly closely with our 
neighbouring services; Surrey, East 
Sussex and Kent fire and rescue services, 
collectively known as our 4Fire Partnership. 

Key areas of collaboration include our 
Joint Fire Control with our partners at 
Surrey and East Sussex fire and rescue 
services, National Operational Guidance 
and Operational Alignment Programme.

We also work closely with our partners 
within Sussex, for example, the SWSP 

which brings together Community Safety 
Partnerships and other organisations 
to provide a co-ordinated approach to 
reducing crime and anti-social behaviour in 
the county. We also work with district and 
borough councils and telecare providers.

Our response to emergencies often 
involves joint activity with other blue 
light services. By working collaboratively 
with a range of partners such as police, 
ambulance, cross border fire and rescue 
services and community groups, we can 
tackle complex problems and increase our 
capability and capacity more effectively.

We also work in collaboration with South 
East Coast Ambulance Service and other 
health care providers to support and 
improve the lives of West Sussex residents 
and improve community resilience.

A key driver for this is the Policing and 
Crime Act 2017, which introduced a  
duty on the police, fire and rescue and 
ambulance services to keep collaboration 
opportunities under review and, where 
it is in the interests of their efficiency or 
effectiveness, to put those collaboration 
opportunities into practice.  We will always 
seek to collaborate when this will produce 
the best outcome for our residents. More 
information can be found on our website.

P
age 233

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A

https://yourvoice.westsussex.gov.uk/crmp
https://yourvoice.westsussex.gov.uk/crmp


38  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Strategic Priority 3: Responding to fires and 
emergencies quickly and effectively

Risk rating:
 High 3
 Medium 180
 Low 322

© Crown copyright and database 
rights 2021 OS 100017092

Emergency Response Standards
We measure our attendance time to critical 
incidents to identify if there are any ways in which 
we can improve. This includes considering factors 
such as the location of fire engines, fire stations, risk 
in the county and travel distance around the county. 

These standards measure the time taken 
from us receiving your 999 emergency call 
to the time that our first (and when relevant 
second) fire engine arrives at the incident. 
For critical special service incidents, such as 
road traffic collisions we have a 13 minute 
response standard for all areas of the county. 

Our current Emergency Response Standards 
(ERS), which came into effect on 1 April 2009, 
are based on assessing levels of critical fire 
risk within the county into very high, high, 
medium and low categories and prioritising 
the fastest response to critical incidents in 
the areas of greatest community risk. 

2021/22 Critical fire risk ratings

First fire engine response standards
Very high risk: less than 8 minutes 70% target 
High risk: less than 10 minutes 92% target 
Medium risk: less than 12 minutes 89% target 
Low risk: less than 14 minutes 92% target 
 Benchmark: 89% target

Second fire engine response standards
Very high risk: less than 11 minutes 71% target 
High risk: less than 13 minutes 91% target 
Medium risk: less than 15 minutes 83% target 
Low risk: less than 17 minutes 84% target 
 Benchmark: 83% target

P
age 234

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



39  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Strategic Priority 3: Responding to fires and 
emergencies quickly and effectively

We define the critical fire risk for each Lower 
Super Output Area (LSOA) in the county.

LSOAs are made up of output areas and are created 
from census data by the Office of National Statistics 
and are the lowest level at which census estimates are 
provided. LSOAs align to local district boundaries.

The risk score for each LSOA is derived 
from three years weighted historical 
data, drawing on information from:

 » dwelling fire rate, taking the number 
of households into account

 » other critical building fires

 » dwelling fire casualties rate taking 
the population into account

 » the level of deprivation from the national 
index of multiple deprivation.

A rolling three years of data is used as the basis of the 
critical fire risk. This allows us to keep our focus on 
the most vulnerable residents and those communities 
at highest risk, ensuring our resources are used 
efficiently to achieve the best possible outcomes. 

3.10 We will maintain our existing ERS while we 
undertake a review based on the new national risk 
methodology which is currently being developed 
by the NFCC. When complete, we will consult 
with you if any changes to our ERS are proposed.

P
age 235

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



40  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Strategic Priority 3: Responding to fires and 
emergencies quickly and effectively

Incident demand in West Sussex was at 
its highest level for five years in 2019/20, 
an increase of 11.8% from 2015/16.

The highest incident concentrations for 
all incident categories are typically in 
the urban areas, with particularly high 
density of incidents in Worthing and 
Crawley. Many critical special service 
incidents occurred along the road 
networks due to road traffic collisions. 

The following map shows the location 
of our critical and secondary incidents 
across West Sussex, where:

 » Critical incidents are incidents likely 
to involve significant threat to life, 
structures or the environment.

 » Secondary incidents are incidents 
unlikely to involve significant threat to 
life, structures or the environment.

Geographical distribution of 
critical and secondary incidents
Two year sample period:  
April 2018 - March 2020

P
age 236

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



41  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Strategic Priority 4: Have a safe and valued workforce

At WSFRS, we work with our communities and 
partners every day to prevent emergencies, 
and help everyone to be safe in West Sussex. 
Emergencies will always happen and when 
they do, we are ready to respond as quickly 
as possible to help people in their time of 
need and to save lives. Our core strength in 
achieving this is through our people who are 
“proud to serve” and work for an organisation 
connected closely with its communities and 
who are genuinely committed to keeping 
people safe and saving people’s lives.

Our overarching aim is to empower and 
support our people to be the best they can 
be, deliver to the highest standards when 
serving our communities and uphold the 
values of our fire and rescue service. 

We want our organisation to be a great 
place for our staff to work, where everyone 
is treated with dignity and respect and able 
to work in an empowered, collaborative and 
innovative way to support our communities. 
We aim to strengthen our ability to provide an 
excellent service by seeking to understand 
the perspectives and needs of everyone in 
our communities, promoting inclusion and 
creating a fair and equal place to work.

Our people objectives incorporate the six areas 
of improvement outlined in the NFCC People 
Strategy and our WSCC People Framework.

4.1  Strengthen leadership and 
line management skills 
to support organisational 
cultural change, talent 
management and service 
delivery to the public.

4.2  Develop our cultural values 
and behaviors within an environment 
of psychological safety which makes 
WSFRS a great place to work.

4.3  Provide high quality training and 
development opportunities that 
meets the needs of our staff, our 
desired culture, our service model 
needs and ensures performance 
improvement of services to the public.

4.4 Strengthen our ability to provide an 
excellent service by attracting a broad 
range of people who come from different 
backgrounds to help us respond more 
effectively to our different communities.

4.5 Continue our work on creating a 
fair and equal place to work.

4.6 Continue to support the 
health, wellbeing and ways of 
working for all our staff.

Our People workstreams will be 
underpinned by the WSFRS Core Values 
and the NFCC Code of Ethics.

Watch a video from 
our Development and 
Operational Training 
team on our website.

PEOPLE

P
age 237

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A

https://youtu.be/xJUAQWX91Gg
https://youtu.be/xJUAQWX91Gg
https://youtu.be/xJUAQWX91Gg
https://youtu.be/xJUAQWX91Gg


42  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Strategic Priority 4: Have a safe and valued workforce

We are committed to the development of our 
staff and provide opportunities for training, 
development and qualifications that enable 
high performance and career progression, 
within a supportive environment.  

Our training is delivered face to face 
and through blended learning and is 
reviewed to assess accessibility and 
supports neurodiverse conditions.

4.7  We will develop an enhanced, team-
based requalification programme 
for all operational staff, including 
those in specialist roles. 

The completion of the new state of the art 
training centre at Horsham will provide the 
best possible training and development 
environment for all new recruits and will 
ensure the new live fire training facilities 
increase the quality and frequency of this 
safety critical training for our firefighters.

The new training and development centre will 
allow for improved regional FRS and multi-
agency collaboration, in line with national and 
local requirements through the JESIP. This will 
include enhanced incident command training 
and development to support NOG and regional 
operational alignment through the use of 
improved, up to date, technology and facilities.

Based on risk management planning and 
key national developments, the level of 
water rescue and medical trauma care 
training, and emergency response driver 
training, will continue to align with the 
Fire Standards Board requirements.

The health and wellbeing of our staff is our 
priority. We support this through a range 
of methods such as mental health first 
aid, post incident debrief, personalised 
online health and wellbeing support and 
an employee assistance programme. This 
supports our staff and their families.

Staff strength by role group

NFCC Code of Ethics

Our core values
More details around our core values are 
detailed earlier in this document. 

P
age 238

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



43  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Strategic Priority 5: Making best use of resources - Budget and finance

We are an integrated part of WSCC. There is no 
additional precept for the fire and rescue service 
on your council tax bill in West Sussex. The fire 
and rescue budget is considered as part of the 
wider provision of county council services.

WSCC provides a number of central functions 
for WSFRS. These shared resources 
demonstrate value for money for residents 
as well as a standardised approach. These 
include provision for payroll, pensions, 
human resources administration and 
organisational development, occupational 
health services, IT and communications, 
facilities management and estates 
maintenance, rates and utilities, insurances, 
legal advice and procurement services.  

Through the fire and rescue service 
improvement plan, resources have been 
increased within HR, Performance and IT, but 
remain within the county council teams. Best 
value and high-quality services in all these 
areas are sought and achieved council wide.

Financial management for the fire and 
rescue service in areas including assets and 
estate, revenue provision, debt, and treasury 
management are covered under arrangements 
for the whole of the county council and are not 
reported solely for the fire and rescue service.

The fire service’s total budget, delivering 
front line services for the 2020/21 
financial year was £26.8 million.

Breakdown of precept for West 
Sussex Fire and Rescue Service

 Response £18,714,398 
 Strategic risk and improvement £863,067 
 Assurance and governance  £107,295 
 WSCC fire fleet and equipment £3,585,476 
 People and Operational Training £1,824,846 
 Prevention £832,795 
 Protection £492,954 
 Resilience and emergencies £353,459

How your money is spent 
In addition to the existing base budget, 
the county council agreed further funding 
over a three-year period to deliver the 
improvements required following the 
HMICFRS inspection report. In 2020/21, the 
fire improvement plan spent £2.3m, which is 
in addition to the spend shown in the graph. 

Most of the budget is invested in frontline 
services including firefighting, rescue 
operations and community safety activity.  
Resources are managed carefully, working 
in partnership and constantly monitoring 
the effectiveness of the service’s work. 
Plans are developed to allocate resources 
according to the available budget. Over the 
past few years changes have been made 
to the service and put in place a number 
of programmes that delivered substantial 
change to the way the service works in 
order to meet pressures on budgets.

During 2020/21 we received fire 
specific grants relating to:

 » Protection specific grants

 » COVID fire specific grant

 » Public health grant

 » Airwave Firelink grant

 » Pensions grant

 » Marauding terrorist attack grant 

In addition the county council received 
county council COVID grants, which 
supported additional spend relating 
to COVID-19. We monitored activity 
through the Business Continuity Action 
Team (BCAT) and expenditure was 
made through the county council.

P
age 239

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



44  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Strategic Priority 5: Making best use of resources - Estates and assets

We have six stations that have crews present 
24 hours a day known as wholetime; four 
stations where the crew are there 7am-7pm 
(day crewed) and fourteen stations that 
are retained only. All of our wholetime and 
day crewed stations, with the exception 
of Crawley, also have a retained crew.

Our Technical Rescue Unit is currently 
based at a former fire station site in Horley, 
which also includes a residential training 
centre. In addition, there is a central 
maintenance workshop and 3 satellite 
workshops based at fire stations.  

We have developed an ‘Orange Guide’ 
for fire stations, this guide provides 
guidance on the level of provision 
and specification within new build and 
refurbished fire stations for WSCC. The 
guide includes 7 overarching principles:

 » Provide modern, professional 
working environments

 » Encourage greater diversity, 
dignity and inclusion

 » Improve opportunities to work 
better with partners

 » Be designed to meet the needs of 
the community and the service

 » Be operationally efficient, effective and secure

 » Be sustainable and 
environmentally friendly

 » Offer flexible space 

A review of existing estate has been 
undertaken and recommendations 
made in prioritising improvements to 
facilities, based on these principles.
5.1 We will develop and deliver an 

Estates Improvement Plan which 
clearly sets out the prioritisation 
of work to address the gaps 
between current condition of 
stations and that recommended 
through the Orange Guide. 

5.2 We will improve the layout 
of our buildings to support 
equality and diversity. 

5.3  We will continue our work 
to minimise any risk from 
contaminants to our firefighters. 

5.4  Ensure the new station at Horsham 
includes a modern design standard, 
which is capable of supporting a 
more diverse workforce in the future, 
becoming a blueprint for the fire estate. 

We will continue to respond to emerging 
UK legislation regarding exposure to 
contaminants in the workplace, and 
specifically the processes to be followed 
in order to reduce the risk to firefighters. 

P
age 240

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



45  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Strategic Priority 5: Making best use of resources - 
WSFRS Training Centre and Horsham Fire Station

One of the key projects in the programme is the WSFRS 
Training Centre and Horsham Fire Station. 

This new industry-leading facility will be a significant step 
forward for the service ensuring we continue to meet the needs, 
demands and risks of our communities and staff. The fire and 
rescue sector is continually learning with incidents such as 
the Grenfell Tower tragedy highlighting new and emerging 
hazards which we, as a service, must be able to respond to. 

Training more firefighters is important to meet the 
recruitment levels required in the coming years.

To facilitate this, the site includes state-of-the-art live fire training, 
delivering the most realistic training possible for firefighters. 

Other training will include: rescue at height; road traffic 
collision, rope rescue and hazardous materials.

It will also provide a modern, multi-agency incident training 
suite aimed at providing expert training in incident command. 

Work began on site, off the A24 at Highwood Mill, in Autumn 2021. 
It will also be home to a brand-new 24-hour fire station for Horsham.

The new fire station will incorporate all the best practice around 
firefighters’ health and wellbeing, including improved contamination 
management for firefighters returning from incidents. 

The new facility has an emphasis on renewable energy sources, 
such as solar panels and air source heat pumps providing 
heating, as well as electric vehicle charging points in-line with 
the county council’s drive to become carbon neutral by 2030.

P
age 241

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



46  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Strategic Priority 5: Making best use of 
resources - Climate and sustainability

Climate Change is one of the biggest 
challenges we will ever face in our county. 
Human activity has already led to 1°C of 
global warming from pre-industrial levels. 
This is resulting in damaging impacts on lives, 
infrastructure and ecosystems already being 
felt by communities across West Sussex.

As part of WSCC, we share, support and 
contribute to the vision, strategies and 
plans around climate and sustainability.

Minimising environmental impacts is a key 
part of managing operational incidents, such 
as preventing water run-off contaminating 
sensitive water courses, or being aware of the 
direction and extent of a smoke plume from a 
fire. These and similar activities align with and 
support WSCC initiatives in areas such as air 
quality along with protection and enhancement 
of habitat for vital species across the county.

WSCC’s climate change vision is:

“In 2030, WSCC is carbon neutral and climate 
resilient, using our limited resources wisely. WSCC 
has enabled positive actions and behaviours across 
our county to mitigate and adapt to climate change”

WSCC is committed to becoming a more 
sustainable organisation and wants sustainability 

to be more central to the way everyone works.  
The approved climate change strategy is 
intended to provide a framework which will 
shape and influence all day-to-day activity. The 
strategy also sets five priority commitments to: 

 » Mitigate the effects of climate change by 
reducing carbon emissions (aligning with an 
ambitious target to be carbon neutral by 2030)

 » Adapt and be resilient to a changing climate

 » Source and use resources sustainably

 » Support and grow our local green economy

 » Transform how we work

Our guidance for refurbishing, or building new fire 
stations includes recommendations for embedding 
carbon reduction and sustainability into the design 
and construction, through methods such as:

 » maximising the performance of the 
components and materials

 » optimising daylight and natural ventilation, 
minimising the use of all resources

 » reducing the demand for energy and 
water use during construction and 
the life cycle of the building

 » minimising waste and carbon dioxide 
emissions during construction and 
the life cycle of the building.

P
age 242

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



47  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Strategic Priority 5: making best use of 
resources - climate and sustainability

Management of our fleet is governed by 
a dedicated Fleet Asset Management 
Plan. This is updated annually 
to reflect the changing nature of 
environmental and sustainability issues. 

Our prime focus is to supply WSFRS 
with vehicles that meet the needs 
of the service at an operational 
level combined with ensuring we 
align ourselves with WSCC policy. 

We pay particular attention to value 
for money ensuring we aspire to meet 
emissions and sustainability objective 
of protecting and enhancing the 
environment in-line with WSCC policy. 

Within the cycle of this CRMP we will:

5.5  Remain up-to-date with new 
technology, ensuring that fleet 
replacements meets the corporate 
aim to reduce emissions 

5.6  Continue to introduce alternative 
powered vehicles into the fleet in 
line with replacement schedule

5.7 Monitor and report on existing 
fleet emissions and manage 
fleet disposal to support county 
council emission targets

To underpin all of this, a Sustainability 
Appraisal and a Climate Change 
Assessment are required for 
all transformation projects and 
procurements.  These include appraisal 
and impact monitoring of areas such as:

 » Improving local air quality

 » Minimising the risk to people and 
property from extreme weather 
events, including consideration 
of our changing climate

 » Reducing emissions of carbon dioxide 
and other greenhouse gases

 » Reducing energy consumption and the 
demand for fossil fuel-based energy

 » Providing or enabling technological 
solutions to avoid the need for travel

 » Prioritising sustainable 
transport options

 » Reducing waste and increasing 
waste recovery and recycling

 » Enhance, protect and sustain 
the natural environment

 » Adapting to climate change 
to build resilience

P
age 243

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



48  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Our public consultation

In November 2021, 
we undertook a public 
consultation on our proposals 
to further help identify and 
assess all foreseeable 
fire and rescue related 
risks that could affect our 
community and asked for 
comments and views.

All comments received were 
considered and assisted 
us in the development 
and final production of our 
new 2022-26 CRMP. 

A summary of the responses 
we received can be 
found on our website.

The consultation was undertaken in 
accordance with WSCC guidance and 
the Government’s Code of Practice on 
consultation and the outcomes were 
reported to the council’s Cabinet Members. 
The final document was approved 
by Full Council in March 2022.

As part of this public consultation we asked 
our staff, residents in our local communities, 
and other stakeholders six questions. During 
the 10-week consultation period we also 
engaged with MPs, WSCC Members, district 

and borough councils, town and parish 
councils, as well as community groups, 
interfaith organisations and business forums. 

A mid-point review was held to analyse 
the responses already received and 
to look at areas that required a more 
targeted engagement approach. This saw 
us target underrepresented groups of 
people to ensure they had the opportunity 
to take part in the consultation. 

Despite the restrictions of the pandemic, 
we were able to facilitate some face-
to-face engagement sessions, both 

with elected representatives at council 
meetings, and members of the public 
during pop-up engagement sessions held 
at a number of the county’s libraries.

A CRDP will be developed to support the 
prioritisation and implementation of the 
CRMP projects and objectives over the 
four-year life of the plan. Annual delivery 
plans will be prepared for each year. 

Service plans for protection, prevention, 
response, people and assets, that further 
describe how the service reduces the 
identified risks have been developed. 

LRMPs are then utilised in setting individual 
performance objectives, allowing a 
clear “golden thread” between the 
CRMP and individual daily activities. 

The Organisational Assurance and 
Governance team will oversee implementation 
and delivery of each CRMP workstream.  

Further detailed work will be undertaken 
in relation to the individual equality impact 
assessments, planning assumptions, 
policy implications, delivery timeline 
and implementation options for each 
proposal. This will be drawn up and 
designed in partnership with our staff.

P
age 244

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A

https://yourvoice.westsussex.gov.uk/crmp
https://yourvoice.westsussex.gov.uk/crmp
https://yourvoice.westsussex.gov.uk/crmp


49  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Summary of Strategic Priorities and Objectives

Across the five strategic priorities, and four WSCC priorities, there are 38 objectives 
to be achieved in the delivery of the Community Risk Management Plan. 

Strategic Priority 1: 
Preventing fires and emergencies 
from happening.
Keeping people safe from vulnerable situations and 
helping people and communities to fulfil their potential.

1.1 Place the public and communities at 
the centre of our activities.

1.2 Develop our capacity, through our front line staff, 
volunteers and the front line staff of partner agencies.

1.3 Prioritise those who have the highest risk.

1.4 Provide school children with fire safety education and 
deliver programmes so children and young people 
can make safer decisions and fulfil their potential.

1.5 Strengthen and grow our partnerships, working together 
to keep the individuals and communities safer. 

1.6 Deliver targeted community safety campaigns 
to address the risks identified.

Strategic Priority 2: 
Protecting people, firefighters and 
property by making buildings as 
safe from fire as they can be.
Keeping people safe from vulnerable situations and 
help promote a sustainable and prosperous economy.

2.1  Develop and train our response crews with fire 
safety and fire investigation qualifications. 

2.2  An inclusive approach to local risk management.

2.3  Knowledge we gain from fire investigation 
informs our understanding of risk.

2.4  Fire Investigation Officers identify risks and causes of fire. 

2.5  Working effectively with other regulators 
and agencies to reduce risk. 

2.6  Develop a tool box for better regulation and enforcement.

2.7  Using a risk-based approach, no longer 
automatically respond to fire alarm actuations 
at low risk commercial properties. 

2.8  Develop and introduce a charging scheme 
for responding to false alarms. 

2.9  Use of technology to reduce the impact of false alarms.

P
age 245

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



50  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Summary of Strategic Priorities and Objectives

Strategic Priority 3: 
Responding to fires and emergencies 
quickly and effectively.
Keeping people safe from vulnerable situations and 
helping people and communities to fulfil their potential.

3.1  Develop a firefighting and rescue 
strategy that is fit for the future. 

3.2  Enhance our Immediate Emergency Care (IEC) capability.

3.3  Use of Joint Fire Control collaborative 
technological solutions.

3.4  Develop and evolve our LRMPs, 
working with key partners.

3.5 Co-develop an operational response model 
to maximise retained availability.

3.6  Enhance and modernise COG provision 
to seven days a week 7am - 7pm. 

3.7  Enhance Day Crewed immediate response 
cover activity 7am - 7pm, 7 days a week.

3.8  A risk-based review of our specialist 
capability and asset requirements.

3.9  Consultation on any significant changes 
to our response arrangements.

3.10 We will maintain our existing ERS 
while we undertake a review.

Strategic Priority 4: 
Have a safe and valued workforce.
Helping people and communities to fulfil their potential.

4.1  Strengthen leadership and people management skills. 

4.2  Develop our cultural values and behaviours within 
an environment of psychological safety. 

4.3  Provide high quality effective training 
and development opportunities. 

4.4  Attracting a range of people who come from 
different backgrounds to help us respond more 
effectively to our different communities. 

4.5  Creating a fair and equal place to work.

4.6  Support the health, wellbeing and 
ways of working of our staff.

P
age 246

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



51  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Summary of Strategic Priorities and Objectives

Strategic Priority 5:  
Making best use of resources.
Making the best use of resources.

5.1 Develop and deliver an Estates Improvement Plan. 

5.2  Improve the layout of our buildings to 
support equality and diversity.

5.3  We will continue our work to minimise any risk 
from contaminants to our firefighters.

5.4  Horsham, which is capable of supporting 
a more diverse workforce in the future, 
becoming a blueprint for the fire estate.

5.5  Remain up-to-date with new fleet technology.

5.6  Introduce alternative powered vehicles into the fleet. 

P
age 247

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A



52  »  West Sussex Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026

Accessibility

If you require any of the information in this document in 
an alternative format, please contact us on 01243 786211 
or via email at yourfireservice@westsussex.gov.uk
If you are deaf or hard of hearing and have an NGT texting 
app installed on your computer, laptop or smartphone, 
you can contact us on 18001 01243 786211.
All data correct at time of publication.

WS33013 1.22

www.westsussex.gov.uk/fire

P
age 248

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix A

mailto:yourfireservice@westsussex.gov.uk


Appendix D – Equality Impact Assessment 

Equality Impact - Public Sector Equality Duty 

 
WSFRS Community Risk Management Plan 2022 – 2026 

 
Public Sector Equality Duty: (PSED) 
The duty of every public authority to give due regard to the need to: 

▪ Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, and victimisation. 

▪ Improve quality of opportunity between different protected groups. 

▪ Foster good relations between different protected groups. 

 
Data collection; consultation; and evidence 

 
A wide-ranging internal engagement process has been undertaken via staff 

briefings, newsletter updates and over 25 separate team visits, led by Heads of 
Service and members of the Operational Assurance team with a view to 

identifying key themes and areas of importance from a workforce perspective. 
Feedback from these consultations will inform the final WSFRS Community Risk 

Management Plan 2022-2025. The draft CRMP and proposals have taken into 
account the following data sources: 
• Data from WSCC Insights team (West Sussex Life 2017-19) 

• Service and Core measure dashboards (WSFRS metrics) as provided through 

the WSFRS Performance Assurance Framework 
• Research and discussions with other Fire and Rescue Services 

• Operational Research in Health (ORH) data analysis / analytics 

• Census data for demographics 

• Office for National Statistics (ONS) for fire service data 

 

The CRMP Consultation Plan has been developed based on public consultation 
best practice, designed to meet accessibility standards and requirements. This 

provided core demographic data to help inform the PSED 
 

Impact and matters arising for action and change 
 
Enhancing the availability of personnel in rural communities will enable more 

Prevention and Protection activities, such as Safe and Well visits for vulnerable 
people in rural communities. 

 
Our consultation documents will be available in web accessible formats online 

which are compatible with digital readers as well as downloadable pdf versions 
for those who wish to complete paper versions. 
Polish, Gujarati and Filipino translated copies (three biggest languages other 

than English in West Sussex) 
 

We need to increase the availability of our retained firefighters across West 
Sussex and ensure that our retained capabilities are matched to our community 
risks, providing long term viability and resilience. 

 
Our retained firefighters provide the most efficient and effective means for us to 

deliver our service in rural, low activity geographical areas. We have a challenge 

Page 249

Agenda Item 6
Appendix B



with retained firefighter recruitment and retention and need to ensure that we 
have the right people, in the right locations, at the right time, with the right 

skills, equipment and training. 
 

We will extend the current model at Day Crewing stations to provide immediate 
response cover, 7am to 7pm, seven day per week, with a new flexible crewing 
model. We will carry out internal consultation with all impacted employees and 

look to resolve any negative impact on a case-by-case basis. 
 

Vulnerable People in Rural communities 
 
Historically our activity to reduce fires and resultant injury, death and damage to 

domestic properties has been focused in the more densely populated areas 
where we have the highest number of incidents. The rural community, who 

make up 42% or our population, often live in areas deemed to be low on our 
critical fire risk map. These areas are primarily covered by retained firefighters 
and there are ongoing challenges regarding rural retention and recruitment, 

leading to low availability and emergency response performance challenges, as 
well as limited capacity for Prevention & Protection activity. 

We propose to maximise appliance availability and optimise Prevention and 
Protection activity in rural areas primarily covered by retained firefighters. 

 
Summary and Progressing the Equality Duty 
As a result of performing this analysis, no adverse effects on people who share 

Protected Characteristics and/or local non-legislative factors are identified – no 
further actions are recommended at this stage. 

 
The proposed changes to crewing models will provide an opportunity to increase 
and enhance the level of response, prevention and protection activity that is 

undertaken within our rural communities.  

 
5. Action Planning 

The CRMP consultation did not identify any negative impacts to the general 
proposals. However, further internal WSFRS People Impact Assessments should 
be completed to assess the impact of the implementation of the proposals on 

staff as each project is defined and undertaken. 
Recommended Actions: 

This Equality Impact Assessment will be reviewed and updated following the 
various consultation activities, and ahead of the publication of the final version 
of the CRMP 2022-2025. 
 

Page 250

Agenda Item 6
Appendix B



 

Key decision: Yes 
Unrestricted 

Ref: CAB19 21/22 
 

Report to Cabinet 

March 2022 

Strategic Options for Processing of Separate Food Waste and Other 

Waste Disposal Services  

Report by Steve Read, Assistant Director of Environment and Public 

Protection 

Electoral division(s): All 
 

Note: This report inevitably contains a number of technical terms and acronyms. A 

glossary of terms is included as an appendix for cross-referencing. 

Summary 

Under the new Environment Act 2021 waste collection authorities (WCAs) will be 
required to collect food waste separately. Under earlier legislation, it falls to the 

County Council as Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) to arrange for the disposal of the 
“controlled waste” collected in its area by the waste collection authorities.  

The Government has yet to confirm the timing of and funding for implementation of 
the new duty. However, given the timeframes required to amend major contracts and 

implement new arrangements, the County Council needs to consider options for how 
to meet the obligation that will fall to it.  In doing so, any proposal should reflect the 

priorities in Our Council Plan 2021-25, particularly the cross-cutting theme of tackling 
climate change and our priority of making best use of resources.  

A detailed business case shows that the Council’s mechanical biological treatment 

(MBT) facility could be converted to process food waste separately – providing a cost-
effective solution to this new requirement. The programme of works would take 12 
months. The modifications would have an estimated capital cost of just under £7.3m 

but, with reduced revenue payments under a varied contract, there is a strong 
business case to justify the proposal to do the work within the remaining term of the 

contract.  

The financial, technical, environmental, legal and risk analysis concludes that 
modification of the existing facility is the option which enables the Council to meet the 
new statutory duty and the Council’s strategic aims in the safest and most convenient 

way.  

In considering the options to meet the new duties, officers have taken the opportunity 
to identify further changes that could be made to the current facilities and processes 

to improve or reduce the cost of the currently relatively expensive method of 
processing residual household waste in West Sussex and help our climate goals. 

Page 251

Agenda Item 7



The proposal also includes providing transfer facilities for Horsham District Council’s 

recyclable materials and for producing refuse derived fuel (RDF) in a form that opens 
up alternative end-disposal options. 

The current contract for disposing of the RDF generated from the non-organic waste 

part of the process runs until March 2023.  Having undertaken market consultation, it 
is proposed to start procurement of a new RDF offtake contract with the aim of 

reducing complexity, risks and costs, ideally through finding a UK end destination.  

Recommendations 

Cabinet is recommended to approve: 

(1) The variation of the Materials Resource Management Contract and associated 
capital investment to allow for: 

a. processing of source-segregated food waste 
b. production of loose Refuse Derived Fuel (RDF)  
c. improvements for the capture, storage, and disposal of metal for recycling 

to achieve the income from metals 
d. removal of redundant equipment  

e. bulking of dry mixed recycling (DMR) for delivery to the materials recycling 
facility (MRF) 
 

(2) The commencement of a procurement for the disposal of refuse derived fuel 
until 2035 with a possible extension until 2040  

Delegation of authority to commence (1) and (2) above to the Assistant 

Director of Environment and Public Protection at a time to be agreed in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Environment and Climate Change and 

the Directors of Finance and Legal Services. In the event that either or both (1) 
and (2) are not exercised prior to 31st March 2024, to bring a further report to 
Cabinet no later than 30th June 2024.    

 

 

Proposal 

1 Background and context 

1.1 The Council, acting in its capacity as statutory waste disposal authority (WDA) 
is responsible under s51 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 for the 

disposal of controlled waste collected by the district and borough (D&B) councils 
in West Sussex. This duty is supported by various national and local policies 
which seek to drive waste up the waste hierarchy, meet climate change 

objectives and provide value for money.  To meet these objectives, the Council 
has commissioned three major contracts for the processing and/or disposal of 

waste: 

 The Recycling and Waste Handling Contract (RWHC) commenced on 1 April 

2004 for a 29-year period provides recycling centres and a materials recovery 

facility (MRF) 

Page 252

Agenda Item 7



 The Materials Resource Management Contract (MRMC) commenced on 28 

June 2010 for a 25-year period and a possible 5-year extension. This deals 

with residual waste via a mechanical biological treatment (MBT) facility and 

landfill disposal. 

 The Refuse Derived Fuel (RDF) Offtake Contract was signed on 6 April 2018 

for a 5-year period and a possible 5-year extension. This covers RDF haulage 

and disposal in Germany and Holland. 

Currently household food waste, which falls within the category of controlled 

waste, is disposed of via the residual or “black bag” waste stream, of which 
food waste constitutes around 40% by weight.  Under the MRMC, residual waste 
is processed at a Mechanical Biological Treatment (MBT) facility at Brookhurst 

Wood near Warnham. The incoming waste is separated into two main streams. 
An organic fraction is biologically treated through Anaerobic Digestion (AD) on 

site. The remainder which is known as “refuse derived fuel” (RDF) is sent for 
energy recovery, currently to Holland and Germany. 

1.2 The MBT facility shreds incoming waste separating biodegradable waste (mainly 
food and animal waste) from the remaining material (mostly paper and plastic). 

The biodegradable fraction is liquidised and passed through the AD process which 
generates methane and a compost like output (CLO). The methane is burned to 

produce electricity. The CLO can be used in land restoration projects. Most of the 
remaining fraction is used to produce RDF for energy from waste processes. 

Separated metals and grit are sent for recycling.  A minority fraction (less than 
10%) is unsuitable for energy recovery and is sent to landfill.  

 

1.3 Collectively, West Sussex Councils achieved a recycling rate of 53.1% in both 
2019/20 and 2020/21 but need to improve performance to meet a 2025 national 

target of 55% and a much more challenging target of 65% by 2035. More 
importantly, waste contributes significantly to household and county-wide carbon 
emissions. The collection and processing systems adopted, including vehicles and 

waste minimisation initiatives, therefore have significant potential to reduce 
carbon and wider environmental impacts. 

 
1.4 The Government’s Resources and Waste Strategy (2018) indicated that it would 

compel WCAs to collect food waste separately. This duty is now set out in the 

Environment Act 2021. While detailed guidance on the implementation of the 
new duty is awaited, food waste falls within the definition of controlled 

household waste and therefore the County Council must provide the means to 
process it separately. The MBT as currently configured cannot process food 
waste separately.  

1.5 We therefore need to review the services currently delivered under the MRMC 

to: 

 Deliver a processing system for food waste collected separately by the 
Ds&Bs  

 Continue to provide RDF of suitable composition for energy recovery, ideally 

reducing the distance the material has to be hauled 

 Keep overall emissions as low as practicable given current technology and 
waste composition 

Page 253

Agenda Item 7



 As far as possible allow for flexibility to meet tighter future targets and the 

impact of carbon pricing which may apply before the end of the current 
contract in 2035   

 Meet other service and Our Council Plan 2021-25 objectives set out under 

2.2 below 

1.6 The proposals in this report for the most part do not affect the operation of the 
other main contract – the Resources and Waste Handling Contract (RWHC) 

which covers processing of dry recyclables at Ford MRF, operation of the 
transfer stations and recycling centres. Some modifications of the transfer 
stations to receive separate food waste will be required, but this would form a 

relatively minor variation of the RWHC. 

1.7 At present there is no transfer facility for receiving and bulking kerbside 
recycling collected in the Horsham District. Such facilities exist for Chichester, 

Crawley, Mid Sussex, Adur and Worthing and this avoids refuse collection 
vehicles having to travel across the county to the Ford MRF. Bulked recycling is 

loaded onto larger payload, articulated vehicles.  In the absence of such a 
facility, Horsham vehicles have to deliver directly to Ford, Burgess Hill and 
Crawley and we compensate HDC for “tipping away” to locations a significant 

distance outside its boundary. Providing a transfer facility at the MBT will result 
in an overall saving by eliminating the “tipping away payment” to HDC of 

£314,000 pa. It will also reduce overall vehicle miles and net emissions through 
more efficient fleet utilisation.  

1.8  The present RDF contract was let in 2018 and runs until April 2023 extendable 
by up to 5 years (with 12 months’ notice). It was procured, after market 

consultation, on the basis that the material will be bailed for onward haulage. 
Bailing adds processing cost but was assumed to reduce haulage and handling 

costs for the off taker because conventional, non-specialist HGV trailers can be 
used, resulting in a more competitive overall price. Since the contract was let, 

more UK facilities have come on-line and these have a general preference for 
loose material. Market advice suggests letting a new contract for loose RDF is 
likely to result in a more cost-effective contract. It is therefore proposed that 

the existing contract is extended for just one year and a new procurement is 
undertaken in that period.     

1.9 Once produced, there is little space for storage of RDF within the MBT. The 

solution has been to pre-load and park trailers prior to collection. Parking must 
be on a site with a suitable permit from the Environment Agency (EA). The 
Council owns a site adjacent to the MBT known as “Site Ha” and this site has 

been identified as suitable for development to a standard which will meet EA 
permit requirements. In the interim we have, by arrangement, been using the 

nearby BritaniaCrest site for trailer parking as an interim solution. This is not 
sustainable in the longer term due to BritaniaCrest’s intention to develop the 
site and it costs the Council £160,000 a year. The business case suggests that 

development of a hardstanding parking area will provide a cost-effective long-
term solution. 

1.10 Currently metals in the residual waste are extracted during the process. Income 

from the sale of this material is split between Biffa and the Council. The current 
equipment is not compatible with the revised processing equipment and will be 

replaced as part of the overall modifications. This should also improve the 
capture rate. On the basis that the Council will make the investment in the new 

Page 254

Agenda Item 7



equipment, Biffa have agreed the Council will keep all subsequent income from 

the sale of metals.  

2 Proposal details 

2.1 The aim is to provide the residents of West Sussex with a cost effective and 

carbon efficient recycling and waste service that will maximise the recovery of 
valuable natural resources. We will ensure our service is compliant with 
forthcoming national legislation and compatible with any new working 

arrangements for the West Sussex Waste Partnership (the joint working with 
the WCAs). 

2.2 The main objectives to meet this ambition are set out in 1.5 above but also 

include: 

 Maintain waste to landfill at 9% or less 
 Provide a transfer point for Horsham dry recyclables: - reduce HGV 

movements as explained in 1.7 above  
 Resolve future use of “Site Ha”; as explained in 1.9 above 
 Reduce the Council’s cost of disposal 

 Reduce the amount of waste generated in West Sussex by residents (a 
corporate Key Performance Indicator) 

 
2.3 The proposals can only be achieved through formal changes to the MRMC with 

Biffa. The MRMC contains a contract change process and this requires the 
Council to issue Biffa with an authority notice of change (ANC) document. This 
must clearly set out our requirements to allow the contractor to be able to 
respond as fully and realistically as possible.  

 
2.4 In September 2020, and revised in September 2021, the Council issued Biffa 

with four ANCs to better understand the implications of the proposals set out 
in this report and to seek indicative costs of modifying the MBT to: 

o Receive and process source segregated food waste 
o Receive and shred residual waste to produce loose RDF  
o Improve capture of metal for recycling with associated income from sale 
o Remove redundant equipment freeing up space 
o Receive, inspect and load HDC’s dry recycling for back-haul to Ford MRF 
o Deliver annual operational savings over the remaining life of the contract 

 
2.5 In issuing the ANCs, the Council determined that Biffa would, in full consultation 

with our project team, transparently commission third parties to price and, in 
due course, undertake the specified works on an open book basis. There are 
several reasons for this: Firstly, the Council does not have the in-house 
expertise to specify and procure the necessary technical modifications to the 
MBT. Secondly the number of companies able to provide the necessary 
modifications is limited. Through using, by agreement, the original 
suppliers/installers (Kiverco and Marches Biogas) the risk of system 
incompatibility is minimised. Thirdly, modifications will need to take place while 
the service continues to be provided. Therefore, risks of disruption to the 
service would be the technical and financial responsibility of Biffa.  

 

2.6 Having evaluated alternatives (see section 3 below) alongside the ANC process 

and developed a Full Strategic Business Case, the preferred option is to vary 
the existing MRMC with Biffa to enable the acceptance and processing of 

Page 255

Agenda Item 7



source-separated food waste and the continued production and offtake of RDF 

to an EfW (energy from waste) facility. This will also involve procurement of a 
new RDF contract as the existing contract (unless extended for up to 5 years) 

expires in March 2023. This forms part of the recommendation in this report.  

3 Other options considered (and reasons for not proposing) 

3.1 Officers looked at 5 primary options: 

 Option 1 – Do nothing – discounted due to the need to support the new duty 
and to reduce the cost of the existing process. 

 Option 1A – An offer from Biffa to provide an “end to end” solution including 
RDF offtake to a SE Regional facility – discounted due to high risk of 
procurement challenge as this was not part of the original MRMC offered to 

the market. More detailed analysis of these risks has been undertaken. 

 Option 2 – MRMC Variation & new RDF procurement along with contract 
variations to meet the objectives set out in sections 1 and 2 above. This 

option is recommended as it presents the most compelling case based on 
the evaluation undertaken and set out in this report  

 

 Option 3 – Terminate the MRMC & procure new solutions for food waste and 
residual waste.  This is discounted largely due to the high cost of termination 

(a consequence of the current contractual conditions) which would negate 
the expected lower per tonne price over the remaining contract period.  
Option 3 would also lock WSCC into a new, long-term contract (potentially to 

or beyond the mid 2040s). It may also provide less flexibility around future 
options to decarbonise the waste stream. 

 
 Option 4 – Commission a new facility in West Sussex. This is discounted due 

to the time required to find a suitable site, seek consent, procure and build, 
the high capital cost (likely to exceed £0.5bn) and low appetite for the risks 
associated with committing the Council to a fixed scale of facility and 

technology which, to be economic, would be in operation until at least 2050.  
 

4 Consultation, engagement and advice 
 
4.1 External 

 
 The Council has worked with a number of external suppliers to produce the 

business case: 
 

o Kiverco – Plant design/implementation  

o Marches Biogas – Food waste design/implementation  
o Tolvik – Carbon comparison 

o AECOM – Site Ha design 
 

4.2 Partners in the West Sussex Waste Partnership 
 
We have been engaging with the Ds&Bs in West Sussex to explore the 

timeframe for introducing food waste collections and the Council has sponsored 
current trials in Arun and Mid Sussex, the latter to begin in mid-2022. The 

general consensus among Ds&Bs is that commitments cannot be made until the 

Page 256

Agenda Item 7



Government has set out an “implement by” date and clarified the extent of new 

burdens funding available to support roll out and ongoing delivery. Following 
debate of a Motion at Full Council on 17th December 2021, with unanimous 

support, the Cabinet Member for Environment and Climate Change wrote to – 
and recently followed up again with - the Secretary of State and Minister of 

State at Defra seeking clarification on these points.   
 
The proposal allows us to plan an approach with certainty and be in a position 

to deliver to an agreed timeframe with the Ds&Bs without undue delay once the 
statutory timetable and funding arrangements become clear. The 

recommendation is therefore to agree the approach and delegate authority to 
the Assistant Director of Environment and Public Protection to determine the 
optimum time to implement it, allowing for further review by Cabinet within two 

years should there be continuing lack of clarity at the end of March 2024.  
 

4.3  Councillors 
 

In 2019 The Cabinet Member for Environment and Climate Change set up an 

informal, non-decision-making member advisory group to hear on an occasional 
basis from officers on how strategic options were being identified and explored. 

This provided an opportunity for the Cabinet Member to ask questions of the 
officers and be reassured around progress with the project prior to the point a 
decision is required. 

The Communities, Highways and Environment Scrutiny Committee considered 

the strategic options at its meeting on 2nd March 2022. The Minutes of the 
meeting will reflect that the Committee 

 Accepted the premise of the report and understood and supports the adoption 

of Option 2 – variation of the MRMC and modification of the site at Warnham. 

 Noting that the new duty to collect food waste falls to Waste Collection 

Authorities, stressed the importance of residents’ perceptions, and of making 

residents aware of the need for, and benefits of, separate food waste collection, 

prior to its introduction.  

 Acknowledged that recycling rates improve in areas where separate food waste 

collection has been implemented, and that food waste tends to reduce over 

time in such areas. 

 Encouraged the Cabinet Member to keep pressure on Government to confirm 

the timing of, and funding for, implementation of the new duties arising under 

the Environment Act 2021.  

5 Finance 

5.1 Revenue consequences 

The table below shows the budget position following the introduction of 
separate food waste collections that will enable 25,000 tonnes of food waste to 

be processed through the reconfigured plant saving on RDF contract costs. No 
account is taken of any impact on residual waste tonnages as a result of the 

move to separate food waste collections, it is possible that this will generate 
further savings. The provision of the DMR transfer facility will save £314,000 pa 
by removing the need to make ‘tipping away’ payments to Horsham District 

Council. 

Page 257

Agenda Item 7



Revenue position following the introduction of food waste collections 

 20/21 
Budget 

Operational 
Saving     

Tonnage 
Saving 

WSCC Saving 
tipping away 

Revised 
Budget 

 £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s £’000s 

      

MBT Running Costs 16,877 -2,450   14,427 

Disposal Costs (RDF) 14,995  2,516  17,511 

Landfill Costs 5,346  -3,585  1,760 

      

Total MBT & RDF Costs 37,219 -2,450 -1,070 0 33,698 

      

Other Disposal Costs  584   -314 270 

      

Total Budget 37,803 -2,450 -1,070 -314 33,968 

Overall Saving     -3,834 

 
 
5.2 Capital consequences 

 
Current estimates suggest that the capital cost will be £7.292m, based on quotes 

received as of 1st November 2021.  Allowance for the project has been made in 
the 2022-23 capital programme and will be met from within the Capital 
Improvement Programme budget.  The profile of spend below assumes that the 

facility will be ready for accepting food waste by 2025 although the precise 
profiling of the expenditure will be known only when the variation of the MBT is 

agreed with Biffa.  
 

 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Beyond Total 

 £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s £000’s 

Capital Improvement 
Programme 

475 2,685 9,674 19,900 32,734 

Project requirement 0 1,000 6,292 0 7,292 

Remaining Budget 475 1,685 3,382 19,900 25,442 

 
The Government has indicated WCAs may be eligible for assistance with 

transitional costs to collect separate food waste but have been less clear about 
whether WDAs could also receive transitional funding. This issue is being 

explored following an approach for information from Defra officials.  
 
The effect of the proposal: 

(a) How the cost represents good value 

The investment in the facility will allow for the provision of food waste and a 

DMR facility for Horsham District Council. In addition to any cashable savings 
realised, the reconfiguration could avoid additional costs incurred if food waste 

requires transfer to an out-of-county facility.  

(b) Future savings/efficiencies being delivered 

The reconfigured facility will allow the service to fully benefit from savings in 
reduced residual waste tonnages as the D&Bs move across to food waste 

collection and potentially introduce changes to collection frequencies  

If total waste is reduced, it would further reduce the cost of the RDF contract. 

Page 258

Agenda Item 7



(c) Human Resources and IT 

No Human Resources or IT impact. 

 (d) Asset Impact 

This proposal makes use of land known as Site Ha which is owned by the 
Council and earmarked for this purpose. It will also ensure the that the MRMC, 

and use of the MBT Facility, will continue for the foreseeable future. Focusing 
Horsham’s delivery of DMR into the new facility will also reduce impact on the 
Council’s existing transfer stations currently used by Horsham DC. 

6 Risk implications and mitigations 

6.1 A summary of the risk implications around procurement is provided in section 7 
below  

6.2  There is a financial risk relating to re-procurement of the RDF contract and the 
gate fee achieved. However, this risk exists irrespective of the work to 

reconfigure the plant.  A market engagement exercise has given reasonable 
confidence that the price assumed within the business case is achievable. It is 

also assumed, on the basis of market evidence that there would be no major 
differential in price per tonne gate fee for taking either RDF (option2) or 

residual waste (option 3) to an EfW facility.    

6.3 As mentioned at 1.4 above, a risk exists around timing of roll out of separate 
food waste collections across West Sussex as the Government has not yet 
clarified its expectations around when the new duty must be met by collection 

authorities nor the level of new burdens or transition funding that may be 
available. A review date is proposed in the recommendation in the event that 

this uncertainty persists. However, the County Council is keen to work with our 
D&B partners to develop a new Joint Waste Strategy and delivery plan to co-
ordinate timing, and this approach has received in principle support. In the 

meantime, it is important for the County Council to demonstrate it has lined up 
a solution to process food waste, addressing an issue of concern to partners 

that there should be a local facility ready for the material when they do roll out 
the service.       

7 Policy alignment and compliance 

7.1  Legal implications  

 
The Council needs to carefully consider the contractual arrangements through 

which the proposals can be achieved and the requirements of the Public 
Contract Regulations 2015. 
 

The Council has undertaken a careful and considered analysis of the impact of 
the regulatory and legal framework for public procurement in relation to the 

proposed recommended option for the strategic solution and has taken external 
expert procurement advice to seek confirmation of the position. The conclusion 
is that the proposed variations to the MRMC would be in accordance with the 

PCR 2015  
 

Page 259

Agenda Item 7



In relation to the additional operational improvements, similar consideration 

needs to be given to the impact of the Regulations and this has been subject to 
the same process noted above. 

 
The changes to site Ha need to be considered separately and a similar 

assessment of procurement options within the legal framework has been 
completed to provide assurance for the option being recommended.  
 

Further detailed advice has been provided on the processes required for the 
settling of the contractual variations and the effective assessment and 

mitigation of any risk of challenge to the procurement process. This will be 
available for the decision makers and for all members for further information 
and advice. 

 
7.2  Equality duty and human rights assessment  

 
The project aims to improve the delivery of public services and has no foreseen 
equality impact implications. Any relevant equality duty implications will be 

covered through current or revised contractual arrangements and through the 
arrangements agreed with the WCAs. 

 
7.3  Climate Change  

 

Climate Change underpins all other objectives and priorities within Our Council 
Plan 2021-25.  The Council has committed to being carbon neutral by 2030 for 

“scope 1” emissions arising from its own operations. Emissions associated with 
household waste processing / disposal largely fall within supply chain emissions 
known as “scope 3” and this is mainly determined by how much waste 

householders produce and the extent to which they separate it for recycling. 
Known “scope 1” emissions for the council, including maintained schools, are in 

the region of 33,000t CO2-eq per annum, whereas processing residual waste 
alone accounts for around 45,000t CO2-eq per annum.  
 

Nevertheless, the Council can have some control over waste emissions through 
specification of how and where waste is processed.  

 
The Council commissioned a short study from Tolvik Consulting to compare 

carbon emissions from the principal options 2 and 3. A summary of the report is 
included in Appendix B 
 

The study concludes that emissions from options 2 and 3 are broadly 
comparable and that the impact of emissions under the proposed option can be 

further mitigated through specifying minimum EfW plant efficiency when 
procuring a new RDF contract.  
 

In terms of longer-term carbon reduction opportunities, option 2 is compelling 
as it would retain the capacity within the MBT facility in the future to remove 

low grade waste plastic. This constitutes the greater part of the anthropogenic 
(fossil based) carbon content of waste which could potentially be removed prior 
to sending the remainder for energy recovery. Currently there are no economic 

outlets for this material to be recycled but they could emerge – driven by 
carbon taxation – prior to the end of the contract.    

 
 

Page 260

Agenda Item 7



7.4  Crime and Disorder  

 
No crime and disorder implications are identified as a result of this proposal.  

 
7.5  Public Health  

 
No direct public health implications are identified as a result of this proposal. 

 

7.6  Social Value  
 

Many residents derive social value from the opportunity to recycle more and 
mitigate their personal carbon footprint. Studies by WRAP have shown that the 
average household wastes more than £500 worth of food each year (in excess 

of £700 on average for households with children) and that separate food waste 
collection provides more visibility of wastage resulting in behavioural change.  

 
Separate food waste collections is expected to be largely neutral with respect to 
the number of jobs associated with collection and processing household waste 

across the County as a whole. 
 

7.7 Our Council Plan 2021-25 Priorities    
 

The recommendation supports Our Council Plan 2021-2025 priorities by:  

  
 making the best use of resources  

 supporting a sustainable and prosperous economy  
 assisting with the underpinning theme of Tackling Climate Change  
 supporting Key Performance Indicator 23:  The percentage of Household 

waste recycled, reused or composted.  
 

The proposal also helps to support the following outcomes: 
 

 Outcome 3 - Maximising the productivity of our assets 

 Outcome 4 – Value for money 
 Outcome 5 – A sustainable economy that adapts to climate change  

 Outcome 6 - Working in Partnership 
 

Maximising the productivity of the MBT will, through optimising the use of our 
asset, provide value for money and support meeting our statutory duties. 
 

Working collaboratively with District and Borough partners through the West 
Sussex Waste Partnership is crucial to reducing waste and increasing recycling.   

 
The proposals will support the partners to meet the new duties under the 
Environment Act 2021 and residents’ growing aspirations to recycle more in 

general and food waste in particular.  
 

The biggest carbon benefit in any waste management system comes through 
waste reduction. The proposals will assist this objective and help to reduce the 
overall carbon impact of waste services in the county.   

 
The proposals will enable our D&B Partners to introduce separate food waste 

collections with confidence that an in-county facility will be able to receive and 
generate clean energy from separately collected food waste.  Confidence that 

Page 261

Agenda Item 7



we have clear and deliverable plans for a processing system will also hopefully 

encourage early introduction of the service to residents. The investment into 
the MRMC alongside works to the network of transfer stations will therefore 

support investment by the WCAs in their collection fleets. 

 
Steve Read  

Assistant Director of Environment and Public Protection 
 
Contact Officer: Gareth Rollings, Head of Waste, 

gareth.rollings@westsussex.gov.uk  
 

Appendices 

Appendix A: Glossary of Terms  

Appendix B: Carbon Comparison 

Background papers  

None 

 

Page 262

Agenda Item 7

mailto:gareth.rollings@westsussex.gov.uk


Appendix A:  Glossary of Terms 
 

 
AD Anaerobic Digestion – a collection of processes by which micro-

organisms break down biodegradable material in the absence of 
oxygen to produce biogas (fuel) and a digestate.  

 
ANC Authority Notice of Change A formal contract change process 

within the MRMC whereby the Council can set out requirements to 

make changes to the operation of the contract in terms that allow 
the Contractor to be able to respond as fully and realistically as 

possible. 
 
CLO  Compost-Like Output - The solid fraction of organic material left 

at the end of an anaerobic digestion process. 
 

CO2-eq Carbon Dioxide Equivalent.  A measure to compare the 
emissions from various greenhouse gases on the basis of their 
global-warming potential by converting amounts of other gases to 

the equivalent amount of carbon dioxide with the same global 
warming potential. 

 
Controlled Waste:   Defined in s75 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 as 

“Household, industrial and commercial waste or any such waste”.  

 
D&Bs District and Borough Councils (see also “WCA”)  

 
EfW Energy from Waste – the process of generating energy in the 

form of electricity or heat from the thermal treatment of waste. 

 
Loose RDF  (see “RDF” below) RDF which is not bailed for onward haulage but 

loaded loose into enclosed trailers for delivery to an EfW facility. 
Usually used where the EfW facility is in relatively close proximity to 

the source of the RDF.  
 
MBT  Mechanical Biological Treatment - covers a wide range of 

technologies and plant configurations and can produce a number of 
different outputs. The most common fractions are: 

 combustible biogas fraction, often used as a fuel to produce 
electricity 

 recyclables, for example metals 

 organic material from the biological treatment often called 
‘compost-like output’ (CLO).  

 
MRMC  Materials Resource Management Contract – contract signed 

with Biffa in June 2010 to treat waste as a resource and reduce 

dependence on landfill. 
 

MRF  Materials Recycling Facility – Facility that uses mechanical 
techniques to sort, separate and recover raw materials from mixed 
household wastes, such as paper, card, cans, glass and plastics, 

Page 263

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A



which can then be re-used by industry, or recycled into new 
products. 

 
RDF  Refuse Derived Fuel – A product of mechanical treatment of 

residual waste at an MBT facility which can be used as a fuel in a 
thermal process to produce heat and/or power. 

 

Residual Waste – All current waste material that has not been re-used, 
recycled, composted, or recovered. 

 
RWHC  Recycling and Waste Handling Contract – contract awarded to 

Viridor in 2004 to improve recycling within the county, purchased 

by Biffa in September 2021. 
 

Scope 1  Scope 1 Emissions: Direct greenhouse gas (CO2-eq) emissions 
that occur from sources that are controlled or owned by an 
organisation. 

 
Scope 2  Indirect (CO2-eq) emissions from the generation of energy 

consumed by an organisation.  
 

Scope 3  All other indirect (CO2-eq) emissions that occur in an organisation’s 
value chain. 

 

Site Ha An undeveloped, largely brownfield, former industrial site owned by 
WSCC next to the MBT facility at Warnham and proposed for use as 

a HGV trailer park.  
 
WCA  Waste Collection Authorities – In West Sussex the District and 

Borough Councils who have the statutory duty to collect household 
waste and, if requested, arrange for the collection of commercial 

waste in its area.  
 
WDA Waste Disposal Authority – In West Sussex the County Council 

has a statutory duty to dispose of controlled waste collected by 
WCAs in its area and to provide places for residents to deposit 

waste.   
 
WRAP Waste and Resources Action Programme 

 

Page 264

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A

https://wrap.org.uk/


Appendix B:  Summary of Comparison of the Carbon Intensity of 

Residual Waste Solutions  

 

 Tolvik Consulting were commissioned to provide an independent comparison of the 

carbon implications of various Residual Waste treatment solutions.  A copy of the 

full report is available, on request, from the Waste Team or Director of EPP.  

 

 The key objective was to derive an indicative baseline carbon impact using 

2019/20 tonnages/destinations, and then compare this baseline to potential future 

scenarios, termed “Option 2” and “Option 3” (as described in the main report 

above). 

 

 The “Option 2” scenario assumes a reconfigured Warnham site that undertakes 

Residual Waste processing to provide an RDF output. The “Option 3” scenario for 

the purposes of this report assumes that the Warnham site would become a basic 

transfer station for residual waste sent to UK EfW sites.  

 

 Carbon impact modelling is complex and the analysis was based on a limited range 

of variables to provide a considered and robust comparison of some of the 

outcomes. It is possible that a different selection of fixed and variable parameters 

could provide different outcomes and therefore the analysis should be considered 

high level and indicative. 

 

 The waste composition data used in the analysis was based upon the most recent 

2021 Residual Waste composition analysis undertaken by WSCC. It is noted that 

includes significant higher food waste content, at 40%, compared to UK averages 

from other Waste Disposal Authorities (30%). 

 

 The Baseline carbon impact assessment is estimated as 45kt of CO2 eq using 

2019/20 actual data from WSCC. 

 

 The treatment / disposal of waste sent to EfW and landfill account for the largest 

fractions of the total carbon impact. 

Page 265

Agenda Item 7
Appendix B



 

 Processing the material at Warnham (shown in dark grey, second column) 

accounts for a relatively small fraction of overall emissions.  Transport of RDF into 

Europe (pale blue section above) has an impact although this also relatively small.  

 

 The largest influences on the carbon intensity of the various Residual Waste 

solutions are:  

o the composition of residual waste (the biogenic content such as food waste in 

particular)  

o the size scale and efficiency of the EfW facility assessed (in particular whether 

heat is generated from the plant)  

o the future decarbonisation of the national electricity grid.  

 

 At a high level, Tolvik conclude that the carbon impacts of the various Residual 

Waste solutions are broadly comparable, especially when considering actual 

tonnages are likely to be spread across various facilities. 

 

 The analysis compares a scenario involving “Local EfWs” which are either existing 

facilities in neighbouring counties or sites in West Sussex / neighbouring counties 

which are planned or permitted but not yet under construction. Crucially, these 

sites have no (current or planned) heat offtake which means they operate (or, if 

built, would operate initially at least) at lower overall thermal and carbon efficiency 

than those with heat offtake.   “Regional facilities” are those in the Southeast of 

England that either exist with, or are planned to have, heat offtake. These are 

generally larger plants.  

 

 In 2025 the estimated emissions from Residual Waste sent to larger EfWs in the 

EU and UK Regional solutions are projected to be lower than the Baseline, i.e. 

<48ktpa. This is due to the scale, efficiency and heat offtake arrangements at 

these sites. 

 

 The model predicts increased emissions towards 2030 resulting from an 

assumption that the benefit accrued from the power generation (as a substitute for 

fossil fuel sources of power, principally coal and gas in the national network) 

Page 266

Agenda Item 7
Appendix B



declines as the national electric grid is decarbonised. It is not however a variable 

within the control of WSCC.  The increase in impact for EU sites in 2030 appears 

relatively lower as they are not projected to decarbonise power generation to the 

same extent as the UK in the period.  

 

 The removal of the food waste from the Residual Waste stream is clearly beneficial 

in many respects, including waste hierarchy, economic cost and carbon terms. 

 

 Any material impacts on carbon reduction can only really be achieved through 

increased waste prevention and/or increased tonnages of waste being sent for 

reuse/recycling, thus removing it from the Residual Waste stream. 

 

 In procuring a residual waste treatment solution, Tolvik suggest the council may 

wish to consider the weighting applied to evaluation criteria for solutions that 

propose larger, more efficient EfWs, ideally with heat offtake arrangements, to 

derive a further carbon benefit.  

 

 

Page 267

Agenda Item 7
Appendix B



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Performance and Resources Report - Quarter 3 2021/22 (CAB16_21/22)
	Annex A - How To Read The Performance and Resources Report
	How to Read the Performance and Resources Report
	Scrutiny Committee Documents

	Annex B - Performance and Resources Report
	Annex B - Section 1 - Adult Services
	Annex B - Section 2 - Children and Young People
	Annex B - Section 3 - Learning and Skills
	Annex B - Section 4 - Community Support Fire and Rescue
	Annex B - Section 5 - Environment and Climate Change
	Annex B - Section 6 - Finance and Property
	Annex B - Section 7 - Highways and Transport
	Annex B - Section 8 - Leader
	Annex B - Section 9 - Public Health and Wellbeing
	Annex B - Section 10 - Support Services and Economic Development
	Appendix 1 - Budget Monitor and Reserves
	Consolidated Revenue
	Reserves

	Appendix 2 - Covid-19 Summary
	v3 -Appendix 2 - Part A -  Covid-19 Summary and Decisions as at Dec 2021
	Covid-19 Summary - As At 31st December 2021
	Finance Summary
	Table 1 – Covid-19 Summary

	Covid-19 Key Decisions During 2021/22
	Table 2:  Key Decisions Which Have Impacted in Year Expenditure

	Covid-19 Grant Funding Allocations 2021/22


	v3 Appendix 2 - Part B WSCC Covid Grants as at Dec 2021 (exTIG)
	Summary


	Appendix 3 - Service Transformation
	Service Transformation- Q3 2021/22
	SMARTCORE Programme
	Insourcing and Procurement of IT Services
	Better Use of Technology within Children Services
	Support Services Programme
	Early Years Property Support Project
	Smarter Ways of Working Programme
	Future Projects – Earmarked Commitments


	Appendix 4 - Capital Monitor
	Sheet1

	Appendix 5 - Corporate Risk Register Summary
	Appendix 6 - Workforce
	Workforce Information – Q3 2021/22
	Workforce Summary Narrative



	5 National Highways Consultation A27 Arundel Bypass: Approval of WSCC consultation response (CAB17_21/22)
	Appendix A - Location Plan
	Appendix B - Preliminary Landscape and Environmental Masterplan
	HE551523-BAM-ELS-ZZ-DR-LD-0001
	Sheets and Views
	HE551523-BAM-ELS-ZZ-DR-LD-0001-1


	HE551523-BAM-ELS-ZZ-DR-LD-0002
	Sheets and Views
	HE551523-BAM-ELS-ZZ-DR-LD-0002-2


	HE551523-BAM-ELS-ZZ-DR-LD-0003
	Sheets and Views
	HE551523-BAM-ELS-ZZ-DR-LD-0003-3


	HE551523-BAM-ELS-ZZ-DR-LD-0004
	Sheets and Views
	HE551523-BAM-ELS-ZZ-DR-LD-0004-4


	HE551523-BAM-ELS-ZZ-DR-LD-0005
	Sheets and Views
	HE551523-BAM-ELS-ZZ-DR-LD-0005-5


	HE551523-BAM-ELS-ZZ-DR-LD-0006
	Sheets and Views
	HE551523-BAM-ELS-ZZ-DR-LD-0006-6



	Appendix C - Detailed Comments on PEIR

	6 West Sussex Fire and Rescue Service Community Risk Management Plan 2022-2026 (CAB18_21/22)
	Appendix A - CRMP 2022-26
	Our Community Risk Management Plan
	Community Risk Management Plan methodology
	Statutory responsibilities
	Our vision, mission, priorities and values
	Our Core Code of Ethics
	Fire Authority structure, assurance and governance
	Key Achievements from our last IRMP (2018-2022)
	Identifying and assessing risk
	Our county
	Transport
	Horizon scanning for risks
	Our service
	Strategic Priority 1: Preventing fires and emergencies from happening
	Strategic Priority 2: Protecting people, firefighters and property by making buildings as safe from fire as they can be 
	Strategic Priority 3: Responding to fires and emergencies quickly and effectively
	Strategic Priority 4: Have a safe and valued workforce
	Strategic Priority 5: Making best use of resources - Budget and finance
	Strategic Priority 5: Making best use of resources - Estates and assets
	Strategic Priority 5: Making best use of resources - WSFRS Training Centre and Horsham Fire Station
	Strategic Priority 5: Making best use of resources - Climate and sustainability
	Our public consultation
	Summary of Strategic Priorities and Objectives
	Accessibility

	Appendix B - CRMP Equality Impact Assessment

	7 Strategic Options for Processing of Separate Food Waste and Other Waste Disposal Services (CAB19_21/22)
	Appendix A - Glossary of terms
	Appendix B - Carbon comparison




